Zodwa Dlamini Editor

Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare

Patient-Focused and Technology-Assisted Precision Therapies



Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare

Zodwa Dlamini Editor

Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare

Patient-Focused and Technology-Assisted Precision Therapies



Editor Zodwa Dlamini () SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP) Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria Pretoria, South Africa

ISBN 978-3-031-36460-0 ISBN 978-3-031-36461-7 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Society 5.0: Realizing Next-Generation Healthcare	1
Health Informatics Applications in Healthcare and Society 5.0 Rahaba Marima, Nompumelelo Mtshali, Pumza Phillips, Thulo Molefi, Richard Khanyile, Zukile Mbita, Mandisa Mbeje, Aristotelis Chatziioannou, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini	31
Society 5.0 and Quality Multidisciplinary Care of Malignant Solid Tumors in Low- and Middle-Income Settings	51
Technological Innovations and the Advancement of Preventive Healthcare for Society 5.0 Zilungile Mkhize-Kwitshana, Pragalathan Naidoo, Leony Fourie, Rupert C. Ecker, and Zodwa Dlamini	79
Internet of Things in Society 5.0 and the Democratization of Healthcare	111
Merging Cyberspace with Physical Space to Improve Cervical CancerManagement and Women's Health in Lower-Middle-IncomeCountriesLanganani Mbodi, Sheynaz Bassa, Mmamoletla Kgoebane-Maseko,Henry A. Adeola, Ravi Mehrotra, and Zodwa Dlamini	131

Artificial Intelligence–Enhanced Drug Discovery and the Achievement of Next-Generation Human-Centered Health System Sikhumbuzo Z. Mbatha, Thanyani V. Mulaudzi, Zukile Mbita, Henry A. Adeola, Jyotsna Batra, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini	155
The Role of Digital Twinning, the Next Generation of EMR/EHRin Healthcare in a Society 5.0: Collecting Patient Data fromBirth to the GraveRodney Hull, Nkhensani Chauke-Malinga, Guy Roger Gaudji,Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini	179
Integration of Cyber-Physical Systems in the Advancement of Society 5.0 Healthcare Management	201
Transformation of the Healthcare Ecosystem in the Era of Society 5.0	223
Healthcare Transformation Using Blockchain Technology in the Era of Society 5.0	249
Society 5.0 Healthcare: Ethics, Legal Rights, Human Rights, Safety and Security Kim R. M. Blenman, Rodney Hull, Charles Maimela, Thulo Molefi, Richard Khanyile, and Zodwa Dlamini	267
Way Forward for Society 5.0 and Next-Generation Healthcare Zodwa Dlamini, Rodney Hull, Ravi Mehrotra, Richard Khanyile, and Thulo Molefi	293

Society 5.0: Realizing Next-Generation Healthcare



Zodwa Dlamini, Thabiso Victor Miya, Rodney Hull, Thulo Molefi, Richard Khanyile, and Jaira Ferreira de Vasconcellos

Abstract The concept of a new improved society known as Society 5.0 was first proposed in Japan in 2016 in the Japanese government's 5th basic plan for Science and Technology. This new improved smart society will rely on the use of new technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), cloud computing, and the Internet of Things (IoT) to gather and analyze large amounts of data. This is then used to improve many aspects of society leading to sustainable development and the achievement of the United Nations (UN) sustainable development goals (SDGs). SDG-3 is to "Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages." This can be achieved in healthcare in society 5.0 through the use and integration of these new technologies. AI, machine learning (ML), and deep learning (DL) allow the creation of automated systems capable of learning, identifying features in patient data, and making a decision regarding diagnosis, prognosis, or treatment choices. AI can also be used to integrate large amounts of data to create digital twins of patients or populations to allow for more accurate modeling in many healthcare-related scenarios and implement precision medicine. Much of the data required to implement these technologies can be gathered through the IoT which allows personalized data regarding an individual's health, environment, and activity to be gathered by

Z. Dlamini (🖂) · T. V. Miya · R. Hull

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za; thabiso.miya@up.ac.za; rodney.hull@up.ac.za

T. Molefi · R. Khanyile

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: thulo.molefi@up.ac.za; richard.khanyile@up.ac.za

J. F. de Vasconcellos Department of Biology, James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA, USA e-mail: vasconjf@jmu.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_1

smart connected devices through the Internet. To be successful, this digital information must be used in such a way as to result in the merging of cyberspace and physical space through the integration of cyber-physical systems. All these new developments will require and drive a revolutionary change in the healthcare ecosystem. The use of these new healthcare technologies also presents governments and healthcare systems with new legal issues, ethical questions, and fears surrounding the restructuring of the healthcare ecosystem. Additionally, the implementation of these new technologies is complicated by the current worldwide energy crisis. The solutions to these problems are already being sought. Technologies such as AI, IoT, and digital twins are being used to design and manage newer smarter electricity grids and assist in the introduction of new energy sources, while Blockchain technology can possibly provide a solution to issues surrounding the responsible storage and management of data. The use of these technologies to implement healthcare based on the concept of Society 5.0 promises to give individuals a healthier, longer, and more productive life.

Keywords Society $5.0 \cdot$ Healthcare \cdot UN SDG3 \cdot AI \cdot IoT \cdot Cloud computing \cdot Digital twins \cdot Blockchain technology \cdot Safety \cdot Privacy \cdot Energy crisis \cdot Rights \cdot Security \cdot Ethics

1 Introduction

1.1 Industrial Revolution

From the beginning of civilization, technology has been recognized by humankind as a tool for the advancement of society. This has been greatly accelerated since the First Industrial Revolution (Industry 1.0) (Mourtzis et al. 2022) (Fig. 1). The First Industrial Revolution began around the 1780s and comprised mechanical power production using fossil fuels, water, and steam. The Second Industrial Revolution (Industry 2.0) followed in the 1870s whereby manufacturers preferred electrical energy for mass production and assembly lines (Mourtzis et al. 2022). The Third Industrial Revolution (Industry 3.0) followed in the 1970s and was characterized by the integration of automation into the production industries using Information Technology (IT) and electronics (Fig. 1). The fourth industrial revolution (Industry 4.0) is defined by the use of artificial intelligence (AI), cloud computing, and the Internet of Things (IoT) to facilitate Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS) (Fig. 1). These systems serve as a real-time interface between physical and virtual worlds (Mourtzis 2016; Elmaraghy et al. 2021). Industry 4.0 signifies the rapid change in technology, social patterns, industries, and processes in the recent decade. Advancements of innovative technologies such as AI, big data analytics, and digital twins under Industry 4.0 framework have improved product and service quality as well as production efficiency (Rüßmann et al. 2015).

However, Industry 4.0 framework has limitations because engineers mainly focused on technological advancements in production and manufacturing systems

500000 years ago	12,000 years ago	Industry 1.0 1760	Industry 2.0 1840	Industry 3,0 1970s	Industry 4.0 2000s	
1						
No formal healthcare. Origin of traditional medicine using trial and error. Diet and exercise resulted in fewer cardiovascular diseases	More formalised traditional healing . Ancient era Babylonians, along with Egyptians, implemented diagnosis, physical examinations, and treatments. The Atharvaveda, an iron age text, shows that early Indians used and their treatment. First doctors in Egypt around 300 BCE. Hippocrates "father of medicine" born-450 BCE	Application of science to healthcare. Rapid increase in experimental investigations and advanced anatomy First modern medicine (mombine) developed in 1804. Physicians become more systematic in the	diagnosis of diseases. The development and use of antiseptic and anaesthesia.	Society 4.0: Information society- Revolutionary changes to healthcare following WW2 included mass use of antibiotics, contraceptives, and the first organ transplants. Mass vaccination drives by the WHO lead to the eradication of diseases. First use of computers in medical imaging	Society 5.0: The Super smart society The mass digitisation of healthcare where data is used to provide personalised healthcare	

Fig. 1 Dateline of societies and industrial revolutions. The progression from society 1.0 to Society 5.0 is depicted alongside the changes in healthcare seen in each society

and networks (Xu et al. 2021). The engineers prioritized industrial efficiency and flexibility over worker welfare and industrial sustainability (Xu et al. 2021). Thus, the emergence of a new era of industrial transformation is soon. The new era will enable engineers to optimize current technologies for the benefit of humankind and social factories (Mourtzis et al. 2022). Countries such as Japan, the United States, and the European Union have already made a move toward the human-centric era of industrial transformation (Mourtzis et al. 2022). This new era is called Industry 5.0, and it also extends to Society 5.0. It is important to note that Industry 4.0 is still an ongoing technological transformation, and that Society 5.0 and Industry 5.0 are still under preparation (Mourtzis et al. 2022). This has created misconception that Industry 5.0 may not be recognized as an independent industrial revolution (Mourtzis et al. 2022).

1.2 What Is Society 5.0?

The Government of Japan launched the Society 5.0 (super-smart society) concept in April of 2016 (Fukuda 2020). Society 5.0 can be described as a novel society in the fifth stage which follows the hunting society, the agrarian society, the industrial society, and the information society as shown in Fig. 1 above (Fukuda 2020). This concept is aimed at creating a human-centered society whereby services and products will be easily accessible. Consequently, this will reduce social and economic gaps so that all people can lead prosperous lives (Fukuda 2020). Society 5.0 is the same as Industry 4.0; however, it takes a further step by portraying a data-driven society (super-smart society) and economy. Furthermore, it focuses on individual capabilities and needs (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). Society 5.0 conceptualizes a merge between the cyberspace and the physical space (real world) to effectively gather more personal and precise data, thereby improving value creation and problem solving (Fukuyama 2018). In addition, large quantities of data that have been collected over the years require time and human resources to analyze a job that could be performed rapidly using AI. This data could also be transformed into easy formats that can be understood and used by humans in various industries and social services (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). The Society 5.0 concept became an official policy in Japan when it was included in their 2016 Fifth Science and Technology Basic Plan for the first time (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). Parties involved pledged that this concept will significantly support the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN-SDGs) and also create a sustainable, inclusive, and human-centered society (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). A sustainable society organizes itself to better the autonomy and the quality of life for its citizens. It also aspires to the common welfare economy, and it does not compromise its future opportunities. Sustainability is comprised of society, environment, and economy. Society is an important base among the three (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Three bases that form sustainability. Adapted from Aquilani et al. (2020)

The UN-SDGs are aimed at achieving collective progress through co-operation between citizens and governments to eradicate social inequality (Gustiana et al. 2019). Since the establishment of these goals, many nations have directed their investments and research toward these sustainability goals (Fukuda 2020; Hayashi et al. 2017; Záklasník and Putnová 2019). In this case, sustainable development is conceptualized from its planning, use of aspiring technology and infrastructure developments, to attain both an improved environment and efficient industrialization (Aquilani et al. 2020).

Japan plans to spread the Society 5.0 concept worldwide by working with other nations to achieve its implementation (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). The Society 5.0 concept could change the way society functions in all areas of life. This concept will positively impact the economy of Japan as well as other countries and also help in tackling numerous social challenges (Fukuyama 2018). Society 5.0 will impact all aspects of life, but it is mainly focused on nine social and economic sector, namely, healthcare, finance, energy, agriculture and food security, disaster prevention, cities and regions, logistics, manufacturing, and public services (Fig. 3) (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020). When it comes to healthcare, Society 5.0 aims to focus on using AI-based medical services such as telemedicine, prevention and individualized healthcare services, as well as access to personalized life-stage data (Mavrodieva and Shaw 2020).



Fig. 3 Smart solutions facilitated by Society 5.0. Adapted from Narvaez Rojas et al. (2021)

2 Digital Transformation in Healthcare

Digital transformation has revolutionized many industries, especially the healthcare industry (Natakusumah et al. 2022). In the healthcare industry, technology enables individuals to live healthier, more productive, and longer lives. For instance, telemedicine was accessed by over one million people in 2015. In 2021, this number increased to 12 million people (Natakusumah et al. 2022). Thus, technology has allowed patients to access quality healthcare even in remote areas (Tortorella et al. 2022). According to Maiurova et al. (2022), Pappas et al. (2018), Ricciardi et al. (2019), and Natakusumah et al. (2022), several other health technologies such as Blockchain, IoT, robotics, and AI have been developed and applied in this industry. Different companies view technology as an asset and not just infrastructure. To this effect, data analysis can be used to improve access to quality healthcare and also lower healthcare costs (Natakusumah et al. 2022). Utilization of health technologies allows consumers (patients) to easily access information regarding diseases, treatment options, and also the ability to choose healthcare facilities that aligns with their needs (Maiurova et al. 2022; Natakusumah et al. 2022; Pappas et al. 2018; Ricciardi et al. 2019). Realization of the benefits of using health technologies has led to more healthcare providers adopting digital transformation into their management systems (Natakusumah et al. 2022). In turn, this has led to provision of improved quality healthcare (Natakusumah et al. 2022).

2.1 Health Technologies

Health technologies have constantly changed since the inception of medicine. Furthermore, increasing knowledge and diagnosis, treatments, rehabilitations, and prevention possibilities have changed healthcare systems (Ricciardi et al. 2019). Digitalization ranging from the use of computers to remotely monitor patients, electronic medical devices, as well as the computer-assisted visualization and decision support systems has affected many areas of healthcare systems (Ricciardi et al. 2019). Digital transformation involves the introduction of new digital information and communication technologies, as well as new corresponding processes into the healthcare industry. Digitalization can lead to changes and innovations in health technologies and delivery, thus impacting healthcare and health systems (Ricciardi et al. 2019).

2.2 Artificial Intelligence (AI)

AI and other related technologies are increasingly common in society and business and are now increasingly applied in the healthcare industry (Davenport and Kalakota 2019). In addition, these technologies can potentially transform multiple aspects of patient care as well as in the administration process within healthcare institutions and pharmaceutical companies (Davenport and Kalakota 2019). AI can be described as the intelligence of machines instead of the intelligence of humans or other living organisms (Minsky 1961; Weng et al. 2001). It also refers to occasions whereby machines can simulate human minds in learning and analysis. Thus, AI can be involved in problem solving, and this kind of intelligence is also called machine learning (ML) (Huang et al. 2015). AI technologies are relevant to the healthcare industry; however, their specific supported tasks and processes differ widely. For instance, ML is commonly applied in precision medicine whereby it is used to identify the correct treatment protocols to use and predict the potential successes of these treatments in a patient (Lee et al. 2018). Most ML and precision medicine applications need a training dataset with a known outcome (e.g., disease). This is also known as supervised learning (Davenport and Kalakota 2019). An even more complex form of ML exists, which is comprised of neural network. Neural networks are discreet organized units of algorithms that act together in a hierarchical manner to mimic the human brain. This technology has been available since the 1960s and is used for categorization applications (Sordo 2002). For example, it can be used to determine whether a patient will develop a certain disease over a certain period of time (Davenport and Kalakota 2019). Lastly, deep learning (DL) and neural network models (with many feature levels and variables) are the most complex ML technologies. There are potentially thousands of hidden features in these models. DL is commonly applied in healthcare to recognize potentially malignant lesions in radiological images (Fakoor et al. 2013). Furthermore, DL is also applied in radiomics, or the detection of features that are clinically relevant in medical images (Vial et al. 2018). Radiomics and DL are mostly found in oncology-related image analysis. Thus, integration can potentially be used to increase diagnostic accuracy compared to previous generations of image analysis. Image analysis can also be automated using computer-aided detection (CAD) tools (Davenport and Kalakota 2019).

AI applications in drug discovery can increase access to medicine and improve the experience of patients, their families together with healthcare workers, and everyone involved in the healthcare system. Access to affordable safe, effective, and affordable medicine is a fundamental human right. To try and attain universal human rights and improve the lives of all the earth's inhabitants, the UN-SDGs need to be achieved by the year 2030. Goal 3 talks about "Ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being for all at all ages," and particularly, Goal 3.8 seeks to "Achieve universal health coverage, including financial risk protection, access to quality essential health-care services and access to safe, effective, quality and affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all" (United Nations 2015). However, more than half of the people living in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) do not have access to essential medicines for a variety of reasons including the high cost of medicines and poor healthcare infrastructure. New medicines are unaffordable for the majority of the population living in LMICs, while at the same time these countries have 75% of the world's poor, accounting for the majority of the global disease burden (Stevens and Huys 2017). Therefore, leveraging the advantages of AI, its increased speed coupled with reduced cost of drug development, will be paramount if we are to attain Goal 3 of the UN-SDGs.

Although AI has a potential to transform the health industry, it has several technical challenges lying ahead (Yu et al. 2018). For instance, as ML-based algorithms rely on the presence of large amounts of high-quality training data, data that represent target patient population need to be cautiously compiled (Yu et al. 2018). Furthermore, proper data curation is needed for overseeing heterogeneous data. In addition, acquiring patients' gold standards requires health professionals to individually review clinical notes (Yu et al. 2018). This process is expensive on a population scale. Numerous high-performing ML models often create results that are hard to interpret by unassisted people. Additional AI challenges are economic, social, and legal (Yu et al. 2018). However, the greatest challenge to AI is ensuring its adoption into daily clinical practice (Davenport and Kalakota 2019).

2.3 Digital Twins

Digital twins are become an integral part of the digital transformation (Saracco 2019). This transformation is facilitated by the IoT and advanced data analytics (Fuller et al. 2020). A digital twin can be described as a virtual representation of a physical entity which can be utilized in the design phase to analyze, predict, and simulate behavior and store evolving descriptive data (Saracco 2019). A digital twin environment enables fast analysis and real-time decision-making using accurate analytics. Digital twin technology can be applied in various industries including healthcare, manufacturing, smart cities, etc. (Saracco 2019). In healthcare, digital twins can be used to simulate the effects of certain drugs on humans. It can also be used in planning and performing surgery (Gahlot et al. 2018). Furthermore, a digital twin enables doctors, researchers, and healthcare facilities to simulate environments that are specific to their needs in real-time or for future developments or utilizations. Integration of AI algorithms into digital twin technology enables smarter decisions and predictions (Saracco 2019). The use of digital twins for healthcare is still in its initial stages, but its potential is wide, for example, in hospital management where it can be used to improve the assignment of beds, management of large-scale wards, and hospital administration. This technology can also be used for predictive maintenance and repair of medical equipment (Saracco 2019). Lastly, digital twin technology together with AI can be used to make life saving choices that are based on real-time and historical information (El Saddik 2018; Ross 2016).

Digital twins can provide scientific data to address the current gaps in environmental policies and in the long term, reach the UN-SDG-3 goals with regards to maternal newborn and child deaths. Evidence shows that endocrine disruptor chemicals (EDCs) have a substantial impact on most if not all of the omics (Bornman et al. 2017; Singh et al. 2021). All this information is contained within the patient's digital twin (Voigt et al. 2021; Walsh et al. 2020). Digital twins, new knowledge, the combining of data, and AI integration are set to transform the healthcare industry (Kamel Boulos and Zhang 2021). However, this technology faces several challenges. In particular, digital twins have common issues and challenges with big data analytics and modern AI (Guidance 2021). These challenges include issues with data quality, availability, sharing, interoperability, and integration (Kamel Boulos and Zhang 2021). Other issues include intellectual property concerns, data security and privacy, reproducibility and transparency, and AI biasness (Kamel Boulos and Zhang 2021).

2.4 Internet of Things (IoT)

The convergence of medicine and information technologies has changed the healthcare industry into a more advanced system with efficient and accurate services (Bhatt et al. 2017). Such convergence is achieved through the Internet of Things (IoT). This technology has great impact on healthcare and medicine applications (Bhatt et al. 2017). IoT technology comprises of a physical devices network together with embedded sensors, software, devices, and network connectivity for the exchange of data (Zanella et al. 2014). Thus, the IoT can be described as a method of connecting devices/objects like sensors and smart phones to the Internet to link the devices together (Kortuem et al. 2009). Linking of these devices/objects enables novel communication forms between the devices, system components, and humans (Kortuem et al. 2009). IoT technology integrates common domains such as embedded systems, control systems and automation, as well as wireless sensor networks for device-to-device communication through the Internet (Da Xu et al. 2014). The dependence of the healthcare industry on IoT technology is increasing healthcare access and quality, as well as reducing healthcare cost (Frederix 2009). Personalized healthcare is based on a patient's exclusive biological, behavioral, and social characteristics (Bhatt et al. 2017). In turn, this leads to a reduction in healthcare costs. Support services can target early disease detection and result in homecare instead of clinical care (Bhatt et al. 2017). IoT technology can provide health personalization serves while also preserving digital identification of all patients (Bhatt et al. 2017). Categorization of IoT regarding personalized healthcare systems is comprised of clinical care and remote monitoring (Simonov et al. 2008). Applications of IoT technology in the healthcare industry include:

- Heart rate monitoring, which involved independent monitoring of biometrics of each patient through specific threshold settings. Additionally, vital signs like blood pressure and weight are also remotely monitored through integrated supplementary devices (Bourge et al. 2008).
- Monitoring of aging individuals in hospitals using IoT ultrasound-based technologies as personalized home healthcare solutions tracking and locating patients' activities. In addition, emergency calls can be managed in a cost actual system for wide area communication interface. This system can be a wearable sensor which

is waterproof and can be programmed to send out reports including position signals to the ultrasound receiver (Bhatt et al. 2017).

IoT can make significant contributions to support the implementation of the SDGs with regards to social and environmental aspects. Pay-as-you-go and low-cost IoT can be potential solutions to achieve SDGs by 2030 (López-Vargas et al. 2020). IoT can help achieve sustainable and stronger development, and allows the opportunity for economical and human development while the impact in developing countries must not be overlooked (Rahim 2017). Developing countries are shown to be ideal for IoT innovation, since it can support economic growth, and contribute to cultural, environmental, and social development (Barro et al. 2018). IoT development has allowed for the management and monitoring of renewable energy systems that improve the electrical access (Biggs et al. 2016; Ramanathan et al. 2017). IoT has the potential to predict and minimize the destruction caused by natural disasters (Pelc and Koderman 2018) like tsunamis and earthquakes (Biggs et al. 2016), thereby avoiding serious injuries and also saving lives. The benefits of IoT fall into the UN SDGs. Specifically, IoT implements SDG goals 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), 14 (Life Below Water), 15 (Life on Land), and 17 (Partnership for the Goals). Goal 3 aims for good health and wellbeing. IoT allows the capturing of data on all devices and allows model predictions to improve health and well-being. Sensors of various devices will upload the data that can be analyzed. Goal 6 aims to ensure clean water and sanitation. IoT will allow the monitoring and management of water, sanitation, and electrical systems and technologies (Biggs et al. 2016; Ramanathan et al. 2017; United Nation ESCAP 2018). IoT will allow all the data captured by sensors to be analyzed and will provide reliable information about the water resources state, usage, wastewater generation, and treatment (Krishnamurthi et al. 2020). IoT can be used to improve life on land and in water (Goal 14-15) by allowing predictive modeling based on the capturing of data by various devices. Actions can be taken to avoid catastrophic events and improve the health of all living organisms on land or in the water. IoT will also facilitate the growth of partnerships worldwide to increase the collaboration between people, science, and technology (Goal 17). IoT allows all data to be captured and stored and will be accessible across the Internet. This will allow world contribution based on data analysis, and the partnerships will allow improved ideas for healthcare and healthcare management.

IoT services and devices will drive the healthcare industry toward novel generation of efficient services while also saving lives and time with greater accuracy in terms of the predictions and recommendations that can be made (Bhatt et al. 2017). However, IoT technology has several challenges that lie ahead. The standard web services are the most adopted Internet technology (Bhatt et al. 2017). Wireless healthcare systems need functionalities, and this is challenging in the future of the Internet. New technologies and standards need to address security and privacy features for the users, network, applications, and data in the future (Bhatt et al. 2017). In general, the most challenging issues facing IoT technology include settling on security, device capabilities, merging the gaps between sensors, individuals, safety, and fabrication (Bhatt et al. 2017).

2.5 Blockchain Technology

The healthcare industry is constantly trying to keep up with modern technologies and apply them to improve healthcare services to patients (Dasaklis et al. 2018). In this regard, Blockchain technology has already been exploited in several areas of healthcare, including; healthcare data management, privacy, or interoperability (Esposito et al. 2018; Mettler 2016). Blockchain can be described as a secure digital ledger that records and stores transactions (Rathore et al. 2020). The ledger is kept in a decentralized network of nodes which are formed using cryptographic processes computed by all network users (Zhao et al. 2017). Blockchain ledger storage capacity is very dependable because it creates digital signatures and hash chains using consensus algorithms. To this extent, Blockchain technology offers numerous services such as security, traceability, integrity, and nonrepudiation. It does all this while also storing all the data in a public decentralized and privacy-protecting manner (Zhao et al. 2017).

Since Blockchain is decentralized and constantly updated, it presents many opportunities for the healthcare industry (Mettler 2016). For example, Blockchain can be applied in medical treatment processes like in chronic diseases or elderly care (Mettler 2016). The following are some of the key features of Blockchain that can benefit the healthcare industry (Yaqoob et al. 2022):

- Health data accuracy

Since Blockchain maintains updated, traceable, secure records, it can be used to store the entire medical history of a patient (Wang et al. 2018). In turn, this allows healthcare workers to provide timely, efficient, and accurate treatments to the patient. Importantly, all data stored on the Blockchain network are transparent, immutable, traceable, and tamper-proof (Agbo et al. 2019).

- Health data interoperability

Interoperability can be defined as the ability to exchange data between systems manufactured by different companies. A lot of e-health/medical records (EHR/EMR) are products created from different technical specifications, functional capabilities, and clinical technologies (Reisman 2017; Khan et al. 2014). These different systems prevent creation and sharing of data in single format. Thus, Blockchain can be used to store this data while also allowing it to be accessed and utilized by various healthcare institutions (Yaqoob et al. 2022).

Health data security

A significant number of healthcare institutions still use centralized infrastructures for storing and processing digital medical records (Redka 2019). However, these systems are outdated and vulnerable to cyberattacks and fraud (Redka 2019). Furthermore, these digital medical records can also be lost through events such as natural disasters. Thus, Blockchain can be used to prevent data mishandling, fraud, or theft using its immutability feature (Yaqoob et al. 2022).

In terms of UN-SDG (Goal 3) "Good health and well-being," Blockchain technology could facilitate change in relation to sustainability that can impact health, medication, and humanitarian aid supply and distribution (Hughes et al. 2019). Developing countries still face challenges in relation to the integrity of basic food products and medical supplies. Furthermore, logistical management and enforcement across geographical diversity and linguistic barriers are also major challenges in developing counties (Hughes et al. 2019). Blockchain technology can help solve these challenges by enabling parties to ship and monitor the lifecycle of health products by using its transactional integrity and immutability features. This will in turn improve health and well-being of the citizens (Hughes et al. 2019).

Other Blockchain applications in the healthcare sector include global health data sharing, improved healthcare data audit, improved drug traceability, clinical trials and precision medicine, and health insurance coverage optimization (Yaqoob et al. 2022). Although Blockchain has numerous potential applications in the healthcare industry, it has challenges that still need to be addressed before it can be completely integrated into the healthcare system (Yaqoob et al. 2022). These challenges include scalability, interoperability, regulatory uncertainty, tokenization, irreversibility and quantum computing, and ensuring healthcare data accuracy (Yaqoob et al. 2022).

2.6 Health Informatics

Developing nations are facing serious challenges in delivering healthcare to their citizens (Norris 2002). These challenges are induced by factors such as the rising number of elderly citizens who need care, increasing costs of medical technologies, social, and economic changes that prevent governments from funding healthcare appropriately among others (Norris 2002). The aforementioned challenges increase costs and decrease equity of access to healthcare (Norris 2002). As such, governments and established healthcare organizations are increasingly interested in the ability of Health Informatics to save human lives, time, and money (Shukla et al. 2014). Health Informatics can be described as the science of how health information is collected, analyzed, and used to improve health and healthcare (Fridsma 2018). It involves devices, resources, and methods needed to improve processes for acquiring, recovering, storing, and usage of health and biomedicine information (Oyelade et al. 2015). Health Informatics can be applied in various areas of healthcare, including clinical care, health services administration, medical research and as well as training (Shukla et al. 2014). Health Informatics uses tools such as computers, information and communication systems, clinical procedures, as well as formal medical vocabularies (Oyelade et al. 2015). It also facilitates storage and retrieval of health information in an organized and more precise manner compared to the ability of patients to recall details such as allergies and medications details (Oyelade et al.

2015). This is a critical issue for the patients. Inaccurate or insufficient health information from patients can lead to severe drug side effects (Oyelade et al. 2015). Thus, provision of accurate health information is particularly important. Health Information permits joined-up care, whereby various health departments, e.g., surgery, radiology, laboratory, administration, or account sections, are interlinked (Oyelade et al. 2015). In turn, this facilitates reduction of efforts duplication and also allows processes to be much quicker (Oyelade et al. 2015). Lastly, computerized Health Informatics guidelines enable health professionals and patients to make better decisions. Thus, high-quality treatments and prescriptions can be sustained (Oyelade et al. 2015).

Advanced technology and AI-empowered tools are important in the efficient integration of informatics in Society 5.0. Furthermore, equitable health through Society 5.0 cannot be achieved without the integration of UN-SDGs. The UN-SDGs specific to this subsection are Goal 3 (good health and well-being of a society), Goal 8 (a healthy society with decent work driving economic growth), Goal 10 (reduced inequalities in healthcare systems will have a positive impact on overall reduced inequalities), Goal 11 (preventative medicine through health informatics and exposome data can aid built sustainable cities and communities), Goal 13 (considering climate changes can aid in building sustainable development), Goal 15 (investing in environmental health and education is key in a healthy and wealthy society), and Goal 17 (societies should build partnerships in achieving a smart and healthy society).

Health Informatics can potentially play a key role in the management and delivery of healthcare services in developed and less developed nations (Oak 2007). It can also facilitate the evaluation of healthcare needs of citizens and also the effectiveness and coverage assessment of healthcare programs (Oak 2007). Like other modern and innovative technologies, Health Informatics faces several challenges. These challenges include confidentiality and privacy breaching caused by inadequate security monitoring during data transmission or storage. Another problem is the substandard diagnostic quality of images generated by computers e.g., dermatological or X-ray images. Medical errors can also be induced by insufficiently constructed computerized care methods, insufficient protocols for novel computer-assisted practices, or unavailable or failed technology, among others. Finally, there are issues surrounding the privacy of electronic health records.

2.7 Merging Cyberspace with Physical Space to Improve Women's Health in Low- and Middle-Income Countries

Cyberspace can be described as a digital space where real-world data are collected and analyzed by computers to create various solutions (Deguchi et al. 2020). This is where virtual life or events are converted into applicable information. On the other hand, physical space refers to the real world. Thus, merging these two entities will permit a smooth flow from the physical world to the cyberspace and vice versa (Deguchi et al. 2020). We envision a society where scientific and technological innovations culminate into the merging of cyberspace and physical space (Deguchi et al. 2020). In turn, this merge can be used to improve women's health and early detection of diseases where strategies and services are decentralized so that all women lead higher-quality lives (Deguchi et al. 2020). This would require a system where women's health information is collected and processed, with the results being applied in a real-world setting, be that rural or urban (Adel 2022). With the current advancement in technology, access to smartphones and other intelligent devices, such ideas should have long been implemented even in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). Women, in this age of advanced healthcare services, should not be dying from preventable diseases such as cervical cancer. Besides advancements in primary cervical cancer prevention strategies such as HPV vaccines, the disease also has premalignant lesions, which when identified early can be destroyed and their development into invasive cancer can be prevented. These shortcomings are due to failure to merge cyberspace and physical space. Applying Society 5.0 to a subunit of society such as a village or a suburb in a Metropolitan city can provide solutions in an LMIC setting (Deguchi et al. 2020).

In Society 5.0, healthcare social issues surrounding screening programs can be addressed by connecting these programs and using technology to integrate big data, the IoT, and AI to develop digital and physical infrastructure for services such as cervical cancer screening (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021). Implementation of programs to improve women's health in LMICs faces several challenges. For instance, the current red tape hinders progress in developing services such as building an intersector information integration architecture and striking a balance between the protection and access to personal information. Existing national and district regulations need to be eased so that innovation can be successful (Deguchi et al. 2020). Rural areas in these LMICs currently have little identifiable data management systems, and these should be established. On the other hand, the urbanized part of the LMICs has some regions with data management administered both privately and publicly, and these should be consolidated and coordinated, resulting in the building of intersector information integration architecture (Deguchi et al. 2020).

2.8 Integration of Cyber-Physical Systems in the Advancement of Society 5.0 Healthcare Management

The focal point of Industry 4.0 is efficient and optimal industrial production and data management. It is comprised of cyber-physical systems (CPS) in which the physical and digital worlds are intertwined by the industrial IoT. The aim is to create smart machines/factories that can be utilized in various sectors including health (Adebayo et al. 2019; Popov et al. 2022). Future technological advancements have sparked the

idea of smart or intelligent hospitals. Integration of AI technologies for the processing of high volumes of patient information through big data systems to allow prompt decision-making is essential for the new concepts adapted to Society 5.0 (Lindén and Björkman 2014). Most of the technologies used for monitoring patients' health status rely on embedded systems. The use of glucose/heart rate/ blood pressure monitors, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computerized tomography (CT) scans, positron emission tomography (PET) scans, etc. has advanced medical diagnostics and monitoring (Lindén and Björkman 2014). These systems permit remote monitoring of patients and facilitate prompt diagnosis and treatment decisions. However, future technologies continue to advance toward nano and smart technologies, including microchips. Society 5.0 is expected to bridge the gap between cyberspace and physical space. To achieve this, Society 5.0 will facilitate the realization of modern smart technologies through the integration of AI algorithms which facilitates big data analytics, IoT, metaverse, robotics, digital twining, Blockchain, and networks-on-chip (NoC) for the optimization of personalized medicine.

The UN-SDG Goals 3, 9, and 10 aim to reduce premature mortality by ensuring good health and promoting well-being (Chotchoungchatchai et al. 2020). These can be achieved by the development of smart industrial innovation and infrastructure which will facilitate the implementation of virtual realities which will reduce the use of invasive health management protocols. The development and availability of infrastructure will reduce global inequalities and ensure global healthcare competitiveness.

The ability to tailor-make healthcare management systems according to specific disease/personalized treatment comes with its pros and cons. Medical CPSs are vulnerable to cyber-attacks making cyber security a big concern. These attacks could be due to terrorism or organized crime. The safety of these technologies must be assured by the development of high confidence, authenticated software that can guarantee security of medical CPS. Software systems handle big data and also guarantee confidentiality and safe keeping of these data while providing easy access to the user are critical. If this data falls into the wrong hands, it could compromise the patient' health, making them vulnerable to discrimination, possible bodily harm, and abuse. The performance of real time applications requires low fault latency to prevent delays that could disturb the operational cycle of medical CPS. This could lead to poor data sharing and consequently affect timeous patient diagnosis and treatment. Lastly, safety for the use of the medical CPS should be assured by issuing operational certificates. The process of approving and validating these devices should be cost-effective, thus ensuring that these devices are distributed to provide required services (Lee et al. 2011). Currently, the cost-effectiveness of medical CPS devices such as robotic systems is not certain as it is difficult to prove that the benefits of robotic surgery outweigh that of traditional open and laparoscopic surgery (Chiu et al. 2019).

2.9 Society 5.0 and Quality Multidisciplinary Care of Malignant Solid Tumors in Low- and Middle-Income Settings

Noncommunicable diseases have overtaken infections as the leading causes of mortality globally, including in LMICs. Noncommunicable diseases include trauma, cardiometabolic conditions, and cancer. The average life expectancy of adults in LMICs is less than 70 years, and cancer is the second most common cause of death in adults between the ages of 40 and 60 years. Around 70% of deaths due to cancer occur in LMICs. Breast, colon, prostate, gastric, cervix, uterine, ovarian, hepatocellular, skin, thyroid, and adenocarcinoma of the pancreas are among the most commonly diagnosed malignancies in both LMICs and high-income countries (HICs). The majority of LMICs are not able to provide quality curative or end of life care in oncological services. This is due to the advanced stage of the tumor at initial presentation, shortage of expertise, protracted diagnostic work-up, and limited access to advanced imaging and treatment (Akinyemiju et al. 2022; Hunter et al. 2022; Kenner et al. 2021; Raghupathi and Raghupathi 2020; Sharma et al. 2022). Among the goals contained in the Millennium Development Goals (MDG), UN-SDGs, and Vision 2030 include the provision of quality healthcare in all countries of the world (Araújo 2020; Van Tulder et al. 2021; Rahman and Qattan 2021). UN-SDGs and Vision 2030 specifically include prevention of cancer and improving access to early diagnosis and effective treatment. Technological and computational advances introduced from Society 1.0 to Society 4.0 have led to an even bigger gap in the quality of oncological care between LMICs and HICs. Society 5.0 intends to utilize modern technological development and digitalization to achieve borderless and classless personalized quality healthcare services.

All 17 UN-SDGs are interlinked and support promotion of well-being and healthy lifestyle (Budhathoki et al. 2017; Rahman and Qattan 2021). The pillars of UN-SDG 3 are prevention of diseases, timeous access to quality treatment, and reduction of out-of-pocket expenses (Kruk et al. 2018). Preventative strategies which are contained in UN-SDG 3 are access to clean water, sanitation, health education, immunization, and screening program (Budhathoki et al. 2017). The UN-SDG 3 envisaged that all governments in the world will provide leadership and encourage active participation by private companies including multinationals in programs to improve the health of every individual. Society 5.0, SDG, and Vision 2030 do not have programs which are offered based on the income level of a country. Little has been achieved due to lack of political will, competing needs, tough economic situation, and minimal involvement of the private sector. Collaboration between governments and the private sector would make the technological advances affordable and available in LMICs which would lead to an improvement in the quality of oncological services. Like smart cities, smart oncological services would be safe, convenient, and cheap. Quality multidisciplinary care of malignant solid tumors will allow UN-SDG 3 to be achieved by providing the needed care to improve the health and well-being of the patient.

Implementation of Society 5.0 faces several challenges. It requires investment in the infrastructure which may not be affordable in LMICs. Available health information system, computer network programs, and the Internet speed may not be adequate to support the rollout of the envisaged Society 5.0 programs. Most of the training, development, and testing of the program would happen in HICs which is different from the situation in LMICs. Society 5.0 also threatens confidentiality and autonomy. A fault in the settings of some of the devices may lead to complications. New technology, including robotic surgery or endoscopy may have a negative impact on the teaching and training of future generations of healthcare practitioners.

2.10 Technological Innovations and the Advancement of Preventive Healthcare for Society 5.0

The merits of preventive medicine in LMICs public health systems can never be overemphasized. Paradoxically, their health system capabilities are the most compromised and overstretched due to restricted financial and other resources in these regions. Technological advances that have capitalized on Industry 4.0 are mainly biased toward therapeutics and diagnostics where disease has already established itself. This approach is untenable in LMICs. Although these developments have revolutionized healthcare and dramatically improved the quality of life, these achievements have impacted a fraction of the population in wealthy countries. Therefore, there is a challenge for practical health technological solutions to prevent onset and progression of diseases that is inclusive of most of the poor and disadvantaged populations particularly in LMICs. This is in line with the core principle of the UN-SDGs which is premised on leaving no one behind, and the UN-SDG 3 calls for universal health coverage and health and well-being for all ages. As countries embrace this inclusive vision and collectively aspire for a better society by the year 2030 through the 2030 global agenda, there is a great demand to ensure that everyone succeeds in implementing the UN-SDGs-by using new approaches and tools that help identify and address health inequity in all its forms (World Health Organization 2016). One such approach is to optimize preventive medicine through technology for all vulnerable populations with the additional outcome of easing the burden to the healthcare systems for LMICs.

AI-based applications and sensor technologies for biomarker detection in biofluids face several challenges. High financial cost associated with the use of AI-based applications is a major challenge, which will have a negative impact on people from rural communities and low-income backgrounds who do not have medical aid insurance and do not have access to smart devices or the Internet. Furthermore, the majority of countries in Africa are exposed to poverty and do not have adequate healthcare facilities and infrastructures to support AI-based preventative medicine practices. As a result, there is an urgent need for more cost-effective solutions to tackle this issue. Furthermore, there is also a severe lack of research funding in Africa, which requires immediate attention from first-world research and innovation funding stakeholders to assist African medical doctors, scientists, and computer and software engineers in developing simple and cost-effective AI-based healthcare software. A major issue with these advancements is the huge financial burden associated with purchasing wearable technologies and smart clothing, which will negatively impact individuals from low- and middle-income households. Furthermore, the majority of people from poor socioeconomic backgrounds, residing in rural areas do not have access to the Internet and wi-fi which is a challenge since wearable technology and smart clothing heavily rely on connectivity networks to communicate the monitored physiological parameters to the user (Ahsan et al. 2022; Chen et al. 2016; Ching and Singh 2016; Mokhtarian and Tang 2013).

2.11 Transformation of the Healthcare Ecosystem in the Era of Society 5.0

The term ecosystem is often used in healthcare to refer to a community consisting of patient and doctor, and all satellite figures involved in the patient care in and out of hospital. The COVID-19 pandemic has given us new lessons and changed the definition of the normal worldwide. Some lessons may be temporary; however, groundwork changes in our approach to healthcare ecosystem design will be necessary to assist in handling challenges of future catastrophes. The healthcare ecosystem is mainly comprised of value creation formula, customer value proposition, as well as partner network. These elements are driven by four business model pillars, namely, management, information, financing, and human resources. The use of AI in healthcare promises to revolutionize healthcare structural reforms in terms of robustness, agility, and accuracy. Digitization of healthcare systems is occurring on several fronts such as cloud-based technology, Blockchain technology, and medical IoT. Many of these health technologies offer a hope to improve access to healthcare to under-resourced communities as well as provide quick often real-time access to patient health data for quick real-time clinical decisions but are not without limitations. Whereas some of these limitations are purely technical, others are born from the risk of compromised patient privacy. These healthcare technologies further improve the wave of precision medicine in the long run. The health ecosystem digital era requires innovations that advance diagnosis and treatment, especially in hospital-based patient care usually by reducing error (Wadhwa 2020). Furthermore, numerous innovations are also required to ensure continuous care through the facilitation of off-site patient management. This can be achieved through telemedicine by reducing waste in the delivery system (Wadhwa 2020). By partnering with individuals to support self-management, digital innovation will positively impact on the social determinants of health (Serbanati et al. 2011).

The healthcare ecosystem transformation should be aligned to the UN-SDG "Good health and well-being" by working toward removing barriers of access to

healthcare using modern technology. An effective healthcare ecosystem will increase access to screening, early diagnosis, and improved accessibility of highquality medicinal treatment. It can also assist to improve the community and patient's knowledge of cancer, lifestyle modifications, quality of life benefits, and diet. The improved healthcare ecosystem as previously mentioned, can be used to ensure that the patients focus on cure rather than the disease itself. At the same time, access without affordability will be meaningless, and thus, cost-effective funding strategies should also be pursued through collaborative partnerships especially targeting the low-income communities.

Digital technologies provide advantages that are associated with the possibility of remote access to many medical services, and in the last decade have led to the rapid spread of digital medicine. Furthermore, there are several negative factors that have emerged through the diverse use of digital technologies in medicine. These technologies may cause serious harm to the life and health of people and induce significant damage to the society (Mirskikh et al. 2021).

3 Barriers to the Implementation of Society 5.0-Based Healthcare the Energy Crisis

One of the greatest barriers to the implementation of the technologies required for the development of a new smart healthcare system is the lack of resources required to implement them. These include lack of storage capacity, cloud computing capacity, computational power, raw materials for the manufacture of the required hardware, expertise for the design and manufacture of both hardware and software, and perhaps most crucially energy. The implementation of Society 5.0 will require a reliable supply of energy (Kheirinejad et al. 2022). The current energy crisis was already a barrier back when the concept of Society 5.0 was proposed; however, recent events such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the Ukraine-Russia war have exacerbated the crisis. This crisis has important negative implication for healthcare as a whole, since clean, sustainable, and affordable energy plays a crucial role in advancing health (World Health Organization 2022). This clean energy is another SDG, SDG-7, and this goal is aimed at supporting sources of clean energy such as hydro solar, geothermal, sea waves, and wind. In this way, it hopes to decrease the generation of harmful by-products such as CO₂, thereby helping to achieve another SDG-SDG-13 Climate change action (Nam-Chol and Kim 2019; Zengin et al. 2021). The energy crisis is therefore a barrier to not only Society 5.0 but also to attaining the SDGs. This is in part due to an affordability crisis, where the generation of electricity is too expensive (Gabel 2022). This has resulted in some SDGs "going backwards" as families have been pushed into poverty (SDG-1) (International Energy Agency 2023). The affordability of energy will have a direct impact on industries required to support healthcare such as the pharmaceutical industry. The rising cost of energy may force companies to increase the cost of drugs, remove cheaper generic drugs, and limit the availability of drugs (Hawkins 2022; Stewart 2023). The effect that the dwindling global energy supply on the implementation and use of digital healthcare technologies has is vast. These technologies require a constant supply of power with the IoT requiring power to collect, filter, and transmit data, with some studies indicating that IoT devices can waste up to 30% of the energy they consume (Shah et al. 2022). AI obviously requires energy to run the vast cloud computing networks required to provide the necessary computing power. These concerns in powering the use of Blockchain technology require large amounts of electricity for the validation of all Blockchain-based transactions or records (Schinckus 2022). These technologies have arisen despite most of these technologies using minimal energy. The energy crisis has impacted the entire world; however, these effects are even more damaging and far reaching in LMICs, resulting in these countries not being able to implement these new technologies which are so badly needed in these countries. Even without the energy crisis, it is common in many LMICs for there to be no power or an unreliable or limited supply in many villages and other establishments (Jamal 2015). LMCs would also suffer the most from effects such as increased electricity prices (Stewart 2023).

Many of these concerns can be partially negated by improved energy management, the use and integration of renewable energy systems, and the cautious implementation of these new technologies, so as to not overwhelm the energy supply (Schinckus 2022). An addition to this, it has been shown that many of these new digital technologies can also provide solutions to the energy crisis. AI, the IoT, and digital twinning have allowed for the management, monitoring, and consumption of energy resources (Sifat et al. 2022; Nandury and Begum 2015). Smart grids (SG) would improve the flow of data and electricity within the electricity system networks (ESN) and allow for the replacement of conventional fossil fuel-rich grid with distributed energy resources (DER) (Kumar et al. 2020). These SGs can be designed with the aid of AI and modeled using digital twin in order to assess them before they are implemented (Sifat et al. 2022). IoT can also assist in the implementation of SGs, through the more efficient transfer of power to smart devices and buildings, thus reducing consumption (Pan et al. 2015).

4 Ethical and Legal Challenges in Society 5.0 Next-Generation Healthcare

Many of these technologies that are the basis for the development of healthcare into a Society 5.0 are not without their own problems and issues. These issues include bias, ethical issues ranging from the violation of basic human rights, such as privacy and patient autonomy, to issues of cost and availability to issues around mistrust on the use of these new technologies to issues surrounding racial and cultural bias (Myers et al. 2008). Many of these issues stem from the basic requirement that personalized medicine in Society 5.0 requires vast amounts of information to be gathered about

everyone. This immediately brings the privacy of the individual into question. The rampant and unregulated information gathering through remote sensors, the IoT, and cloud computing means that information can be gathered without patient permission. It also means that an excess of information can be gathered, some of it with no bearing on patient health and well-being. This information can then be sold, known as data brokerage, to commercial companies. This data can also be used for purposes other than health, such as criminal investigations, in a process known as function creep (Xafis 2015). The intensive gathering and analysis of data can also lead to overdiagnosis. Overdiagnoses can lead to a population of hypochondriacs, unnecessary treatment, and unnecessary burden on a healthcare system (Kale and Korenstein 2018). The removal of patient autonomy is another real concern, where there is a fear that the use of AI will result in the patient becoming disempowered regarding the choices made about their own health. AI is by far the most controversial of these modern technologies, with many fears surrounding how untrustworthy or error prone an AI can be. To concerns regarding an AI not being able to adjust its analysis to suit diverse cultures or being prejudiced by learning from race specific data. The lack of transparency when it comes to AI, leading it to be dubbed a black box is an issue of concern for many clinicians. This leads to them not trusting the treatment decisions suggested by the AI because they do not know how it has reached these decisions (Guo et al. 2021). AI is also influenced by the adage garbage in garbage out, where the AI is only as good as the data it is given, or the training data used to teach it. This also highlights problems with the technologies used to gather information in that it is not clear how accurate many of these devices are (Clayson et al. 2021). This coupled with software upgrades and different operating systems or software on different devices leading to data corruption and the extent of mistrust in much of this information becomes clear. Mobile or remote devices also need to be calibrated using an external device. In LMICS, qualified technicians and calibration devices may be in short supply or only available in urban centers. There is also a valid fear that all this information, especially omics information, can be used by AI and digital twin technology for nefarious purposes. These include population control, segregation, and in the most extreme cases genocide (Poghosyan 2020). This all leads to the requirement of new laws and regulatory bodies to control and police these modern technologies, although this raises the question of responsibility. When these technologies fail and harm is caused to a patient, who will be held responsible. This is especially relevant when it comes to AI as the AI itself cannot be held responsible. However, should the manufacturers or designers be blamed or the endpoint users? Additionally, what if the error was caused by what the AI had learnt from other data or previous use. In this case, the manufacturer or designer may not be to blame, while the endpoint user may not possess the knowledge to understand or realize the failure of the system. The best solution may be a list of responsibility for every step of the usage of these new technologies (Dignum 2019). Companies involved in the development of these innovative technologies need to adopt ethical culture and indorse ethical leadership. Figure 4 below shows steps that companies need to take in order to develop an ethical structure (Tzafestas 2018). Despite all these problems, the promise these modern technologies offer cannot be ignored, and



Fig. 4 Steps that regulatory bodies need to take in order to develop new ethical standards in healthcare. Adapted from Tzafestas (2018)

as such, careful deliberation and planning must take place to ensure their ethical design and application for all stakeholders.

5 Conclusion

The implementation of healthcare in Society 5.0 aims to improve the longevity of individuals and allow them to exist with longer periods of good health. It will accomplish this by minimizing the incidence and severity of disease and optimizing medical expenses. Finally, this future healthcare system will provide care over the course of the life of all individuals without prejudice or bias. In order to accomplish this, it will use current and future technologies which are a defining feature of Society 5.0 (Fig. 5). This book will discuss the use of these technologies in the implantation of healthcare in Society 5.0.

The first chapter will discuss the use of Intelligent Bioinformatics in healthcare and outline how it can be used to analyze data to contribute to personalized medicine and healthcare. The second chapter will discuss the care of patients with malignant



Fig. 5 A summary of healthcare in Society 5.0 detailing the different technologies that will transform healthcare and what they hope to achieve. Compiled by Rodney Hull

solid tumors in LMIC settings in Society 5.0. Specifically, it will discuss the implementation of multidisciplinary care in this setting and how the lives of these cancer patients in LMICs will be improved through the use of Society 5.0-based healthcare. The book will then move on to discuss the use of technology in a smart society to prevent diseases through the implementation of smarter knowledge-based screening and surveillance. It will then discuss the role played by the IoT in gathering the substantial amounts of personalized accurate and up-to-date data required for personalized healthcare. Moreover, it will discuss a specific example of the use of healthcare based on Society 5.0 in the screening, prevention, and management of cervical cancer in an LMIC healthcare setting followed by the use of AI in enhancing drug discovery for a human-centered health system. In addition, it will discuss the role played by digital twins in modeling patients, treatments, and public health in Society 5.0. The following chapter will discuss the implementation of integrated Cyber-Physical Systems in healthcare. This will be followed by a chapter on how the healthcare ecosystem will be revolutionized by the introduction of these technologies and how the interconnected roles and activities of patients, healthcare providers, policy makers, and administrators will be to make healthcare more affordable, robust, and efficient. Data security, privacy, and protection are major concerns for the implementation of this smart, data-driven healthcare system, and the next chapter will discuss the use of Blockchain technology in protecting this data and ensuring the continued safe development and use of large amounts of data to personalized medicine. Finally, this book will discuss the barriers and problems facing the use of these new technologies. These include legal and ethical issues, issues surrounding the privacy and protection of information as well as issues concerning the safety and trust in these new technologies. These problems can and must be solved for the implementation of healthcare in Society 5.0 since the advantages of this smart information-based, personalized healthcare system would outweigh any drawbacks if it is implemented responsibly.

The digital transformation of healthcare allows for easier access to healthcare as well as giving patients the ability to be more in control of their own healthcare leading to a system that is driven by healthcare professionals and patients working together. It is hoped that this book will provide a comprehensive introduction to the various aspects of healthcare in Society 5.0 and will demonstrate the importance of the future implementation of Society 5.0.

References

- Adebayo AO, Chaubey MS, Numbu LP (2019) Industry 4.0: the fourth industrial revolution and how it relates to the application of internet of things (IoT). J Multidiscip Eng Sci Stud 5:2477– 2482
- Adel A (2022) Future of industry 5.0 in society: human-centric solutions, challenges and prospective research areas. J Cloud Comput 11:1–15
- Agbo CC, Mahmoud QH, Eklund JM (2019) Blockchain technology in healthcare: a systematic review. Healthcare 7(2):56
- Ahsan M, Teay SH, Sayem ASM, Albarbar A (2022) Smart clothing framework for health monitoring applications. Signals 3:113–145
- Akinyemiju T, Ogunsina K, Gupta A, Liu I, Braithwaite D, Hiatt RA (2022) A socio-ecological framework for cancer prevention in low and middle-income countries. Front Public Health 10: 884678
- Aquilani B, Piccarozzi M, Abbate T, Codini A (2020) The role of open innovation and value co-creation in the challenging transition from industry 4.0 to society 5.0: toward a theoretical framework. Sustainability 12:8943
- Araújo NMF (2020) Impact of the fourth industrial revolution on the health sector: a qualitative study. Healthc Inform Res 26:328–334
- Barro P, Degila J, Zennaro M, Wamba S (2018) Towards smart and sustainable future cities based on Internet of things for developing countries: what approach for Africa? EAI Endorsed Trans Internet Things 4
- Bhatt C, Dey N, Ashour AS (2017) Internet of things and big data technologies for next generation healthcare. Springer, New York
- Biggs P, Garrity J, Lasalle C, Polomska A (2016) Harnessing the Internet of Things for global development
- Bornman MS, Aneck-Hahn NH, De Jager C, Wagenaar GM, Bouwman H, Barnhoorn IE, Patrick SM, Vandenberg LN, Kortenkamp A, Blumberg B (2017) Endocrine disruptors and health effects in Africa: a call for action. Environ Health Perspect 125:085005
- Bourge RC, Abraham WT, Adamson PB, Aaron MF, Aranda JM, Magalski A, Zile MR, Smith AL, Smart FW, O'Shaughnessy MA (2008) Randomized controlled trial of an implantable continuous hemodynamic monitor in patients with advanced heart failure: the COMPASS-HF study. J Am Coll Cardiol 51:1073–1079
- Budhathoki SS, Pokharel PK, Good S, Limbu S, Bhattachan M, Osborne RH (2017) The potential of health literacy to address the health related UN sustainable development goal 3 (SDG3) in Nepal: a rapid review. BMC Health Serv Res 17:1–13

- Chen M, Ma Y, Song J, Lai C-F, Hu B (2016) Smart clothing: connecting human with clouds and big data for sustainable health monitoring. Mobile Netw Appl 21:825–845
- Ching KW, Singh MM (2016) Wearable technology devices security and privacy vulnerability analysis. Int J Netw Secur Appl 8:19–30
- Chiu C-C, Hsu W-T, Choi JJ, Galm B, Lee M-TG, Chang C-N, Liu C-YC, Lee C-C (2019) Comparison of outcome and cost between the open, laparoscopic, and robotic surgical treatments for colon cancer: a propensity score-matched analysis using nationwide hospital record database. Surg Endosc 33:3757–3765
- Chotchoungchatchai S, Marshall AI, Witthayapipopsakul W, Panichkriangkrai W, Patcharanarumol W, Tangcharoensathien V (2020) Primary health care and sustainable development goals. Bull World Health Organ 98:792
- Clayson PE, Brush CJ, Hajcak G (2021) Data quality and reliability metrics for event-related potentials (ERPs): the utility of subject-level reliability. Int J Psychophysiol 165:121–136
- Da Xu L, He W, Li S (2014) Internet of things in industries: a survey. IEEE Trans Ind Inform 10: 2233–2243
- Dasaklis TK, Casino F, Patsakis C (2018) Blockchain meets smart health: towards next generation healthcare services. In: 2018 9th International conference on information, intelligence, systems and applications (IISA). IEEE, pp 1–8
- Davenport T, Kalakota R (2019) The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare. Future Healthc J 6:94
- Deguchi A, Hirai C, Matsuoka H, Nakano T, Oshima K, Tai M, Tani S (2020) What is society 5.0. Society 5:1–23
- Dignum V (2019) Responsible artificial intelligence: how to develop and use AI in a responsible way. Springer Nature
- El Saddik A (2018) Digital twins: the convergence of multimedia technologies. IEEE Multimed 25: 87–92
- Elmaraghy H, Monostori L, Schuh G, Elmaraghy W (2021) Evolution and future of manufacturing systems. CIRP Ann 70:635–658
- Esposito C, De Santis A, Tortora G, Chang H, Choo K-KR (2018) Blockchain: a panacea for healthcare cloud-based data security and privacy? IEEE Cloud Comput 5:31–37
- Fakoor R, Ladhak F, Nazi A, Huber M (2013) Using deep learning to enhance cancer diagnosis and classification. In: Proceedings of the international conference on machine learning, 2013. ACM, New York, pp 3937–3949
- Frederix I (2009) Internet of things and radio frequency identification in care taking, facts and privacy challenges. In: 1st international conference on wireless communication, vehicular technology, information theory and Aerospace & Electronic Systems Technology, 2009. IEEE, pp 319–323
- Fridsma DB (2018) Health informatics: a required skill for 21st century clinicians. British Medical Journal Publishing Group
- Fukuda K (2020) Science, technology and innovation ecosystem transformation toward society 5.0. Int J Prod Econ 220:107460
- Fukuyama M (2018) Society 5.0: aiming for a new human-centered society. Japan Spotlight 27:47– 50
- Fuller A, Fan Z, Day C, Barlow C (2020) Digital twin: enabling technologies, challenges and open research. IEEE Access 8:108952–108971
- Gabel E (2022) The energy crisis is reshaping power sector policies worldwide [Online]. S&P Global Commodity Insights. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/ci/researchanalysis/the-energy-crisis-is-reshaping-power-sector-policies-worldwide.html. Accessed 25 November 2023
- Gahlot S, Reddy S, Kumar D (2018) Review of smart health monitoring approaches with survey analysis and proposed framework. IEEE Internet Things J 6:2116–2127
- Guidance W (2021) Ethics and governance of artificial intelligence for health. World Health Organization, Geneva

- Guo Z-J, Zhang Q, Liu Y, Bai Z-M, Qiang L, Li H-Y, Zhang Y-H, Chi H-W, Men M, Xu Q (2021) Preliminary investigation and imaging analysis of early lung cancer screening among petroleum workers in North China. Cancer Investig 39:321–332
- Gustiana I, Wahyuni W, Hasti N (2019) Society 5.0: optimization of socio-technical system in poverty reduction. In: IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. IOP Publishing, Bristol, UK, p 022019
- Hawkins L (2022) The impact of the energy crisis on pharma [online]. Pharma iQ. https://www. pharma-iq.com/business-development/news/the-impact-of-the-energy-crisis-on-pharma. Accessed 18 January 2023
- Hayashi H, Sasajima H, Takayanagi Y, Kanamaru H (2017) International standardization for smarter society in the field of measurement, control and automation. In: 2017 56th Annual Conference of the Society of Instrument and Control Engineers of Japan (SICE). IEEE, Geneva, pp 263–266
- Huang G, Huang G-B, Song S, You K (2015) Trends in extreme learning machines: a review. Neural Netw 61:32–48
- Hughes L, Dwivedi YK, Misra SK, Rana NP, Raghavan V, Akella V (2019) Blockchain research, practice and policy: applications, benefits, limitations, emerging research themes and research agenda. Int J Inf Manag 49:114–129
- Hunter B, Hindocha S, Lee R (2022) The role of artificial intelligence in early cancer diagnosis. Cancers 14:1524. S note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published ...
- International Energy Agency (2023) Global energy crisis [online]. International Energy Agency https://www.iea.org/topics/global-energy-crisis. Accessed 18 January 2023
- Jamal N (2015) Options for the supply of electricity to rural homes in South Africa. J Energy South Africa 26:58–65
- Kale MS, Korenstein D (2018) Overdiagnosis in primary care: framing the problem and finding solutions. BMJ 362:k2820
- Kamel Boulos MN, Zhang P (2021) Digital twins: from personalised medicine to precision public health. J Pers Med 11:745
- Kenner B, Chari ST, Kelsen D, Klimstra DS, Pandol SJ, Rosenthal M, Rustgi AK, Taylor JA, Yala A, Abul-Husn N (2021) Artificial intelligence and early detection of pancreatic cancer: 2020 summative review. Pancreas 50:251
- Khan WA, Khattak AM, Hussain M, Amin MB, Afzal M, Nugent C, Lee S (2014) An adaptive semantic based mediation system for data interoperability among health information systems. J Med Syst 38:1–18
- Kheirinejad S, Bozorg-Haddad O, Singh VP, Loáiciga HA (2022) The effect of reducing per capita water and energy uses on renewable water resources in the water, food and energy nexus. Sci Rep 12:1–17
- Kortuem G, Kawsar F, Sundramoorthy V, Fitton D (2009) Smart objects as building blocks for the internet of things. IEEE Internet Comput 14:44–51
- Krishnamurthi R, Kumar A, Gopinathan D, Nayyar A, Qureshi B (2020) An overview of IoT sensor data processing, fusion, and analysis techniques. Sensors (Basel) 20(21):6076. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/s20216076. Accessed 26 October 2020, PMID: 33114594; PMCID: PMC7663157.
- Kruk ME, Gage AD, Arsenault C, Jordan K, Leslie HH, Roder-Dewan S, Adeyi O, Barker P, Daelmans B, Doubova SV (2018) High-quality health systems in the sustainable development goals era: time for a revolution. Lancet Glob Health 6:e1196–e1252
- Kumar NM, Chand AA, Malvoni M, Prasad KA, Mamun KA, Islam F, Chopra SS (2020) Distributed energy resources and the application of AI, IoT, and blockchain in smart grids. Energies 13:5739
- Lee I, Sokolsky O, Chen S, Hatcliff J, Jee E, Kim B, King A, Mullen-Fortino M, Park S, Roederer A (2011) Challenges and research directions in medical cyber–physical systems. Proc IEEE 100: 75–90

- Lee S-I, Celik S, Logsdon BA, Lundberg SM, Martins TJ, Oehler VG, Estey EH, Miller CP, Chien S, Dai J (2018) A machine learning approach to integrate big data for precision medicine in acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Commun 9:1–13
- Lindén M, Björkman M (2014) Embedded sensor systems for health-providing the tools in future healthcare. Stud Health Technol Inf 200:161–163
- López-Vargas A, Fuentes M, Vivar M (2020) Challenges and opportunities of the internet of things for global development to achieve the United Nations sustainable development goals. IEEE Access 8:37202–37213
- Maiurova A, Kurniawan TA, Kustikova M, Bykovskaia E, Othman MHD, Singh D, Goh HH (2022) Promoting digital transformation in waste collection service and waste recycling in Moscow (Russia): applying a circular economy paradigm to mitigate climate change impacts on the environment. J Clean Prod 354:131604
- Mavrodieva AV, Shaw R (2020) Disaster and climate change issues in Japan's society 5.0—a discussion. Sustainability 12:1893
- Mettler M (2016) Blockchain technology in healthcare: the revolution starts here. In: 2016 IEEE 18th international conference on e-health networking, applications and services (Healthcom). IEEE, New York, pp 1–3
- Minsky M (1961) Steps toward artificial intelligence. Proc IRE 49:8-30
- Mirskikh I, Mingaleva Z, Kuranov V, Dobrovlyanina O (2021) Problems and negative consequences of the digitalization of medicine. In: The 2018 international conference on digital science. Springer, New York, pp 445–455
- Mokhtarian PL, Tang WL (2013) Trivariate Probit models of pre-purchase/purchase shopping channel choice: clothing purchases in northern California. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham, UK
- Mourtzis D (2016) Challenges and future perspectives for the life cycle of manufacturing networks in the mass customisation era. Logist Res 9:1–20
- Mourtzis D, Angelopoulos J, Panopoulos N (2022) A literature review of the challenges and opportunities of the transition from industry 4.0 to society 5.0. Energies 15:6276
- Myers J, Frieden TR, Bherwani KM, Henning KJ (2008) Ethics in public health research: privacy and public health at risk: public health confidentiality in the digital age. Am J Public Health 98: 793–801
- Nam-Chol O, Kim H (2019) Towards the 2 °C goal: achieving sustainable development goal (SDG) 7 in DPR Korea. Resour Conserv Recycl 150:104412
- Nandury SV, Begum BA (2015) Smart WSN-based ubiquitous architecture for smart cities. In: 2015 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI). IEEE, New York, pp 2366–2373
- Narvaez Rojas C, Alomia Peñafiel GA, Loaiza Buitrago DF, Tavera Romero CA (2021) Society 5.0: a Japanese concept for a superintelligent society. Sustainability 13:6567
- Natakusumah K, Maulina E, Muftiadi A, Purnomo M (2022) Digital transformation of health quality services in the healthcare industry during disruption and society 5.0 era. Front Public Health 10
- Norris A (2002) Current trends and challenges in health informatics. Health Inform J 8:205-213
- Oak M (2007) A review on barriers to implementing health informatics in developing countries. J Health Inform Dev Ctries 1
- Oyelade J, Soyemi J, Isewon I, Obembe O (2015) Bioinformatics, healthcare informatics and analytics: an imperative for improved healthcare system. Int J Appl Inf Syst 13:1–6
- Pan J, Jain R, Paul S, Vu T, Saifullah A, Sha M (2015) An internet of things framework for smart energy in buildings: designs, prototype, and experiments. IEEE Internet Things J 2:527–537
- Pappas IO, Mikalef P, Giannakos MN, Krogstie J, Lekakos G (2018) Big data and business analytics ecosystems: paving the way towards digital transformation and sustainable societies. Springer
- Pelc S, Koderman M (2018) Nature, tourism and ethnicity as drivers of (de)marginalization. Nature 3

- Poghosyan NM (2020) The development of artificial intelligence and risks for the implementation of genocide and mass killings. J Genocide Res 133:119
- Popov V, Kudryavtseva E, Kumar Katiyar N, Shishkin A, Stepanov S, Goel S (2022) Industry 4.0 and digitalisation in healthcare. Materials 15:2140. s Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published . . .
- Raghupathi V, Raghupathi W (2020) The influence of education on health: an empirical assessment of OECD countries for the period 1995–2015. Arch Public Health 78:1–18
- Rahim A (2017) IoT and data analytics for developing countries from research to business transformation. In: International conference on the economics of grids, clouds, systems, and services. Springer, New York, pp 281–284
- Rahman R, Qattan A (2021) Vision 2030 and sustainable development: state capacity to revitalize the healthcare system in Saudi Arabia. Inquiry 58:0046958020984682
- Ramanathan T, Ramanathan N, Mohanty J, Rehman IH, Graham E, Ramanathan V (2017) Wireless sensors linked to climate financing for globally affordable clean cooking. Nat Clim Chang 7:44– 47
- Rathore H, Mohamed A, Guizani M (2020) Blockchain applications for healthcare. In: Energy efficiency of medical devices and healthcare applications. Elsevier, New York
- Redka MB (2019) Healthcare: use cases today and opportunities for the future
- Reisman M (2017) EHRS: the challenge of making electronic data usable and interoperable. Pharm Therap 42:572
- Ricciardi W, Pita Barros P, Bourek A, Brouwer W, Kelsey T, Lehtonen L (2019) How to govern the digital transformation of health services. Eur J Pub Health 29:7–12
- Ross D (2016) Digital twinning [virtual reality avatars]. Eng Technol 11:44-45
- Rüßmann M, Lorenz M, Gerbert P, Waldner M, Justus J, Engel P, Harnisch M (2015) Industry 4.0: the future of productivity and growth in manufacturing industries. Boston Consulting Group 9: 54–89
- Saracco R (2019) Digital twins: bridging physical space and cyberspace. Computer 52:58-64
- Schinckus C (2022) A nuanced perspective on blockchain technology and healthcare. Technol Soc 71:102082
- Serbanati LD, Ricci FL, Mercurio G, Vasilateanu A (2011) Steps towards a digital health ecosystem. J Biomed Inform 44:621–636
- Shah S, Jadeja A, Doshi N (2022) An analytical survey of energy efficiency in IoT paradigm. Procedia Comput Sci 210:283–288
- Sharma R, Nanda M, Fronterre C, Sewagudde P, Ssentongo AE, Yenney K, Arhin ND, Oh J, Amponsah-Manu F, Ssentongo P (2022) Mapping cancer in Africa: a comprehensive and comparable characterization of 34 cancer types using estimates from GLOBOCAN 2020. Front Public Health 10
- Shukla D, Patel SB, Sen AK (2014) A literature review in health informatics using data mining techniques. Int J Softw Hardw Res Eng 2:123–129
- Sifat MMH, Choudhury SM, Das SK, Ahamed MH, Muyeen S, Hasan MM, Ali MF, Tasneem Z, Islam MM, Islam MR (2022) Towards electric digital twin grid: technology and framework review. Energy AI 2022:100213
- Simonov M, Zich R, Mazzitelli F (2008) Personalized healthcare communication in internet of things. Proc URSI GA08 2008:7
- Singh RD, Koshta K, Tiwari R, Khan H, Sharma V, Srivastava V (2021) Developmental exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals and its impact on cardio-metabolic-renal health. Front Toxicol 3:663372
- Sordo M (2002) Introduction to neural networks in healthcare. In: Open clinical: knowledge management for medical care. IGI Global, Hershey, PA
- Stevens H, Huys I (2017) Innovative approaches to increase access to medicines in developing countries. Front Med 4:218

- Stewart A (2023) Winter is coming: how the energy crisis will change pharma in 2023 [online]. The Medicine Maker. https://themedicinemaker.com/business-regulation/how-the-energy-crisiswill-affect-pharma-in-2023. Accessed 18 January 2023
- Tortorella GL, Fogliatto FS, Tlapa Mendoza D, Pepper M, Capurro D (2022) Digital transformation of health services: a value stream-oriented approach. Int J Prod Res:1–15
- Tzafestas SG (2018) Ethics and law in the internet of things world. Smart Cities 1:98-120
- United Nations (2015) Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development | department of economic and social affairs, Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available at: https://sdgs.un.org/publications/transforming-our-world-2030-agenda-sustainable-development-17981. Accessed 26 January 2023
- United Nation ESCAP (2018) ESCAP multi-donor Trust Fund for Tsunami, disaster and climate preparedness: 2016–2017 annual report
- Van Tulder R, Rodrigues SB, Mirza H, Sexsmith K (2021) The UN's sustainable development goals: can multinational enterprises lead the decade of action? Springer
- Vial A, Stirling D, Field M, Ros M, Ritz C, Carolan M, Holloway L, Miller AA (2018) The role of deep learning and radiomic feature extraction in cancer-specific predictive modelling: a review. Transl Cancer Res 7:803–816
- Voigt I, Inojosa H, Dillenseger A, Haase R, Akgün K, Ziemssen T (2021) Digital twins for multiple sclerosis. Front Immunol 12:669811
- Wadhwa M (2020) National eHealth authority (NeHA). ICT India Working Paper
- Walsh JR, Smith AM, Pouliot Y, Li-Bland D, Loukianov A, Fisher CK (2020) Generating digital twins with multiple sclerosis using probabilistic neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.02779
- Wang S, Wang J, Wang X, Qiu T, Yuan Y, Ouyang L, Guo Y, Wang F-Y (2018) Blockchainpowered parallel healthcare systems based on the ACP approach. IEEE Trans Comput Soc Syst 5:942–950
- Weng J, Mcclelland J, Pentland A, Sporns O, Stockman I, Sur M, Thelen E (2001) Autonomous mental development by robots and animals. Science 291:599–600
- World Health Organization (2016) Innov8 approach for reviewing national health programmes to leave no one behind: technical handbook
- World Health Organization (2022) Health topics: health and energy [online]. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/health-topics/energy-and-health#tab=tab_1. Accessed 17 January 2023
- Xafis V (2015) The acceptability of conducting data linkage research without obtaining consent: lay people's views and justifications. BMC Med Ethics 16:1–16
- Xu X, Lu Y, Vogel-Heuser B, Wang L (2021) Industry 4.0 and industry 5.0—inception, conception and perception. J Manuf Syst 61:530–535
- Yaqoob I, Salah K, Jayaraman R, Al-Hammadi Y (2022) Blockchain for healthcare data management: opportunities, challenges, and future recommendations. Neural Comput Appl 34:11475– 11490
- Yu K-H, Beam AL, Kohane IS (2018) Artificial intelligence in healthcare. Nat Biomed Eng 2:719– 731
- Záklasník M, Putnová A (2019) Digital society–opportunity or threat? Case studies of Japan and The Czech Republic. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis 67:1085–1095
- Zanella A, Bui N, Castellani A, Vangelista L, Zorzi M (2014) Internet of things for smart cities. IEEE Internet Things J 1:22–32
- Zengin Y, Naktiyok S, KaygıN E, Kavak O, Topçuoğlu E (2021) An investigation upon industry 4.0 and society 5.0 within the context of sustainable development goals. Sustainability 13:2682
- Zhao H, Zhang Y, Peng Y, Xu R (2017) Lightweight backup and efficient recovery scheme for health blockchain keys. In: 2017 IEEE 13th international symposium on autonomous decentralized system (ISADS). IEEE, New York, pp 229–234
Health Informatics Applications in Healthcare and Society 5.0



Rahaba Marima, Nompumelelo Mtshali, Pumza Phillips, Thulo Molefi, Richard Khanyile, Zukile Mbita, Mandisa Mbeje, Aristotelis Chatziioannou, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract Social determinants are fundamental factors in healthcare and are key in a sustainable society. Society 5.0 concept is based on a future intelligent sustainable society that can enable and drive economic development of its own citizens, while ensuring health equities, social upliftment, and equalities using modern-day technology solutions. The ability of Society 5.0 in data management and analysis renders

R. Marima (🖂) · Z. Dlamini

AMPATH Laboratory, Lynwood, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: nompumelelo.mtshali@wits.ac.za

P. Phillips

Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: pumza.magangane@wits.ac.za

T. Molefi · R. Khanyile · M. Mbeje

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: thulo.molefi@up.ac.za; richard.khanyile@up.ac.za; 20785102@tuks.co.za

Z. Mbita

Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Biochemistry, University of Limpopo, Sovenga, Mankweng, South Africa e-mail: zukile.mbita@ul.ac.za

A. Chatziioannou

Department of Anatomical Pathology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_2

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: rahaba.marima@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

N. Mtshali

Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

health informatics a potent tool in advancing Society 5.0 and healthcare. Health informatics is the intersection of various "informatics" fields, including clinical bioinformatics, biological bioinformatics, image informatics, translational bioinformatics, and public health informatics. Health informatics is key in the implementation and success of Society 5.0, thus enhancing the "health is wealth" concept. Society 5.0 aims at bridging inequality gaps in society through the construction of reliable, equitable, and optimized healthcare system that will benefit all people of its society. However, ethical concerns regarding patient data sharing, management, analysis, and security have been major obstacles in efficient applications of health informatics in healthcare, posing as threats of human rights and privacy invasion and loss of what it means to be human. This chapter will discuss the health informatics applications and their limitations in healthcare and Society 5.0 toward building an equitable super-smart healthcare system and ensuring sustainable development.

Keywords Health informatics \cdot Bioinformatics \cdot Clinical bioinformatics \cdot Translational bioinformatics \cdot Ethics in Health Informatics (EHI) \cdot Omics \cdot Exposome \cdot Society 5.0

1 Introduction

Society 5.0 concept is based on a future intelligent sustainable society that can ensure health equities and drive social upliftment and equalities using modern-day technology solutions (Fig. 1). The ability of Society 5.0 in data management and analysis renders health informatics a powerful tool in advancing Society 5.0 and healthcare. Health informatics is the intersection of various "informatics" fields, including clinical bioinformatics, bioinformatics, image informatics, translational bioinformatics, and public health informatics (Oyelade et al. 2015; Fukuyama 2018). According to the US DoH, healthcare informatics can be defined as the collection, classification, storage, retrieval, and dissemination of recorded knowledge to promote good health and support healthcare delivery. Furthermore, health informatics has been reported to provide predictive, preventative, personalized, and participatory systems of healthcare (Saheb and Saheb 2019; United Kingdom, National Health Services 2002). Bioinformatics combines biology and data science, whereas health informatics combines healthcare and data science. Although genomics was the first

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

Center of Systems Biology, Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens, Athens, Greece e-mail: achatzi@bioacademy.gr

K. R. M. Blenman

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA



Fig. 1 The next generation of society concept, Society 1.0–5.0. The execution of society concepts dates back to BC years. Information technology continues to play a significant role in the recent society generations

area of biology in which bioinformatics was created/used, bioinformatics is now used for all omics. Different studies conducted on health informatics utilize dataspecific levels of human existence. For example, public health informatics makes use of population data, image informatics employs tissue level data, bioinformatics uses molecular data, clinical informatics utilizes patient level data, while translational bioinformatics applies data from various informatics levels, i.e., molecular to population.

Healthcare sector is a fundamental aspect of the economy. For a society to maximally reach its sustainable growth, it is imperative that its members be in mental and physical equilibrium. The state of health of a society's wellbeing is key in its development and success; hence, health is wealth. Healthcare informatics emphasizes on patients' information, patients' knowledge about their clinical information and health data (Oyelade et al. 2015). On the other hand, translational and clinical bioinformatics relate genomics data and healthcare data and are used in all OMICS, aiming to unearth crucial, associative links between the molecular determinants and the phenotypic diversity of diseases. Healthcare data analytics' main objective is to offer cutting-edge information for academic researchers, policymakers, and clinicians in tackling problems in healthcare organizations. Healthcare data analytics may be divided into predictive analytics, which mainly uses modeling to predict future events in healthcare, while descriptive analytics use historical patient data to gain insights into current trends. Prescriptive and discovery analytics both use Artificial Intelligence (AI) in healthcare. Prescriptive analytics depends on AI to recommend a strategy. Discovery learning examines clinical data using AI to determine hidden patterns that may inform decision making. Thus, advancing IT tools correlates with society 1.0–5.0 concepts, illustrated in Fig. 1.

Due to large amounts of genomic data generated by sequencing technologies, it is not surprising that bioinformatics is at the core of health informatics. The bioinformatics history can be traced back to 1981 when in situ hybridization was used to map approximately 600 human genes. This initiative was corroborated by when Carruthers and Hood invented an automated DNA sequencing method around the same period. The Human Genome Project (HGP) completion in 2003 also paved a way for bioinformatics where biologists, mathematicians, scientists, statisticians, computer scientists, engineers, etc. converged expertise.

The need to create the bioinformatics field was necessitated by the large amounts of data generated from the human genome sequencing, to decipher and decode genes and how these genes relate to normal physiology and in pathology. Bioinformatics was further enhanced by the demand to produce massive databases such as EMBL and GenBank. These enormous databases are key in storing information and sequences produced from the HGP, and these sequences are thus used as a reference in health and medical research fields. Bioinformatics is not only constrained to "OMICS," but also is inclusive of patients' data from metabolic pathways, preclinical, and clinical trials (Müller and Nicolau 2005). Modern-day main challenges with the available bioinformatics data are minimum to lack of inclusivity of underrepresented groups such as African populations in global genomic studies, the temporal resolution and size of the data collections to as, assure reliable statistical representation of the real problem, as well as mitigation strategies for the inherent bias infiltrating in these collections, due to methodological causes. Overall, bioinformatics alone is insufficient in addressing health-related problems. This chapter will discuss various subfields of health informatics, and how these can be applied in healthcare and Society 5.0. Ethical concerns in health informatics will also be discussed. Health informatics is a convergent concept whose applications have a potential to advance healthcare and Society 5.0.

2 Informatics and Big Data in Healthcare

2.1 Patients' and OMICS Data in Healthcare

Patients' data generate large amounts of data which can be referred to as "big" data. Big data can be described as large amounts of data that is unmanageable by the use traditional software or Internet-based platforms is a concept used to describe complex large volume data sets that may not be optimally processed by traditional data processing methods. The most common way of describing big data is with the 5Vs, with the recent addition of the 6th V, as described in Table 1. These are Volume, Value, Variety, Velocity, Veracity, and Variability. Volume refers to the amounts of large data used. Data amount generated is enormous compared to the conventional sources of data. Velocity denotes the speed of generating new data. This speed is

The 6Vs	Description	
1. Volume	Enormous data sets generated and used in health informatics.	
2. Value	Good quality of health informatics data.	
3. Variety	Complex health informatics data generated from different sources such as machines and humans.	
4. Velocity	The high speed at which health informatics data is generated.	
5. Veracity	Health informatics data authentication.	
6. Variability	The consistency of health informatics data.	

 Table 1
 The description of big data in health informatics through the lenses of 6Vs

exceedingly fast. Variety refers to the data complexity generated by various sources such as people and machines. Veracity refers to the big data authentication, as it is produced from different sources. Value refers to the good quality of the data. Variability deals with data consistency over time (Ristevski and Chen 2018).

In healthcare, distinct sources of big data may include patients' medical records, hospital records, findings from medical examinations, and medical devices that form part of the Internet of medical things (IoMT) (Dash et al. 2019; Laney 2001). Handwritten notes and typed reports have been common practice to store patient medical records. This includes medical examination reports. For example, some of the oldest case reports on papyrus text are from Egypt, dating back to 1600 BC (Doyle-Lindrud 2015; Gillum 2013). However, the electronic/digital storing of patient clinical and medical records using computer systems has become standard practice. Electronic Health Records (EHRs) is a concept that was birthed by the Institute of Medicine in 2003. This Institute is a division of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Murphy et al. define EHRs as the computerized patients' medical records which include patients' past, present, and future. These records consist of physical or mental health information, stored within an electronic system. This information, which forms part of the big data, is used for data storage, transmission, and retrieval with the main purpose of improving healthcare, particularly through population-based or personalized healthcare (Reisman 2017).

On the other hand, big data generated from "OMICS" studies pose a challenge to bioinformaticians. Vigorous algorithms are thus required to analyze such complex "OMICS" data, with the overall aim of converting these big data sets into informative and usable knowledge to improve patient care and outcome. Translational bioinformatics is applying bioinformatics approaches in the transformation of genomics data to preventative and predictive health. Translational bioinformatics is key in data driven healthcare. Likewise, it is reported that the Human Genome Project-based Encyclopedia of DNA Elements project intended to determine all of the functional elements in the human genome employing bioinformatics approaches (Dash et al. 2019). Nonetheless, translational bioinformatics and other single-field bioinformatics approaches are inadequate to address healthcare problems. They primarily emphasize in increasing the value of the collected data, by scrutinizing and restructuring them in ways that unearth fundamental, causative links with the

investigated mechanisms, enabling robust correlation with other layers of digitized information. The integration of various data sets which include healthcare, wellness biomedical, and population-scale data would aid in the stratification of patients toward active health management. Convergence of these data sets will also help differentiate clinically asymptomatic patients from healthy individuals (Shameer et al. 2017).

2.2 Bioinformatics in Healthcare: Integrating Biology and Bedside

Efforts in integrating biology and bedside have been growing. Bioinformatics and healthcare informatics are at the forefront of this transformation. Genome- and phenome-wide studies use clinical data from patients' electronic medical records (EMR). Such data may be available from biobanks or clinical repositories (Shameer et al. 2017; Gottesman et al. 2013; Kullo et al. 2010; Kohane 2011; Jensen et al. 2012; Jouni et al. 2013; Bowton et al. 2014; Chute 2014; Jung et al. 2014; Li et al. 2014). Ongoing developments including exposome data (discussed later) in healthcare are also emerging. This type of data evaluates the patient-environment interactions and how these interfaces may impact on patient's health (Shameer et al. 2017; Ashley et al. 2010; Gottesman et al. 2013; Kullo et al. 2010; Kohane 2011; Jensen et al. 2012; Jouni et al. 2013; Bowton et al. 2014; Chute 2014; Jung et al. 2014; Li et al. 2014; Vrijheid et al. 2014; Rappaport et al. 2014; Wild et al. 2013; Martin Sanchez et al. 2014; Lewis et al. 2013; Vrijheid 2014). Clinical bioinformatics (CBI) is a new term in the bioinformatics arena. CBI combines bioinformatics, clinical informatics (including clinical notes, physical data, clinical chemistries complete blood counts, etc.), information technology, medical informatics, omics, and mathematics, thus combining OMICS and clinical data. CBI plays important roles in various clinical applications such as medical omics, metabolic and signaling pathways, high-throughput image analysis, human tissue bank, biomarker development and discovery, mathematical biology, and medicine. CBI aims to address challenges of the integration of clinical and genomic data toward precision medicine and targeted therapies (Xue et al. 2016). Translational bioinformatics is also narrowing limitations between standard clinical research studies and experimental biology, thus bridging the gap between basic science and clinical bioinformatics. Comprehending the complexity of genomic, physiological, and environmental factors in driving healthy physiological states to disease still poses as a challenge to basic and clinical researchers. Clinical studies usually collect data routinely after patients have been diagnosed with a clinically significant disease/pathological phenotype, leading to missed information on healthy and subclinical states, thus limiting chances of early diagnosis and prophylaxis (Wu et al. 2012). On the other hand, health informatics bridges gaps observed in single bioinformatics approaches, employing molecules to populations' approaches, as illustrated in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Subdivisions of health informatics in healthcare. Health informatics is a convergent all-around bioinformatics concept that includes basic bioinformatics to populations-based informatics approaches and is key in advancing Society 5.0

3 Role of Informatics in Equitable Health and Society 5.0

Translational bioinformatics employs data from various informatics levels, molecular to population, and it is at the forefront of health informatics applications. Health and wellness monitoring data can be used to complement EMRs and to inform clinical decisions in various situations. Integration and correlation of health monitoring data with multiomics data can aid interpreting intrapatient variations and between different disease phenotypes. This type of integration holds great potential to studying patients' disease evolution during wellness, disease onset, and disease management (Jameson and Longo 2015). Furthermore, translational bioinformatics applications can also be useful in predictive modeling, diagnostic alerts, and datadriven clinical trials.

The integration of genomic medicine into clinical practice to improve healthcare systems is becoming common in diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular, etc. (Dlamini et al. 2020; Marx 2013). One of the pioneering clinical elucidation of whole genome demonstrated that the index patient was at a greater risk of cardiovascular disease, and this was not indicative with the existing risk prediction models (Katz et al. 2022; Dewey et al. 2014). Bioinformatics has the ability to exploit multiscale biological data to reveal biological pathway dynamics prior and during illness (Chen et al. 2012b; Stanberry et al. 2013), aiding the efficient disease stratification/personalization and contributing to clinically useful diagnostic or therapeutic approaches. Wearable medical devices have been implemented in health monitoring studies targeted at populations of patients with various illnesses which may include osteoarthritis, myocardial infarction, heart failure, and gait imbalance. Bioinformatics also aids in the integration of genomics, multiscale biological experiments, and medical/ health wearable devices in monitoring health and wellness of



Fig. 3 Interplay between health informatics, Society 5.0, and SDGs. Realizing Society 5.0 is dependent on the integration of UN SDGs, in pursuit of equitable health and social upliftment. Health informatics is at the core of this tripartite relationship

patients (Clifton et al. 2014). However, this may be more common in developed countries than in developing countries. Advanced technology and AI-empowered tools are important in the efficient integration of informatics in Society 5.0. Furthermore, equitable health through Society 5.0 cannot be achieved without the integration of UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). UN SDG goals specific to this chapter are 3 (good health and wellbeing of a society), 8 (a healthy society with decent work driving economic growth), 10 (reduced inequalities in healthcare systems will have a positive impact on overall reduced inequalities), 11 (preventative medicine through health informatics and exposome data can aid built sustainable cities and communities), 13 (considering climate changes can aid in building sustainable development), 15 (investing in environmental health and education is key in a healthy and wealthy society), and 17 (societies should build partnerships in achieving a smart and healthy society) (Fig. 3).

For affordable and clean energy, an SDG 7 is crucial in the successful implementation of Society 5.0. This goal is aimed at supporting energy production from nonharmful resources such as hydro solar, geothermal, sea waves, and wind, aiming at CO_2 emission reduction (Zengin et al. 2021; Nam-Chol and Hun 2019). However,

sustainable development and ongoing global energy crisis particularly in lowand-middle income countries (LMICs) is concerning. This propels health systems in LMICs to improve health outcomes and social value for societies toward sustainable development (Kruk et al. 2018). Furthermore, human right to healthcare should be accompanied by good quality and sustainable care. Sustainable energy supply is a crucial determinant of high-quality healthcare and urgent interventions are thus warranted to ensure sustainable development in healthcare systems.

4 IoMT and ML in Healthcare and Society 5.0

The Internet of Medical Things (IoMT) also known as the Internet of Things (IoT) industry has advanced significantly over recent years. IoT is a collective network of devices that connect and exchange data over the Internet (Wilson et al. 2017). Similar to other data management and sharing platforms, privacy and security are the primary concerns of the IoMT. Both AI and Blockchain (BC) technologies have tremendously improved healthcare facilities and spawning a new era of Society 5.0 in healthcare, referred to as Smart Healthcare. This AI/BC concept is quite different from the traditional approach, with the key objective being the identification of concerns early and helping circumvent long-term damage (Rehman et al. 2022). While Society 5.0 aims to improve the quality of life of patients, this will also be accompanied by significant healthcare costs reduction. Similar to robust leaner-centered approach which fosters deep-learning in field of education, Society 5.0 in healthcare aims to engage patients as active participants in their healthcare.

IoMT permits the joining of various objects in collecting data that may be used to enhance human health, which in turn will improve productivity and effectiveness (Risteska Stojkoska and Trivodaliev 2017; Folianto et al. 2015; Park et al. 2019). By connecting to this platform of IoMT, people can attain information on their physical and mental health, their lifestyles, and their surroundings/environment. In this manner, healthcare providers can remotely and in real-time monitor people's health. Simultaneously, the collected data may be used to support evidence-based interventions for early detection, rehabilitation, disease modeling, etc. Climate change and environmental pollution are also key concerns toward sustainable healthcare. Thus, home-based healthcare services are proposed that patients will be allowed medical examinations from the comfort of their homes, unless strictly requiring exclusive hospital services. Smart health monitoring system is proposed to remotely monitor patients' vital signs such as blood pressure, heart rate, etc., through data collection via a wireless connection, thus IoMT playing a fundamental role in smart health.

However, one of the challenges in combining medical data into a solitary location in training a machine learning (ML) has concerns associated with ownership, privacy, and compliance. Contrary to ML, federated learning (FL) overcomes the ML challenges by using a federal aggregate server, disseminating a global learning model. This model allows the local participant to keep control over patient information, thus ensuring data security and confidentiality. FL is a decentralized ML for IoMT and allows devices to collectively learn ML models without the actual exchange of their authentic data, thus enhancing the smart healthcare system without leaking patient information. AI-enhanced bioinformatics applications are ideal in ML and FL settings. BC on the other hand has been reported to have achieved great success as cyber-security architecture backbone, thus addressing key concerns of security, ethics, and privacy in a smart healthcare system (Nasonov et al. 2018).

Using the IoMT devices, physicians can monitor and measure different parameters from their patients' respective locations. This may create room for early intervention and treatment when necessary and may therefore reduce the burden on the public health system, thereby reducing the costs. These IoMT devices may include fitness/ health tracking removable devices, vital signs monitoring devices, biosensors, etc. However, the reality of the limitation of these devices includes their inaccuracies and the fact they cannot replace real medical devices in a clinical context. Large amounts of patients/ client's health-related data may be generated from such devices. This sort of data has the potential predict and link patients' subclinical and pathological states, when integrated with patients' clinical data such as EMRs and personal health record (PHR) (Shameer et al. 2017). IoMT plays an essential role in the Society 5.0 concept and accessible and equitable health.

5 Social Health in Society 5.0

Connecting healthcare providers and patients beyond the hospital is one of the key aims of social health. This was evident during COVID-19 global outbreak. This sort of communication was expanded, involving social networks and fostering social interaction. This social interaction healthcare feature is reported to open new endeavors of patient-to-patient, patient-to-clinical team communication, as seen in support groups. This social integrated healthcare communication aims to break traditional boundaries of doctor-to-patient prototype (Andermann 2016; Ha and Longnecker 2010). It is also reported that about a quarter of chronic disease patients, including heart conditions, cancer, diabetes, mental health. and other noncommunicable diseases, make use of social networks to share their experiences. Such knowledge, information, and data-sharing platforms may be considered a potential source of big data. Furthermore, social apps and patients' geolocations, in conjunction with their biological information, may aid in understanding patients' social demographics and behaviors. However, invasion of patients' data privacy and human rights may pose as limitations. While these features in the smart healthcare society may promote health equity and sustainability, resource-intensive studies which also require enormous statistical sampling may be avoided. This integrated healthcare model has been tried by various epidemiological studies such as antibiotic misuse, infectious diseases outbreaks, smoking dynamics, etc.

In mental health management, for example, posts and text messages on social networks are an important source of information, utilizing social health to improve healthcare. Furthermore, Larsen et al. (2015) demonstrated an association between emotional tweets, suicide, and anxiety rates. This illustration reportedly has the potential to offer analysis of expressed mood in real-time, compared to conventional methods such as surveys. Social health forms an integral part of the exposome and overall health informatics. Understanding the association between social, psychological, environmental, lifestyle, exposomal health, and genomics medicine is key in the success of Society 5.0.

6 Exposomics: Molecules, Lifestyle, Environment, and Populations Intersecting

The exposome may be defined as the entire lifestyle and environmental exposures to humans, which affect our internal, genetic processes and may thus serve as disease susceptibility indicator (Fig. 4). Wearable fitness and health monitoring devices and biosensors may aid in understanding and data collection of patient–environment



Fig. 4 An overview of the exposome, including environmental and lifestyle factors. Genetic and external factors are now considered active role players in persons' health. Both intrinsic and extrinsic factors are important in patients', populations', and societies' overall health

setting. These devices can help assess patients' environmental conditions such as quality of air, light, ozone, climate changes, and volatile organic compounds. Even though these devices can provide exposomic data, they cannot replace medical devices in the clinical context. (Shameer et al. 2017; Alvarez and Wildsoet 2013; Britigan et al. 2006; Negi et al. 2011; Chen et al. 2012a; Tsow et al. 2009). Integrating the exposome data with EMR and PHR data sets may aid in deciphering how environmental factors affect the healthy and disease states of communities and individuals.

Current human exposome studies focus mainly on the total environment exposures throughout the entire lifespan (Fang et al. 2021). Challenges about real-life exposome applications are constant and accurate interaction of environmental factors together with the entire individual's life. Although autonomy, human data privacy, and security should be considered, such challenges can be overcome by active collaboration between various experts which include clinicians, scientists, epidemiologists, economists, chemists, mathematicians, statistician, and sociologists. The global disease burden has estimated that 50% of mortality can be attributed to environmental factors and lifestyle (Vrijheid 2014; Lim et al. 2012). Simultaneously, a gap still exists in understanding the etiology of complex pathologies. For example, asthma has been reported to have underlying complex interactions between lifestyle, social, and environmental factors (Vrijheid et al. 2014; Martinez 2007). Data collection from physical exposures, chemical exposures, and molecular omics generates massive, big data amounts that require storing, management, analysis, and interpretation.

However, unfortunately, the measurements of environmental factors have not been able to match accuracy in the measurement of genomic factors. This may be attributed to uncertainties in assessing environmental exposures, usually requiring data from different exposure variables. These parameters are usually measured through geographical mapping, questionnaires, lacking a comprehensive approach. Exposomics offers new innovative approaches toward understanding the complexity of multiple exposure factors and associated health outcomes. These new approaches defile one-dimensional methodologies, one risk factor, and one health outcome.

7 Human Rights and Privacy Protection: Rising Ethical Concerns in Health Informatics

The transformation of human societies is inevitable. The opportunities presented by smart societies are coupled with challenges presented by technological revolutions and growth (Aldabbas et al. 2020). These challenges are primarily centered around ethics in health informatics (EHI). Ethics can be defined as the moral principles governing people's behaviors or activity conducting. EHI governs moral practices in healthcare. EHI may be derived from medical ethics, embedded within the Hippocratic Oath, which relies on four pillars, autonomy, justice, beneficence, and

nonmaleficence. Data privacy, security, and confidentiality have raised concerns since the introduction of electronic health records (EHRs) (Séroussi et al. 2020). Ethics is a type of lens used to identify issues and therefore used to enforce best practices that will have good outcomes in the societies. Advances in science and technology have been reported to outpace ethics in healthcare. This simultaneously poses threats in protecting and advocating patient agency and consent in the healthcare system. While attempts to contemporary measures toward mitigating these challenges exist, these efforts still seem inadequate (Goodman 2020). The possibility of data misuse by third parties is a growing concern. Public-private partnerships in AI implementation have been reported to result in poor privacy protection. These concerns include patient data access, use, and control in private hands (Murdoch 2021), Giant tech corporations such as Google, Apple, Microsoft, and others are reportedly in their own ways preparing bids on the health future on different facets of the healthcare industry (Powles and Hodson 2017). These tech giants have in their hands a bulk part of AI-related technology, which is crucial in implementing and sustaining health informatics. Information sharing agreements between public-private institutions may be used to grant these private technology institutions access to patient data (Cuttler 2019). This implies that various applied ethics fields will have to converge with medical ethics and ethics in health informatics to uphold best ethical practices in accessing, sharing, and handling of confidential patient health information. This reality also increases privacy protection risks, leveraging private AI companies to control patient data, despite proposed anonymity.

Healthcare data breaches have been reported in various developed countries such as the United States, European countries, and Canada (Murdoch 2021). While AI-algorithms may be used in advancing health informatics, their inability to protect patient data is also growing. For example, a study by Ji et al. (2019) demonstrated that anonymous health data can be reidentified and linked to real-world people, illustrating the susceptibility of online patient health information (Ji et al. 2020). It has been proposed that AI companies can make use of generative data with the potential to generate realistic though synthetic patient data that will minimize connection to real world people (Yoon et al. 2020; Baowaly et al. 2019). Additionally, there is a need for technologically-enhanced intermittent informed consent for subsequent or new data uses. This will aid in controlling access and use of patient data, advocating for patient agency and privacy. Human rights, privacy, safety, security, and oversight are serious concerns in the successful applications of health informatics in healthcare and Society 5.0. These ethical concerns need to be addressed by collaborating with various stakeholders such as health informaticians, patient advocacy groups, and ethics activists.

8 Limitations and Challenges of Health Informatics in Healthcare and Society 5.0

Major concerns for the implementation of health informatics and Society 5.0 in healthcare include human rights, autonomy, privacy, safety, security, control, oversight, loss of what it means to be human, etc. The misuse of the power of knowledge generated and acquired also poses as a major threat. Even though some of these health informatics' applications may be in use in developed countries, lowand-middle income countries (LMICs) are still lagging, and this may be further exacerbated by the rising energy and resource crisis facing LMICs and threatening sustainable development. Furthermore, even though the intended technological platforms can be efficiently implemented, their use by society members may have unintended undesired side effects (Gladden 2019). For instance, the pervasive Society 5.0 systems may construct new risks of technology-related addiction similar to the addiction of smart phones, Internet, and video game addiction. This is a dangerous critical problem that currently has detrimental impacts on the lives on adults and children. For example, upward of 90% of US population engaging in these activities are obese, have attention deficit/hyperactive disorder, and/or have mental health issues (suicides, depression, etc.). We cannot gloss over these very important outcomes. Compared to the previous society 4.0, where for example employees of a company had to spend limited time with AI robots within a confined workspace, it may be overwhelming for various society members ranging from children, youth, adults, and the elderly people to ubiquitously incorporate such super-smart technologies into their every private space, especially if such devices will be remotely and globally controlled.

On the other hand, the issues of integrating artificially augmented human beings with natural human beings in the society need to be addressed, as the extent to which a natural human being can be artificially augmented is unclear. Even though advanced technologies such as FL and BC are proposed to address data privacyrelated issues in health informatics, concerns around data accessibility and security are still alarming. Healthcare patients' data is one of the most valuable information for both the patient and the society. Health informatics inclusive of exposomics may also not be accurately measured, considering all variable parameters involved. Health informatics and exposomics are an ideal concept in advancing the Society 5.0 concept. However, this concept still needs great amount of work to meet feasibility and sustainability.

9 Conclusions

Health informatics holds promising potential to realizing the success of Society 5.0. Good health status of society members is key to sustainable economic development; thus, social health and social determinants should be considered as active



Fig. 5 Applications of health informatics in healthcare and Society 5.0. Barriers such as human rights, privacy, autonomy, safety, and security still pose as a major challenge toward effective applications of health informatics in Society 5.0 and healthcare. Overcoming these barriers may lead to efficient health informatics use and an equitable and sustainable society

participants of this transformation. A healthy society is key to a wealthy and equitable society. Additionally, society concept particularly in healthcare is significantly reliant on the integration of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), in pursuit of equitable health and social upliftment. Health informatics is at the core of this tripartite relationship. It is to no surprise that basic bioinformatics approaches are no longer adequate to addressing the preeminent healthcare issues; hence, supersmart bioinformatics approaches are needed to be integrated to an effective and smart healthcare system. Furthermore, clinical and translational bioinformatics approaches are also disintegrated from population informatics and exposomics. Thus, health informatics is a promising approach toward improved informatics applications in healthcare and Society 5.0. Most patients present in the clinics/ hospitals with advanced diseases, determining that the preclinical/subclinical states have been challenging to the healthcare professionals. While environmental and lifestyle factors influence health status of society members, integrating the exposome into clinical practice has been challenging. Despite emerging numerous challenges, decentralized ML approaches such as FL also form an important part of the Society 5.0 concept. Nonetheless, major challenges such as human rights, autonomy, privacy, safety, security, control, and oversight still exist in the successful implementation of health informatics and Society 5.0 in healthcare. Thus, counteractive innovative strategies are required to mitigate these challenges (Fig. 5). This chapter sought to discuss opportunities in various subfields of health informatics applications in healthcare and Society 5.0. It has also highlighted how the one-centered traditional approach in healthcare is derivive to Society 5.0. Both intrinsic (genome) and extrinsic (environment, lifestyle) factors play a fundamental role in the society's health. A healthy society is a wealthy society. Disease development, progression, and management are now considered all-round phenomena which warrant active participation from all stakeholders, including leveraging appropriate resources such as health informatics, and develop approaches that will alleviate opposing barriers toward the effective use of health informatics.

References

- Aldabbas M, Teufel S, Teufel B, Pasquier V (2020) Smart sovereignty: the security shield for smart society 5.0. Int J Digital Soc 11:1619–1626
- Alvarez AA, Wildsoet CF (2013) Quantifying light exposure patterns in young adult students. J Mod Opt 60:1200–1208
- Andermann A (2016) Taking action on the social determinants of health in clinical practice: a framework for health professionals. Can Med Assoc J 188:E474–E483
- Ashley EA, Butte AJ, Wheeler MT, Chen R, Klein TE, Dewey FE, Dudley JT, Ormond KE, Pavlovic A, Morgan AA, Pushkarev D, Neff NF, Hudgins L, Gong L, Hodges LM, Berlin DS, Thorn CF, Sangkuhl K, Hebert JM, Woon M, Sagreiya H, Whaley R, Knowles JW, Chou MF, Thakuria JV, Rosenbaum AM, Zaranek AW, Church GM, Greely HT, Quake SR, Altman RB (2010) Clinical assessment incorporating a personal genome. Lancet 375:1525–1535
- Baowaly MK, Lin CC, Liu CL, Chen KT (2019) Synthesizing electronic health records using improved generative adversarial networks. J Am Med Inform Assoc 26:228–241
- Bowton E, Field JR, Wang S, Schildcrout JS, Van Driest SL, Delaney JT, Cowan J, Weeke P, Mosley JD, Wells QS, Karnes JH, Shaffer C, Peterson JF, Denny JC, Roden DM, Pulley JM (2014) Biobanks and electronic medical records: enabling cost-effective research. Sci Transl Med 6:234cm3
- Britigan N, Alshawa A, Nizkorodov SA (2006) Quantification of ozone levels in indoor environments generated by ionization and ozonolysis air purifiers. J Air Waste Manag Assoc 56:601– 610
- Chen C, Campbell KD, Negi I, Iglesias RA, Owens P, Tao N, Tsow F, Forzani E (2012a) A new sensor for the assessment of personal exposure to volatile organic compounds. Atmos Environ 54:679–687
- Chen R, Mias GI, Li-Pook-Than J, Jiang L, Lam HY, Chen R, Miriami E, Karczewski KJ, Hariharan M, Dewey FE, Cheng Y, Clark MJ, Im H, Habegger L, Balasubramanian S, O'Huallachain M, Dudley JT, Hillenmeyer S, Haraksingh R, Sharon D, Euskirchen G, Lacroute P, Bettinger K, Boyle AP, Kasowski M, Grubert F, Seki S, Garcia M, Whirl-Carrillo M, Gallardo M, Blasco MA, Greenberg PL, Snyder P, Klein TE, Altman RB, Butte AJ, Ashley EA, Gerstein M, Nadeau KC, Tang H, Snyder M (2012b) Personal omics profiling reveals dynamic molecular and medical phenotypes. Cell 148:1293–1307
- Chute CG (2014) Invited commentary: observational research in the age of the electronic health record. Am J Epidemiol 179:759–761
- Clifton L, Clifton DA, Pimentel MA, Watkinson PJ, Tarassenko L (2014) Predictive monitoring of mobile patients by combining clinical observations with data from wearable sensors. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 18:722–730
- Cuttler M (2019) Transforming health care: how artificial intelligence is reshaping the medical landscape [Online]. https://www.cbc.ca/news/health/artificial-intelligence-health-care-1.5110 892. Accessed 15 March 2021
- Dash S, Shakyawar SK, Sharma M, Kaushik S (2019) Big data in healthcare: management, analysis and future prospects. J Big Data 6:54
- Dewey FE, Grove ME, Pan C, Goldstein BA, Bernstein JA, Chaib H, Merker JD, Goldfeder RL, Enns GM, David SP, Pakdaman N, Ormond KE, Caleshu C, Kingham K, Klein TE, Whirl-Carrillo M, Sakamoto K, Wheeler MT, Butte AJ, Ford JM, Boxer L, Ioannidis JP, Yeung AC, Altman RB, Assimes TL, Snyder M, Ashley EA, Quertermous T (2014) Clinical interpretation and implications of whole-genome sequencing. JAMA 311:1035–1045

- Dlamini Z, Francies FZ, Hull R, Marima R (2020) Artificial intelligence (AI) and big data in cancer and precision oncology. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 18:2300–2311
- Doyle-Lindrud S (2015) The evolution of the electronic health record. Clin J Oncol Nurs 19:153– 154
- Fang M, Hu L, Chen D, Guo Y, Liu J, Lan C, Gong J, Wang B (2021) Exposome in human health: utopia or wonderland? Innovation (Camb) 2:100172
- Folianto F, Low YS, Yeow WL (2015) Smartbin: Smart waste management system. In: 2015 IEEE Tenth International Conference on Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing (ISSNIP), 7–9 April 2015, pp 1–2
- Fukuyama M (2018) Society 5.0: aiming for a new human-centered society, Japan SPOTLIGHT. 27 (2018)
- Gillum RF (2013) From papyrus to the electronic tablet: a brief history of the clinical medical record with lessons for the digital age. Am J Med 126:853–857
- Gladden ME (2019) Who will be the members of society 5.0? Towards an anthropology of technologically posthumanized future societies. Soc Sci 8(5):148
- Goodman K (2020) Ethics in health informatics. Yearb Med Inform 29:26
- Gottesman O, Scott SA, Ellis SB, Overby CL, Ludtke A, Hulot JS, Hall J, Chatani K, Myers K, Kannry JL, Bottinger EP (2013) The CLIPMERGE PGx program: clinical implementation of personalized medicine through electronic health records and genomics-pharmacogenomics. Clin Pharmacol Therap 94:214–217
- Ha JF, Longnecker N (2010) Doctor-patient communication: a review. Ochsner J 10:38-43
- Jameson JL, Longo DL (2015) Precision medicine-personalized, problematic, and promising. N Engl J Med 372:2229–2234
- Jensen PB, Jensen LJ, Brunak S (2012) Mining electronic health records: towards better research applications and clinical care. Nat Rev Genet 13:395–405
- Ji S, Gu Q, Weng H, Liu Q, Zhou P, He Q, Beyah R, Wang T (2019) De-health: all your online health information are belong to us. arXiv preprint. https://arxiv.org/abs/1902.00717
- Ji S, Gu Q, Weng H, Liu Q, Zhou P, Chen J, Li Z, Beyah R, Wang T (2020) De-Health: all your online health information are belong to us. In: 2020 IEEE 36th International Conference on Data Engineering (ICDE), 20–24 April 2020, pp 1609–1620
- Jouni H, Shameer K, Asmann YW, Hazin R, De Andrade M, Kullo IJ (2013) Clinical correlates of autosomal chromosomal abnormalities in an electronic medical record-linked genome-wide association study: a case series. J Investig Med 1:232470961350893
- Jung K, Lependu P, Chen WS, Iyer SV, Readhead B, Dudley JT, Shah NH (2014) Automated detection of off-label drug use. PLoS One 9:e89324
- Katz DH, Tahir UA, Bick AG, Pampana A, Ngo D, Benson MD, Yu Z, Robbins JM, Chen ZZ, Cruz DE, Deng S, Farrell L, Sinha S, Schmaier AA, Shen D, Gao Y, Hall ME, Correa A, Tracy RP, Durda P, Taylor KD, Liu Y, Johnson WC, Guo X, Yao J, Ida Chen YD, Manichaikul AW, Jain D, Bouchard C, Sarzynski MA, Rich SS, Rotter JI, Wang TJ, Wilson JG, Natarajan P, Gerszten RE (2022) Whole genome sequence analysis of the plasma proteome in black adults provides novel insights into cardiovascular disease. Circulation 145:357–370
- Kohane IS (2011) Using electronic health records to drive discovery in disease genomics. Nat Rev Genet 12:417–428
- Kruk ME, Gage AD, Arsenault C, Jordan K, Leslie HH, Roder-Dewan S, Adeyi O, Barker P, Daelmans B, Doubova SV, English M, García-Elorrio E, Guanais F, Gureje O, Hirschhorn LR, Jiang L, Kelley E, Lemango ET, Liljestrand J, Malata A, Marchant T, Matsoso MP, Meara JG, Mohanan M, Ndiaye Y, Norheim OF, Reddy KS, Rowe AK, Salomon JA, Thapa G, Twum-Danso NAY, Pate M (2018) High-quality health systems in the sustainable development goals era: time for a revolution. Lancet Glob Health 6:e1196–e1252
- Kullo IJ, Fan J, Pathak J, Savova GK, Ali Z, Chute CG (2010) Leveraging informatics for genetic studies: use of the electronic medical record to enable a genome-wide association study of peripheral arterial disease. J Am Med Inform Assoc 17:568–574
- Laney D (2001) 3D data management: controlling data volume, velocity, and variety. META Group

- Larsen ME, Boonstra TW, Batterham PJ, ODea B, Paris C, Christensen H (2015) We feel: mapping emotion on Twitter. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 19:1246–1252
- Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, Gaillard R, Godfrey KM, Hauguel-De Mouzon S, Huppertz B, Larque E, Saffery R, Symonds ME, Desoye G (2013) The placental exposome: placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. Ann Nutr Metab 63:208–215
- Li L, Ruau DJ, Patel CJ, Weber SC, Chen R, Tatonetti NP, Dudley JT, Butte AJ (2014) Disease risk factors identified through shared genetic architecture and electronic medical records. Sci Transl Med 6:234ra57
- Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD et al (2012) A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380:2224–2260
- Martin Sanchez F, Gray K, Bellazzi R, Lopez-Campos G (2014) Exposome informatics: considerations for the design of future biomedical research information systems. J Am Med Inform Assoc 21:386–390
- Martinez FD (2007) Genes, environments, development and asthma: a reappraisal. Eur Respir J 29:179–184
- Marx V (2013) Biology: the big challenges of big data. Nature 498:255-260
- Müller UR, Nicolau DV (2005) Microarray technology and its applications. Springer
- Murdoch B (2021) Privacy and artificial intelligence: challenges for protecting health information in a new era. BMC Med Ethics 22:122
- Nam-Chol O, Hun K (2019) Towards the 2 °C goal: achieving sustainable development goal (SDG) 7 in DPR Korea. Resour Conserv Recycl 150:104412
- Nasonov D, Visheratin AA, Boukhanovsky A (2018) Blockchain-based transaction integrity in distributed big data marketplace. In: Shi Y, Fu H, Tian Y, Krzhizhanovskaya VV, Lees MH, Dongarra J, Sloot PMA (eds) Computational science – ICCS 2018. Springer, Cham, pp 569–577
- Negi I, Tsow F, Tanwar K, Zhang L, Iglesias RA, Chen C, Rai A, Forzani ES, Tao N (2011) Novel monitor paradigm for real-time exposure assessment. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 21:419– 426
- Oyelade J, Soyemi J, Isewon I, Obembe O (2015) Bioinformatics, healthcare informatics and analytics: an imperative for improved healthcare system. Int J Appl Inf Syst 8:1–6
- Park J-H, Salim MM, Jo JH, Sicato JCS, Rathore S, Park JH (2019) CIoT-net: a scalable cognitive IoT based smart city network architecture. HCIS 9:29
- Powles J, Hodson H (2017) Google DeepMind and healthcare in an age of algorithms. Heal Technol 7:351–367
- Rappaport SM, Barupal DK, Wishart D, Vineis P, Scalbert A (2014) The blood exposome and its role in discovering causes of disease. Environ Health Perspect 122:769–774
- Rehman A, Abbas S, Khan MA, Ghazal TM, Adnan KM, Mosavi A (2022) A secure healthcare 5.0 system based on blockchain technology entangled with federated learning technique. Comput Biol Med 150:106019
- Reisman M (2017) EHRs: the challenge of making electronic data usable and interoperable. Pharmacol Ther 42:572–575
- Risteska Stojkoska BL, Trivodaliev KV (2017) A review of internet of things for smart home: challenges and solutions. J Clean Prod 140:1454–1464
- Ristevski B, Chen M (2018) Big data analytics in medicine and healthcare. J Integr Bioinform 15
- Saheb T, Saheb M (2019) Analyzing and visualizing knowledge structures of health informatics from 1974 to 2018: a bibliometric and social network analysis. Healthc Inform Res 25:61–72
- Séroussi B, Hollis K, Soualmia L (2020) Transparency of health informatics processes as the condition of healthcare professionals' and patients' trust and adoption: the rise of ethical requirements. Yearb Med Inform 29:007–010
- Shameer K, Badgeley MA, Miotto R, Glicksberg BS, Morgan JW, Dudley JT (2017) Translational bioinformatics in the era of real-time biomedical, health care and wellness data streams. Brief Bioinform 18:105–124

- Stanberry L, Mias GI, Haynes W, Higdon R, Snyder M, Kolker E (2013) Integrative analysis of longitudinal metabolomics data from a personal multi-omics profile. Metabolites 3:741–760
- Tsow F, Forzani E, Rai A, Wang R, Tsui R, Mastroianni S, Knobbe C, Gandolfi AJ, Tao NJ (2009) A wearable and wireless sensor system for real-time monitoring of toxic environmental volatile organic compounds. IEEE Sensors J 9:1734–1740
- United Kingdom, National Health Services (2002) Making information count: a human resources strategy for health informatics professionals [online]
- Vrijheid M (2014) The exposome: a new paradigm to study the impact of environment on health. Thorax 69:876–878
- Vrijheid M, Slama R, Robinson O, Chatzi L, Coen M, Van Den Hazel P, Thomsen C, Wright J, Athersuch TJ, Avellana N, Basagaña X, Brochot C, Bucchini L, Bustamante M, Carracedo A, Casas M, Estivill X, Fairley L, Van Gent D, Gonzalez JR, Granum B, GraŽulevičienė R, Gutzkow KB, Julvez J, Keun HC, Kogevinas M, Mceachan RR, Meltzer HM, Sabidó E, Schwarze PE, Siroux V, Sunyer J, Want EJ, Zeman F, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ (2014) The human early-life exposome (HELIX): project rationale and design. Environ Health Perspect 122:535–544
- Wild CP, Scalbert A, Herceg Z (2013) Measuring the exposome: a powerful basis for evaluating environmental exposures and cancer risk. Environ Mol Mutagen 54:480–499
- Wilson C, Hargreaves T, Hauxwell-Baldwin R (2017) Benefits and risks of smart home technologies. Energy Policy 103:72–83
- Wu D, Rice CM, Wang X (2012) Cancer bioinformatics: a new approach to systems clinical medicine. BMC Bioinformatics 13:71
- Xue Y, Lameijer EW, Ye K, Zhang K, Chang S, Wang X, Wu J, Gao G, Zhao F, Li J, Han C, Xu S, Xiao J, Yang X, Ying X, Zhang X, Chen WH, Liu Y, Zhang Z, Huang K, Yu J (2016) Precision medicine: what challenges are we facing? Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics 14:253–261
- Yoon J, Drumright LN, Schaar MVD (2020) Anonymization through data synthesis using generative adversarial networks (ADS-GAN). IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 24:2378–2388
- Zengin Y, Naktiyok S, KaygıN E, Kavak O, Topçuoğlu E (2021) An investigation upon industry 4.0 and society 5.0 within the context of sustainable development goals. Sustainability 13:2682

Society 5.0 and Quality Multidisciplinary Care of Malignant Solid Tumors in Low- and Middle-Income Settings



Thifhelimbilu Emmanuel Luvhengo, Mmamoletla Kgoebane-Maseko, Boitumelo Precious Phakathi, Pumza Magangane, Nompumelelo Mtshali, Demetra Demetriou, Henry A. Adeola, Jyotsna Batra, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract The average life expectancy of adults in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) is less than 70 years. Noncommunicable diseases which include trauma, cardiometabolic conditions and cancer are the leading causes of death

M. Kgoebane-Maseko Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: mw.kgoebane-maseko@up.ac.za

B. P. Phakathi Department of Surgery, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu Natal, Durban, South Africa e-mail: PhakathiB@ukzn.ac.za

P. Magangane Department of Anatomical Pathology, University of the Witwatersrand, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: pumza.magangane@wits.ac.za

N. Mtshali Department of Anatomical Pathology, University of the Witwatersrand, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa

AMPATH Laboratory, Lynwood, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: nompumelelo.mtshali@wits.ac.za

D. Demetriou · Z. Dlamini SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: dd.demetriou@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

H. A. Adeola

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape and Tygerberg Hospital, Cape Town, South Africa

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_3

T. E. Luvhengo (🖂)

Department of Surgery, University of the Witwatersrand, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: Thifhelimbilu.luvhengo@wits.ac.za

globally. Cancer is one of the two most common causes of deaths in adults between the age of 40 and 60 years. Around 70% of deaths due to cancer occur in LMICs. Cancers of the breast, colon, prostate, gastric, cervix, uterine, ovarian, hepatocellular, skin, thyroid and pancreas are among the more commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide. Majority of LMICs are not able to provide quality curative or end of life oncological care of the individuals who have cancer as they commonly present when the cancer is at an advanced stage, shortage of expertise and protracted diagnostic work-up due to limited resources including access to modern imaging and treatment. Millennium Development Goals (MDG) and Vision 2030 include provisioning of quality healthcare across all countries of the world regardless of the income status and include prevention of cancer and the promotion of personalized oncological care to all citizens of the world. The MDG emphasizes the importance of participation by all the countries and every capable individual in the world, and prevention of environmental degradation. Recent technological developments and advances in computing have increased the gap in the quality of oncological care between LMICs and high-income countries (HICs). The ability to communicate and share information widely is also a potential threat to independence and sovereignty of countries and autonomy of individuals. Advances in computing Society 5.0 is human-centric and promotes physical and cyber space integration in its economic development and innovation framework. Society 5.0 intends to promote human centeredness to make life better for all individuals across the world. Over 70% of mortalities due to cancer occur in LMICs. Quality personalized oncological care requires a multidisciplinary team. The chapter presents a theoretical framework of how the implementation of Society 5.0 would improve access to personalized quality oncological services in LMICs. It concludes with suggestions on how potential threats to the environment, sustainable energy supply, human rights including safety, privacy and security, autonomy of countries, communities and individuals and management of e-waste can be ensured.

Keywords Cancer \cdot Human rights \cdot Low- and Middle-Income Countries \cdot Multidisciplinary Team \cdot Personalized Care \cdot Society $5.0 \cdot$ SDG \cdot Energy

J. Batra

Division of Dermatology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences and Groote Schuur Hospital, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: henry.adeola@uct.ac.za

Centre for Genomics and Personalised Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

Translational Research Institute, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

School of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

e-mail: jyotsna.batra@qut.edu.au

1 Introduction

The rate of occurrence of cancer has increased exponentially globally and the outcome following treatment is influenced by the income status of a country (Akinyemiju et al. 2022; Bray et al. 2021; Conderino et al. 2022; Maresso et al. 2015; Mathers and Loncar 2006; Miller et al. 2020; Sharma et al. 2022). The life expectancy of individuals diagnosed with cancer in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) is lower than for those in higher income countries (HICs). The outcome following treatment of cancer in LMICs is worse, regardless of the stage (Petrova et al. 2022; Sharma et al. 2022; Fitzmaurice et al. 2018; Global Burden of Disease Cancer 2019). Among the factors that contribute to poorer outcomes of cancer in LMICs include delayed presentation, poor health infrastructure, limited availability of resources and traditional or religious beliefs (Akinyemiju et al. 2022; Hunter et al. 2022; Kenner et al. 2021; Raghupathi and Raghupathi 2020; Sharma et al. 2022).

Around 50% of cancers occurring in adults are preventable. The most costeffective strategy in the management of cancer is primary prevention. Primary prevention of cancer entails measures to prevent, detect or treat the cancer early, when it is still localized (Akinyemiju et al. 2022; Conderino et al. 2022; Ekwueme et al. 2022; Maresso et al. 2015; Raghupathi and Raghupathi 2020). Majority of cancers would be curable if the diagnosis is made early and appropriate treatment is instituted timeously (Hunter et al. 2022; Kenner et al. 2021). Some of the challenges that militate against early diagnosis and timeous initiation of therapy in LMICs are high patient-to-staff ratio, inability to provide one-stop services, delayed access to imaging and shortage of expertise for interpretation of imaging or histopathology results (Hricak et al. 2021).

Breast, colorectal, cervical, prostate, skin, stomach, esophageal, hepatocellular, ovarian, uterine, thyroid and pancreas cancer are among the more commonly diagnosed malignant tumors in adults (Maresso et al. 2015; Matulonis et al. 2016; Rompianesi et al. 2022; Ugare et al. 2022; Fitzmaurice et al. 2018; Global Burden of Disease Cancer 2019). The risk factors of the commonly diagnosed cancers in adults include genetics, environmental and lifestyle factors (Ekwueme et al. 2022). Majority of cancers in adult are however sporadic and due to modifiable factors, such smoking, obesity, infections, alcohol misuse, sedentary lifestyle and exposure to harmful agents (Conderino et al. 2022; Ekwueme et al. 2022). Some of the harmful environmental factors that are risk factors for the development of cancer are excessive exposure to ultraviolet light and chemicals. Obesity is prevalent in LMICs and is among the factors that explain the disproportionate increase in the rate of occurrence of cancers in LMICs when compared to the situation in HICs (Franchini et al. 2022; Morrione and Belfiore 2022; Park et al. 2014). Most cancers in adults would therefore be preventable through programs to reduce the levels of obesity and other modifiable risk factors. The cancer prevention strategies would also include a rollout of public awareness campaigns, vaccination, chemoprophylaxis and regular screening program for individuals at risk.

The use of gastrointestinal endoscopy is among the effective tools in some countries for primary prevention of esophageal, stomach and colorectal malignancies (Maresso et al. 2015). Other measures that are utilized for primary prevention of cancer include chemoprophylaxis such as the use of aspirin against colorectal cancer and estrogen receptor modulators or aromatase inhibitors for breast cancer (Conderino et al. 2022; Maresso et al. 2015). Individuals who are confirmed to be genetically predisposed to an aggressive cancer can be offered prophylactic removal of the organ organs that is/are most at risk (Haverkamp et al. 2015). Most of the screening programs including genotyping and prophylactic measures are however not available or affordable to the majority of the citizens in LMICs. Furthermore, some of the citizens of the LMICs may not even be aware of the existence of, as well as risk factors and preventative measures against cancers.

The package for curative or palliative care of patients who have cancer include surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and targeted molecular or radionuclide therapy (Keek et al. 2022; Liberini et al. 2022; Rompianesi et al. 2022; Russo et al. 2022). Clinicopathological staging, genotyping and molecular analysis should precede management of any cancer because cancer is a heterogeneous disease (Vietti Violi et al. 2022; Zhou et al. 2022). The availability of options for curative or palliative management of cancer in LMICs is limited mainly due to shortage of expertise and radiotherapy machines, as well as the currently exorbitant cost of targeted therapy (Hricak et al. 2021). Even where the services are available the timing, delivery and sequencing of neoadjuvant chemotherapy, surgery and radiotherapy is often disrupted leading to poorer outcome.

Over 70% of adult patients who have premalignant and malignant solid tumors require surgical intervention for preventive, curative or palliative intent. Regardless of the intent, the phases along the continuum surgical care of an individual who has cancer include diagnostic evaluation, scheduling of intervention, preoperative preparation, intraoperative management and immediate postoperative follow-up. Each phase, during the management of cancer requires good record keeping which is nonexistent in the majority of LMICs. Additionally, most patients in LMICS present when the cancer is locally advanced or metastatic requiring neoadjuvant chemotherapy, radiotherapy, radionuclide or targeted molecular therapy or complex surgical resection and intensive postintervention care (Sharma et al. 2022). Often the shortage of equipment or consumables, lack of intensive care unit (ICU) beds leads to postponement of cancer operations (Chang and Cameron 2012).

Management of an individual who has cancer is intimate and life-long regardless of whether it is curative or for palliation. The ability to do regular or on-demand follow-up is absolutely necessary as patients on treatment for cancer are prone to complications, tumor progression or recurrence, and opportunistic infections, and thus require close monitoring (Matulonis et al. 2016; Russo et al. 2022). Psychosocial support by the primary physicians, nurses, psychologists and peer groups needs to be readily available to patients who are on treatment for cancer (Hugar et al. 2021). The ability to offer close follow-up in LMICs is limited and recurrence and/or cancer progression is often discovered late. Management of individuals who have

Table 1 Factors contributing	Quality dimension	Challenges
to low quality of oncological care in LMICs	Safe	Infrastructure challenges. Workforce shortage. Lack of equipment. Lower level of expertise.
	Timeliness	Delayed presentation. Protracted diagnostic work-up. Delayed staging investigation. Delay in surgical treatment. Radiotherapy delay.
	Effectiveness	Understaging. No access to bioinformatics. Reliance on TNM staging. Transcriptomics.
	Efficiency	Poor record keeping. Precision medicine.
	Equitability	Imaging. Genomics. Proteomics. ICU care.
	Patient centeredness	Out of pocket expenses. Personalized medicine.
	Staff centeredness	Low staff to patient ratio. Low opportunities for training. Poor psychosocial support.

cancer should be by a multidisciplinary team (MDT) as it would be difficult to offer quality personalized oncological care outside an MDT.

The MDT must include patients, families, nurses, dieticians, radiologists, pathologists, pharmacists, anesthetists, surgeons, medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, nuclear physicians, geneticists, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, psychologists, social workers, data specialists, palliative care specialists and peer support groups (Jain et al. 2021; Shao et al. 2019). Most of LMICs are not able to establish MDTs for cancer mainly because of limited human resource (Bukhman et al. 2020; Chang and Cameron 2012; Iragorri et al. 2021; Ng-Kamstra et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2022). Where MDT is available, the time and attention paid to each patient and family is insufficient because of the high volume of patients. Table 1 summarizes challenges that militate against the provision of quality oncological care in LMICs.

The disparity in the management of cancer between LMICs and HICs is even greater regarding the ability to characterize the cancer and the possibility of micrometastasis (Visaggi et al. 2021; Zhou et al. 2022). Ideally, the volume of tumor must be quantified, and molecular subtype established before the initiation of treatment, even when the tumor is metastatic as it is likely to be heterogeneous in nature and prognosis. Management of cancer in LMICs solely guided by the result of TNM staging which incorrectly considers malignant tumors to be a homogenous disease amenable to standardizable treatment. Unfortunately, cancer is heterogeneous within itself, at various stages including metastatic sites and in different individuals (Kann et al. 2021). Cancer treatment that is prescribed without knowledge of the full extent of the disease is likely to be ineffective, inefficient or futile (Canzoneri et al. 2019; Rompianesi et al. 2022). Palliative and hospice care in LMICs is usually deficient (Jain et al. 2021). Cancer-related pain, regardless of the stage, is managed poorly in majority of LMICs (Charumbira et al. 2022; Hugar et al. 2021; Mushosho et al. 2021).

2 Technological Development and Advanced Digitalization and Computing Platforms for Society 5.0

The first to fourth Industrial Revolutions (Societies), which include mechanization, enhanced communication and digitalization, were necessitated by the need to improve life and living, to sustain human life (Adel 2022; Fukuyama 2018). The drive behind industrial revolution is to improve productivity for sustenance and enhanced quality of life of humans (Adel 2022; Grabowska et al. 2022; Fukuyama 2018; Kwon et al. 2022; Sarfraz et al. 2021). Societies 1.0 and 2.0 were hunting and agricultural societies, while Societies 3.0 and 4.0 were industrial and information societies, respectively. The technological advances and digitalization in the more recent societies have led to an increase in the ability to generate, store and disseminate data in various industries including healthcare (Conderino et al. 2022; Ioppolo et al. 2020).

Some of the advances in the healthcare industry resulting from Society 4.0 include electronic health information system (Conderino et al. 2022; Nikiforova 2021). Biomarker technology for analysis of malignant tumors and portable or wearable technologies for continuous monitoring have also been introduced (Hernández-Neuta et al. 2019; Hunt et al. 2021; Kwon et al. 2022; Lu et al. 2016; Majumder and Deen 2019). The other innovations include Internet of Things (Al-Kahtani et al. 2022; Sætra and Fosch-Villaronga 2021; Sahu et al. 2021; Dadkhah et al. 2021; telemedicine (Hassan et al. 2022; Johnson et al. 2021; Sætra and Fosch-Villaronga 2021; Sabu et al. 2021; Sætra and Fosch-Villaronga 2021; Shaverdian et al. 2022). Developed communities are using the drone technology to improve the delivery of timeous healthcare services (Eichleay et al. 2019; Rosser et al. 2018). The block chain technology is useful for secure storage and transmission of confidential medical records. Block chain technology can also improve efficiency during the performance of surgical procedures (Alsamhi et al. 2021; Carrano et al. 2022; Zhang et al. 2021; Hölbl et al. 2018).

Other advances resulting from modern computing include virtual reality and augmented reality and 3D printing (Lam et al. 2022; Chen et al. 2021a). The application of personal digital twin program enables early diagnosis of cancer and is helpful for prediction of the response of the tumor to treatment (Gumbs et al. 2022; Sahal et al. 2022). The other advances the ability to mine big data (Canzoneri et al.

2019; Rompianesi et al. 2022). Stereotactic-guided adaptive radiotherapy (Keek et al. 2022; Kim et al. 2022), multiomics and artificial intelligence (AI)-guided decision-making (Barragán-Montero et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021b; Chua et al. 2021) and AI-assisted nanomedicine for personalized oncological care (Adir et al. 2020; Chua et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021b) are currently possible due to modern technology and computing.

A combination of new technologies and digitalization advancements have led to the development of the so-called "smart cities." Similarly, there is an increasing move toward smart healthcare delivery services (Kwon et al. 2022). Quality healthcare is among the SDGs which were agreed by over 120 countries in 2015 at the United Nation Assembly and is also included in Vision 2030 (Van Tulder et al. 2021). Unlike the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) which prioritized reduction of maternal and infant mortality, and management of common infections, SDGs and Vision 2030 emphasize on prevention and early treatment of noncommunicable diseases (Bhutta 2006; Vicente et al. 2020). Among the targets contained in Vision 2030 is the reduction of the occurrence of cancers by at least 30% globally and equitable access to personalized care to increase the average quality of life expectancy across all nations to over 100 years.

No country among the LMICs has achieved any of the healthcare-related goals set in Vision 2030. Additionally, the LMICs are not able to benefit from the technological advances and digitalization of Society 4.0 because of lack of infrastructure, prohibitive costs of newer technologies, competing needs, lack of political will and visionary leadership, and minimal involvement by academic institutions and private industries (Ng-Kamstra et al. 2016; Van Tulder et al. 2021). The implementation of Society 5.0 with greater emphasis on collaborative effort among governments, the private sector and academic institutions is however likely to enhance the effort to address the current challenges and inability to provide quality personalized oncological services in LMICs (Mondejar et al. 2021; Rahman and Qattan 2021).

Society 5.0 will most likely expedite the implementation of quality personalized oncological care for all citizens of the world regardless of their gender, age, religion, income status and the country of residence. The subsections below outline how the implementation of technological advancement and digitalization through Society 5.0 would lead to an improvement in the quality of care for cancer in LMICs. Society 5.0 will be effective if it is able to improve the quality of oncological care services across the entire continuum from prevention to the follow-up of every individual who is at risk or diagnosed with cancer.

3 Society 5.0 and Prevention of Malignant Solid Tumors in Adults

More than 80% of malignancies in adults are sporadic and are therefore preventable. The common predisposing factors of sporadic cancer are environmental factors that include smoking, infections, environmental factors, diet and obesity (Quail and Dannenberg 2019; Wang et al. 2009). The most effective weapon against cancer is prevention and key preventative strategies include immunization, life-style modification, screening and elimination of premalignant lesions (Maresso et al. 2015; Iyengar et al. 2016). Although much of the insight on cancer prevention relies on studies conducted in HICs, key strategies for the prevention of the development of cancer globally include awareness campaigns.

Among the campaigns, include programs to encourage immunization, for example against HIV or HPV. Other activities are encouraging regular exercise, regular screening of common tumors in individuals who are at high risk, chemical prophylaxis and ablation of premalignant lesions or early cancers (Conderino et al. 2022; Fernández et al. 2014; Maresso et al. 2015; Raghupathi and Raghupathi 2020; Sharma et al. 2022; Leatherdale and Rynard 2013). Smart phones, Blockchain technology and Internet of Medical Things (IoMT) would be useful for awareness campaigns. Smart phones can assist in the detection and monitoring of precancerous lesions (Mungo et al. 2021; Phillips et al. 2019). Digital personal twinning and AI can also assist in the timeous detection of pathological changes and autonomous recommendation of subsequent investigation (Chua et al. 2021; Sahal et al. 2022). Other technological advances which are potentially helpful for early detection of cancer is the use of tumor markers (Kenner et al. 2021). The drone technology can also be used for delivery of vaccines and medicines for cancer prophylaxis to remote areas in LMICs (Rosser et al. 2018).

The package of available technologies can help to stratify the level of risk and guide prescription of the most feasible and effective strategies to prevent the development of cancer. The use of telemedicine, Internet of Things, robots and drones can improve access to effective methods for use to prevent cancer even in LMICs (Hassan et al. 2022; Johnson et al. 2021; Rosser et al. 2018; Sætra and Fosch-Villaronga 2021). Other technologies introduced recently for use to screen, diagnose and treat cancer timeously include liquid biopsy (Stewart and Tsui 2018), virtual endoscopy and chromo-endoscopy (Clarke and Feuerstein 2019). Knowledge of the risk factors is essential for the implementation of programs to reduce the incidence of cancer (Leatherdale and Rynard 2013).

4 Society 5.0 During Diagnosis and Staging of Cancers in Adults

Staging provides a format for the uniform exchange of information among clinicians regarding extent of the disease and is used to guide selection of appropriate treatment options (Hudgins and Beitler 2013). The most widely used staging system for cancer is the tumor node metastasis (TNM) system. The TNM system describes the anatomic extent of the cancer and is used before surgical resection of a tumor, i.e., clinical staging (cTNM) or after the removal of the cancer (pTNM). The clinical stage is done at presentation before treatment whereas pathologic stage is assigned

following surgery and posttherapy stage is after the first course of nonoperative treatment. The T part of TNM staging is divided into at least four subcategories (T1 to T4) based on the maximum diameter of a tumor and involvement of adjacent structures. Similarly, nodal and metastatic disease have subcategories. The stage of a cancer before treatment remains the most significant factor to determine prognosis and additional therapy and is used during the reporting of the overall outcome (Hudgins and Beitler 2013). Imaging investigations such as plain x-ray, ultrasound, endoscopic ultrasound, CT scan, MRI and radionuclide scan for staging of cancer are only useful when the size of the tumor or its metastasis is detectable (Kothari et al. 2020; Sah et al. 2019). The TNM staging system is therefore not able to quantify the volume of the disease and is silent regarding the possibility of microscopic metastases.

Radiomics based on findings on CT scan, MRI or positron emission tomogram can assist in accurately diagnose, grade and accurately predict the existence of distant metastases (Kothari et al. 2020). Digital pathology and pathomics also allow for segmentation of the cancer tumor and precise characterization that include tumor grading. The presence of metastases may be predicted following AI-assisted pathological assessment. Recent advances in biomarker technology have led to the use of liquid biopsy for the detection of tumor markers such as tumor associated DNA and cell free DNA (Stewart and Tsui 2018; Wu et al. 2021). Atri (2006), Ehman et al. (2007) and Hillman (2006) reported on the usefulness of biomedical imaging in the staging of cancer, which continues to play an ever more important role during the management of patients following the diagnosis of cancer (Atri 2006; Ehman et al. 2007; Hillman 2006). Among the techniques which are used for biomedical imaging in the staging of cancer is the so called lipidomic-based mass spectrometry imaging (Holzlechner et al. 2019). The benefits of biomedical imaging and pathomics include prediction (Pinsky 2015), screening (Pinsky 2015), biopsy guidance for early detection (Abati et al. 2020), staging (Hudgins and Beitler 2013; Chang et al. 2014), prognosis (Chang et al. 2014), therapy planning (Hongo et al. 2021; Kocher 2020), therapy guidance (Wang and Mao 2020), therapy response (Wang and Mao 2020), recurrence (Cairncross et al. 2020; Xu et al. 2019) and palliation of cancers or their metastases (Chan et al. 2021). Ample opportunities abound in LIMCs to explore application of AI to various imaging data for improvement of oncological care and development of integrated smart health technology (Fig. 1).

5 Society 5.0 and Risk Stratification for Prognostication of Cancer

Cotemporary treatment of cancer emphasizes a personalized approach (precision oncology) regardless of whether the aim is curative or palliative. Precision oncology implies prescribing the most cost-effective treatment for the right patient and



Fig. 1 Areas of potential benefits of Society 5.0 in the management of cancers in LMICs

considering the full extent of the disease while minimizing side effects and the risk of recurrence or progression. The assessment of the extent of disease in the TNM system includes measurement of the diameter of macroscopic disease and whether there are lymph nodes or distant metastases are present. Traditionally curative treatment was reserved for patients who had early or resectable locally advanced cancers. The TNM focuses on the local extent of the cancer and qualitative spread of the tumor and does not quantify the volume of microscopic and macroscopic disease. Notwithstanding, decisions regarding the need of surgical intervention, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, targeted therapy or end of life care in majority of LMICs are based on the TNM which is often not helpful as it tends to under-estimate the extent of the cancer consequently leading to the prescription of treatment that is potentially adequate and ineffective. A select group of patients who have objectively quantified limited metastatic cancer (oligometastatic disease) can be cured (Bong et al. 2021).

Tumor differentiation, ploidy, mitotic count, Ki67 index, evidence and extent of tumor necrosis and immunohistochemical stains are used to risk stratify some of the cancer. Genomics, epigenomics, proteomics and metabolomics are also used for characterization of some of the cancers. Almost all cancers require a biopsy or fine needle aspiration cytology (FNAC) for their confirmation. Both biopsy and FNAC are invasive and may lead to complications such as bleeding or injury to adjacent

structures (Tselikas et al. 2019). Sampling of a cancer either during biopsy or FNAC is limited to a minute area in the tumor and metastatic deposits are almost never biopsied, excluding metastatic lymph nodes following sentinel lymph node biopsy or therapeutic lymphadenectomy (Falk Delgado et al. 2019). Additionally, pathologists tend to sample tiny areas of the biopsy specimen despite knowing that cancer is heterogeneous disease (Tselikas et al. 2019). The heterogeneity of a cancer extends to the tumor microenvironment (TME) in the cancer, which include the different types of cells and the extracellular matrix (Kothari et al. 2020; Lin et al. 2020; Li et al. 2020). Among the cells in the TME of most cancers are the adipocytes, dendritic cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, lymphocytes, macrophages and neutrophils (Kothari et al. 2020; Iyengar et al. 2016). The nonmalignant cells and the stroma influence both the initiation, growth and spread of a cancer (Lee and Cheah 2019; Kothari et al. 2020). The other constituents of the TME that can influence the behavior and outcome of a cancer include the level of expression of noncoding RNA such as micro-RNA (miRNA) and long noncoding RNA (lnRNA) (Lee and Cheah 2019).

Cancer and its TME are genetically unstable from the moments it develops and therefore require frequent repeat sampling or biopsy to keep pace with metamorphosis of the primary tumor and its metastasis (Tselikas et al. 2019). Although liquid biopsy and quantitative or digital PCR and next generation sequencing are useful for characterization of cancers, they require invasive sampling and currently are relatively expensive and not freely available for patients in LMICs (Tselikas et al. 2019; Chen and Zhao 2019). Advances in imaging and computing have led to the use of AI for virtual biopsy (Sah et al. 2019). Collation of information obtained following imaging with ultrasound, CT scan, MRI and PET can accurately diagnose a cancer, its grade, genomic landscape, molecular subtype. Radiomics is also able to predict the likelihood of metastases and metastatic sites, how the cancer is going to respond to treatment, the likely side effects, tumor recurrence and the prognosis (Sah et al. 2019; Yu et al. 2021). Furthermore, radiomics can characterize the entire cancer, TME and all its metastatic deposits without the need for biopsy or histopathological analysis. Another benefit of radiomics and virtual biopsy is the possibility of regular repeat imaging to track the genetic changes.

6 Society 5.0 Facilitation of Multidisciplinary Decision-Making in the Management of Cancer

Cancer is a heterogeneous and complex disease which requires a collaborative and MDT approach to its management. Since its introduction in the early 1990s, the MDT approach in cancer care is recognized as a critical aspect in cancer care and is now regarded a "gold standard" in the management of cancer across the world including in LMICs (Hoinville et al. 2019; Selby et al. 2019). Quality personalized oncological care would not be possible outside and MDT. The MDT for

personalized oncological care should comprise of various specialists involved in the treatment of cancer. Depending on the site of the cancer, the team-members may vary, but must include at least surgeons, medical & radiation oncologists, radiologists, pathologists, geneticists, palliative care, specialists, social workers and psychologists. To ensure effective and continuity of care, effective communication is essential among all team members and this can be achieved through regular, coordinated MDT meeting, which serves as a platform for collaborative, not competitive, discussion and treatment decision-making by all team members involved in the care of the cancer patient (Pillay et al. 2016). Moreover, the meeting also serves as a teaching and learning platforms for all members, including trainee specialists. The MDT may in turn help improve the knowledge and work satisfaction of all team members and identify key research questions for translation research which will further enhance the quality of care offered to patients.

Several studies have confirmed the positive impact the MDT meetings have in the treatment decision-making for patients with cancer (Hoinville et al. 2019). Around 4% to 45% more patients discussed at MDT meetings receive accurate preoperative staging and comprehensive cancer care than those who were not (Pillay et al. 2016). However, there is still conflicting evidence as to whether MDT meetings improve the overall and disease-free survival of patients with cancer (Hoinville et al. 2019; Pillay et al. 2016; Selby et al. 2019).

The following principles are essential for the success of MDT meetings:

- The chair of the meeting should be decided on by the team and the terms of reference should be agreed upon by all members.
- Multidisciplinary team meetings should be held regularly, preferably on a weekly basis.
- All patients diagnosed with cancer must be discussed at the MDT meeting before any treatments can be offered. This will ensure that comprehensive diagnostic and staging work up, treatment plan and the follow-up thereof is discussed and decided on upfront.
- They should be "patient-centered" as opposed to being "disease-centered." After the discussion and the treatment plan has been made, it is important that the patients be made aware of the stage of the cancer, the decision taken, available treatment options, and the predicted outcome to allow the patients to make informed decisions. Moreover, patients' preferences should also be taken into consideration provided they are well-informed preferences.
- Prior to the meeting, all cases to be presented should be thoroughly prepared and shared with all team members.
- All decisions taken at the meeting should be documented.
- All team members should take responsibility for all decisions made and commit to implementing them.
- A follow-up meeting with team members and the patient should also be considered to monitor the response of cancer to treatment, patient's adherence to treatment and tolerability to systemic therapy given (Hoinville et al. 2019; Pillay et al. 2016; Selby et al. 2019).

Among the technological advances that would introduce "smart" running of MDT meetings and processes is the Blockchain technology for secured record keeping and communication between patients and healthcare practitioners or among staff members, teleconference and IoT. The use of digital technology would either reduce or eliminate the need for travelling, waiting times and poor record keeping. Facilitation and enabling access to MDT and adoption of artificial intelligence-guided decision-making would lead to an improvement in the quality of oncological services by every individual throughout the world.

7 Society 5.0 and Precision Oncology in the Management of Cancer Including Surgical Treatment, Radiation Therapy, Chemotherapy, and Targeted Molecular and Radionuclide Therapy

Vision 2030 for health emphasizes elimination or reduction of the known risk factors of cancer, early detection and waiting time for treatment (Van Tulder et al. 2021). The roll-out of digital surgery as part of Society 5.0 will lead to timeous, effective and efficient personalized oncology services. Among the technologies which would assist in early detection of cancer include the use of smart phones (Hernández-Neuta et al. 2019; Kwon et al. 2022; Majumder and Deen 2019; Hunt et al. 2021), wearable monitoring devices (Lu et al. 2016), Internet of Things (Al-Kahtani et al. 2022), telemedicine and teleconsultation (Johnson et al. 2021) and Blockchain-enabled (Zhang et al. 2021), augmented or 3D-guided, video-assisted or robotic surgery including endoscopy (Carrano et al. 2022; Chen et al. 2021a; Kwon et al. 2022; Lam et al. 2022). Other technological advances in the healthcare industry include computer aided autonomous action surgery (Gumbs et al. 2022), intelligent knife for determination of adequacy of the excision margin to reduce the rate of tumor recurrence (Hänel et al. 2019), computer aided virtual surgery or endoscopy (Chen et al. 2021a; Gumbs et al. 2022), virtual biopsy (Balana et al. 2022) and AI-guided decision-making including surgical treatment (Hashimoto et al. 2018). The use of AI may also reduce waiting by facilitating preconsultation automatic ordering and performance of some of the diagnostic investigations (Li et al. 2021). The Blockchain technology and IoT also enable safe storage and/or sharing of information related to cancer awareness, treatment or follow-up by practitioners and patients (Carrano et al. 2022; Hölbl et al. 2018). Smart oncology services allow for shared intraspecialty services to timeously and collectively manage the load of patients needing imaging, evaluation of pathology slides, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, radionuclide therapy or nanotechnology-based treatment (Adir et al. 2020).

The mainstay for treatment of premalignant or early malignant tumors in adults is surgery. Adjuvant radiotherapy, chemotherapy or targeted therapy is added if the probability of local or systemic recurrence is high based on the results from multiomics and digital twinning. Smart technology is also helpful for scheduling to improve for example theatre efficiency which lead to a reduction in waiting time and cancellation of surgical procedures (Kwon et al. 2022; Lam et al. 2022). The Blockchain technology platform is excellent for monitoring of equipment for malfunctioning and timeous replacement of equipment and consumables (Carrano et al. 2022). Technological advances and digitalization have led to an improvement in the safety, efficiency and effectiveness the intraoperative phase of surgery through computer aided training in for example minimal access surgery, adoption and the use of MAS (Humm et al. 2021). The other strategies to improve safety and efficiency of surgery in LMICs would be through teaching and training of video-assisted surgery, robotic endoscopy and surgery and block chain aided surgery (Caruso et al. 2016; Marlicz et al. 2020). Additional aids for efficient oncological care include fluorescence angiography-guided surgery, AI-assisted display virtual and/or augmented reality facilitated surgery and AI guided intraoperative assessment of the adequacy of the resection margin of a tumor (Hänel et al. 2019; Phelps et al. 2018; Santilli et al. 2020). Some of the additional benefits of smart-driven and digitalized surgery include realistic scheduling of operations, reduced blood loss and therefore the need for blood transfusion, quicker surgery, fewer postoperative complications, shorter hospital stay and improved record keeping (Lam et al. 2022). The same components of smart healthcare services such digital twinning and AI are used to guide AI-enabled personalized treatment of a cancer using radiotherapy, chemotherapy and targeted therapy (Adir et al. 2020; Keek et al. 2022).

8 Society 5.0 During Follow-Up After Treatment of Cancer

The commonly used unit to measure of outcome in the management of cancer is 5-year survival rate which is defined as: "The percentage of people in a study or treatment group who are alive five years after they were diagnosed with or started treatment for a disease, such as cancer." Follow-up during treatment of cancer at appropriate interval is mandatory but is often influenced by socioeconomic circumstance of individuals which may affect the application of protocols and negatively affecting outcomes (Strasser-Weippl et al. 2015). Follow-up guidelines for malignant solid tumors are curated by various international bodies, at the helm of which is the World Health Organization (WHO)'s cancer division. The guidelines are similar, influenced by geopolitical occurrences and the relevant bodies are constantly communicating through intercontinental periodic conferences ensuring regular updates and continued medical education of the treating healthcare professionals (Table 2).

The table above only focuses on medical oncology. These have their surgical and gynecological counterparts internationally. The main specialties involved in the management of cancer are medical oncology, surgical oncology and radiation oncology. Pillars of follow-up are surgical, medical, radiological and psychological all of which are supported by medical laboratory workup. Follow-up focuses on relapse and remission and is further guided by whether treatment was curative or palliative (Galjart et al. 2022). Terminology in this field of follow-up of cancer is

At the helm	Continent	Institute
WHO	USA	National Institute of Health: National Cancer Institute American Society of Clinical Oncologists
	Europe	European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO)
	South America	Latin American and Caribbean Society of Medical Oncologists
Africa Th		The South African Society of Clinical and Radiation Oncology
	Middle East	Arab Medical Association against Cancer
	Australasia	Clinical Oncology Society of Australia
		Pan Asian Guidelines Association (ESMO-PAGA)
	Canada	Canadian Association of Medical Oncologists

Table 2 Nonexhaustive list of institutions providing guidelines on cancer management

either broad or very specific with "active surveillance" being reserved lingo specific to the field of prostate and colorectal carcinoma follow-up. The general approach to the follow-up of cancer includes history taking which should cover symptoms, previous diagnosis, clinical stage, treatment received, physical examination, laboratory tests and imaging. Approaches are varied and may either be symptom based or follow strictly protocolled intervals (Fig. 2).

Follow-up is not only limited to the initially diagnosed cancer, but it also includes screening for secondary cancers and other adverse events resulting from cancer treatment. The level of surveillance is guided by the type and stage of a cancer, its treatment and predicted prognosis. Follow-up intervals for cancer are directly related to survival rates and are usually designed over a 5-year period or longer. Survival is measured over a 5-year period, thus 5-year survival. Factors influencing success of follow-up include the socioeconomic status, lifestyle, patient compliance, psychological factors and stage at presentation (Dührsen et al. 2019). At the heart of Society 5.0's value system is the use of modern technological development and digitalization to achieve borderless and classless personalized quality healthcare services. We have seen major roll out of 5G fiber-based Internet infrastructure in South Africa. This is however undermined by an unreliable national electrical grid. As the wealth gap grows wider, Society 5.0 ideals around societal equality will be hard to achieve, especially in poorly under-resourced African health sectors unless if there is an improvement in the collaboration between governments and private companies. This is further confounded by newfound reasons for war and climate change among others, which are already showing the extend of under-development in LMICs which was the onset of the severe acute respiratory coronavirus-2 (COVID-19) pandemic.

Alas! There is always a light. Life always finds a way. Using what we already have at our disposal, African countries may create a functional version of Society 5.0 in the context of cancer follow-up. The patient care system adapted by Lesotho, if well innovated, can serve African patients and elevate patient care and cancer follow-up on the continent as patients are taught to take full responsibility of their own clinical records. The average patient in Lesotho can produce such a booklet regardless of where they may find themselves on the continent, assisting healthcare



Fig. 2 Key areas: follow-up of a patient during management for cancer

professionals immensely. The Society 5.0 approach would translate this simple yet affective approach into a mobile app that will be able to accommodate laboratory and imaging results, as well as any procedures and medical treatment administered with each visit, this information would be available on secure clouds, accessible to both the patient and the treating team. Collaboration with the private may also make what appears daunting achievable even in LMICS (Hellowell 2019). The Granted this would be marred by all manner of hacking and other cyber-negativities, but the value of such an approach would add much value in the following ways:

- Reduction and eventual elimination of duplication of expensive investigations.
- Valuable information resulting in efficient cancer follow-up such as laboratory and imaging results from each visit.
- Ease of evaluation of trends and availability of statistics for research.
- Shared responsibility for individuals' health among healthcare professionals and patients themselves, a practice that is long overdue.
- Allowed sharing of such information would assist MDT efforts, making these time-consuming efforts more effective.
- Facilitation of remote consulting by well-educated healthcare professionals, at the patient's fingertips.

The one thing a patient will always have with them is their mobile phone. With these devices becoming more affordable, supported by strong Internet service provision, Society 5.0 could be just a few months away on the African continent.



Fig. 3 Potential benefits of the application of Society 5.0 in oncological care in LMIC

Figure 3 is a summary of what would be achievable following the implementation of Society 5.0 during follow-up and other phases of management of individuals after a diagnosis of cancer.

9 Society 5.0 for Sustainable Development Goals and Vision 2030 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries

Quality healthcare delivery is influenced by the economic status of a country and access to quality healthcare has a positive influence on the economy (Rahman and Qattan 2021). The main aim of the agreed 17 SDGs was to encourage countries to collaborate among themselves and with multinational companies to implement programs to enable UHC. The 17 SDGs are:

- (a) Measures to end poverty (SDG1).
- (b) Food security and defeating hunger (SDG2).
- (c) Good health for every individual regardless of the economic status (SDG3),
- (d) Universal high-quality education (SDG4).
- (e) Ending gender discrimination (SDG5).
- (f) Increasing access to clean water and basic sanitation (SDG6).
- (g) Affordable clean and reliable energy (SDG7).
- (h) Facilitation of economic growth and employment opportunities (SDG8).
- (i) Innovation and industrial development (SDG9).
- (j) Lowering of within-country and global inequality (SDG10).
- (k) Sustainability of communities and cities (SDG11).
- (l) Responsible production and consumption of goods (SDG12).
- (m) Reduction of the speed of climate change (SDG13).
- (n) Protection of life in water (SDG14).
- (o) Safeguarding life on land (SDG15).
- (p) Strong governance, peace and justice.
- (q) Promotion of intergovernmental partnership and collaboration between governments and multinationals (SDG17) (Mondejar et al. 2021).

All 17 SDGs are interlinked and support promotion of well-being and healthy lifestyle) (Rahman and Qattan 2021; Budhathoki et al. 2017). The pillars of SDG3 are prevention of diseases, timeous access to quality treatment and reduction of outof-pocket expenses (Kruk et al. 2018). Preventative strategies which are contained in SDG3 are access to clean water, sanitation, health education, immunization and screening program (Budhathoki et al. 2017). The SDG3 envisaged that all governments in the world will provide leadership and encourage active participation by private companies including multinationals in programs to improve the health of every individual. Society 5.0, SDG and Vision 2030 do not have programs that are offered based on the income level of a country. Little has been achieved due to lack of political will, competing needs, the difficult economic situation and minimal involvement of the private sector. Collaboration between governments and the private would make the technological advances affordable and available in LMICs, which would lead to an improvement in the quality of oncological services. Like smart cities, smart oncological services would be safe, convenient and cheap. Quality multidisciplinary care of malignant solid tumors will allow SDG3 to be achieved by providing the needed infrastructure to improve the health and well-being of individuals who either are at risk or have cancer. Society 5.0 like SDGs and Vision 2030 emphasizes human centeredness and universal health coverage. There would not be anything that is a preserve of citizens of HICs or individuals who are able to access private healthcare. Society 5.0 will therefore increase cancer awareness, education on cancer prevention, early diagnosis, monitoring, timeous and cheaper access of patients to healthcare practitioners and multidisciplinary oncological services through platforms such telehealth, Blockchain technology, IoT and AI.

10 Limitations

Society 5.0 is reliant on solidarity and willingness to collaborate by countries and private companies. Implementation of Society 5.0 will require investment in the infrastructure the cost of which may appear prohibitive and not be affordable for LMICs. The available health information systems, modern computer network programs and speed of the Internet may not be adequate to support the rollout of the envisaged Society 5.0 programs. Most of the training, development and testing of the program would have happened in HICs and thus different from the situation in LMICs. The ethics and governance of the use of the new technologies and digitalization is still being debated. Society 5.0 also threatens confidentiality and autonomy. Some of the decisions that are guided by AI and other technologies may be difficult to defend ("black-box"). A fault in the setting of some of the devices may lead to complications. The nature or sample size used for modeling might have been inappropriate or inadequate, leading to faulty decisions. New technology including robotic surgery or endoscopy may have a negative impact on hands-on teaching and training of future generations of healthcare practitioners, and provision of healthcare in resource-scarce LMIC settings. Reliance on imported technologies associated with Society 5.0 developed or funded by HICs or multinational companies may make LMICs vulnerable to exploitation.

The rollout of Society 5.0 may threaten the autonomy and independence of countries, communities and individuals. Society 5.0 relies on the ability to share information, which may violate confidentiality and practitioner-patient relationship. Implementation of Society 5.0 will require a reliable supply of energy, clean water and network for communication (Kheirinejad et al. 2022). The technologies which would facilitate the implementation of Society 5.0 were developed in HICs may not necessarily be compatible and effective in the LMICs. New technologies may produce substances which are hazardous and can lead to the degradation of the environment. There are not yet effective strategies developed to dispense with electronic waste (e-waste) (Bajpai and Srivastava 2022).

11 Recommendation

Governments, academics institutions and multinational companies across LMICs must work together to prepare the infrastructure for Society 5.0 as it is likely to assist in improving access to quality and patient-centered for all citizens of the world regardless of the economic status.

12 Future Prospects

Automatic referral for screening following early detection of features suggestive of cancer uses technology like facial recognition system, smart phones and wearable technology. Such features would include nonintentional reduced physical activities or weight loss, altered dietary habits abnormal per vaginal bleeding, skin lesions, anemia and jaundice. The other possibilities from technological, digital and computing include smart phone-enabled virtual liquid biopsy for early detection of circulating tumor cells and hand-held mass spectrometry for liver or lung metastases in exhaled air.

13 Conclusion

The majority of cancers are occurring in LMICs where resources are limited. Cancers in LMICs are diagnosed late, and results of curative treatment are poorer in LMICs when compared with HICs. The most effective weapon against cancer is primary prevention. Primary prevention of cancer includes risk reduction, screening and early diagnosis followed by timeous treatment. There is minimal progress in the fight against cancer in LMICs despite the ambitious goals contained in the SDGs and Vision 2030. The chapter has covered some of the Society 5.0 strategies, which may be used to lower the incidence of cancer, expedite diagnosis and improve access to personalized quality oncological services to individuals who are diagnosed with cancer globally, including in LMICs. Despite the limitations of Society 5.0 such as the violation of human rights including security, safety and privacy, energy waste, etc., the benefits can outweigh the limits with proper oversights and management.

References

- Abati S, Bramati C, Bondi S, Lissoni A, Trimarchi M (2020) Oral cancer and precancer: a narrative review on the relevance of early diagnosis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 17:9160
- Adel A (2022) Future of industry 5.0 in society: human-centric solutions, challenges and prospective research areas. J Cloud Comput 11:1–15
- Adir O, Poley M, Chen G, Froim S, Krinsky N, Shklover J, Shainsky-Roitman J, Lammers T, Schroeder A (2020) Integrating artificial intelligence and nanotechnology for precision cancer medicine. Adv Mater 32:1901989
- Akinyemiju T, Ogunsina K, Gupta A, Liu I, Braithwaite D, Hiatt RA (2022) A socio-ecological framework for cancer prevention in low and middle-income countries. Front Public Health 10
- Al-Kahtani MS, Khan F, Taekeun W (2022) Application of internet of things and sensors in healthcare. Sensors 22:5738
- Alsamhi SH, Lee B, Guizani M, Kumar N, Qiao Y, Liu X (2021) Blockchain for decentralized multi-drone to combat COVID-19 and future pandemics: framework and proposed solutions. Trans Emerg Telecommun Technol 32:e4255

- Bajpai S, Srivastava VC (2022) Environmental issues for sustainable development. Environ Sci Pollut Res 29(48):72185–72186
- Atri M (2006) New technologies and directed agents for applications of cancer imaging. J Clin Oncol 24:3299–3308
- Balana C, Castañer S, Carrato C, Moran T, Lopez-Paradís A, Domenech M, Hernandez A, Puig J (2022) Preoperative diagnosis and molecular characterization of gliomas with liquid biopsy and radiogenomics. Front Neurol 1097
- Barragán-Montero A, Javaid U, Valdés G, Nguyen D, Desbordes P, Macq B, Willems S, Vandewinckele L, Holmström M, Löfman F (2021) Artificial intelligence and machine learning for medical imaging: a technology review. Phys Med 83:242–256
- Bhutta ZA (2006) The million death study in India: can it help in monitoring the millennium development goals? PLoS Med 3:e103
- Bong CY, Smithers BM, Chua TC (2021) Pulmonary metastasectomy in the era of targeted therapy and immunotherapy. J Thorac Dis 13:2618
- Bray F, Laversanne M, Cao B, Varghese C, Mikkelsen B, Weiderpass E, Soerjomataram I (2021) Comparing cancer and cardiovascular disease trends in 20 middle-or high-income countries 2000–19: a pointer to national trajectories towards achieving sustainable development goal target 3.4. Cancer Treat Rev 100:102290
- Budhathoki SS, Pokharel PK, Good S, Limbu S, Bhattachan M, Osborne RH (2017) The potential of health literacy to address the health related UN sustainable development goal 3 (SDG3) in Nepal: a rapid review. BMC Health Serv Res 17:1–13
- Bukhman G, Mocumbi AO, Atun R, Becker AE, Bhutta Z, Binagwaho A, Clinton C, Coates MM, Dain K, Ezzati M (2020) The Lancet NCDI Poverty Commission: bridging a gap in universal health coverage for the poorest billion. Lancet 396:991–1044
- Cairncross ZF, Nelson G, Shack L, Metcalfe A (2020) Validation in Alberta of an administrative data algorithm to identify cancer recurrence. Curr Oncol 27:343–346
- Canzoneri R, Lacunza E, Abba MC (2019) Genomics and bioinformatics as pillars of precision medicine in oncology. Medicina (B Aires) 79:587–592
- Carrano FM, Sileri P, Batt S, Di Lorenzo N (2022) Blockchain in surgery: are we ready for the digital revolution? Updat Surg 74:3–6
- Caruso S, Patriti A, Roviello F, De Franco L, Franceschini F, Coratti A, Ceccarelli G (2016) Laparoscopic and robot-assisted gastrectomy for gastric cancer: current considerations. World J Gastroenterol 22:5694
- Chan HY-L, Chung CK-M, Tam SS-C, Chow RS-K (2021) Community palliative care services on addressing physical and psychosocial needs in people with advanced illness: a prospective cohort study. BMC Palliat Care 20:1–8
- Chang S, Cameron C (2012) Addressing the future burden of cancer and its impact on the oncology workforce: where is cancer prevention and control? J Cancer Educ 27:118–127
- Chang AJ, Autio KA, Roach M, Scher HI (2014) High-risk prostate cancer—classification and therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 11:308–323
- Charumbira MY, Berner K, Louw QA (2022) Functioning problems associated with health conditions with greatest disease burden in South Africa: a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 19:15636
- Chen M, Zhao H (2019) Next-generation sequencing in liquid biopsy: cancer screening and early detection. Hum Genomics 13:34
- Chen Z, Zhang Y, Yan Z, Dong J, Cai W, Ma Y, Jiang J, Dai K, Liang H, He J (2021a) Artificial intelligence assisted display in thoracic surgery: development and possibilities. J Thorac Dis 13: 6994
- Chen ZH, Lin L, Wu CF, Li CF, Xu RH, Sun Y (2021b) Artificial intelligence for assisting cancer diagnosis and treatment in the era of precision medicine. Cancer Commun 41:1100–1115
- Chua IS, Gaziel-Yablowitz M, Korach ZT, Kehl KL, Levitan NA, Arriaga YE, Jackson GP, Bates DW, Hassett M (2021) Artificial intelligence in oncology: path to implementation. Cancer Med 10:4138–4149

- Clarke WT, Feuerstein JD (2019) Colorectal cancer surveillance in inflammatory bowel disease: practice guidelines and recent developments. World J Gastroenterol 25:4148
- Conderino S, Bendik S, Richards TB, Pulgarin C, Chan PY, Townsend J, Lim S, Roberts TR, Thorpe LE (2022) The use of electronic health records to inform cancer surveillance efforts: a scoping review and test of indicators for public health surveillance of cancer prevention and control. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 22:1–13
- Dadkhah M, Mehraeen M, Rahimnia F, Kimiafar K (2021) Use of internet of things for chronic disease management: an overview. J Med Signals Sens 11:138
- Dührsen U, Deppermann K-M, Pox C, Holstege A (2019) Evidence-based follow-up for adults with cancer. Dtsch Arztebl Int 116:663
- Ehman RL, Hendee WR, Welch MJ, Dunnick NR, Bresolin LB, Arenson RL, Baum S, Hricak H, Thrall JH (2007) Blueprint for imaging in biomedical research. Radiology 244:12–27
- Eichleay M, Evens E, Stankevitz K, Parker C (2019) Using the unmanned aerial vehicle delivery decision tool to consider transporting medical supplies via drone. Global Health Sci Pract 7: 500–506
- Ekwueme DU, Halpern MT, Chesson HW, Ashok M, Drope J, Hong Y-R, Maciosek M, Pesko MF, Kenkel DS (2022) Health economics research in primary prevention of cancer: assessment, current challenges, and future directions. JNCI Monogr 2022:28–41
- Falk Delgado A, Zommorodi S, Falk Delgado A (2019) Sentinel lymph node biopsy and complete lymph node dissection for melanoma. Curr Oncol Rep 21:54
- Fernández ME, Melvin CL, Leeman J, Ribisl KM, Allen JD, Kegler MC, Bastani R, Ory MG, Risendal BC, Hannon PA (2014) The cancer prevention and control research network: an interactive systems approach to advancing cancer control implementation research and practice. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 23:2512–2521
- Fitzmaurice C, Akinyemiju TF, Al Lami FH, Alam T, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Allen C, Alsharif U, Alvis-Guzman N, Amini E, Anderson BO (2018) Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life-years for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study. JAMA Oncol 4:1553–1568
- Franchini F, Palatucci G, Colao A, Ungaro P, Macchia PE, Nettore IC (2022) Obesity and thyroid cancer risk: An update. Int J Environ Res Public Health 19:1116
- Fukuyama M (2018) Society 5.0: aiming for a new human-centered society. Japan Spotlight 27:47– 50
- Galjart B, Höppener DJ, Aerts JGJV, Bangma CH, Verhoef C, Grünhagen DJ (2022) Follow-up strategy and survival for five common cancers: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 174:185–199
- Global Burden of Disease Cancer Collaboration (2019) Global, regional, and National Cancer Incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and disability-adjusted lifeyears for 29 cancer groups, 1990 to 2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study. JAMA Oncol 5:1749–1768
- Grabowska S, Saniuk S, Gajdzik B (2022) Industry 5.0: improving humanization and sustainability of Industry 4.0. Scientometrics 127:3117–3144
- Gumbs AA, Grasso V, Bourdel N, Croner R, Spolverato G, Frigerio I, Illanes A, Abu Hilal M, Park A, Elyan E (2022) The advances in computer vision that are enabling more autonomous actions in surgery: a systematic review of the literature. Sensors (Basel) 22
- Hänel L, Kwiatkowski M, Heikaus L, Schlüter H (2019) Mass spectrometry-based intraoperative tumor diagnostics. Future Sci OA 5:FSO373
- Hashimoto DA, Rosman G, Rus D, Meireles OR (2018) Artificial intelligence in surgery: promises and perils. Ann Surg 268:70–76
- Hassan AM, Chu CK, Liu J, Angove R, Rocque G, Gallagher KD, Momoh AO, Caston NE, Williams CP, Wheeler S, Butler CE, Offodile AC (2022) Determinants of telemedicine adoption among financially distressed patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: insights from a nationwide study. Support Care Cancer 30:7665–7678

- Haverkamp L, Van Der Sluis PC, Ausems M, Van Der Horst S, Siersema PD, Ruurda JP, Offerhaus GJA, Van Hillegersberg R (2015) Prophylactic laparoscopic total gastrectomy with jejunal pouch reconstruction in patients carrying a CDH1 germline mutation. J Gastrointest Surg 19: 2120–2125
- Hellowell M (2019) Are public–private partnerships the future of healthcare delivery in sub-Saharan Africa? Lessons from Lesotho. BMJ Global Health 4:e001217
- Hernández-Neuta I, Neumann F, Brightmeyer J, Ba Tis T, Madaboosi N, Wei Q, Ozcan A, Nilsson M (2019) Smartphone-based clinical diagnostics: towards democratization of evidence-based health care. J Intern Med 285:19–39
- Hillman BJ (2006) Introduction to the special issue on medical imaging in oncology. J Clin Oncol 24:3223–3224
- Hoinville L, Taylor C, Zasada M, Warner R, Pottle E, Green J (2019) Improving the effectiveness of cancer multidisciplinary team meetings: analysis of a national survey of MDT members' opinions about streamlining patient discussions. BMJ Open Qual 8:e000631
- Hölbl M, Kompara M, Kamišalić A, Nemec Zlatolas L (2018) A systematic review of the use of Blockchain in healthcare. Symmetry 10(10):470
- Holzlechner M, Eugenin E, Prideaux B (2019) Mass spectrometry imaging to detect lipid biomarkers and disease signatures in cancer. Cancer Rep 2:e1229
- Hongo H, Tokuue K, Sakae T, Mase M, Omura M (2021) Robust treatment planning in Intrafraction motion using TomoDirect[™] intensity-modulated radiotherapy for breast cancer. In Vivo 35:2655–2659
- Hricak H, Abdel-Wahab M, Atun R, Lette MM, Paez D, Brink JA, Donoso-Bach L, Frija G, Hierath M, Holmberg O (2021) Medical imaging and nuclear medicine: a Lancet Oncology Commission. Lancet Oncol 22:e136–e172
- Hudgins PA, Beitler JJ (2013) Introduction to the imaging and staging of cancer. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 23:1–7
- Hugar LA, Wulff-Burchfield EM, Winzelberg GS, Jacobs BL, Davies BJ (2021) Incorporating palliative care principles to improve patient care and quality of life in urologic oncology. Nat Rev Urol 18:623–635
- Humm G, Harries RL, Stoyanov D, Lovat LB (2021) Supporting laparoscopic general surgery training with digital technology: the United Kingdom and Ireland paradigm. BMC Surg 21:1–13
- Hunt B, Ruiz AJ, Pogue BW (2021) Smartphone-based imaging systems for medical applications: a critical review. J Biomed Opt 26:040902
- Hunter B, Hindocha S, Lee RW (2022) The role of artificial intelligence in early cancer diagnosis. Cancers 14:1524. s Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published ...
- Ioppolo G, Vazquez F, Hennerici MG, Andrès E (2020) Medicine 4.0: new technologies as tools for a society 5.0. J Clin Med 9(7):2198
- Iragorri N, De Oliveira C, Fitzgerald N, Essue B (2021) The out-of-pocket cost burden of cancer care—a systematic literature review. Curr Oncol 28:1216–1248
- Iyengar NM, Gucalp A, Dannenberg AJ, Hudis CA (2016) Obesity and cancer mechanisms: tumor microenvironment and inflammation. J Clin Oncol 34:4270–4276
- Jain P, Balkrishanan K, Nayak S, Gupta N, Shah S (2021) Onco-anaesthesiology and palliative medicine: opportunities and challenges. Indian J Anaesth 65:29
- Johnson BA, Lindgren BR, Blaes AH, Parsons HM, Larocca CJ, Farah R, Hui JYC (2021) The new Normal? Patient satisfaction and usability of telemedicine in breast cancer care. Ann Surg Oncol 28:5668–5676
- Kann BH, Hosny A, Aerts HJWL (2021) Artificial intelligence for clinical oncology. Cancer Cell 39:916–927
- Keek SA, Beuque M, Primakov S, Woodruff HC, Chatterjee A, Van Timmeren JE, Vallières M, Hendriks LEL, Kraft J, Andratschke N, Braunstein SE, Morin O, Lambin P (2022) Predicting adverse radiation effects in brain tumors after stereotactic radiotherapy with deep learning and handcrafted radiomics. Front Oncol 12:920393

- Kenner B, Chari ST, Kelsen D, Klimstra DS, Pandol SJ, Rosenthal M, Rustgi AK, Taylor JA, Yala A, Abul-Husn N (2021) Artificial intelligence and early detection of pancreatic cancer: 2020 summative review. Pancreas 50:251
- Kim M, Schiff JP, Price A, Laugeman E, Samson PP, Kim H, Badiyan SN, Henke LE (2022) The first reported case of a patient with pancreatic cancer treated with cone beam computed tomography-guided stereotactic adaptive radiotherapy (CT-STAR). Radiat Oncol 17:157
- Kheirinejad S, Bozorg-Haddad O, Singh VP, Loáiciga HA (2022) The effect of reducing per capita water and energy uses on renewable water resources in the water, food and energy nexus. Sci Rep 12(1):7582
- Kocher M (2020) Artificial intelligence and radiomics for radiation oncology. Springer
- Kothari C, Diorio C, Durocher F (2020) The importance of breast adipose tissue in breast cancer. Int J Mol Sci 21
- Kruk ME, Gage AD, Arsenault C, Jordan K, Leslie HH, Roder-Dewan S, Adeyi O, Barker P, Daelmans B, Doubova SV, English M, García-Elorrio E, Guanais F, Gureje O, Hirschhorn LR, Jiang L, Kelley E, Lemango ET, Liljestrand J, Malata A, Marchant T, Matsoso MP, Meara JG, Mohanan M, Ndiaye Y, Norheim OF, Reddy KS, Rowe AK, Salomon JA, Thapa G, Twum-Danso NAY, Pate M (2018) High-quality health systems in the sustainable development goals era: time for a revolution. Lancet Glob Health 6:e1196–e1252
- Kwon H, An S, Lee H-Y, Cha WC, Kim S, Cho M, Kong H-J (2022) Review of smart hospital services in real healthcare environments. Healthc Inform Res 28:3–15
- Lam K, Abràmoff MD, Balibrea JM, Bishop SM, Brady RR, Callcut RA, Chand M, Collins JW, Diener MK, Eisenmann M, Fermont K, Neto MG, Hager GD, Hinchliffe RJ, Horgan A, Jannin P, Langerman A, Logishetty K, Mahadik A, Maier-Hein L, Antona EM, Mascagni P, Mathew RK, Müller-Stich BP, Neumuth T, Nickel F, Park A, Pellino G, Rudzicz F, Shah S, Slack M, Smith MJ, Soomro N, Speidel S, Stoyanov D, Tilney HS, Wagner M, Darzi A, Kinross JM, Purkayastha S (2022) A Delphi consensus statement for digital surgery. NPJ Digit Med 5: 100
- Leatherdale ST, Rynard V (2013) A cross-sectional examination of modifiable risk factors for chronic disease among a nationally representative sample of youth: are Canadian students graduating high school with a failing grade for health? BMC Public Health 13:1–8
- Lee SS, Cheah YK (2019) The interplay between microRNAs and cellular components of tumour microenvironment (TME) on non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) progression. J Immunol Res 2019:3046379
- Li J, Eu JQ, Kong LR, Wang L, Lim YC, Goh BC, Wong ALA (2020) Targeting metabolism in cancer cells and the tumour microenvironment for cancer therapy. Molecules 25
- Li X, Tian D, Li W, Dong B, Wang H, Yuan J, Li B, Shi L, Lin X, Zhao L (2021) Artificial intelligence-assisted reduction in patients' waiting time for outpatient process: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Health Serv Res 21:1–11
- Liberini V, Laudicella R, Balma M, Nicolotti DG, Buschiazzo A, Grimaldi S, Lorenzon L, Bianchi A, Peano S, Bartolotta TV (2022) Radiomics and artificial intelligence in prostate cancer: new tools for molecular hybrid imaging and theragnostics. Eur Radiol Exp 6:1–15
- Lin B, Du L, Li H, Zhu X, Cui L, Li X (2020) Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes: warriors fight against tumors powerfully. Biomed Pharmacother 132:110873
- Lu T-C, Fu C-M, Ma MH-M, Fang C-C, Turner AM (2016) Healthcare applications of smart watches. Appl Clin Inform 07:850–869
- Majumder S, Deen MJ (2019) Smartphone sensors for health monitoring and diagnosis. Sensors (Basel) 19
- Maresso KC, Tsai KY, Brown PH, Szabo E, Lippman S, Hawk ET (2015) Molecular cancer prevention: current status and future directions. CA Cancer J Clin 65:345–383
- Marlicz W, Ren X, Robertson A, Skonieczna-Żydecka K, Łoniewski I, Dario P, Wang S, Plevris JN, Koulaouzidis A, Ciuti G (2020) Frontiers of robotic gastroscopy: a comprehensive review of robotic Gastroscopes and technologies. Cancers (Basel) 12

- Mathers CD, Loncar D (2006) Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. PLoS Med 3:e442
- Matulonis UA, Sood AK, Fallowfield L, Howitt BE, Sehouli J, Karlan BY (2016) Ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2:16061
- Miller KD, Fidler-Benaoudia M, Keegan TH, Hipp HS, Jemal A, Siegel RL (2020) Cancer statistics for adolescents and young adults, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 70:443–459
- Mondejar ME, Avtar R, Diaz HLB, Dubey RK, Esteban J, Gómez-Morales A, Hallam B, Mbungu NT, Okolo CC, Prasad KA, She Q, Garcia-Segura S (2021) Digitalization to achieve sustainable development goals: steps towards a smart Green planet. Sci Total Environ 794:148539
- Morrione A, Belfiore A (2022) Obesity, diabetes, and cancer: the role of the insulin/IGF axis; mechanisms and clinical implications. Biomolecules 12:612
- Mungo C, Osongo CO, Ambaka J, Randa MA, Samba B, Ochieng CA, Barker E, Guliam A, Omoto J, Cohen CR (2021) Feasibility and acceptability of smartphone-based cervical cancer screening among HIV-positive women in Western Kenya. JCO Glob Oncol 7:686–693
- Mushosho T, Matela M, Benvolio M, Senzo M, Refilwe M, Relebogile M, Keorapetse M, Nkosinathi M, Moloko M, Yanga N, Kgauhelo N, Ndumiso N, Cynthia P, Katherine T, Luvhengo T (2021) Post-operative analgesia: are patients receiving adequate cover? J Anest Inten Care Med 11(4)
- Ng-Kamstra JS, Greenberg SLM, Abdullah F, Amado V, Anderson GA, Cossa M, Costas-Chavarri-A, Davies J, Debas HT, Dyer GSM, Erdene S, Farmer PE, Gaumnitz A, Hagander L, Haider A, Leather AJM, Lin Y, Marten R, Marvin JT, Mcclain CD, Meara JG, Meheš M, Mock C, Mukhopadhyay S, Orgoi S, Prestero T, Price RR, Raykar NP, Riesel JN, Riviello R, Rudy SM, Saluja S, Sullivan R, Tarpley JL, Taylor RH, Telemaque LF, Toma G, Varghese A, Walker M, Yamey G, Shrime MG (2016) Global surgery 2030: a roadmap for high income country actors. BMJ Glob Health 1:e000011
- Nikiforova A (2021) Smarter open government data for society 5.0: are your open data smart enough? Sensors 21(15):5204
- Park J, Morley TS, Kim M, Clegg DJ, Scherer PE (2014) Obesity and cancer—mechanisms underlying tumour progression and recurrence. Nat Rev Endocrinol 10:455–465
- Petrova D, Špacírová Z, Fernández-Martínez NF, Ching-López A, Garrido D, Rodríguez-Barranco M, Pollán M, Redondo-Sánchez D, Espina C, Higueras-Callejón C, Sánchez MJ (2022) The patient, diagnostic, and treatment intervals in adult patients with cancer from high- and lower-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 19: e1004110
- Phelps DL, Balog J, Gildea LF, Bodai Z, Savage A, El-Bahrawy MA, Speller AVM, Rosini F, Kudo H, Mckenzie JS, Brown R, Takáts Z, Ghaem-Maghami S (2018) The surgical intelligent knife distinguishes normal, borderline and malignant gynaecological tissues using rapid evaporative ionisation mass spectrometry (REIMS). Br J Cancer 118:1349–1358
- Phillips M, Marsden H, Jaffe W, Matin RN, Wali GN, Greenhalgh J, Mcgrath E, James R, Ladoyanni E, Bewley A (2019) Assessment of accuracy of an artificial intelligence algorithm to detect melanoma in images of skin lesions. JAMA Netw Open 2:e1913436
- Pillay B, Wootten AC, Crowe H, Corcoran N, Tran B, Bowden P, Crowe J, Costello AJ (2016) The impact of multidisciplinary team meetings on patient assessment, management and outcomes in oncology settings: a systematic review of the literature. Cancer Treat Rev 42:56–72
- Pinsky PF (2015) Principles of cancer screening. Surg Clin 95:953–966
- Quail DF, Dannenberg AJ (2019) The obese adipose tissue microenvironment in cancer development and progression. Nat Rev Endocrinol 15:139–154
- Raghupathi V, Raghupathi W (2020) The influence of education on health: an empirical assessment of OECD countries for the period 1995–2015. Arch Public Health 78:20
- Rahman R, Qattan A (2021) Vision 2030 and sustainable development: state capacity to revitalize the healthcare system in Saudi Arabia. Inquiry 58:0046958020984682

- Rompianesi G, Pegoraro F, Ceresa CD, Montalti R, Troisi RI (2022) Artificial intelligence in the diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer liver metastases. World J Gastroenterol 28:108– 122
- Rosser JC Jr, Vignesh V, Terwilliger BA, Parker BC (2018) Surgical and medical applications of drones: a comprehensive review. JSLS 22:e2018.00018
- Russo V, Lallo E, Munnia A, Spedicato M, Messerini L, D'Aurizio R, Ceroni EG, Brunelli G, Galvano A, Russo A, Landini I, Nobili S, Ceppi M, Bruzzone M, Cianchi F, Staderini F, Roselli M, Riondino S, Ferroni P, Guadagni F, Mini E, Peluso M (2022) Artificial intelligence predictive models of response to cytotoxic chemotherapy alone or combined to targeted therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancers 2022: 14
- Sætra HS, Fosch-Villaronga E (2021) Healthcare digitalisation and the changing nature of work and society. Healthcare 9
- Sah B-R, Owczarczyk K, Siddique M, Cook GJR, Goh V (2019) Radiomics in esophageal and gastric cancer. Abdom Radiol 44:2048–2058
- Sahal R, Alsamhi SH, Brown KN (2022) Personal digital twin: a close look into the present and a step towards the future of personalised healthcare industry. Sensors 22:5918
- Sahu D, Pradhan B, Khasnobish A, Verma S, Kim D, Pal K (2021) The internet of things in geriatric healthcare. J Healthc Eng 2021:6611366
- Santilli AML, Jamzad A, Janssen NNY, Kaufmann M, Connolly L, Vanderbeck K, Wang A, Mckay D, Rudan JF, Fichtinger G, Mousavi P (2020) Perioperative margin detection in basal cell carcinoma using a deep learning framework: a feasibility study. Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg 15:887–896
- Sarfraz Z, Sarfraz A, Iftikar HM, Akhund R (2021) Is COVID-19 pushing us to the fifth industrial revolution (society 5.0)? Pak J Med Sci 37:591
- Selby P, Popescu R, Lawler M, Butcher H, Costa A (2019) The value and future developments of multidisciplinary team cancer care. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 39:332–340
- Shao J, Rodrigues M, Corter AL, Baxter NN (2019) Multidisciplinary care of breast cancer patients: a scoping review of multidisciplinary styles, processes, and outcomes. Curr Oncol 26:385–397
- Sharma R, Aashima, Nanda M, Fronterre C, Sewagudde P, Ssentongo AE, Yenney K, Arhin ND, Oh J, Amponsah-Manu F, Ssentongo P (2022) Mapping cancer in Africa: a comprehensive and comparable characterization of 34 cancer types using estimates from GLOBOCAN 2020. Front Public Health 10
- Shaverdian N, Gillespie EF, Cha E, Kim SY, Benvengo S, Chino F, Kang JJ, Li Y, Atkinson TM, Lee N, Washington CM, Cahlon O, Gomez DR (2021) Impact of telemedicine on patient satisfaction and perceptions of care quality in radiation oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 19:1174–1180
- Stewart CM, Tsui DWY (2018) Circulating cell-free DNA for non-invasive cancer management. Cancer Genet 228–229:169–179
- Strasser-Weippl K, Chavarri-Guerra Y, Villarreal-Garza C, Bychkovsky BL, Debiasi M, Liedke PE, Soto-Perez-De-Celis E, Dizon D, Cazap E, De Lima Lopes G, Touya D, Nunes JS, St Louis J, Vail C, Bukowski A, Ramos-Elias P, Unger-Saldaña K, Brandao DF, Ferreyra ME, Luciani S, Nogueira-Rodrigues A, De Carvalho Calabrich AF, Del Carmen MG, Rauh-Hain JA, Schmeler K, Sala R, Goss PE (2015) Progress and remaining challenges for cancer control in Latin America and the Caribbean. Lancet Oncol 16:1405–1438
- Tselikas L, Sun R, Ammari S, Dercle L, Yevich S, Hollebecque A, Ngo-Camus M, Nicotra C, Deutsch E, Deschamps F, De Baere T (2019) Role of image-guided biopsy and radiomics in the age of precision medicine. Chin Clin Oncol 8(6):57
- Ugare UG, Bombil I, Luvhengo TE (2022) Early-onset malignant solid tumours in young adult South Africans - an audit based on histopathological records of patients seen at the three academic hospitals in Johannesburg. S Afr J Surg 60:134–140
- Van Tulder R, Rodrigues SB, Mirza H, Sexsmith K (2021) The UN'S sustainable development goals: can multinational enterprises lead the decade of action? J Int Bus Policy 4:1–21

- Vicente AM, Ballensiefen W, Jönsson J-I (2020) How personalised medicine will transform healthcare by 2030: the ICPerMed vision. J Transl Med 18:180
- Vietti Violi N, Hajri R, Haefliger L, Nicod-Lalonde M, Villard N, Dromain C (2022) Imaging of oligometastatic disease. Cancers 14
- Visaggi P, Barberio B, Ghisa M, Ribolsi M, Savarino V, Fassan M, Valmasoni M, Marchi S, De Bortoli N, Savarino E (2021) Modern diagnosis of early esophageal cancer: from blood biomarkers to advanced endoscopy and artificial intelligence. Cancers (Basel) 2021:13
- Wang H, Mao X (2020) Evaluation of the efficacy of neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Drug Des Devel Ther 14:2423
- Wang XQ, Terry PD, Yan H (2009) Review of salt consumption and stomach cancer risk: epidemiological and biological evidence. World J Gastroenterol 15:2204–2213
- Wu X, Zhang Y, Hu T, He X, Zou Y, Deng Q, Ke J, Lian L, He X, Zhao D, Cai X, Chen Z, Wu X, Fan JB, Gao F, Lan P (2021) A novel cell-free DNA methylation-based model improves the early detection of colorectal cancer. Mol Oncol 15:2702–2714
- Xu Y, Kong S, Cheung WY, Bouchard-Fortier A, Dort JC, Quan H, Buie EM, Mckinnon G, Quan ML (2019) Development and validation of case-finding algorithms for recurrence of breast cancer using routinely collected administrative data. BMC Cancer 19:1–10
- Yu Y, He Z, Ouyang J, Tan Y, Chen Y, Gu Y, Mao L, Ren W, Wang J, Lin L, Wu Z, Liu J, Ou Q, Hu Q, Li A, Chen K, Li C, Lu N, Li X, Su F, Liu Q, Xie C, Yao H (2021) Magnetic resonance imaging radiomics predicts preoperative axillary lymph node metastasis to support surgical decisions and is associated with tumor microenvironment in invasive breast cancer: a machine learning, multicenter study. EBioMedicine 69:103460
- Zhang L, Li X, Ning Y, Cai Y (2021) Application of laparoscopy in comprehensive staging operation of ovarian cancer based on electronic medical blockchain technology. J Healthc Eng 2021:6649640
- Zhou J, Cao W, Wang L, Pan Z, Fu Y (2022) Application of artificial intelligence in the diagnosis and prognostic prediction of ovarian cancer. Comput Biol Med 146:105608

Technological Innovations and the Advancement of Preventive Healthcare for Society 5.0



Zilungile Mkhize-Kwitshana, Pragalathan Naidoo, Leony Fourie, Rupert C. Ecker, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract There have been significant developments in the digitization of diagnostic and therapeutic regimes of the healthcare sector. However, the preventative medicine practice is lagging in taking full advantage of the rapidly advancing world of technology. This chapter summarizes the latest developments in both therapeutics and diagnostics in the healthcare settings, including surgical robotics, telemedicine and artificial intelligence. Then, we explore traditional methods of disease prevention and their challenges, consider the technological developments such as advancement of data analytics methods including geospatial surveillance for disease prevention such as heart disease, stroke and other chronic diseases, and, in

Department of Medical Microbiology, School of Laboratory Medicine & Medical Sciences, Medical School Campus, College of Health Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal-Natal, Durban, South Africa

SAMRC Research Capacity Development Division, South African Medical Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: mkhizekwitshanaz@ukzn.ac.za; naidoop5@ukzn.ac.za

L. Fourie

Department of Surgery, University of the Witwatersrand, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: info@fouriesurgery.co.za

R. C. Ecker Translational Research Institute, Woolloongabba, QLD, Australia

School of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

R&D Department, TissueGnostics GmbH, Vienna, Austria e-mail: rupert.ecker@tissuegnostics.com

Z. Dlamini

Translational Research Institute, Woolloongabba, QLD, Australia

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

Z. Mkhize-Kwitshana (🖂) · P. Naidoo

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_4

preventive healthcare, practice and identify gaps in the latter. Challenges of big data related to safety, resource limitation, energy crisis, data ownership and ethics are highlighted. Lastly, we propose adoption of health technology advances for individual health data integration into predictive, precision, participatory and preventive health medicine.

Keywords Preventive medicine \cdot Healthcare \cdot Therapeutic healthcare \cdot Diagnostic healthcare \cdot Low- and middle-income countries \cdot SDGs \cdot Energy crisis \cdot Human rights \cdot Data ownership

1 Introduction

The definition of health by the World Health Organization (WHO) refers to holistic wellness as "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (WHO 1946). In this context, the concept of prevention of disease is part of this latter description of health. The merits of preventive medicine in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) public health systems can never be overemphasized. These countries inadvertently bear the heaviest burden of disease since they have highest numbers of poorer populations most at the risk for both communicable and noncommunicable diseases (Lopez and Murray 1998). Paradoxically, the health system capacities and capabilities are the most compromised and overstretched due to restricted financial and other resources in these regions (Ritchie et al. 2016). The technological advances that have capitalized on the fourth industrial revolution are mainly biased toward therapeutics and diagnostics where disease has already established. This approach is untenable in LMICs. In addition, although these developments have revolutionized healthcare and dramatically improved the quality of life (Thimbleby 2013), these achievements have impacted mainly a fraction of the population in wealthy countries. There is therefore a challenge for practical health technological solutions to prevent onset and progression of disease that is inclusive of the majority of the poor and disadvantaged populations particularly in LMICs. This is in line with the core principle of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) which is premised on leaving no one behind, and the SDG 3 calls for universal health coverage and health and wellbeing for all at all ages.

As countries embrace this inclusive vision and collectively aspire for a better society by year 2030 through the 2030 global agenda, there is a great demand to ensure that everyone makes it on to the bus of the SDGs—by using new approaches and tools that help identify and address health inequity in all its forms (Bustreo and Stone 2016). One such approach is to optimize preventive medicine through technology for all vulnerable populations with the additional outcome of easing the burden to the healthcare systems for LMICs. The present chapter begins by summarizing the sharp contrast in advances made in diagnostic and therapeutic medicine where diseases have already established, describes traditional approaches to disease prevention and then highlights technological developments in preventive medicine.

The last section explores the opportunities to exploit the exponential information and technological capabilities of the fourth industrial revolution (4IR) advantages for disease prevention in the future Society 5.0.

1.1 The Traditional Methods of Disease Prevention

The natural course of disease follows five phases, namely underlying, susceptible, subclinical, clinical and recovery/disability/death. Likewise, the approaches for disease prevention are structured around these stages: primordial prevention, primary prevention, secondary prevention and tertiary prevention (Kisling and Das 2022) with the ultimate goal of preventing disease onset as well as delaying the development of complications when the disease has already occurred.

1.1.1 Primordial Prevention

This mode of prevention assumes an epidemiological approach of preventive activities targeting whole populations who are healthy and is mostly regulated by laws and policies. The aim is to prevent underlying risk exposures (Kisling and Das 2022). An example would be a policy on mandatory inclusion of sports and related facilities at schools to prevent childhood obesity and subsequent diabetes and cardiovascular disease development.

1.1.2 Primary Prevention

Primary prevention uses data collected from a large pool of patients, such as adolescents, children under 5 years, women of childbearing age, all men or all adults. The data is compiled for implementing interventions to prevent disease onset or the development of chronic disease or injury by mitigating predisposing risk factors (Charkawi 2019). Examples of this strategy include regular prophylactic vaccination throughout life; use of condoms among sexually active individuals; provision of health promotion and behavioral counseling for drinking or smoking cessation and promotion of healthy lifestyle behaviors such as good nutrition and activity. The Covid-19 pandemic presented a good example of the importance of vaccination, use of masks and border control to eliminate and curb the spread of the SARS-Cov-2 virus.

1.1.3 Secondary Prevention

This strategy encompasses screening for early detection of subclinical disease among symptomless individuals who exhibit pathological changes that would otherwise be not detected without screening (Charkawi 2019). Examples include the Papanicolaou (Pap) smear and mammography for early detection of cervical and breast cancers, respectively.

1.1.4 Tertiary Prevention

The tertiary prevention delays the development of complications when the disease has manifested, essentially to slow down disease progression and restores the patient's functioning after diagnosis as exemplified by rehabilitative therapy (Charkawi 2019).

1.1.5 Quaternary Prevention

This mode of prevention refers to the prevention of iatrogenic diseases after treatment of an existing condition, to protect patients from treatment/interventions likely to cause them more harm than good (Martins et al. 2018).

1.2 Preventive Medicine Approaches

Preventive medicine efforts targeting prevention and early detection of disease (primordial, primary and secondary) or mitigating complications of established disease can foster improved quality of life, longevity and reduce the cost of healthcare in countries that are economically disadvantaged and overburdened with disease challenges.

1.2.1 Lifestyle, Food and Nutrition

This preventive approach targets healthy individuals to forestall the development of disease (primary); symptomless individuals for early detection and forestalling disease manifestation (secondary) and also ameliorates patients' disease progression (tertiary).

1.2.2 Immune System Boost

Vaccination is the most common and widely applied method of disease prevention through immune system boost. Recurrent monitoring of biomarkers such a prostate specific antigen are also part of primary disease prevention strategies.

1.2.3 Policy Regulations

Policies regulate the environment to minimize risk exposure, for example restricted smoking zones and increased taxes for cigarettes. This prevents disease at larger scale to protect populations (primordial and primary prevention).

1.3 Challenges of the Traditional Methods of Preventive Medicine in LMICs

Many aspects of this model of disease prevention rely on the individual's and population's adherence with less interaction and guidance from the healthcare professionals. Examples include the fact that a parent may decide not to take their infant for vaccination; resistance to smoking cessation and the low uptake of Pap smear screening services that are available. These key two phases (primary and secondary) of prevention occur at stages where overt disease has not occurred and therefore requires intentional effort from the individuals to participate. Lack of knowledge about risk exposure, the benefits of preventive strategies and socioeconomic and poverty-related impediments and illiteracy are some of the main barriers to effective traditional preventive medicine practices that are predominantly dependent on an individual's circumstances for uptake.

The second challenge is the time-constraints on healthcare providers who are overstretched and therefore less able to provide preventive health promotion messages to apparently healthy individuals. In some countries, the responsibility for health promotion activities is outside the ambit of the healthcare providers. In LMICs, who have limited resources, health promotion for the healthy population competes for interventions prioritized for the sick patients. In addition, there is difficulty in getting buy-in for engagement in health matters from individuals who perceive themselves as healthy and have other pressing needs such as food security, access to energy and water.

Thirdly, although large amounts of electronic health records (EHR) data are generated daily, transforming this data into useful information for disease prevention strategies is still lagging behind particularly in LMICs. The demand for skilled personnel in data mining, data analytics and big data exceeds the supply. Such data requires multisectoral collaboration across the health, IT and engineering domains for development of interoperable applications, data access and exchange.

The major challenge for LMIC is access to technology and more importantly the cost of continuous maintenance and availability of experts for these technologies in a sustainable manner in rural and poor areas. This was illustrated by successful implementation of telemedicine in the rural province of Eastern Cape, (South Africa) which established effective network communication between outlying clinics and a central regional hospital. However, this ideal development in medical technology later faced major challenges of connectivity, IT maintenance and availability of IT personnel in these rural settings (Kachienga 2008). This highlights the plight of many rural populations in emerging economies, despite the major advances in information technology and state of the art medical devices.

2 Overview of Technological Advances in Artificial Intelligence-Based Therapeutics and Diagnostics for Preventive Medicine Practice

Technological advancements during the (4IR such as the Internet of Things, virtual reality, robotics, machine learning and artificial intelligence (AI) have revolutionized modern medicine and healthcare practices by promoting the development of sophisticated and innovative artificial intelligence (AI) systems, such as systems for computational pathology, surgical robots and telemedicine software applications.

The spread of telemedicine started in the 1980s and referred to systems where medical data, in particular microscopic images, were shared in real-time with experts at a different geographical location to obtain a second opinion. An advanced version of telemedicine started in the early twenty-first century, where images were stored and could be reviewed any time later and also long-term archived in digital form. This technology became known under the term "digital pathology." While digital pathology has become very popular and an important aspect of current health economy, it is still limited in that pathological examination and diagnostics are still based on visual analysis by a human expert (looking at a computer monitor rather than through the oculars of a microscope). Consequentially, the next step was to expand the digital workflow from scanning (digitizing samples) to analysis and diagnostics-the actual act of "pathology," which is the art of recognizing diagnostically relevant information in any given tissue sample. This has been referred to as "next-generation digital pathology" (Mungenast et al. 2021) or computational pathology. Automated slide scanners, tissue cytometers and image cytometry software including machine learning and in particular deep learning algorithms for computer-guided recognition of individual cells in tissue context and automated classification of histological structures support human experts with recognition and understanding of complex cellular interdependencies (Shakya et al. 2020) and help to elucidate the multilayered nature of immune responses against cancer as well as pathogens (Kaneko et al. 2022). Understanding those molecular mechanisms is a prerequisite for the development of targeted therapies, effective drugs but also methods of early detection and prevention. That the new era of AI-based diagnostics has already started is indicated by the fact that the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has officially approved the first AI-based software-only diagnostic system, in this case for prostate cancer, in September 2021 (FDA 2021).

Surgical robots have proven useful for minimally invasive surgeries, including transoral, knee replacement, dental and benign and brain tumor removal surgeries. Apart from being advantageous in offering surgeons greater visualization, precision

Surgical robot	Use	Advantages	Limitations	References
da Vinci Surgical	Minimally invasive surgeries.	(i) Ability to perform surgery through tiny incisions, leading to	(i) Expensive(ii) Requires medicalfacilities with	DiMaio et al. (2011)
Flex Robotic System	Minimally invasive transoral surgery.	smaller scars and less trauma. (ii) Greater visualiza- tion, precision and	advanced technolo- gies and highly trained surgeons. (iii) Nerve damage	Mattheis et al. (2017)
DLR MiroSurge	Minimally invasive robotic telesurgery.	accuracy. (iii) Less pain and dis- comfort during patient recovery.	and compression can occur in patients (iv) Robotic malfunc- tion and maintenance	Hagn et al. (2010)
Mazor X	Spinal surgery.	reduced risk of blood		Mao et al. (2020)
Mako SmartRobotics	Knee replace- ment surgery.	(v) Patients staying at hospital are reduced.		Grutter (2022)
THINK Surgical	Knee replace- ment surgery.	(vi) Reduced surgeon fatigue.		Liow et al. (2017)
Yomi Robotic System	Dental implants surgery.			Dimri and Nautiyal (2020)
CyberKnife System	Radiosurgery to treat benign tumors.			Kilby et al. (2020)
Neurosurgical Intracranial Robot	Minimally invasive sur- gery for removal of brain tumors.			Liu et al. (2021)

 Table 1
 Summary of innovative artificial intelligence-based surgical robots used for tertiary prevention medicine

and accuracy during surgical procedures, surgical robots also have limitations including the high costs associated with purchasing them and maintenance, and there has been evidence of nerve damage and compression occurring in patients (Table 1).

Several AI software applications are currently available that have revolutionized diagnostics, drug discovery and patients' experience in healthcare. A summary of the latest AI-based diagnostic software, including the Viz LVO AI, Path AI, Buoy AI, Enlitic AI, Freenome AI, Iterative Scopes AI, ViruSense AI/VSTAlert AI/VSTBalance AI, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center AI and Caption AI software, and their use in diagnosing diseases can be found in Table 2. These AI-based diagnostic software have been shown to be useful in treating stroke patients, radiological diagnostics, detecting earliest stages of cancer and tumors, lowering cancer diagnostic error, treating for gastrointestinal tract infections and screening for bacterial infections.

Artificial intelligence			
software companies	Use	Limitations	References
(i) Diagnostics		(i) Data challenges:	
COLUBRIS Tissue	- Tissue cytometry plat-	– Data availability is the	Meshcheryakova
Cytometer with AI &	form with deep learning	first barrier. Health data	(2021)
StrataQuest image	algorithms for precise	is expensive, there is	Mungenast et al.
cytometry software	recognition of individual	ingrained reluctance	(2021)
from TissueGnostics	cells in tissue context	toward sharing of data	Aung et al.
GmbH Austria (Ter-	and machine learning-	between hospitals, and	(2021)
tiary prevention	based histological clas-	the availability of data	
medicine)	sifiers for detection of	following introduction	
	tumor areas and other	of the algorithm analyz-	
	pathologies.	ing it is uncertain.	
	- Allows to automati-	– Data privacy and	
	cally determine molecu-	security are a major	
	lar expression profiles	issue since patient data	
	and spatial distribution	are prone to be nacked	
	patterns of cellular sub-	by cybercriminals, lead-	
	populations.	nig to a breach in users	
	- Automated detection	mation	
	of biomarker correla-	– Quality of data that is	
	for tique analysis	used to train systems is	
N. THOAT C		difficult to ascertain.	D ((2010)
Viz LVO AI software	- Uses cutting-edge	– Health data can be	Petrone (2018)
app (Tertiary preven-	urgent information	messy, inconsistent,	Built in (2022)
tion medicine)	about stroke patients	inaccurate and may lack	Aung et al. (2021)
	directly to a medical	standardization in how it	(2021)
	professional who can act	is formatted and stored.	
	and treat them	(ii) Developer chal-	
	- Can immediately	lenges:	
	identify problems and	- Biases may occur in	
	alert care teams.	collection of data used to	
	allowing medical pro-	train models which can	
	fessionals to evaluate	lead to biased outcomes.	
	options and make treat-	– Overfitting may occur	
	ment decisions that	when the system studies	
	could save lives.	the relationship between	
Path AI software	- Using machine learn-	patient variables and	Built In (2022)
(Secondary preven-	ing technologies,	outcomes that are irrele-	Aung et al.
tion medicine)	pathologists can make	there are too many via	(2021)
	diagnoses that are more	ble parameters and less	
	precise.	outcome parameters	
	- Goals include lower-	leading to inaccurate	
	ing cancer diagnostic	results	
	error and creating tech-	– Data leakage may	
	niques for personalized	occur, where the	
	medical care.		

 Table 2
 Summary of innovative artificial intelligence-based software applications used for primary, secondary and tertiary prevention medicine

Artificial intelligence			
software companies	Use	Limitations	References
Paige AI software (Secondary preven- tion medicine)	 FDA approved software application. To aid pathologists in the detection of suspicious foci, grading and quantification of tissue and indication of perineural invasion (PNI) in needle core biopsy samples from the prostate tissue. 	algorithm has extremely high predictive accu- racy. It is possible that a covariate in the dataset has inadvertently alluded to the outcome, negating the algorithm's significance in predicting outcomes outside of the training dataset.	Paige (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Buoy Health AI (Secondary preven- tion medicine)	 Computer program that utilizes algorithms to detect symptoms and find treatments for ill- nesses. A chatbot considers a patient's symptoms and health concerns before recommending the best course of action based on its diagnosis. 	 "Black-box" problems can occur, where algo- rithms are unable to give a comprehensive expla- nation for their predic- tions. (<i>iii</i>) Challenges in clin- ical implementation: Lack of empirical evi- dence in validating the efficacy of AI-based healthcare software 	Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Enlitic AI (Second- ary prevention medicine)	 Creates medical deep learning techniques to speed up radiological diagnostics. Provides doctors with greater understanding of a patient's current needs by analyzing unstruc- tured medical data, such as radiological images, electrocardiograms, blood tests, patient medical history and genomics. 	interventions in clinical interventions in clinical trials. – Challenges with implementing and inte- grating into physician workflow, including high amounts of time and money needed to train physicians and healthcare workers to use the devices. – Lack of involvement of multiple stakeholders in doublement of AL	Aung et al. (2021)
Freenome AI (Sec- ondary prevention medicine)	 Makes use of AI to discover the earliest stages and warning signs of cancer to develop novel treatment regimen. 	in development of AI healthcare software to ensure that the product can be easily integrated into the physician workflow with high throughout	Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Iterative Scopes AI (Tertiary prevention medicine)	 Automates the process of selecting patients who are qualified to be potential candidates for clinical trials for gastro- intestinal tract infec- tions, including 	(iv) Ethical challenges: - Data privacy and safety:—Concerns over ownership and oversight—who owns the data and has the oversight	Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

Artificial intelligence			
software companies	Use	Limitations	References
	inflammatory bowel disease.	responsibility over data control.	
VirtuSense AI/VSTAlert AI/VSTBalance AI (Quaternary preven- tion medicine)	 ViruSense AI tracks a patient's movements using AI sensors so that medical professionals and caregivers can be alerted to possible falls. VSTAlert AI can foresee when a patient plans to stand up and warns the relevant medical staff. VSTBalance AI uses machine vision to estimate a person's risk of falling within the next year. 	 Accountability: Should the physician or developer be held accountable if the AI application generates incorrect patient health results? (v) Social challenge: Fear with regards to job loss, thus rendering healthcare workers obsolete. Inequality and stigmatization. Misunderstanding and mistrust of AI in its various forms 	Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Beth Israel Deacon- ess Medical Center AI devices (Second- ary prevention medicine)	 For early detection of potentially fatal blood diseases. AI-enhanced microscopes can screen blood samples for harmful pathogens like <i>E. coli</i> and staphylococcus faster compared to manual screening, with a 95% accuracy level. 	 Misunderstanding of AI may lead to unrealis- tically high expectations of its efficacy and results. 	Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Caption Health AI (Secondary preven- tion medicine)	 Uses both AI and ultrasound technology to detect diseases at early stages. Produces high diagnostic-quality images which are then interpreted and assessed by the software. 		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
(ii) Drug discovery			
BioXcel therapeutics AI (Secondary and tertiary prevention medicine)	- Uses AI for the identi- fication and develop- ment of new medicines within the field of neu- roscience and immuno- oncology.		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)

Table 2 (continued)

Artificial intelligence			
software companies	Use	Limitations	References
BERG AI (Primary prevention medicine)	 Creates disease maps to expedite the discov- ery and development of ground-breaking medi- cations. Employs an "interrog- ative biology" approach with conventional research and develop- ment to produce product candidates to combat rare diseases. 		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
XtalPi AI (Primary and Secondary pre- vention medicine)	- Uses a crystal structure prediction technology to identify the chemical and pharmaceutical properties of candidate molecules for drug design and development		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Atomwise AI (Ter- tiary prevention medicine)	 A convolutional neural network-based discovery engine powered by machine learning that searches through large chemical libraries to find novel small molecule drugs and to predict their bioactivity. Used to combat serious diseases, including multiple sclerosis and Ebola. Between 10 and 20 million genetic molecules can be screened daily and provides results 100 times faster than conventional pharmaceutical companies. 		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)
Deep Genomics AI (Secondary preven- tion medicine)	 Used to identify can- didates for developmen- tal drugs related to neurodegenerative and neuromuscular disorders. 		Built In (2022) Aung et al. (2021)

Table 2 (continued)

AI-based software, including BioXcel therapeutics AI, BERG AI, XtalPi AI, Atomwise AI and Deep Genomics AI, have played a pivotal role in the discovery and development of drugs and medications, and in scrutinizing currently available drugs to enhance its therapeutic potency. These software have been proven to be useful in finding medications to treat neurodegenerative and neuromuscular disorders and cancer, and in employing an "Integrative Biology" approach to develop products to combat rare and serious diseases such as multiple sclerosis and Ebola (Table 2).

As part of tertiary preventive strategies, AI-based telemedicine software, including the Kaia Health AI, Spring Health AI, Twin Health AI, Baylon AI and One Drop AI, have also played a pivotal role in transforming patient experience in healthcare. For example, the Kaia Health AI software uses live physical therapists on a live digital platform to offer exercise routines, case reviews, learning resources and relaxation activities for patients with chronic back pain and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The Twin Health AI software uses a variety of AI, internet of things (IoT), data science and medical science to treat and possibly reverse chronic illnesses such as diabetes by offering patients with personalized physical activity and nutrition to suit their individual needs. Another software, the One Drop AI, also offers an innovative solution to control body weight and chronic illnesses such as high blood pressure and diabetes. This innovative software offers patients with predictive glucose readings that are generated by data science and AI by considering lifestyle and nutritional changes and daily glucose monitoring by using the One Drop's Bluetooth-enabled blood glucose reader (Table 3).

3 Application of Geospatial Technologies for Disease Control and Prevention

The birth of the Geographical Information System (GIS) in the 1960s laid the foundation for the use of technology to strengthen capabilities of visualizing, analyzing and detecting disease patterns. This was building on earlier versions of this geospatial tracking of disease such as during the London cholera outbreak and the 1918 influenza (Faruque and Finley 2016). This epidemiology method of using associations between disease location, the environment and human behavior has seen dramatic leaps during the Covid pandemic through the power of big data analytics coupled with advanced technology and molecular biology. Novel use of spatial big data from smartphones, social media and personal wearable devices to locate individuals' addresses and associate them with epidemiology, genetics, social and behavioral traits to map infectious diseases was aptly illustrated during the pandemic, to trace contacts, undertake variant genotyping and disease spreading patterns. Such an approach can be easily adapted for prediction and control of noncommunicable diseases.

Artificial intelligence software			
companies	Use	Limitations	References
Kaia Health (Tertiary pre- vention medicine) Spring Health (Secondary prevention medicine)	 Employs live physical therapists on a live digital therapeutics platform to offer therapy to patients around their schedules. Includes personalized programs with exercise routines, case reviews, learning resources and relaxation activities for treating chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and severe back pain. A clinically-validated digital examination that provides participants with a clear picture of their current mental situation while screening for more than 10 mental health disorders. Matches patients, by using a machine learning methodology, with the appropriate specialist for in-person care or talemedicine appointments. 	Limitations(i) Expensive.(ii) Requires mobile deviceswith advanced software technology and strong internet signals.(iii) Lack of infrastructure fortelehealth sustenance, especially in undeveloped anddeveloping countries.(iv) Data privacy and securityis a major issue since patientdata are prone to be hacked bycybercriminals, leading to abreach in users' personal dataand information.(v) Patients and healthworker's bias towardtelehealth.(vi) Challenges peculiar to	Built In (2022) Babalola et al. (2021) Built In (2022) Babalola et al. (2021)
Twin Health (Tertiary pre- vention medicine) Baylon (Sec-	 Uses a combination of AI, IoT technology, medical science, data science and healthcare to address and maybe reverse chronic illnesses like type 2 diabetes. The whole-body digital twin software provides a digital overview of human metabolic function constructed around thousands of health data points, personal preference and daily activities. Offers personalized nutrition, sleep, physical activity and breathing guidance to members. AI software developed by 	inequality, insecurity, stigmati- zation and civil unrest.	Built In (2022) Babalola et al. (2021) Built In
ondary pre- vention medicine)	- At software developed by deep learning scientists and doctors that acts as an interac- tive symptom checker, by using known risk factors and symptoms to give a		Built In (2022) Babalola et al. (2021)

Table 3 Summary of innovative artificial intelligence-based telemedicine software applications for secondary and tertiary prevention medicine

Artificial intelligence software companies	Use	Limitations	References
	comprehensive and up-to-date medical report to patients.		
One Drop (Secondary prevention medicine)	 Provides a discrete solution for controlling body weight as well as chronic illnesses like high blood pressure and diabe- tes. Provides interactive coaching from live health professionals, learning resources, predictive glucose readings generated by data science and AI, and daily tracking of glucose by using one Drop's Bluetooth-enabled blood glucose reader 		Built In (2022) Babalola et al. (2021)

Table 3 (continued)

To take full advantage of the 4IR in its entirety, including wearable technologies for lifestyle, environmental exposure risk and biomarker monitoring, machine learning and big data analytics for analyzing large amounts of unstructured, heterogeneous, nonstandardized and incomplete data can assist in risk and disease susceptibility, discovery of communicable and noncommunicable disease patterns, biomarker changes and convert this information into valuable predictive and preventive medicine practices. This requires concerted, transdisciplinary collaboration efforts between biology, computational technology and the healthcare system for scientific analysis, interpretation and collation of health, lifestyle and environmental exposure information using mathematical epidemiological and geo-statistical approaches to predict and prevent diseases.

While the disease mapping, GIS, remote sensing, epidemiological and mathematical modeling have had more predilection toward infectious diseases such as malaria remote sensing application (Roberts and Rodriguez 1994) and the recent SARS-Cov-2 epidemiological tracking, recent developments have also exploited the availability of large amounts of real time, real world geospatial health-related data, the computational power and big data analytics to direct efforts toward prevention of non communicable diseases (NCD) to mitigate the spiraling epidemic of NCD modifiable risks (Canfell et al. 2022a, b). The precision public health model is emerging, marrying data that is continuously updated with digital technology analytics. The main focus is to improve preventive decisions and care for future consumers, populations and the public to prevent NCDs at scale (Canfell et al. 2022a, b).

The use of geospatial technologies has always had the advantage of targeting large populations, as shown in Table 4, which gives examples of how both historic

Geospatial			
technology:	Intervention	Prevention outcome	References
Malaria	Combined remotely sensed data and GIS application to identify villages with high vector-human contact risk.	Identify villages with high risk for malaria to target interven- tions for entire villages	Beck et al. (1994)
Earth observations	Real-time surveillance to track air pollutants.	Avert 2–4 million deaths asso- ciated with air pollutant exposure	Apte et al. (2015)
Covid-19	AI, cloud-based screening for Covid-19 infection using a smartphone app (AI4 covid) engine to distinguish covid-19 cough sounds.	Large-scale reduction of the misdiagnosis risk- population wide.	Imran et al. (2020)
Riskscape (USA, Massachusetts)	Collates monthly HER real time data on chronic conditions and infectious diseases for mapping and trend analysis.	Risk monitoring and plan interventions for chronic noncommunicable and com- municable diseases in approxi- mately 20% of the population	Cocoros et al. (2021)
PopHQ (Australia)	Pilot to test aggregating real time obesity data.	Monitoring and prevention of obesity among approximately 1 million population	Canfell et al. (2022b)

Table 4 Traditional and modern geospatial technologies for large-scale preventive medicine

and modern applications of this preventive approach have a wide-scale reach, thus impacting larger populations (Table 4).

Some of the challenges with the use of these technologies include stigmatization of communities by linking diseases to specific locations, for example use of GIS for mapping HIV testing revealed that women moved to other subdistricts of India to avoid being tested in their neighborhoods (Kandwal et al. 2010). Other concerns include protection of individual privacy where possible negligent handling of health data may compromise this privacy, breach ethics and compromise human rights (Thomas and McNabb 2019).

4 Technological Advances in Preventative Medicine

4.1 Leveraging the Adoption and Use of Digital Technology for Dissemination of Preventive Medicine Information

At the very least, opportunities provided by the increase in use of digital communication platforms such as local radio and television, the internet, mobile devices and social media should be optimally used for health education and promotion for widescale reach, including low-income households. The communication platforms offer the opportunity to reach the unreachable in the language they understand. These communication technologies, albeit being low hanging fruits, are currently underutilized with regards to health promotion and prevention messages. A survey of 11 emerging economies in four regions of the world showed that between 70% and 97% (median 89%) own a mobile device, and in seven of these countries, more than 50% own smartphones with access to Internet and mobile apps (Silver et al. 2019). This provides a great opportunity to take advantage of this growing access to information by populations in these emerging economies.

4.2 Use of Technologies for Treatment Adherence (Secondary Prevention)

As a form of secondary disease prevention, collection of vital information, such as blood pressure, cholesterol measurement, fasting plasma glucose is recorded electronically, collated and analyzed for automatic risk prediction. In this respect, the exponential growth of cellular networks provides opportunity for continuous contact with patients.

Risk reduction through reminder-based applications such as text messages for supporting diabetic patients to modify their self-management behaviors and better control of disease is another example of secondary disease prevention. Other modes used for disease risk-reduction include emails, calls, social media and wearable devices to effect reminder-based disease prevention or risk reduction (Razzak et al. 2019).

4.3 Sensor Technologies for the Detection of Biomarkers in Body Fluids for Preventative Medicine

Several sensor technologies have been developed for the detection of nonvolatile and volatile biomarkers in body fluids that are associated with a broad spectrum of bacterial and viral infections and diseases. Lately, the development of miniaturized sensor technologies, wearable technologies and big data analysis have opened new avenues for improving healthcare quality while lowering costs through early detection and prevention of fatal and chronic diseases (Tricoli et al. 2017). There are several types of technologies that have been developed or currently in developmental phases for the measurement of key biomarkers without the use of invasive procedures. These technologies can be used through contact (tear fluid, saliva, sweat and digestive system analysis) or contactless (breath and perspiration analysis, and optical sensors) approaches in the human body (Tricoli et al. 2017).

4.4 Sensor Technologies for Nonvolatile Biomarkers

4.4.1 Tear Sensors

Human tears contain over 1500 proteins which can be used as biomarkers for a broad spectrum of viral and bacterial infections and diseases (Tricoli et al. 2017). It can be used to detect glucose levels with a limit of detection (LOD) of 1.5×10^{-6} M in individuals displaying symptoms of diabetes using amperometric glucose biosensor/ capillary tube configuration sensing technology (Yan et al. 2011). Theranostic contact lens have a dual-functional hybrid surface to modulate and detect a pathogenic attack, and studies have found them useful in detecting interleukin-1 α levels, a biomarker for detecting pathogenic infections, with an LOD of 1.43 pg/ml (Mak et al. 2015). Lactoferrin, a biomarker for Sjögren's syndrome, can also be detected using an alkaline microfluidic homogeneous immunoassay, with an LOD of 3×10^{-9} M (Karns and Herr 2011).

4.4.2 Saliva Sensors

The CD59 glycoprotein, also known as MAC-inhibitory protein (MAC-IP), membrane inhibitor of reactive lysis (MIRL) or protectin is a useful biomarker for oral cancer diagnosis. CD59 can be detected in saliva using the CD 59 targeted ultrasensitive electrochemical immunosensor, with an LOD of 0.38 fg/ml (Choudhary et al. 2016). Cytokeratin 19 fragment (CYRFA 21-1) can also be used as a biomarker for oral cancer diagnosis and can be detected in saliva using a nanostructured zirconia decorated reduced graphene oxide-based efficient biosensing platform. The LOD for CYRFA 21-1 using this sensing technology is 0.122 ng/ml (Kumar et al. 2016). Diabetic kidney disease can also be detected by monitoring salivary chloride levels using the Sudoscan®, a device that uses electrochemical skin conductance to measure sweat gland dysfunction. and chronoamperometry. The LOD for chloride using this technology is 300 mg/g (Freedman et al. 2015). Salivary glucose levels can be detected as well using electrochemical biosensor based on bioenzyme and carbon nanotubes incorporated into an osmium-complex thin film with an LOD of 0.003 mM (Liu et al. 2016), electrochemical nanostructured biosensors (constructed by layering single-walled carbon nanotubes, gold, chitosan nanoparticles and glucose oxidase onto a screenprinted platinum electrode) with an LOD of 1.1 mg/dl (Du et al. 2016), and a novel disposable enzymatic electrochemiluminescent biosensor based on the sensitization from Au/TiO2 nanocomposite with an LOD of 0.22 μ M (Yu et al. 2016).

4.4.3 Sweat Sensors

found human samples А study sweat can be used to detect 1-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (levodopa or L-dopa), a medication used for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Using a monolithic silica disk-packed spin column and the high-performance liquid chromatography-electrochemical detection system, the authors were able to detect L-dopa levels as low as 5 nmol/l. This sensing technology has proven to be useful in understanding the metabolism of L-dopa (Tsunoda et al. 2015). Glucose can also be detected in sweat using an artificial neural network trained by the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm (glucose LOD is 83 mg/dl) (Saraoğlu and Kocan 2010) and a dual-enzyme biosensor composed of glucose oxidase and pistol-like DNAzyme (glucose LOD is 720 µM) (Liu et al. 2015).

4.5 Sensor Technologies for Volatile Biomarkers

4.5.1 Breath Sensors

Acetone is a diabetes-specific breath marker that may aid in the monitoring of hyperglycemia-related metabolic disorders. Silicon-doped tungsten oxide nanoparticle films were shown to have the potential of being good portable acetone detectors, with LOD of 30 ppb (Righettoni and Tricoli 2011). Ammonia, a biomarker of liver failure, can be detected using chemoresistive nanometal oxide semiconductors (MO_x) (ammonia LOD is 50 ppb) (Gouma et al. 2009) and the p-n oxide semiconductor heterostructure (n-type In_2O_3 and p-type NiO) (ammonia LOD is 10 ppb) (Sun and Dutta 2016). Helicobacter pylori infections are the cause of gastritis or a peptic ulcer and can be detected by the presence of n-butanone in the breath. Chemoresistive graphene and ZnO nanorod electrodes can diagnose H. pylori by detecting n-butanone, with LOD of 500 ppb (Weng et al. 2016). Hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) and nitric oxide (NO) are biomarkers for asthma and lung injury, respectively and can be detected using a high performance chemiresistive electronic nose based on an array of metal-catalyzed thin films, metal oxide thin films and nanostructured thin films (H₂S LOD is 534 ppt and NO LOD is 206 ppt) (Moon et al. 2016). Trimethylamine is a biomarker for chronic kidney disease and can be detected using gas chromatography with mass-spectral detection coupled with thermal desorption method, with LOD of 1.76 ppb (Grabowska-Polanowska et al. 2013). Diagnosis of ovarian carcinoma can be done using a chemoresistive flexible gold nanoparticlebased sensor array that detects biomarkers of ovarian cancer, including cyclooctatetraene, hexamethylacetone, 2-ethylhexanol, 2-heptanone, menthol and hexadecane, with LOD of 400 ppb (Kahn et al. 2015).

4.5.2 Skin Perspiration Sensors

Glucose and acetone, biomarkers for diabetes, can also be detected in skin perspiration using mid-infrared pulsed photoacoustic spectroscopy (glucose LOD is 50 mg/dl) (Pleitez et al. 2013) and chemoresistive metal oxide semiconductors (MO_x) with zeolite concentrators (acetone LOD is 10 ppb) (Yamada et al. 2015), respectively. Optical coherence tomography can be used to detect carbon dioxide, a biomarker for respiratory monitoring, with LOD of 60 ppb (Chatterjee et al. 2015).

4.5.3 Digestive System Sensors

Lactic acid and pyruvic acid are biomarkers for gastric cancer and can be detected using an electrochemical L-lactic acid sensor based on immobilized ZnO nanorods with lactate oxidase, with LOD of 0.1 μ M (Ibupoto et al. 2012). Esophageal cancer (malonic acid and L-serine), gastric cancer (3-hydroxypropionic acid and pyruvic acid) and colorectal cancer (L-alanine, glucuronic lactone and L-glutamine) biomarkers were detected in serum samples using gas chromatography and mass spectrometry, with LOD of 50 μ M (Ikeda et al. 2012). Amperometric biosensor based on nanoporous nickel/boron-doped diamond film technology is also used for the detection of L-alanine, a biomarker for colorectal cancer, with LOD of 0.01 μ M (Dai et al. 2014).

4.6 Wearable Technology and Smart Clothing

Smart wearables, including smart watches and fitness bands, and sensor-integrated smart clothing have rapidly gained popularity, particularly in the sectors of personalized healthcare, fitness and sports (Ahsan et al. 2022). There are several types of wearable technologies that can be used to monitor different body parameters and biosignals such as smart jewelry, smart watches, fitness trackers, brain activity tracker, smart belt, smart shoes, smart socks, smart baby garment, smart T-shirt and smart leggings (Ahsan et al. 2022). The different bio-signals in the human body that can be detected using smart wearables can be classified as bioelectrical (electrocardiogram (ECG), electroglottograph (EGG), electroencephalograph (EEG) and electromyograph (EMG)), biochemical (glucose, lactate metabolites, etc.), bioacoustics (phonocardiogram), biothermal (surface temperature), biomagnetic (magnetoencephalography, magnetogastrography, magnetoneurography and magnetocardiogram), biomechanical (blood pressure and murmurs, rubs and gallops) and bio-optical (optical parametric generation) (Ahsan et al. 2022; Muhammad Sayem et al. 2020).

Several smart clothing has been developed that has sensors and signals attached to them, including ECG, EMG, EEG, triaxle accelerometer and gyroscope, and

acromion sensor that monitors burn rate, energy, sweat, temperature, breathing patterns and physical stress levels (Meyer et al. 2010), heart rate variability and mental stress (Joshi et al. 2016; Zaffalon Júnior et al. 2018), sleep disorders (Liang and Nishimura 2017), respiration rate and blood pressure (Abtahi et al. 2015; Brady et al. 2005), rehabilitating shoulders (Wang et al. 2017) and rehabilitation process of osteoarthritis patients (Spulber et al. 2015). Ambient, physiological and motion sensors and signals are also found in smart T-shirts to detect inactive lifestyle using machine learn (Kańtoch 2018).

Smart T-shirt garments, consisting of knitted sensors, and shimmer sensors to detect ECG and accelerometer data, have also been developed specifically for the elderly to monitor heart rate, heart attack and stroke symptoms (Burns et al. 2012; Frydrysiak and Tesiorowski 2016). Smart socks contain Lilypad Arduino sensors that can monitor temperature, oxygen saturation, heart rate and heart rate variation (García et al. 2018). Wearable computers and smart clothing are also equipped with textrodes and motion sensors to monitor physiological and neuropsychological conditions and musculoskeletal fatigue limits (Scataglini et al. 2015; Friedl 2018).

5 Technological Advances for the Preventive Medicine and Healthcare Practice for Future Smart Society 5.0

For the fact that the recent Covid pandemic contact-tracing activities enabled health personnel to reach normally hard-to-reach populations, it gives promise that the political will to commit the right resources can help to predict or identify where the disease risks are and what health prevention interventions are needed to respond to mitigate the risk for preventive medicine even for the poorly, disadvantaged communities. The latter require all possible strategies and interventions for disease prevention.

5.1 Use of Technology for Continuous Contact Between Individuals and Healthcare Providers for Preventive Medicine

One of the pitfalls of (traditional) effective preventive medicine is its dependency on the uptake, responsibility and ownership by individuals, at preclinical and subclinical phases where individuals presume a state of well-being and therefore do not feel the need to engage in health-check activities. Of importance in this is the level of literacy in general and health-illiteracy. To bridge this gap, technologies that will enable continuous communication loops between an individual and the healthcare system, big data analysis application from sources such as wearable technologies that monitor health indicators (Fig. 1) such as blood pressure, cholesterol and biomarker levels can be used. For super Society 5.0, early inception of data collection (from birth), exploiting the power of technological and computational advances, information explosion and big data analytics can provide opportunities for early warning signs in disease prevention and the feedback loop from healthcare provider will ensure that the individual receives relevant information for corrective prevention behavior change wherever they are, at all levels of literacy.

Finally, integration of data collected from birth to death, that includes personal genomic profile, EHR, daily monitoring data from wearable technologies including lifestyle and environmental pollutant exposure and sociodemographic data to formulate P4 medicine (personalized, predictive, preventive and participatory) medicine (Hood 2013). This approach for the smart society (Society 5.0) will enable prediction of disease susceptibly, early detection of pathological changes for early treatment and the appropriate implementation of primary and secondary prevention of disease. Regular interval feedback interactions between individuals and healthcare providers, facilitated through an electronic feedback application for interpretation of data analyzed through machine learning will ensure that all individuals are constantly updated about their health status as interpreted and warned by the healthcare providers. It is assumed that as more individuals engage in disease prevention activities and take responsibility for their overall well-being, the health system and healthcare personnel will no longer be overburdened. Subsequently more time and effort can be spent in P4 activities (Fig. 1).

At population level, the data can be collated for population public health for both communicable and noncommunicable diseases to achieve maximal benefits, wide coverage and hence higher impact to prevent both communicable and noncommunicable diseases (Canfell et al. 2022a).

6 Limitations and Challenges

6.1 Adverse Effects of Excessive Technology Use

One of the drawbacks of the 4IR advances is technology addiction. This has been linked with a variety of negative outcomes ranging from eyestrain associated with head and neck pains, mental disorders such as impaired brain and cognitive development, impaired emotional and social intelligence, attention deficit hyperactive disorder, depression and anxiety, social isolation (Small et al. 2020). In young children, poor language development has been reported (Duch et al. 2013). Other challenges are associated with prolonged sedentary lifestyle due to long hours on the internet and smartphones with consequent diseases of lifestyle such as obesity (Aghasi et al. 2020). This suggests a double-edge sword where on the one hand the technology advancements may provide improvements in disease prevention and quality healthcare; on the other hand, unintended adverse effects result in more negative health outcomes.



Fig. 1 Schematic presentation of the tenets of preventive medicine approaches for Society 5.0

6.2 AI-Based Applications, Including Surgical Robots, Preventative Health Software Applications (Diagnostic, Drug Discover and Telemedicine) and Sensor Technologies for Biomarker Detection in Biofluids

The high financial cost associated with the use of AI-based applications (surgical robots, biomarker sensor technologies, and diagnostic, drug discovery and telemedicine software applications) is a major challenge, which will have a negative impact on people from rural communities and low-income backgrounds who do not have medical aid insurance and do not have access to a suitable smartphone, cellphone, tablet, internet or Wi-Fi to purchase and download these healthcare software. Furthermore, the majority of underdeveloped and developing countries are exposed to poverty and do not have adequate healthcare facilities and infrastructures to support the growth of technologically advanced AI-based preventative medicine practices which is a serious concern. As a result, there is an urgent need for more cost-effective solutions to tackle this issue. There is also a severe lack of research funding in underdeveloped and developing countries, which requires immediate attention from first-world research and innovation funding stakeholders to assist LMICs medical doctors, scientists and computer and software engineers and programmers in developing simple and cost-effective AI-based healthcare software's. Another issue is that almost all AI-based healthcare software developed to date has been transcribed into English which prompts the need for these software to be translated into all languages spoken globally.

6.3 Limitations and Adverse Impact on Biology and Human Behavior for Wearable Technologies

The neurological negative effects of technology gadgets causing brain and behavioral disorders (Small et al. 2020) raise concerns for wearable technologies. To date, little is known about how these smart wearables and other similar direct human contact technologies affect human biology and behavioral patterns. The majority of smart wearable devices communicate via Wi-Fi or Bluetooth which can be a health hazard. These devices transmit data via wireless technologies, which generate radio waves. The radio waves, however, can be hazardous to the users and those around them (Excellent Webworld 2022). Exposure to extremely high radiofrequency radiation intensities can cause biological tissue heating and an increase in body temperature. Tissue damage in humans could occur as a result of the body's inability to deal with or dissipate the excessive heat that could be generated (Federal Communications Commission 2022). Radiofrequency radiation emitted from mobile phones and computers was significantly associated with breast cancer development (RR = 2.057; 95% CI = 1.272 - 3.327) (Shih et al. 2021). We arable technologies can also have a negative impact on human behavior by producing attention deficit and aggressive individuals who are overly reliant on social notifications and nudges to execute daily tasks and activities (Ranchordás 2020).

There are also several challenges and limitations associated with wearable technology and smart clothing that need to be addressed and improved on as follows:

6.3.1 Technical Issues

Noisy physiological signals from sensors due to motion artifacts can lead to inaccurate predictions of health status. Discontinuous sensor signals can also occur due to malfunctioning of sensors and inappropriate attachment of sensors to clothing. Sensors in smart clothing lack flexibility, foldability and adjustability, which could lead to inaccurate physiological data collection. Wearable devices lack selfpowering and utilize several technologies, wireless networks and GPS which makes them more prone to shorter battery life and power failure. Smart clothing lacks a suitable user interface and universal operating system software which pose a challenge in presenting the monitored physiological parameters to the end-users. Security and privacy of big data is another concern since wearable technology are prone to be hacked by cybercriminals, leading to a breach in users personal data and information (Ahsan et al. 2022; Fernández-Caramés and Fraga-Lamas 2018; Chen et al. 2017; Brioude et al. 2007; Fernández-Caramés et al. 2018; Bove 2019; Carpi and De Rossi 2005; Chen et al. 2016).

6.3.2 Durability

Smart clothing is particularly susceptible to frequent failure due to complex processing techniques used in sensor development and embedding, which raises concerns about its dependability in use. They also have a shorter lifetime in the market due to the short lifespan and durability of most sensors and materials used to manufacture them, and are difficult to maintain since human sweat and thermal regulation, and washing with water can damage the embedded electronics (Ahsan et al. 2022; Fernández-Caramés and Fraga-Lamas 2018; Chen et al. 2017; Muhammad Sayem et al. 2020; Paul et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2016).

6.3.3 Social Acceptability, Especially for Low-Income Individuals

A major issue with these advancements is the huge financial burden associated with purchasing wearable technologies and smart clothing, which will negatively impact individuals from low- and middle-income households. Furthermore, the majority of people from poor socioeconomic backgrounds and residing in rural areas do not have access to the internet and Wi-Fi which is a challenge since wearable technology and smart clothing heavily rely on connectivity networks to communicate the monitored physiological parameters to the user. Another challenge is the lack of awareness about the latest technological developments in preventative medicine, the high cost associated with purchasing smart fabric and the need for smart clothing to be fashionably trendy to appeal to the younger generation, as well as to suit different cultures, ethnicities or dress codes (Mokhtarian and Tang 2013; Ching and Singh 2016; Chen et al. 2016; Ahsan et al. 2022).

The current global energy crisis, caused by energy supply underinvestment, Russian-Ukraine conflict and weather extremes, have led to "affordability crisis" caused by record high energy bills and "energy supply crisis" owing to lack of fuels and power (S&P Global 2022). Higher energy prices have contributed to excruciatingly high inflation, pushed families into poverty, forced some factories to reduce output or even shut down, and slowed economic growth to the point where some countries are on the verge of a severe recession (International Energy Agency 2022). The dwindling global energy supply will adversely impact the 4IR's Big data and AI, advancements for the Precision Public Health and faster attainment of SDGs. Also, AI-based healthcare software and Wi-Fi heavily rely on constant power to function which is a serious concern and issue to address.

Furthermore, the advantages and convenience brought in by technological advances, big data and AI also bring about a myriad of challenges that are not yet fully understood by medics and academics and clarified by lawmakers. One such issue is lack of clarity on who owns the patient health records data, how and when can it be used, should it be governed by propriety law or ethics bodies, particularly when there are issues of tech companies commercializing healthcare data (Liddell et al. 2021). The blurred legal framework on patients' rights and ownership, ethics of data usage and commercialization is also getting out of control with resultant class action, such as that between Google and University of Chicago where patient data was shared without adequately complying with the ethics of privacy (protection of patient data) (Wakabayashi 2020).

In summary, the overall limitations for taking full advantage of the 4IR's Big data and AI, advancements for the Precision Public Health and faster attainment of SDGs (a better Society 5.0 for all at all ages) particularly for LMICs are the prohibitive cost of resourcing this noble initiative, advanced data storage/cloud space infrastructures required to safely and securely store Big data generated from AI-based software and poverty. Another limitation is health illiteracy. People with limited health literacy are more likely to have chronic medical conditions and challenges in managing them, tend to avoid vital medical tests, less likely to follow treatment regimes, have a higher rate of hospital and emergency room stays and have higher mortality rates (Liu et al. 2020). Based on human rights, particularly the right to access to health, if all governments were to approach preventive medicine exclusively by 4IR and AI, under the current inequities, those who need these health interventions most, would be inadvertently excluded.

7 Concluding Remarks

The current cost of 4IR technological advances makes them exclusive for the rich populations. They are financially prohibitive, unscalable and therefore unsustainable particularly in LMIC where they are most needed. If governments in these countries make collective and conscientious efforts to invest more in preventive medicine exploiting the power of modern technology, AI and big data analytics, the long-term return on these investments outweighs current financial burden of disease treatment risks. Through very early detection, control and prevention of disease, healthcare costs will be kept at minimum. Important innovative actions are required, in the contexts of the inclusivity principle of SDGs plus literacy levels and economic challenges of LMICs. With appropriate level of commitment and careful budget

planning, the full potential of opportunities offered by the 4IR, CPS and big data analytics can achieve unmeasurable long-term benefits in prevention of disease and reduction of healthcare costs for LMICs. This can be achieved through application of smart society principles both at individual (personalized, predictive, preventive and participatory medicine (Hood 2013) as well as precision public medicine (Canfell et al. 2022a, b). While this ideal is pursued, careful consideration for issues of human rights and privacy, security, safety, oversight, resource allocation and energy crisis must be attended to.

References

- Abtahi F, Ji G, Lu K, Rödby K, Seoane F (2015) A knitted garment using intarsia technique for heart rate variability biofeedback: evaluation of initial prototype. In: 37th annual international conference of the IEEE engineering in medicine and biology society (EMBC). IEEE, pp 3121–3124
- Aghasi M, Matinfar A, Golzarand M, Salari-Moghaddam A, Ebrahimpour-Koujan S (2020 Mar 1) Internet use in relation to overweight and obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies. Adv Nutr 11(2):349–356. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmz073
- Ahsan M, Teay SH, Sayem ASM, Albarbar A (2022) Smart clothing framework for health monitoring applications. Signals 3:113–145
- Apte JS, Marshall JD, Cohen AJ, Brauer M (2015) Addressing global mortality from ambient PM2. 5. Environ Sci Technol 49(13):8057–8066
- Aung YYM, Wong DCS, Ting DSW (2021) The promise of artificial intelligence: a review of the opportunities and challenges of artificial intelligence in healthcare. Br Med Bull 139(1):4–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldab016
- Babalola D, Anayo M, Itoya DA (2021) Telehealth during COVID-19: why sub-Saharan Africa is yet to log-in to virtual healthcare? IMS Med Sci 8(1):46–55. https://doi.org/10.3934/medsci. 2021006
- Beck LR, Rodriguez MH, Dister SW et al (1994 Sep) Remote sensing as a landscape epidemiologic tool to identify villages at high risk for malaria transmission. Am J Trop Med Hyg 51(3): 271–280. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1994.51.271
- Bove LA (2019) Increasing patient engagement through the use of wearable technology. J Nurse Pract 15:535–539
- Brady S, Dunne LE, Tynan R, Diamond D, Smyth B, O'Hare GM (2005) Garment-based monitoring of respiration rate using a foam pressure sensor. In: Ninth IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC'05). IEEE, pp 214–215
- Brioude MDM, Guimarães DH, Fiúza RDP, Prado LASDA, Boaventura JS, José NM (2007) Synthesis and characterization of aliphatic polyesters from glycerol, by-product of biodiesel production, and adipic acid. Mater Res 10:335–339
- Built In (2022) 43 AI in healthcare examples improving the future of medicine. https://builtin.com/ artificial-intelligence/artificial-intelligence-healthcare. Accessed 15 November 2022
- Burns WP, Nugent CD, Mccullagh PJ, Finlay DD, Cleland I, Scotney BW, Mcclean SI, Mccann J, Gueldenring D (2012) Evaluation of a technology enabled garment for older walkers. In: 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE, pp 2100–2103
- Bustreo F, Stone V (2016) WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data: Innov8 approach for reviewing national health programmes to leave no one behind: technical handbook. WHO, Rome, Italy
- Canfell OJ, Kodiyattu Z, Eakin E et al (2022a) Real-world data for precision public health of noncommunicable diseases: a scoping review. BMC Public Health 22:2166. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12889-022-14452-7
- Canfell OJ, Davidson K, Woods L, Sullivan C, Cocoros NM, Klompas M et al (2022b) Precision public health for non-communicable diseases: an emerging strategic roadmap and multinational use cases. Front Public Health 10:854525
- Carpi F, De Rossi D (2005) Electroactive polymer-based devices for e-textiles in biomedicine. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 9:295–318
- Charkawi Z (2019) Preventive medicine. John Creeks Preventive and Family Medicine. https:// johnscreekfamilypractice.com/about-dr-charkawi/. Accessed 23 November 2022
- Chatterjee M, Ge X, Kostov Y, Luu P, Tolosa L, Woo H, Viscardi R, Falk S, Potts R, Rao G (2015) A rate-based transcutaneous CO₂ sensor for noninvasive respiration monitoring. Physiol Meas 36:883
- Chen M, Ma Y, Song J, Lai C-F, Hu B (2016) Smart clothing: connecting human with clouds and big data for sustainable health monitoring. Mobile Netw Appl 21:825–845
- Chen M, Ma Y, Li Y, Wu D, Zhang Y, Youn C-H (2017) Wearable 2.0: enabling human-cloud integration in next generation healthcare systems. IEEE Commun Mag 55:54–61
- Ching KW, Singh MM (2016) Wearable technology devices security and privacy vulnerability analysis. Int J Netw Secur Appl 8:19–30
- Choudhary M, Yadav P, Singh A, Kaur S, Ramirez-Vick J, Chandra P, Arora K, Singh SP (2016) CD 59 targeted ultrasensitive electrochemical immunosensor for fast and noninvasive diagnosis of oral cancer. Electroanalysis 28:2565–2574
- Cocoros NM, Kirby C, Zambarano B, Ochoa A, Eberhardt K, Rocchio Sb C et al (2021) RiskScape: a data visualization and aggregation platform for public health surveillance using routine electronic health record data. Am J Public Health 111(2):269–276
- Dai W, Li M, Li H, Yang B (2014) Amperometric biosensor based on nanoporous nickel/borondoped diamond film for electroanalysis of L-alanine. Sensors Actuators B Chem 201:31–36
- Dimaio S, Hanuschik M, Kreaden U (2011) The da Vinci surgical system. In: Surgical robotics. Springer, New York
- Dimri D, Nautiyal S (2020) Dental robotics-get going. Int J Sci Healthc Res 5:424-426
- Du Y, Zhang W, Wang ML (2016) Sensing of salivary glucose using nano-structured biosensors. Biosensors 6:10
- Duch H, Fisher EM, Ensari I et al (2013) Association of screen time use and language development in Hispanic toddlers: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 52(9): 857–865
- Excellent WebWorld (2022) Pros & cons of smart wearable technology for various industries. https://www.excellentwebworld.com/wearable-technology-pros-and-cons/. Accessed 20 December 2022
- Faruque FS, Finley RW (2016) Geographic medical history: advances in geospatial technology present new potentials in medical practice. In: The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, Volume XLI-B8, 2016 XXIII ISPRS Congress, 12–19 July 2016, Prague, Czech Republic
- FDA (2021, September 21) News release. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/ fda-authorizes-software-can-help-identify-prostate-cancer
- Federal Communications Commission (2022) RF safety FAQ: what biological effects can be caused by RF energy? https://www.fcc.gov/engineering-technology/electromagnetic-compatibilitydivision/radio-frequency-safety/faq/rf-safety#:~:text=Exposure%20to%20very%20high%20 RF,heat%20that%20could%20be%20generated. Accessed 20 December 2022
- Fernández-Caramés TM, Fraga-Lamas P (2018) Towards the Internet of smart clothing: a review on IoT wearables and garments for creating intelligent connected e-textiles. Electronics 7:405
- Fernández-Caramés TM, Fraga-Lamas P, Suárez-Albela M, Vilar-Montesinos M (2018) A fog computing and cloudlet based augmented reality system for the industry 4.0 shipyard. Sensors 18:1798

- Freedman BI, Smith SC, Bagwell BM, Xu J, Bowden DW, Divers J (2015) Electrochemical skin conductance in diabetic kidney disease. Am J Nephrol 41:438–447
- Friedl KE (2018) Military applications of soldier physiological monitoring. J Sci Med Sport 21: 1147–1153
- Frydrysiak M, Tesiorowski L (2016) Health monitoring system for protecting elderly people. In: International multidisciplinary conference on computer and energy science (SpliTech), 2016. IEEE, pp 1–6
- García L, Parra L, Jimenez JM, Lloret J (2018) Physical wellbeing monitoring employing non-invasive low-cost and low-energy sensor socks. Sensors 18:2822
- Gouma P, Kalyanasundaram K, Yun X, Stanacevic M, Wang L (2009) Nanosensor and breath analyzer for ammonia detection in exhaled human breath. IEEE Sensors J 10:49–53
- Grabowska-Polanowska B, Faber J, Skowron M, Miarka P, Pietrzycka A, Śliwka I, Amann A (2013) Detection of potential chronic kidney disease markers in breath using gas chromatography with mass-spectral detection coupled with thermal desorption method. J Chromatogr A 1301:179–189
- Grutter P (2022) Mako SmartRobotics[™] for total knee replacement. https://gruttermd.com/roboticknee-replacement-dr-paul-grutter-md. Accessed 24 November 2022
- Hagn U, Konietschke R, Tobergte A, Nickl M, Jörg S, Kübler B, Passig G, Gröger M, Fröhlich F, Seibold U (2010) DLR MiroSurge: a versatile system for research in endoscopic telesurgery. Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg 5:183–193
- Hood L (2013) Systems biology and P4 medicine: past, present, and future. Rambam Maimonides Med J 4(2):e0012. https://doi.org/10.5041/RMMJ.10112
- Ibupoto ZH, Ali Shah SMU, Khun K, Willander M (2012) Electrochemical L-lactic acid sensor based on immobilized ZnO nanorods with lactate oxidase. Sensors 12:2456–2466
- Ikeda A, Nishiumi S, Shinohara M, Yoshie T, Hatano N, Okuno T, Bamba T, Fukusaki E, Takenawa T, Azuma T (2012) Serum metabolomics as a novel diagnostic approach for gastrointestinal cancer. Biomed Chromatogr 26:548–558
- Imran A, Posokhova I, Qureshi HN, Masood U, Riaz S, Ali K, John CN, Hussain I, Nabeel M (2020) AI4COVID-19: AI enabled preliminary diagnosis for COVID-19 from cough samples via an app. Inform Med Unlocked [Online]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imu.2020.100378
- International Energy Agency (2022) Global energy crisis. https://www.iea.org/topics/globalenergy-crisis. Accessed 18 January 2022
- Joshi J, Kurian D, Bhasin S, Mukherjee S, Awasthi P, Sharma S, Mittal S (2016) Health monitoring using wearable sensor and cloud computing. In: 2016 International Conference on Cybernetics, Robotics and Control (CRC). IEEE, pp 104–108
- Kachienga O (2008) Technological innovations in health care: challenges of managing telehealth Technology in South Africa. IEE Xplore. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMCE.2008.4617976
- Kahn N, Lavie O, Paz M, Segev Y, Haick H (2015) Dynamic nanoparticle-based flexible sensors: diagnosis of ovarian carcinoma from exhaled breath. Nano Lett 15:7023–7028
- Kandwal R, Augustijn EW, Stein A et al (2010) Geospatial analysis of HIV-related social stigma: a study of tested females across mandals of Andhra Pradesh in India. Int J Health Geogr 9:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-9-18
- Kaneko N, Boucau J, Kuo HH, Perugino C, Mahajan VS, Farmer JR, Liu H, Diefenbach TJ, Piechocka-Trocha A, Lefteri K, Waring MT, Premo KR, Walker BD, Li JZ, Gaiha G, Yu XG, Lichterfeld M, Padera RF Jr, Pillai S (2022) Temporal changes in T cell subsets and expansion of cytotoxic CD4+ T cells in the lungs in severe COVID-19. Clin Immunol 237:108991. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2022.108991
- Kańtoch E (2018) Recognition of sedentary behavior by machine learning analysis of wearable sensors during activities of daily living for telemedical assessment of cardiovascular risk. Sensors 18:3219
- Karns K, Herr AE (2011) Human tear protein analysis enabled by an alkaline microfluidic homogeneous immunoassay. Anal Chem 83:8115–8122

- Kilby, W., Naylor, M., Dooley, J. R., Maurer Jr, C. R. & Sayeh, S. 2020. A technical overview of the CyberKnife system. Handbook of robotic and image-guided surgery, Elsevier 15–38
- Kisling LA, Das MJ (2022) Prevention strategies. [Updated 2022 May 8]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island, FL. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537222/. Accessed 23 November 2022
- Kumar S, Sharma JG, Maji S, Malhotra BD (2016) Nanostructured zirconia decorated reduced graphene oxide based efficient biosensing platform for non-invasive oral cancer detection. Biosens Bioelectron 78:497–504
- Liang Z, Nishimura T (2017) Are wearable EEG devices more accurate than fitness wristbands for home sleep tracking? Comparison of consumer sleep trackers with clinical devices. In: 2017 IEEE 6th global conference on consumer electronics (GCCE), 2017. IEEE, pp 1–5
- Liddell K, Simon DA, Lucassen A (2021) Patient data ownership: who owns your health? J Law Biosci 8(2):lsab023. https://doi.org/10.1093/jlb/lsab023
- Liow MHL, Chin PL, Pang HN, Tay DK-J, Yeo S-J (2017) THINK surgical TSolution-One® (Robodoc) total knee arthroplasty. SICOT J 3:63
- Liu C, Sheng Y, Sun Y, Feng J, Wang S, Zhang J, Xu J, Jiang D (2015) A glucose oxidase-coupled DNAzyme sensor for glucose detection in tears and saliva. Biosens Bioelectron 70:455–461
- Liu J, Sun S, Shang H, Lai J, Zhang L (2016) Electrochemical biosensor based on bienzyme and carbon nanotubes incorporated into an Os-complex thin film for continuous glucose detection in human saliva. Electroanalysis 28:2016–2021
- Liu C, Wang D, Liu C, Jiang J, Wang X, Chen H, Ju X, Zhang X (2020) What is the meaning of health literacy? A systematic review and qualitative synthesis. Fam Med Commun Health 8: e000351. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2020-000351
- Liu HG, Liu DF, Zhang K, Meng FG, Yang AC, Zhang JG (2021) Clinical application of a neurosurgical robot in intracranial ommaya reservoir implantation. Front Neurorobot 15:638633. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbot.2021.638633
- Lopez A, Murray C (1998) The global burden of disease, 1990–2020. Nat Med 4:1241–1243. https://doi.org/10.1038/3218
- Mak WC, Cheung KY, Orban J, Lee C-J, Turner AP, Griffith M (2015) Surface-engineered contact lens as an advanced theranostic platform for modulation and detection of viral infection. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7:25487–25494
- Mao G, Gigliotti MJ, Myers D, Yu A, Whiting D (2020) Single-surgeon direct comparison of O-arm neuronavigation versus Mazor X robotic-guided posterior spinal instrumentation. World Neurosurg 137:e278–e285
- Martins C, Godycki-Cwirko M, Heleno B, Brodersen J (2018) Quaternary prevention: reviewing the concept. Eur J Gen Pract 24(1):106–111
- Mattheis S, Hasskamp P, Holtmann L, Schäfer C, Geisthoff U, Dominas N, Lang S (2017) Flex robotic system in transoral robotic surgery: the first 40 patients. Head Neck 39:471–475
- Meshcheryakova A, Mungenast F, Ecker R, Mechtcheriakova D (2021) Tissue image cytometry. Chapter I.2.h. In: Walter A, Mannheim JG, Caruana CJ (eds) Imaging modalities for biological and preclinical research: a compendium, vol 1. IOP Publishing
- Meyer J, Arnrich B, Schumm J, Troster G (2010) Design and modeling of a textile pressure sensor for sitting posture classification. IEEE Sensors J 10:1391–1398
- Mokhtarian PL, Tang WL (2013) Trivariate probit models of pre-purchase/purchase shopping channel choice: clothing purchases in northern California. In: Choice modelling. Edward Elgar Publishing
- Moon HG, Jung Y, Han SD, Shim Y-S, Shin B, Lee T, Kim J-S, Lee S, Jun SC, Park H-H (2016) Chemiresistive electronic nose toward detection of biomarkers in exhaled breath. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:20969–20976
- Muhammad Sayem AS, Hon Teay S, Shahariar H, Luise Fink P, Albarbar A (2020) Review on smart electro-clothing systems (SeCSs). Sensors 20:587
- Mungenast F, Fernando A, Nica R, Boghiu B, Lungu B, Batra J, Ecker RC (2021) Next-generation digital histopathology of the tumor microenvironment. Genes 12(4):538

- Paige (2022) Transforming cancer diagnostics. https://paige.ai/#:~:text=Paige%20Prostate%20is% 20a%20suite,samples%20from%20the%20prostate%20tissue. Accessed 20 December 2022
- Paul G, Torah R, Yang K, Beeby S, Tudor J (2014) An investigation into the durability of screenprinted conductive tracks on textiles. Meas Sci Technol 25:025006
- Petrone J (2018) FDA approves stroke-detecting AI software. Nat Biotechnol 36:290
- Pleitez MA, Lieblein T, Bauer A, Hertzberg O, Von Lilienfeld-Toal H, Mäntele W (2013) In vivo noninvasive monitoring of glucose concentration in human epidermis by mid-infrared pulsed photoacoustic spectroscopy. Anal Chem 85:1013–1020
- Ranchordás S (2020) Nudging citizens through technology in smart cities. Int Rev Law Comput Technol 34(3):254–276. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600869.2019.1590928
- Razzak MI, Imran M, Guandong XG (2019) Big data analytics for preventive medicine. Neural Comput & Applic 2020(32):4417–4451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00521-019-04095-y
- Righettoni M, Tricoli A (2011) Toward portable breath acetone analysis for diabetes detection. J Breath Res 5:037109
- Ritchie LMP, Khan S, Moore JE et al (2016) Low- and middle-income countries face many common barriers to implementation of maternal health evidence products. J Clin Epidemiol 76:229–237
- Roberts DR, Rodriguez MH (1994) The environment, remote sensing, and malaria control. Ann N Y Acad Sci 740:396–402
- S&P Global (2022) Global trade: the energy crisis is reshaping power sector policies worldwide. https://www.spglobal.com/en/research-insights/featured/markets-in-motion/an-expandingglobal-energy-crisis. Accessed 18 January 2023
- Saraoğlu HM, Koçan M (2010) A study on non-invasive detection of blood glucose concentration from human palm perspiration by using artificial neural networks. Expert Syst 27:156–165
- Scataglini S, Andreoni G, Gallant J (2015) A review of smart clothing in military. In: Proceedings of the 2015 workshop on Wearable Systems and Applications, pp 53–54
- Shakya R, Nguyen TH, Waterhouse N, Khanna R (2020) Immune contexture analysis in immunooncology: applications and challenges of multiplex fluorescent immunohistochemistry. Clin Transl Immunol 9(10):e1183. https://doi.org/10.1002/cti2.1183
- Shih YW, O'Brien AP, Hung CS, Chen KH, Hou WH, Tsai HT (2021) Exposure to radiofrequency radiation increases the risk of breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Exp Ther Med 21(1):23. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2020.9455
- Silver L, Smith A, Johnson C, Jiang J, Anderson MRL (2019) Use of smartphones and social media is common across most emerging economies. https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/03/0 7/use-of-smartphones-and-social-media-is-common-across-most-emerging-economies/. Accessed 23 November 2022
- Small GW, Lee J, Kaufman A, Jalil J, Siddarth P, Gaddipati H, Moody TD, Bookheimer SY (2020) Brain health consequences of digital technology use. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 22(2):179–187. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2020.22.2/gsmall
- Spulber I, Chen Y-M, Papi E, Anastasova-Ivanova S, Bergmann J, McGregor AH, Georgiou P (2015) Live demonstration: wearable electronics for a smart garment aiding rehabilitation. In: 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), 2015. IEEE, p 1912
- Sun C, Dutta PK (2016) Selective detection of part per billion concentrations of ammonia using apn semiconducting oxide heterostructure. Sensors Actuators B Chem 226:156–169
- The WHO Constitution (1946). https://www.who.int/about/governance/constitution. Accessed 23 November 2022
- Thimbleby H (2013) Technology and the future of healthcare. J Public Health Res 2(3):e28. https:// doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2013.e28
- Thomas J, McNabb S (2019) Principles and ethics of collecting and managing health data. In: Macfarlane S, AbouZahr C (eds) The Palgrave handbook of global health data methods for policy and practice. Palgrave Macmillan, London
- Tricoli A, Nasiri N, De S (2017) Wearable and miniaturized sensor technologies for personalized and preventive medicine. Adv Funct Mater 27:1605271

- Tsunoda M, Hirayama M, Tsuda T, Ohno K (2015) Noninvasive monitoring of plasma l-dopa concentrations using sweat samples in Parkinson's disease. Clin Chim Acta 442:52–55
- Wakabayashi D (2020, March 26) Google and the University of Chicago are sued over data sharing. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/26/technology/google-university-chi cago-data-sharing-lawsuit.html. Accessed 18 January 2023
- Wang Q, De Baets L, Timmermans A, Chen W, Giacolini L, Matheve T, Markopoulos P (2017) Motor control training for the shoulder with smart garments. Sensors 17:1687
- Weng Y-C, Yang Y-H, Lu I-T (2016) Detection of 2-butanone for the diagnosis of helicobacter pylori using graphene and ZnO nanorod electrodes. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 16:7077–7084
- Yamada Y, Hiyama S, Toyooka T, Takeuchi S, Itabashi K, Okubo T, Tabata H (2015) Ultratrace measurement of acetone from skin using zeolite: toward development of a wearable monitor of fat metabolism. Anal Chem 87:7588–7594
- Yan Q, Peng B, Su G, Cohan BE, Major TC, Meyerhoff ME (2011) Measurement of tear glucose levels with amperometric glucose biosensor/capillary tube configuration. Anal Chem 83:8341– 8346
- Yu L, Wei X, Fang C, Tu Y (2016) A disposable biosensor for noninvasive diabetic diagnosis rest on the Au/TiO2 nano-composite intensified electrochemiluminescence. Electrochim Acta 211: 27–35
- Zaffalon Júnior JR, Viana AO, De Melo GEL, De Angelis K (2018) The impact of sedentarism on heart rate variability (HRV) at rest and in response to mental stress in young women. Physiol Rep 6:e13873

Internet of Things in Society 5.0 and the Democratization of Healthcare



Demetra Demetriou, Kgomotso Mathabe, Georgios Lolas, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract The application of the fourth industrial revolution will create a new society known as Society 5.0. This revolution will raise our standard of living and will solve many challenges currently faced. It will allow people to have access to medical advancements at a low cost. Innovations in medical science and technology allow patients to communicate with doctors anytime and anywhere. Simulators, such as virtual reality (VR) surgical simulators, will enable more advanced examinations and diagnoses. The knowledge and data can be combined into a sharable database improving medical technology and healthcare. Internet of Things (IoT) is a wireless, connected and intercalated system of devices that can send, store and collect data. IoT with the use of artificial intelligence (AI) will improve diagnostic accuracy. Through these technologies, healthcare and patient care can be improved. Medicine will become more precise, patients will become empowered, the value of medicine and medical care will shape delivery and digitalization will transform healthcare. Digitalization will allow patients to have a customized computational model of

D. Demetriou (🖂) · Z. Dlamini

Biomedical Design Integrate Computational & Mathematical Modelling Approaches (InCELLiA), Lavrion, Greece

Department of Internal Medicine, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

e-mail: glolas@med.uoa.gr

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: dd.demetriou@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

K. Mathabe

Department of Urology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: kgomotso.mathabe@up.ac.za

G. Lolas

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_5

themselves that will allow doctors to anticipate illness, guide therapy and improve diagnosis and prognosis. Expanding precision medicine will enable doctors to make highly specific diagnoses. Healthcare will be anticipatory in Society 5.0 and will be available anytime transforming care delivery. In this regard, the lay public will be able to have access to medical information that is evidence-based, personalized via AI algorithms and often outside the control of the healthcare system, representing the "democratization of healthcare." The challenge faced with using IoT is accessibility of data that can be misused to violate human rights and values such as privacy, security and safety in many countries especially those countries with low resources. There is also a major energy and resource crisis, especially in South Africa, that can lower the sustainability and use of IoT.

Keywords Internet of Things · Artificial Intelligence · Society 5.0 · Healthcare · Democratization of Healthcare · Technology · Empowered · Innovations · SDG · Human rights · Privacy · Safety · Security · Oversight · Energy and resource crisis

1 Introduction

Evolution is a natural process of the world and leads to the improvement of life and technologies. The progression of information and communications technology (ICT) is leading to major changes in industry and society (Fukuyama 2018). The history of each Society and the available healthcare has guided the way forward. Each Society strives to be better than the previous offering improved healthcare and survival in the medical field. Society 1.0 is known as the hunting society. People hunt and gather and coexist with nature. This was the birth of human beings. Society 2.0 is known as the agrarian society. These groups are based on nation-building, increasing organization and agricultural cultivation. It was also the start and development of irrigation techniques and the establishment of settlements. Society 3.0 is the industrial society that promotes industrialization through the industrial revolution. This Society provided the invention of steam locomotives and mass production. Society 4.0 is an information society that includes the use of AI and big data. This Society provided the invention of computers and the start of information distribution. Society 5.0 is a super smart society using advanced AI and robotics to improve living (Fig. 1). Developed countries are already implementing Society 5.0 technologies (UNESCO 2019) whereas developing countries still need to acquire the technology for Society 5.0 devices (de Hoyos Guevara et al. 2020). The progression of Society 5.0 is not synchronized and there is no linear progression of all at once.

Society 5.0 is a Japanese concept of a technology-based, human-centered society. Society 5.0 is an upgrade on the existing society that will better human existence through technology. It will rise from the fourth industrial revolution and show humans and machines coexisting together. Although Industrial Revolution 4.0 and Society 5.0 show a relationship, they address different issues. In Industry 4.0 (4IR), intelligence and knowledge are achieved by humans with the support of technology. In Society 5.0, intelligence and knowledge will come from machines at the service of



Fig. 1 The evolution of Society. Society 1.0 is known as the hunting society. People hunt and gather and coexist with nature. Society 2.0 is known as the agrarian society. These groups are based on nation-building, increasing organization and agricultural cultivation. Society 3.0 is the industrial society that promotes industrialization through industrial revolution. Society 4.0 is the information society that includes the use of AI and big data. Society 5.0 is the super smart society using advanced AI and robotics to improve living

people. Technology such as AI will infuse all areas of life including science, healthcare, law, environment and ethics (Sharp 2020). Society 5.0 is known as the Super Smart Society and this is already seen in the use of Smart Watches that monitor heart rate, sleep and blood oxygen levels. Innovations in medical science have been transforming society to allow people to live longer and healthier lives; for example, biometric data are gathered continuously every day through devices such as smart watches that can alert the user of an illness before there is any outward sign. This can enable them to receive prompt medical attention.

A major catalyst in the progression toward Society 5.0 is the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. During this pandemic, several aspects of life relied on technology. Formal educational classes from primary school to university and work were traditionally held on physical premises. During Covid 19, educational classes and work were done online and changed the way we communicated (Sarfraz et al. 2021). Other technologies in addition to AI that will be included in Society 5.0 are big data, Internet of Things (IoT), sharing economy, digital platforms, virtual reality and the robots (Sharp 2020; Sarfraz et al. 2021). The data collected will be converted to a modern type of intelligence through AI and improve human lives and sustainability. Japan is the lead runner in Society 5.0 due to its technological and innovative advancements and designs. Medical diagnostics and AI are used for

contact tracing and data collection as seen with Covid-19. Current digital tools have shown favorable results in managing outbreaks of infectious diseases (Kostkova et al. 2021; Verma and Mishra 2020). Enhanced human application through society 5.0 can improve the management of the scope, speed and impact of disease outbreaks (Sarfraz et al. 2021). Multidisciplinary collaboration will improve patient care and patient experience. This will allow the patient to become more empowered by having physical and virtual care when needed. This will also allow doctors and other healthcare providers to increase the value that improves healthcare.

1.1 Internet of Things in Society 5.0 and Healthcare

Internet of Things (IoT) is a connected, wireless and intercalated system of devices that can store, send and collect data over a network that avoids computer-to-human involvement or human-to-human (Kelly et al. 2020). IoT influences our lifestyle from the way we behave and react. IoT is adapted in many applications and the importance is growing in our daily lives for example we can control air conditioners with our smartphones. In simple terms, IoT is a giant network of connected devices. These devices collect and share data about how they are used and the environment. They work using sensors that are embedded in every device. The sensors emit data about the status of the device. IoT is the platform for the device data and allows devices to communicate with each other. The data are emitted to IoT security platform that integrates the data from various sources and further analysis is performed. The required data are extracted after the analysis. The results are shared across devices.

In healthcare, IoT can be any device that can collect health data and that will be able to connect and upload the data to the Internet (Dang et al. 2019). These devices include smart cell phones, smart watches, implanted surgical devices and digital medications to name a few. IoT can be used to predict and diagnose health issues and treat and monitor the patient in or out of the hospital. IoT can support healthcare systems to improve and democratize patient care. Some of the services provided by IoT in healthcare include eHealth, community-based healthcare, mobile health (mHealth) and smartphones. These systems can be used by medical staff to track and monitor health progress remotely, allow early detection of diseases, and improve disease identification and self-management (Dang et al. 2019; Saarikko et al. 2017; Nazir et al. 2019; Yuehong et al. 2016). Many health delivery services have made the switch to technological-supported health delivery systems due to Covid-19 (Fisk et al. 2020). For this reason, it is key to know how IoT technologies can support the healthcare system and improve the safety and effectiveness of the system (Ye et al. 2020).

1.1.1 IoT-Based Healthcare Construction

There are three basic levels which include the perception level, network level and application level (Sethi and Sarangi 2017). Perception and identification technologies are key in IoT. The perception level is the sensing system that collects the data. Sensory devices that can capture changes in the environment include infrared sensors, cameras, radio frequency identification (RIF) and GPS to name a few. These devices allow perception via object-, location- and geographical identification that is converted into digital signals (Sethi and Sarangi 2017; Wu et al. 2010). Using these sensory technologies, treatments can be monitored in real-time. Table 1 shows examples of devices that can improve and support healthcare services. The network level is data communication and storage of data. This level includes wireless and wired networks that processes the information from the perception level and stores the information. The information is communicated over various frequencies including technologies such as Bluetooth, RIF, Wi-Fi, 5G and wireless sensor networks (Sethi and Sarangi 2017; Li et al. 2018). The information is stored at a cloud-based (centralized) or local (decentralized) location. Cloud-based computing is flexible, ubiquitous and can be scaled to size (Darwish et al. 2019). The cloud can support electronic medical records (EMRs), medical IoT devices such as smartphones, patient portals and therapeutic strategies (Dang et al. 2019). Local or decentralized processing and networking can improve the scalability of IoT. Edge cloud is a new concept that allows the processing of data in a decentralized approach that reduces the required amounts of data (Sethi and Sarangi 2017; Pan and McElhannon 2017). The application level applies and interprets data and is responsible for applicationspecific services (Sethi and Sarangi 2017). These applications use artificial intelligence to improve diagnosis, prognosis and treatment (IBM 2018). IoT-based healthcare and the use of AI and deep learning can assist medical professionals to predict diseases and improve diagnosis and management (Tobore et al. 2019).

IoT allows data to be collected, communicated and stored and enables data analysis and smarter healthcare that can improve diagnosis, risk identification, treatment monitoring and management. Smart healthcare services can use the information from IoT, big data, AI and deep machine learning to provide a more personalized, efficient and convenient system (Tian et al. 2019). IoT improves the efficiency and quality of the ecosystem of service delivery like assessment management, hospital management, optimization of resources and workflow of staff (Thangaraj et al. 2015; Yu et al. 2012).

1.1.2 Health Service Improvement Through IoT

Primary healthcare is becoming more accessible. However, disease prevention must be a focal point to decrease the burden of disease. IoT can improve population health and transition the healthcare model to a hybrid of primary, secondary and tertiary healthcare. There is a demand for easy access to health information and many

IoT device	Description	Uses
Vital sign patches.	To track and monitor respiratory rates, heart rates, sleep cycle, temperature, etc.	One pilot trial followed patients that were discharged from emergency. The patients had infections, heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmo- nary disease or asthma. The study showed fewer negative events and lower healthcare costs via IoT (Levine et al. 2020). The patches will be investigated for their effectiveness and will potentially have further applications for hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, asthma, sleep apnea, etc.
Inhalers that are Bluetooth- enabled.	A Bluetooth sensor will be used coupled with a mobile app that will allow predictive analysis and provide feedback.	Used for asthmatic patients or for respiratory conditions. IoT devices can improve healthcare utilization through self-management and symp- tom identification (Merchant et al. 2016, 2018).
Therapeutic extended or virtual reality.	Virtual reality, mixed reality or aug- mented reality can be used to visualize data collected from sensors from IoT.	Virtual reality has become increas- ingly popular as it is portable, vivid and immersive. This can be used for a range of outpatient and inpatient applications (Birckhead et al. 2019; Eckert et al. 2019). Augmented reality and mixed reality applications have been suggested to outperform tradi- tional service methods including cen- tral vein catheterization, anesthesia and acquisition of anatomy knowl- edge (Gerup et al. 2020). Other virtual reality applications have been applied in various diseases (Tashjian et al. 2017; Chirico et al. 2016; Lohse et al. 2014; Valmaggia et al. 2016) and is suggested to assist in obesity preven- tion and management (Persky 2011).
Digital medications.	An external body sensor, for example a wearable sensor patch, which receives information from an ingest- ible sensor	The smart medication interacts with a wearable patch and communicates with a mobile app. Information is stored on the cloud. A mobile app can also be used to remind patients to take their medication and share information with others (Plowman et al. 2018).
Smart voice assistants.	Provides support to users through vocal conversations. These devices include Siri, Alexa, Google Home and Amazon.	The hand-free feature of smart voice assistants assists various groups for example the elderly, disabled or technologically impaired users

 Table 1
 IoT devices that can support health service delivery systems

(continued)

IoT device	Description	Uses
		(Dojchinovski et al. 2019). The inter- active conversations with the smart voice assistants enables an engaged and patient-centered usage (Laranjo et al. 2018). The conversation agents can provide answers to health-related questions without human contact, collect data, assist with self- management activities, etc. (Ilievski et al. 2019).
Wearables.	Devices worn by the user for example glucose monitors can be used to dosage and time and recommend accurate dosage type.	Examples of wearables include smart insulin pens continuous glucose monitors (Sangave et al. 2019), smart watches, loneliness detectors (Doryab et al. 2019), fall detectors like iFall (Sposaro and Tyson 2009), wearable blood pressure monitors (Kakria et al. 2015) and wireless electrocardiogram monitors (Majumder et al. 2018). These IoT compatible devices can improve insulin administration and decrease medication errors (Sangave et al. 2019).
Social robots.	AI system that can interact with humans through social rules (Chen et al. 2018).	Robots in the hospital settings are used to provide navigation informa- tion, collect patient data and to detect abnormal actions (Van der Putte et al. 2019; Wan et al. 2020). In home set- tings, health robots can detect unhealthy behaviors, assist in treat- ment and therapies and manage med- ication (Baur et al. 2018; Tao et al. 2016; Nijholt et al. 2018; Moyle et al. 2013).
Smart cameras.	Changes in the environment can be captured by smartphone cameras.	Smart cameras are associated with smartphones. Data are downloaded to an app. This can assist the healthcare delivery system via diabetic wound analysis (Bhelonde et al. 2015), heart rate, skin and dry eye disease moni- toring (Ashique et al. 2015; Połap et al. 2018; Shimizu et al. 2019).

Table 1 (continued)

smartphone users want to download a health-related app for self-management (Pai 2015). AI has provided point-of-care health information which can assist with medical and lifestyle advice. Established AI bots include Your Md, Woebat, HealthTap and Babylon that provide instant medical advice based on symptoms (Nadarzynski et al. 2019). However, the accuracy has not been approved





(Wisniewski et al. 2019). There is a need for a reliable digital, evidence-based app and resources (Borycki 2019). IoT also offers the opportunity to learn from and link nonhealth IoT technologies to provide support, monitor daily activities and encourage lifestyle changes. Nonhealth and health IoT data provide valuable information regarding surveillance on a population level, accidents, environmental conditions and risk factors which can be difficult to collect through human reporting systems (Pacheco Rocha et al. 2019; Lai et al. 2020). Through data linkage and IoT, professionals will be able to make evidence-based decisions to promote health, safe transportation systems, quality public services and smart healthcare (Pacheco Rocha et al. 2019; Wray et al. 2018; Palmieri et al. 2016) (Fig. 2). An IoT-based healthcare system allows the overall healthcare systems to evolve past the traditional model of service delivery to a more coordinated, continuous and proactive, continuous approach (Korzun 2017). It provides improved high-quality care that is less invasive than traditional methods. Improved changes in the healthcare system are also very attractive to policy makers as they can enhance the health system field's efficiency (Dauwed and Meri 2019) and can provide model flexibility based on the individual's need or population-wide need. IoT uses AI to improve the accuracy of results.

1.1.3 4P Medicine (Personalized, Predictive, Participatory and Preventive) Using IoT Services

The goal of medicine, that is personalized, predictive, participatory and preventive (4Ps), has been advocated by Leroy Hood and others. The 4Ps are summarized in Table 2. Systems approaches in medicine and biology provides consumers, physicians and patients with personalized health and disease information at the cellular,

	Goal	IoT application	References
P1— personalization	The goal of personalization is to identify tailored treat- ment based on the genetic profile of each individual. Other factors will also be considered like patients' abilities, needs, lifestyle, social contexts, family his- tory and psychological aspects. This will improve treat- ment outcomes and sur- vival rates. Disease risks can be discovered and pre- cautionary steps can be taken to optimize wellness.	IoT will allow the captur- ing and collection of data that can be accessible to the patient and medical staff. The data can be used to design treatment that is personalized to the patient. This is also known as pre- cision medicine.	Pravettoni and Triberti (2020), Jarow (2018), Sebri and Savioni (2020)
P2— Predictive	The goal of predictive medicine is to use genetic and laboratory tests to pre- dict the onset of a disease and the involved risks. Techniques such as AI, biomedical imaging instru- ments and machine learn- ing can be used.	The data in the IoT system can be used to design pre- dictive models that can be used to assess risks and provide treatment solutions.	Tuena et al. (2020)
P3— participatory	The goal of participation is to involve individuals and to empower them. They will be able to manage their health status that will allow communication between the patient and the medical staff.	The IoT system will allow the data to be accessible to the patient and will allow the patient to be more involved in their healthcare. The patient will be able to ask questions and learn more about their health.	Kondylakis et al. (2020)
P4— preventative	The goal is to define inter- ventions to a disease before it occurs. Environmental, socioeconomical and psy- chological factors can also be considered.	The data in the IoT system from various devices can be used to assess risks and provide treatment or life- style intervention before the disease occurs.	Monzani and Pizzoli (2020)

Table 2 The 4Ps

organ and molecular levels (Flores et al. 2013). The information collected by the IoT system makes disease care more cost-effective as medical care will be personalized and the cause might be treated. Patients will be more encouraged to be involved in their medical care and can observe lifestyle decision impact. Predictions models can be designed based on the IoT system data that will assist in the prediction and possible prevention of diseases.

1.1.4 Democratize the Healthcare System with IoT

New demands around health, safety and public health have been put on connective technologies and smart devices (Dodge 2020). In the ambient assisted living (AAL), IoT devices have gained prevalence (Incki and Ari 2018). AAL can be defined as "the use of communication technologies (ICT) and information in daily living including the use in a working environment that enables social connection, remaining active for longer and to live independently" (Monekosso et al. 2015). Improved computing capacity will allow for full operational systems and specialized software in the IoT system. These improvements will allow expedited data processing without compromising the safety and integrity of the data collected (Incki and Ari 2018). The goal in designing any IoT solution is to create a system that guides and simplifies decision-making by collecting data from various connected devices, compiling it and proving the right information to the right person at the right time (Dodge 2020). IoT will also be democratized as it will be available and accessible to the public. The democratization of healthcare will allow the empowerment of the patient, prove convenience and knowledge, and allow the patient to become responsible for their own care (Chemweno 2021). Data democratization can overcome barriers, improve health structures and assist communities with health challenges (Chemweno 2021). Data democratization and healthcare democratization will allow people to prioritize essential resources like employment, food, childcare and education as the data will be available using IoT systems.

Artificial Intelligence and Society 5.0

Society 5.0 framework is based on data captured by real-world sensors and sent to the virtual cloud world for AI-based analysis, which will return to the real world in physical form through robots, machines and motor vehicles (Garg et al. 2022). Objects, people and systems will be connected in Society 5.0. Hopeful new values will be created through social innovation, elimination of regional, age, gender and language disparities and enable the delivery of personalized products and services that meet many individuals and potential needs. Society 5.0 involves autonomous manufacturing in general and for specific products with human intelligence and AI as a backbone technology (Mourtzis et al. 2022). As a human-centric design solution where humans and robots collaborate, Society 5.0 has constantly gained more attention during the last years, aiming to solve the challenges of the Society 4.0 (Mourtzis 2021; Fukuyama 2018).

1.2 Internet of Things and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs)

The Internet of Things (IoT) can make significant contributions to support the implementation of the SDGs regarding social and environmental terms. Pay-as-

you-go and low-cost IoT can be potential solutions to achieve SDGs by 2030 (López Vargas et al. 2020). IoT can assist to achieve sustainable and stronger development; allow the opportunity for economical and human development while the impact in developing countries must not be overlooked (Rahim 2017). Developing countries are shown to be ideal for IoT innovation, can support economic growth, and contribute to cultural, environmental and social development (Barro et al. 2018). IoT development has allowed for the management and monitoring of renewable energy systems that improved the electrical access (Biggs et al. 2016; Ramanathan et al. 2017). IoT has the potential to predict and minimize the destruction of natural disasters (Pelc and Koderman 2018) like tsunamis and earthquakes (Biggs et al. 2016) that can avoid serious injuries and save lives.

The benefits of IoT falls into the UN SDGs. Specifically, IoT implements SDG goals 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), 14 (Life Below Water), 15 (Life on Land) and 17 (Partnership for the Goals). Goal 3 aims for good health and well-being. IoT allows the capturing of data on all devices and allows model predictions to improve health and well-being. Sensors of various devices will upload the data that can be analyzed. Smart watches for example can detect irregular heart rate and can notify medical staff of potential risk. This will improve treatment and save lives. There is, however, a need for additional resources such as engineers and technicians, capacity building and a working power supply and back-up solutions. Goal 6 aims to ensure clean water and sanitation. IoT will allow the monitoring and management of water, sanitation and electrical systems and technologies (Biggs et al. 2016; Ramanathan et al. 2017; UN ESCAP 2018). IoT will allow all the data captured by sensors to be analyzed and will provide reliable information about the water resources state, usage, wastewater generation and treatment (World Water Assessment Programme 2020). For example, sensors within the water filtration system will detect any debris, incorrect pH level or soil level. Other sensors will detect incorrect temperatures used for water cleaning. All the information will be loaded into the cloud and adjustments can be made based on the analysis results. IoT is already implemented by using low-cost reverse osmosis systems with smart controllers that allowed effective distribution of water to rural areas and allowed the guarantee and monitoring of water quantity and quality in realtime Jiangsu, (2020). IoT can thus assist healthcare systems by minimizing diseases, improving survival rates of patients and decreasing the burden on hospitals due to safer water, better waste management and providing healthier lifestyles in general to the population.

IoT can be used to improve life on land and in water (Goal 14–15) by allowing predictive modeling based on the capturing of data by various devices. Actions can be taken to avoid catastrophic events and improve the health of all living organisms on land or in the water. Sensors of various devices can detect various changes in the atmosphere, ground and water. The data will be captured across all devices. Changes can be made using smart devices and controllers that will allow the management of sustainable marine and terrestrial ecosystems. A balanced ecosystem will decrease the potential of harmful diseases and will improve health. The healthcare system will benefit from sustainability and decreased burden on the system. IoT will also allow

the growth of partnerships worldwide to increase the collaboration between people, science and technology (Goal 17). The IoT allows all data to be captured and stored and will be accessible across the Internet. This will allow world contribution based on data analysis and the partnerships will allow improved ideas for healthcare and healthcare management.

2 Challenges of IoT and Society 5.0

Cloud-based use of IoT has a few challenges including support effectiveness, human rights violations such as safety and security, reliability, transparency and energy consumption. The gathering, storage or distribution of data is one of the major concerns. Data must not be shared with third parties and private information must be protected. Cloud storage will also need adequate storage space and excessive data accumulation can be difficult to navigate. A major issue is that disclosed information can potentially be used to identify an individual (Bader et al. 2016). This will violate human rights such as safety, privacy and security. Although breached confidentiality is a major concern, the value must be considered (Lee et al. 2020). There are various factors that affect clinicians' acceptability of technology-supported programs. These factors include accuracy, ease of use, compatibility, knowledge, attitudes, external factors like patient-clinician interaction and organization and reimbursement (Gagnon et al. 2016). Low-income countries may also not have access to IoT devices leading to a recourse crisis for these countries. Regarding privacy and security, IoT can undergo cyber-attacks due to wireless communications and low energy. The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) has drafted a security guide and recommendations for IoT devices; however, some guidelines may be unclear (NIST 2019).

There are also issues regarding the standardization and interoperability of IoT and healthcare protocols. Manufacturers and industry partners must still reach a consensus regarding standards for machine-to-machine communication and wireless communication protocols (Rubí and Gondim 2019). Historically, remuneration for technology-assisted healthcare has been challenging and differs between countries (Tuckson et al. 2017). Guidelines and policies on cyber-security, interoperability, protocols and reimbursements must become key precedences to ensure the effective, low-cost and successful use of IoT healthcare models in the medical field. IoT utilizes cutting-edge communication technologies and needs a lot of high transmission bandwidth, storage space and cloud computing. IoT devices use high amounts of energy in filtering and transmission of data. Studies have shown that IoT devices waste up to 30% of energy (Shah et al. 2022). IoT devices can result in an energy resource crisis due to their demand and waste. Energy management is an important factor to consider when developing IoT devices. Smart environments also need a lot of sensors in different places. These sensors are very expensive. Zouai et al. proposed a new approach using an IoT robot to oversight the smart environment to reduce this cost. The robot will carry a range of different sensors that will be able to sense the surrounding environment and will send data to the various points and devices (Zouai et al. 2019). This application can also be used in hospitals and other healthcare facilities.

Challenges of Society 5.0 include legal, safety, ethical, security, privacy, human rights violation, societal issues, energy and resource crisis. Companies must be able to adapt quickly to Society 5.0 and all the technological advancements. This is not always possible and the financial implications might be too much in the beginning. People will also be able to live longer as they will have better medical care and decreased stress levels. This will place a burden on healthcare resources as unique needs will have to be met. In 2018, around 35 million people aged 65 and over in Japan, were representing over 28% of the total Japanese population (Sharp 2020). The aging of the Japanese population is still rising and it will increase the pressure on the public healthcare system. Energy resources can also be depleted due to the high demand of technologies such as IoT and living resources. Available energy resources will not be able to cover the required energy output demand for living and industrial consumption which will lead to a bigger energy crisis that is currently experienced. Another issue is the overreliance on technology. People will be thinking and problem-solving less on their own. There are also concerns about privacy, surveillance and manipulation of data when using big data and algorithms. AI is also a relatively new concept and the social implications of AI are unknown. There is also a concern for job security as robots will be doing the work intended for humans. This will lead to an increased unemployment rate and stress will increase leading to a decay in health. Humans and technology are becoming more involved and can result in issues related to liability and responsibility. Society 5.0 must be implemented in an ethical way. If handled correctly, the challenges can be overcome.

3 Benefits and Future Perspectives

The use of IoT in medicine will reduce the cost of doctors' visits and travelling and will relieve the pressure off hospitals to concentrate on emergencies (Shehabat and Al-Hussein 2018). IoT will also improve patient outcomes as it will be used to monitor the patient or to detect early diseases and health issues. IoT can improve medical research and enhance collaboration and communication between medical researchers and medical staff. It can also assist with managing the information (Shehabat and Al-Hussein 2018). IoT devices will be able to track and monitor respiratory rates, heart rates, sleep cycle, temperature and glucose levels to name a few (Levine et al. 2020). It can allow the patient or doctor to receive the information and treatment to be applied faster. This will improve patient outcomes and care. IoT can also benefit people with disabilities such as hearing or sight disabilities. People who are hearing disabilities make use of internal or external devices that can be implanted to improve their hearing (Rghioui and Oumnad 2018). Another option is the use of a wireless low-cost glove that is designed to help the deaf communicate with others (Rghioui and Oumnad 2018). The smart voice assistant will also be able

to assist sight-impaired individuals by allowing a hand-free feature (Dojchinovski et al. 2019). IoT can be used for the monitoring of patients which will improve patient care, especially after surgery. Sensors will also allow patients to move freely while they can be monitored. Although there are challenges, the benefits outweigh the challenges and will lead to an improved healthcare system.

Although there are challenges regarding IoT energy waste, if properly and effectively used, the challenges can be overcome. IoT can assist in better energy resource consumption. IoT is key in the transfer of energy and power to smart devices and buildings. IoT can be used to efficiently power buildings and reduce the consumption (Pan et al. 2015). IoT-based smart decisions can be taken to efficiently monitor and control devices and scalable architecture (Nandury and Begum 2015). IoT can assist Smart grid (SG) to enable the flow of data and electricity within the electricity system networks (ESN) and its clusters (Kumar et al. 2020). SG can replace the conventional fossil fuel-rich grid with the distributed energy resources (DER), thus improving the energy resource crisis (Kumar et al. 2020). IoT enables data monitoring, data sensing and data storage that can be used for efficient decision-making and control of SG. This can lead to enhanced availability, reliability, resilience, sustainability, security and stability. Improved energy consumption will benefit the healthcare system as it will allow healthcare systems to be fully functional at a lower energy demand.

Society 5.0 will enhance all industries in the world. It will solve many challenges that are currently faced. Society 5.0 will improve the lives of humans and improve patient care and healthcare. It will raise living standards. For example, stress will be decreased, patients will have access to medical advancements at low costs, and human abilities will be expanded through AI and robots which will allow people to be more fulfilled. Society 5.0 will provide technological support for the aging population. It will assist people to stay healthy by example innovative walking aids. Society 5.0 will also allow important information to be easily shared between medical professionals. This will reduce reliance on hospitals and hospital visits. People will have more control and will be empowered. Society 5.0 will be able to influence the population migration. For example, automated transport will be enabled which will allow low-income people to travel and get the needed healthcare. Smart sensors will also enable patients to receive warnings before symptoms may be apparent.

4 Conclusion

Advanced information technologies have provided the opportunity for innovation in our daily lives. IoT is an evolving technology that allows improved solutions in healthcare like the integration of devices, accurate medical record keeping, sampling and identification of diseases' causes and risk factors. IoT's sensor-based technology provides the ability to reduce the risk of surgery and aids with example COVID-19 type pandemic. Medical students can also be trained more efficiently for disease



Fig. 3 IoT in Society 5.0 and healthcare. The device captures the information through the sensors. The data are connected to the cloud and are stored on the cloud. The analysis is done based on the received data and stored data. The results are used to improve the diagnosis, prognosis, treatment and monitoring of the patient. The device captures new data with the treatment provided and new information is received on the cloud for analysis

detection and treatment possibilities. IoT can allow healthcare systems to predict health issues and improve diagnosis, prognosis, treatment and monitoring (Fig. 3). Although there are challenges regarding human rights such as privacy, safety and security, as well as energy and resource challenges, the value of IoT outweighs the challenges. IoT implementation in healthcare will rely on a code of practice for the privacy, management, confidentiality and cyber-security of data. There are still gaps for research to address like how IoT devices can be interoperable with local and international health systems and designed with standardized protocols and on the efficiency of storage and cloud-based solutions to name a few. The goal of Society 5.0 is to enable a society where people enjoy life and prosper. Economic growth and technological development aid in this goal. Despite the challenges, the possible advancements made by Society 5.0 and the impact that it will have on democratizing healthcare outweigh the challenges. Society 5.0 will lead to a healthcare system that is predictive, preventive, personalized and participatory rather than reactive as it is nowadays. It can prolong life expectancy and fulfillment.

References

- Ashique KT, Kaliyadan F, Aurangabadkar SJ (2015) Clinical photography in dermatology using smartphones: an overview. Indian Dermatol Online J 6:158–163
- Bader MDM, Mooney SJ, Rundle AG (2016) Protecting personally identifiable information when using online geographic tools for public health research. American Public Health Association

- Barro P, Degila J, Zennaro M, Wamba S (2018) Towards smart and sustainable future cities based on internet of things for developing countries: what approach for Africa? EAI Endorsed Trans Internet Things 4
- Baur K, Schättin A, De Bruin ED, Riener R, Duarte JE, Wolf P (2018) Trends in robot-assisted and virtual reality-assisted neuromuscular therapy: a systematic review of health-related multiplayer games. J Neuroeng Rehabil 15:1–19
- Bhelonde A, Didolkar N, Jangale S, Kulkarni NL (2015) Flexible wound assessment system for diabetic patient using android smartphone. In: Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Green Computing and Internet of Things (ICGCIoT), Greater Noida, India, 8–10 October 2015. IEEE, New York, pp 466–469
- Biggs P, Garrity J, Lasalle C, Polomska A (2016) Harnessing the Internet of Things for global development
- Birckhead B, Khalil C, Liu X, Conovitz S, Rizzo A, Danovitch I, Bullock K, Spiegel B (2019) Recommendations for methodology of virtual reality clinical trials in health care by an international working group: iterative study. JMIR Mental Health 6:e11973
- Borycki E (2019) Quality and safety in eHealth: the need to build the evidence base. J Med Internet Res 21:e16689
- Chemweno J (2021) Democratizing healthcare: the wait is over [Online]. https://www.psqh.com/ analysis/democratizing-healthcare-the-wait-is-over/. Accessed 22 November 2022
- Chen SC, Jones C, Moyle W (2018) Social robots for depression in older adults: a systematic review. J Nurs Scholarsh 50:612–622
- Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A (2016) Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. A mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. J Cell Physiol 231:275–287
- Dang LM, Piran MJ, Han D, Min K, Moon H (2019) A survey on internet of things and cloud computing for healthcare. Electronics 8:768
- Darwish A, Hassanien AE, Elhoseny M, Sangaiah AK, Muhammad K (2019) The impact of the hybrid platform of internet of things and cloud computing on healthcare systems: opportunities, challenges, and open problems. J Ambient Intell Humaniz Comput 10:4151–4166
- Dauwed M, Meri A (2019) IOT service utilisation in healthcare. In: Internet of Things (IoT) for Automated and Smart Applications, vol 41. IntechOpen
- De Hoyos Guevara AJ, Terra DM, Portes JH, Da Silva JLA, Magalhães KE (2020) A ranking of countries concerning progress towards a society 5.0. J Innov Sustain RISUS 11:188–199
- Dodge J (2020) Democratizing IoT: the evolution of connected platform [Online]. https://www. insight.com/en_US/content-and-resources/2020/democratizing-iot-the-evolution-of-connectedplatform.html. Accessed 22 November 2022
- Dojchinovski D, Ilievski A, Gusev M (2019) Interactive home healthcare system with integrated voice assistant. IEEE, pp 284–288
- Doryab A, Villalba DK, Chikersal P, Dutcher JM, Tumminia M, Liu X, Cohen S, Creswell K, Mankoff J, Creswell JD (2019) Identifying behavioral phenotypes of loneliness and social isolation with passive sensing: statistical analysis, data mining and machine learning of smartphone and Fitbit data. JMIR mHealth uHealth 7:e13209
- Eckert M, Volmerg JS, Friedrich CM (2019) Augmented reality in medicine: systematic and bibliographic review. JMIR mHealth uHealth 7:e10967
- Fisk M, Livingstone A, Pit SW (2020) Telehealth in the context of COVID-19: changing perspectives in Australia, the United Kingdom, and the United States. J Med Internet Res 22:e19264
- Flores M, Glusman G, Brogaard K, Price ND, Hood L (2013) P4 medicine: how systems medicine will transform the healthcare sector and society. Pers Med 10:565–576
- Fukuyama M (2018) Society 5.0: aiming for a new human-centered society. Japan Spotlight 27:47– 50
- Gagnon M-P, Ngangue P, Payne-Gagnon J, Desmartis M (2016) m-Health adoption by healthcare professionals: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 23:212–220

- Garg PK, Tripathi NK, Kappas M, Gaur L (2022) Geospatial data science in healthcare for society 5.0. Springer
- Gerup J, Soerensen CB, Dieckmann P (2020) Augmented reality and mixed reality for healthcare education beyond surgery: an integrative review. Int J Med Educ 11:1
- IBM (2018) Artificial intelligence in medicine [Online]. https://www.ibm.com/topics/artificialintelligence-medicine. Accessed 3 October 2022
- llievski A, Dojchinovski D, Gusev M (2019) Interactive voice assisted home healthcare systems, pp1--5
- Incki K, Ari I (2018) Democratization of runtime verification for internet of things. Comput Electr Eng 68:570–580
- Jarow JP (2018) Personalized reproductive medicine: regulatory considerations. Fertil Steril 109: 964–967
- Kakria P, Tripathi NK, Kitipawang P (2015) A real-time health monitoring system for remote cardiac patients using smartphone and wearable sensors. Int J Telemed Appl 2015:373474
- Kelly JT, Campbell KL, Gong E, Scuffham P (2020) The internet of things: impact and implications for health care delivery. J Med Internet Res 22:e20135
- Kondylakis H, Koumakis L, Mazzocco K, Tsiknakis M, Marias K (2020) Participatory aspects of ICT infrastructures for cancer management. In: P5 eHealth: an agenda for the health technologies of the future. Springer, Cham
- Korzun DG (2017) Internet of things meets mobile health systems in smart spaces: an overview. In: Internet of Things and big data technologies for next generation healthcare. Springer, New York, pp 111–129
- Kostkova P, Saigí-Rubió F, Eguia H, Borbolla D, Verschuuren M, Hamilton C, Azzopardi-Muscat-N, Novillo-Ortiz D (2021) Data and digital solutions to support surveillance strategies in the context of the Covid-19 pandemic. Front Digit Health 3:707902
- Kumar NM, Chand AA, Malvoni M, Prasad KA, Mamun KA, Islam FR, Chopra SS (2020) Distributed energy resources and the application of AI, IoT, and blockchain in smart grids. Energies 13
- Lai Y, Yeung W, Celi LA (2020) Urban intelligence for pandemic response: viewpoint. JMIR Public Health Surveill 6(2):e18873. https://doi.org/10.2196/18873
- Laranjo L, Dunn AG, Tong HL, Kocaballi AB, Chen J, Bashir R, Surian D, Gallego B, Magrabi F, Lau AYS (2018) Conversational agents in healthcare: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 25:1248–1258
- Lee H, Park YR, Kim H-R, Kang NY, Oh G, Jang I-Y, Lee E (2020) Discrepancies in demand of internet of things services among older people and people with disabilities, their caregivers, and health care providers: face-to-face survey study. J Med Internet Res 22:e16614
- Levine DM, Ouchi K, Blanchfield B, Saenz A, Burke K, Paz M, Diamond K, Pu CT, Schnipper JL (2020) Hospital-level care at home for acutely ill adults: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 172:77–85
- Li S, Da X, L. & Zhao, S. (2018) 5G internet of things: a survey. J Ind Inf Integr 10:1-9
- Lohse KR, Hilderman CGE, Cheung KL, Tatla S, Van Der Loos HFM (2014) Virtual reality therapy for adults post-stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis exploring virtual environments and commercial games in therapy. PLoS One 9:e93318
- López Vargas A, Fuentes M, Vivar M (2020) Challenges and opportunities of the internet of things for global development to achieve the United Nations sustainable development goals. IEEE Access 8:1–1
- Majumder S, Chen L, Marinov O, Chen C-H, Mondal T, Deen MJ (2018) Noncontact wearable wireless ECG systems for long-term monitoring. IEEE Rev Biomed Eng 11:306–321
- Merchant RK, Inamdar R, Quade RC (2016) Effectiveness of population health management using the propeller health asthma platform: a randomized clinical trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 4:455–463

- Merchant R, Szefler SJ, Bender BG, Tuffli M, Barrett MA, Gondalia R, Kaye L, Van Sickle D, Stempel DA (2018) Impact of a digital health intervention on asthma resource utilization. World Allergy Org J 11:1–4
- Monekosso D, Florez-Revuelta F, Remagnino P (2015) Ambient assisted living [guest editors' introduction]. IEEE Intell Syst 30:2–6
- Monzani D, Pizzoli SFM (2020) The prevention of chronic diseases through eHealth: a practical overview. In: P5 eHealth: an agenda for the health technologies of the future. Springer, pp 33–51
- Mourtzis D (2021) Towards the 5th industrial revolution: a literature review and a framework for process optimization based on big data analytics and semantics. J Mach Eng 21
- Mourtzis D, Angelopoulos J, Panopoulos N (2022) A literature review of the challenges and opportunities of the transition from industry 4.0 to society 5.0. Energies 15
- Moyle W, Jones C, Cooke M, O'dwyer, S., Sung, B. & Drummond, S. (2013) Social robots helping people with dementia: assessing efficacy of social robots in the nursing home environment. IEEE, pp 608–613
- Nadarzynski T, Miles O, Cowie A, Ridge D (2019) Acceptability of artificial intelligence (AI)-led chatbot services in healthcare: a mixed-methods study. Digit Health 5:2055207619871808
- Nandury SV, Begum BA (2015) Smart WSN-based ubiquitous architecture for smart cities. IEEE, pp 2366–2373
- Nazir S, Ali Y, Ullah N, García-Magariño I (2019) Internet of things for healthcare using effects of mobile computing: a systematic literature review. Wirel Commun Mob Comput 2019
- Nijholt A, Velasco C, Obrist M, Okajima K, Spence C (2018) 3rd International workshop on multisensory approaches to human-food interaction, pp 657–659
- NIST (2019) NIST releases draft security feature recommendations for IoT devices [Online]. https://www.nist.gov/news-events/news/2019/08/nist-releases-draft-security-feature-recommen dations-iot-devices. Accessed 3 October 2022
- Pacheco Rocha N, Dias A, Santinha G, Rodrigues M, Queirós A, Rodrigues C (2019) Smart cities and healthcare: a systematic review. Technologies 7:58
- Pai A (2015) Survey: percent of smartphone users have downloaded a fitness or health app. [online]. Mobile Health News. https://www.mobihealthnews.com/48273/survey-58-percent-ofsmartphone-users-have-downloaded-a-fitness-or-health-app. Accessed 3 October 2022
- Palmieri F, Ficco M, Pardi S, Castiglione A (2016) A cloud-based architecture for emergency management and first responders localization in smart city environments. Comput Electr Eng 56:810–830
- Pan J, Mcelhannon J (2017) Future edge cloud and edge computing for internet of things applications. IEEE Internet Things J 5:439–449
- Pan J, Jain R, Paul S, Vu T, Saifullah A, Sha M (2015) An internet of things framework for smart energy in buildings: designs, prototype, and experiments. IEEE Internet Things J 2:527–537
- Pelc S, Koderman M (2018) Nature, tourism and ethnicity as drivers of (de)marginalization. Nature 3
- Persky S (2011) Application of virtual reality methods to obesity prevention and management research. Sage
- Plowman RS, Peters-Strickland T, Savage GM (2018) Digital medicines: clinical review on the safety of tablets with sensors. Expert Opin Drug Saf 17:849–852
- Połap D, Winnicka A, Serwata K, Kęsik K, WoŹniak M (2018) An intelligent system for monitoring skin diseases. Sensors 18:2552
- Pravettoni G, Triberti S (2020) A "P5" approach to healthcare and health technology. In: P5 eHealth: An agenda for the health technologies of the future. Springer, Cham
- Rahim A (2017) IoT and data analytics for developing countries from research to business transformation. Springer, pp 281–284
- Ramanathan T, Ramanathan N, Mohanty J, Rehman IH, Graham E, Ramanathan V (2017) Wireless sensors linked to climate financing for globally affordable clean cooking. Nat Clim Chang 7:44– 47

- Rghioui A, Oumnad A (2018) Challenges and opportunities of internet of things in healthcare. Int J Electr Comput Eng 2088–8708:8
- Rubí JNS, Gondim PRL (2019) IOMT platform for pervasive healthcare data aggregation, processing, and sharing based on OneM2M and OpenEHR. Sensors 19:4283
- Saarikko T, Westergren UH, Blomquist T (2017) The internet of things: are you ready for what's coming? Bus Horiz 60:667–676
- Sangave NA, Aungst TD, Patel DK (2019) Smart connected insulin pens, caps, and attachments: a review of the future of diabetes technology. Diabetes Spectr 32:378–384
- Sarfraz Z, Sarfraz A, Iftikar HM, Akhund R (2021) Is COVID-19 pushing us to the fifth industrial revolution (society 5.0)? Pak J Med Sci 37:591–594
- Sebri V, Savioni L (2020) An introduction to personalized eHealth. In: P5 eHealth: an agenda for the health technologies of the future. Springer, Cham
- Sethi P, Sarangi SR (2017) Internet of things: architectures, protocols, and applications. J Electr Comput Eng 2017:1
- Shah S, Jadeja A, Doshi N (2022) An analytical survey of energy efficiency in IoT paradigm. Procedia Comput Sci 210:283–288
- Sharp L (2020) Society 5.0: a brave new world. Impact 2020:2-3
- Shehabat IM, Al-Hussein N (2018) Deploying internet of things in healthcare: benefits, requirements, challenges and applications. J Commun 13:574–580
- Shimizu E, Ogawa Y, Yazu H, Aketa N, Yang F, Yamane M, Sato Y, Kawakami Y, Tsubota K (2019) "Smart eye camera": an innovative technique to evaluate tear film breakup time in a murine dry eye disease model. PLoS One 14:e0215130
- Sposaro F, Tyson G (2009) iFall: an Android application for fall monitoring and response. IEEE, pp 6119–6122
- Tao V, Moy K, Amirfar VA (2016) A little robot with big promise may be future of personalized health care. Pharmacy Tod 22:38
- Tashjian VC, Mosadeghi S, Howard AR, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Reid M, Martinez B, Ahmed S, Dailey F, Robbins K (2017) Virtual reality for management of pain in hospitalized patients: results of a controlled trial. JMIR Mental Health 4:e7387
- Thangaraj M, Ponmalar PP, Anuradha S (2015) Internet of things (IOT) enabled smart autonomous hospital management system-a real world health care use case with the technology drivers. IEEE, pp 1–8
- The World Bank (2020) Jiangsu water and wastewater [Online]. http://projects.worldbank.org/P0 96926/jiangsu-water-wastewater?lang=en&tab=overview. Accessed 19 November 2022
- Tian S, Yang W, Le Grange JM, Wang P, Huang W, Ye Z (2019) Smart healthcare: making medical care more intelligent. Glob Health J 3:62–65
- Tobore I, Li J, Yuhang L, Al-Handarish Y, Kandwal A, Nie Z, Wang L (2019) Deep learning intervention for health care challenges: some biomedical domain considerations. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 7:e11966
- Tuckson RV, Edmunds M, Hodgkins ML (2017) Telehealth. N Engl J Med 377:1585-1592
- Tuena C, Semonella M, Fernández-Álvarez J, Colombo D, Cipresso P (2020) Predictive precision medicine: towards the computational challenge. In: P5 eHealth: an agenda for the health Technologies of the future. Springer, Cham
- UN ESCAP (2018) ESCAP multi-donor trust fund for Tsunami, disaster and climate preparedness: 2016-2017 annual report
- UNESCO (2019) Japan pushing ahead with Society 5.0 to overcome chronic social challenges [Online]. https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/japan-pushing-ahead-society-50-overcomechronic-social-challenges. Accessed 25 November 2022
- Valmaggia LR, Latif L, Kempton MJ, Rus-Calafell M (2016) Virtual reality in the psychological treatment for mental health problems: an systematic review of recent evidence. Psychiatry Res 236:189–195

- Van Der Putte D, Boumans R, Neerincx M, Rikkert MO, De Mul M (2019) A social robot for autonomous health data acquisition among hospitalized patients: an exploratory field study. IEEE, pp 658–659
- Verma J, Mishra AS (2020) COVID-19 infection: disease detection and mobile technology. PeerJ 8: e10345
- Wan S, Gu Z, Ni Q (2020) Cognitive computing and wireless communications on the edge for healthcare service robots. Comput Commun 149:99–106
- Wisniewski H, Liu G, Henson P, Vaidyam A, Hajratalli NK, Onnela J-P, Torous J (2019) Understanding the quality, effectiveness and attributes of top-rated smartphone health apps. Evid Based Ment Health 22:4–9
- World Water Assessment Programme (2020) The United Nations world water development report 2020: water and climate change
- Wray A, Olstad DL, Minaker LM (2018) Smart prevention: a new approach to primary and secondary cancer prevention in smart and connected communities. Cities 79:53–69
- Wu M, Lu T-J, Ling F-Y, Sun J, Du H-Y (2010) Research on the architecture of internet of things. IEEE, V5–V484
- Ye Q, Zhou J, Wu H (2020) Using information technology to manage the COVID-19 pandemic: development of a technical framework based on practical experience in China. JMIR Med Inform 8:e19515
- Yu L, Lu Y, Zhu X (2012) Smart hospital based on internet of things. J Networks 7:1654
- Yuehong YIN, Zeng Y, Chen X, Fan Y (2016) The internet of things in healthcare: an overview. J Ind Inf Integr 1:3–13
- Zouai M, Kazar O, Haba B, Ortiz G, Kabachi N (2019) New approach using an IoT robot to oversight the smart home environment. ISTE OpenScience Published by ISTE, London

Merging Cyberspace with Physical Space to Improve Cervical Cancer Management and Women's Health in Lower-Middle-Income Countries



Langanani Mbodi, Sheynaz Bassa, Mmamoletla Kgoebane-Maseko, Henry A. Adeola, Ravi Mehrotra, and Zodwa Dlamini

L. Mbodi (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: langanani.mbodi@wits.ac.za

S. Bassa

Department of Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: sheynaz.bassa@up.ac.za

M. Kgoebane-Maseko

Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: mw.kgoebane-maseko@up.ac.za

H. A. Adeola

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape and Tygerberg Hospital, Cape Town, South Africa

Division of Dermatology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences and Groote Schuur Hospital, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: henry.adeola@uct.ac.za

R. Mehrotra

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Indian Cancer Genomic Atlas, Centre for Health, Innovation and Policy Foundation, Pune, India e-mail: ravi.mehrotra@gov.in

Z. Dlamini

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_6

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Gynecologic Oncology Unit, University of the Witwatersrand, Parktown, Johannesburg, South Africa

Abstract The society we envision to live in for the future is one where scientific and technological innovations lead to human health innovations that merge cyberspace and physical space. In women's health, this can be compared with an autonomous driving of these cyber services toward improved women's health and early identification of diseases where strategies and services are decentralized such that women of all ages, languages, and citizenship lead high-quality lives. Imagine a system where women's health information is collected and processed, and such results are applied in the real world whether rural or urban. With the current advancement in technology, access to smartphones and other intelligent gadgets, such ideas should be explored in lower-middle-income countries (LMICs) for managing cervical cancer, a leading cause of death among women. Women, in this age of advanced healthcare services, should not be dying from preventable cancers such as cancer of the cervix. Besides advancements in primary prevention strategies such as HPV vaccines, the disease is often preceded by pre-malignant lesions which, when identified early, can be removed entirely and their development into invasive cancer arrested. This dismal picture can be improved by merging cyberspace information with day-to-day physical space. Applying Society 5.0 to a subunit of society such as a village or a suburb in a metropolitan city can potentially offer solutions in our setting. This chapter discusses the opportunities for employing technological innovations in Society 5.0 to improve cervical cancer management and women's health in South Africa, as an example of lower-middle-income countries. For the SDGs targets to be met in the LMICs, there is a need to simultaneously address challenges such as the energy crisis and bureaucratic issues such as those affecting oversight by government departments as they may deter the implementation of some of Society 5.0 programs. Not only is preventing and treating cervical cancer a human right but also a reproductive health right that requires adequate resources distribution, protection of women's privacy, and maintaining security to their personal information that may be collected during periods of piloting and implementation of research programs that are aimed at finding solutions for cervical cancer programs in LMICs.

Keywords Society 5.0 · Next-generation healthcare · lower-middle-incomecountries · Cervical cancer · Artificial intelligence · SDGs · Rights · Energy crisis · Privacy · Oversight · Security · Safety · Resource crisis

1 Introduction

Global cancer statistics (GLOBOCAN 2020) estimated that in 2020, there were 19.3 million new cancer cases reported and 10 million cancer-related deaths, globally. Cervical cancer was recorded as the fourth commonest cancer with 604,000 new cases and 342,000 cervical cancer–related deaths worldwide. Globally, cervical cancer is known as the fourth leading cause of cancer-related deaths in women (Sung et al. 2021).

The global general cancer burden is expected to reach as much as 28.4 million cases in 2040, which is an increase of 47% from 2020 records. A large increase in the burden of disease is expected in transitioning (developing) versus transitioned (developed) countries (64% to 95% and 32% to 56%, respectively) due to demographic changes. However, factors such as globalization and the growing economy, which may contribute to the increase in risk factors, may further exacerbate the problem. For developing countries to attain sustainable cancer care including prevention services, infrastructure development is pivotal, and these strategies will also be critical for global cancer control (Sung et al. 2021).

During their migration, humans went from being hunter-gatherer societies (Society 1.0) that were burdened by disease and dependent on herbs and natural immunity to fight diseases; to an agricultural society (Society 2.0) that depended on farming, farming innovations, and technology that designed drought-resistant crops and genetic modifications which resulted in animals that produced gallons of milk and bulk of meat; through to an industrial society (Society 3.0) that manufactured machinery that did a bulk of work; and to the latest information technology society (Society 4.0) that can access the entire world and almost do anything from the palm of their hands (Deguchi et al. 2020). In all these stages, each society had strategies to screen and manage disease in keeping with the skills and expertise of that society's era. Specifically, each society has ways and means to preserve health, be it through screening, prevention, and treatment of that organ disease, even though the terminology and phrases used to describe such may have changed over the years.

The society we envision for the future (in fact, we are already living in it) is one where scientific and technological innovation leads the human innovations that merge cyberspace and physical space. In women's health, think of this as autonomous driving of these cyber services toward improved women's health and early identification of diseases where strategies and services are decentralized such that women of all ages, languages, and citizenship lead high-quality lives (Deguchi et al. 2020).

In many developed countries, the implementation of an effective screening program hastened the decline of cervical cancer incidences, such as those in Europe, Oceania, and Northern America, even though there was an observed increase in diagnosis at a younger age which may be attributed to changes in sexual behaviors with a resultant increase in HPV infections (Bray et al. 2005). The reduction in new cervical cancer rates was also observed in countries such as the Caribbean and South Americas, whereas the majority (seven of eight) of sub-Saharan countries reported a uniform rise in the rate (Jedy-Agba et al. 2020).

Cervical cancer is one of the cancers that are considered almost completely preventable through a highly effective primary (HPV vaccine) and secondary (screening) prevention strategies. However, less than 30% of LMICs have implemented national HPV vaccination programs in comparison to what is implemented in high-income countries, where more than 80% of these countries have National HPV vaccination programs (Sung et al. 2021). The age-standardized incidence and mortality rates for cervical cancer are relatively higher in most African



Fig. 1 Region-specific incidence and mortality age-standardized rates for cervical cancer in 2020. Rates are shown in descending order of the world (W) age-standardized incidence rate, and the highest national age-standardized rates for incidence and mortality are superimposed. Adapted from GLOBOCAN 2020 (Sung et al. 2021)

regions compared to other regions and the world (Fig. 1), and the reasons for such disparities are poorly understood.

1.1 What Does Merging Cyberspace with Physical Space Imply?

Cyberspace can be defined as a digital space where real-world data are collected and analyzed by machines/computers to drive solutions. This is where virtual life or events are converted into useful information. In the context of Society 5.0, this realworld data is analyzed in cyberspace using artificial intelligence (AI) and mirrored to the real physical world. Therefore, merging these two will imply a smooth flow from the physical world to the cyber world and back from the cyber world into the physical world (Deguchi et al. 2020).

1.2 What Makes Society 5.0 the Hope for Women's Health in LMICs?

Imagine a system where women's health information is collected and processed, and such results are applied in the real world whether rural or urban. With the coverage of the current advancements in technology, access to smartphones and other intelligent gadgets, such ideas should have long been alive (Adel 2022).

2 The Societal Problem of Cervical Cancer

It is unfortunate that in this day and age of advanced healthcare services, many women still die from preventable cancers such as cancer of the cervix. Besides advancements in primary prevention strategies such as HPV vaccines, the disease also has premalignant lesions which when identified early can be completely cured and development into invasive cancer can be arrested. However, such is not the case in most developing societies in both urban and rural areas, rich and poor. There are many possible reasons why the health sector and society have not succeeded in stopping the deaths from this disease. These range from perceived lack of resources, misplaced human resources, blocked access to entry into health systems, poor reporting and delay of results, and a lot of patients on the waiting list for surgery. However, the proposed concept of merging cyberspace and day-to-day physical space in Society 5.0 offers new hope for women's health in Africa. Unfortunately, many lower- and middle-income countries continue to plan and execute health programs in the same way that did not yield many results in the past 50 years, thus, failing to acknowledge the evolution and development of human societies and the technological advancements that permit pulling the future to today and bringing tomorrow to now.

3 The Sustainable Development Goals and Society 5.0

Antonio Guterres, the Secretary-General of the United Nations, on the launch of a report on the socioeconomic impacts of COVID-19 in March 2020 said that "Everything we do during and after this crisis [COVID-19] must be with a strong focus on building more equal, inclusive and sustainable economies and societies that are more resilient in the face of pandemics, climate change, and the many other global challenges we face" (United Nations 2020a). There was a slow decline in the probability of dying from cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, and chronic respiratory disease in people between the ages of 30 and 70 from 22% in 2000 to 19% in 2010 and 18% in 2016 partly due to a shortage of services to prevent diseases with severe disruption to these services seen during the COVID-19 pandemic. The worst affected regions were the LMICs. The implementation of the SDGs (with specific reference to goal 3) was therefore an essential priority. This included the full range of essential health services, from health promotion to prevention, treatment, rehabilitation, and palliative care. If LMICs were to be covered by the year 2030, strategies that include the use of technology, advanced preventive programs, and merging cyberspace with physical space should be part of the solution (United Nations 2020b). The SDGs were aligned with Society 5.0 actions as a universal call for ending poverty for countries including LMICs, the protection of the planet, and to guarantee the enjoyment of peace and prosperity by all people by 2030. Using Society 5.0 to improve women's health through AI-based cervical cancer screening particularly speaks to SDG number 3, which focuses on good health and well-being (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021; WHO 2021).

4 What Are the Society 5.0 Solutions to Cervical Cancer? (Some Insights)

Applying this to a subunit of society such as a village or a suburb in the city can offer solutions to the problems in lower-middle-income country settings.

4.1 Information Gathering

The screening of cervical cancer has tremendously evolved over time (Table 1), and current approaches such as nucleic acid testing (DNA, RNA, mRNA, etc.) have led

Year/period	Cervical cancer screening activity
1928	Dr. Papanikolaou—uterine cancer can be discerned from a vaginal smear
Later	Dr. Aurel Babes and the invention of the Pap smear
1943	American Cancer Society endorses Pap smear
1955–1980	The incidence rate of cervical cancer drops by 70-80%
1988	First clinically available HPB test (viral Pap)
1996	Liquid-based cytology from Hologic (thin prep)
1996	SurePath, FDA approved by Becton Dickinson
2003	HPV DNA testing
2011	HPV RNA testing
2018	mRNA E6/E7

Table 1 The evolution of cervical cancer screening throughout the years through Societies (WHO 2020; Forslund et al. 2019)

to the accumulation of big data that is potentially amenable to AI and data analytics. The advanced use and ethical sharing of information between government agencies and departments such as Statistic South Africa, information on shopping trends, school and university information, driver and vehicle licensing services information, etc., may be applied to either villages or suburbs isolated from major metropolitan cities. "From crucial information about medication and its effects, right through to daily goals and aspirations, it will help to ensure that everyone can be treated as an individual" (Mohamoud 2020). Information such as age, smoking, sexual behavior, drinking and risks for unsafe sex, access to healthcare, use and access to the internet and emails, and ownership of smartphones or any other intelligent gadgets may be gathered to the benefit of the society as a whole. Such information may be synchronized with information available within the district or regional health facility for processing and developing risk profiles for individuals, districts, or regions. This data is collected from the real world and processed by computers/machines (Adel 2022).

4.2 Information Processing

The processing of this information may be initiated by retrospective access to the data, profiling and characterizing the women who have had the disease (precancer and cancer). Such information can then be used in collaboration with statistical computations and AI systems to develop a risk score for developing cancer, estimating the progression from normal to abnormal cells (precancer) based on individual characteristics and the score and estimating the rate of progression from precancer to cancer based on these individual factors. Instead of generalizing the entire population, these factors and scores can be individualized to a specific female/ woman (Pravettoni and Triberti 2020; Loppolo et al. 2020).

4.3 Application to the Real World

Such information can then be used in government budgets and planning for the region/district and resources (such as vaccines, screening kits, colposcopy services, and theater booking) can be mobilized as and when needed for that suburb. With this information, smart resource management can be done without increasing expenditure and with minimalizing any unaccounted expenditure or corruption (The Academy of Medical Sciences 2019).

Individual women can then be informed through any available services such as box office, email, cell phone, or direct contact when they are due for a screening or when they are at the most risk for the development of abnormal cells or cancer; and if there is a need for theater, such can be booked without them having to join long queues in healthcare facilities. Such implementation is not out of this world and will use the technology we have and the cyberspace that currently exists to solve real-life problems in real time (The Academy of Medical Sciences 2019; Fardazar et al. 2021).

Then perhaps one may ask how the rural areas will benefit from this Society 5.0 innovation. They will benefit in two ways. Direct: If multiple individuals within the rural village are considered high risk for disease development or are due for another screening, such information gathered centrally can be synthesized into services offered to them as a subgroup. Self-applied test kits, for example, can be sent through e-hailing vehicles, ten or so patients test and give the sealed kit back to the e-hail driver who will deliver directly to a laboratory, and tests are processed and results sent to women in real time. This solves the challenge of access and financial resources (Mahdavi et al. 2018; Fardazar et al. 2021). In our opinion, governments do not have to employ 20 healthcare workers to provide such services also saves on transportation costs for the specimen to the laboratories, as well as for the patients. An indirect benefit is that when provincial and district governments save money by offering such services in the urban areas, more resources are made available for use by remote regions and can therefore be redirected.

4.3.1 Rapid HPV DNA PCR Machine

In the theme of Society 5.0 aiming to solve social issues from a new perspective, different aspects of health such as screening programs will be connected and technology will integrate big data, the Internet of Things (IoT), and artificial intelligence to develop digital and physical infrastructure for services such as cervical cancer screening (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021).

With regards to health, it is estimated that by 2065, most populations will have more than 35% of people who are above the age of 65 years. Not only will this result in a reduction in the workforce but also an increased incidence of age-related malignancies. Therefore, screening for malignancies becomes important to all. The LMICs are already burdened by malignancies and will need to increase screening and prevention efforts to reduce the impact (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021). This will require rapid, reliable, and affordable technology.

5 How Will Society 5.0 Benefit Women's Healthcare in LMICs?

In digital healthcare, Society 5.0 affords an alternative option where technology affords support and essential healthcare medical systems for the benefit of society with regard to the quality of healthcare services (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021).

Features	Description of general development	Impact on cervical cancer screening and treatment
Artificial intelligence	Algorithms of machine learning and automated decisions	Hand-held cervical screening equip- ment for triage
Advanced mobile world wide web	Smartphones, 4/5G	Easy access to applications and information regarding choice on management, triage decision, and disease staging by clinicians in remote areas
Internet of Things	Wireless sensors, monitoring of digital and physical information	Allows for prediction model analysis to improve screening and treatment applications
Big data	Data science, analytics	New diagnostic technologies and monitoring of cancer, proteomics in screening and risk monitoring
Blockchain	Cryptocurrency and digital mining	Digitalizes transactions and payments related to cervical cancer manage- ment and removes access to funds delays in remote settings
Smart environment	Controlling and decision by machines or human commands	Biomarkers and sensors can pick up the presence of environmental car- cinogens and toxicity
Ubiquitous computing	Global access and storage (cloud)	Access to data for cancer-related studies, use of patient data stored for monitoring of disease and screening follow-up
Wearables and devices	Remote health monitoring, diagnostics and decisions, and emergency notifi- cations system	Monitoring of well-being of patients undergoing treatment of cervical cancer including deterioration in patients who are for palliative care and need treatment plan changing

 Table 2
 Main disruptive technologies of the Fourth Industrial Revolution and their impact on women's health (cervical cancer)

The collection of data, storage, and analyses in a cloud infrastructure is presented in an affordable systems product that LMICs can afford to purchase and maintain for the benefit of the citizens. With this system, information regarding cervical screening status, results, follow-up trends, appointments, and any new information processed can be sent to their district and will ensure timeously compliance to screening such as cervical cytology and prevention strategies such as HPV vaccination (Narvaez Rojas et al. 2021).

Some of the disruptive technological advances seen in the Fourth Industrial Revolution (Table 2) and some applications relevant to cervical cancer prevention, screening, and management and development of research will be key if all societies including LMICs are to advance and benefit from Society 5.0 (de Hoyos Guevara 2022).

Title	Industry 4.0 (Germany)	Society 5.0 (Japan)
Design	(a) High-Tech Strategy 2020 Action Plan for Germany	(a) Fifth Science and Technology Basic Plan (released 2016)
	(b) Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0 (Industry 4.0 Working Group, 2013)	(b) Comprehensive Strategy on Science, Technology, and Innovation for 2017 (released 2017)
Objectives	(a) Smart factories(b) Focuses on high-tech manufacturing	(a) Super-smart society(b) The focus is on society as a whole
Key issues	(a) Cyber-physical systems (CPS)(b) Internet of Things (IoT)(c) Mass customization	(a) High-level convergence of cyber- space and physical space(b) Balancing economic development with a resolution of social issues(c) Human-centered society

 Table 3 Comparison between Industry 4.0 and Society 5.0 (Adapted from Deguchi et al. 2020)

The WHO Global Strategy 2030 to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer and achieve a cervical cancer-free society by the end of the century requires efforts from various strategies and role players. This includes the plan to achieve a 90% full vaccination of girls with an HPV vaccine by 15 years of age, 70% of women to have been screened using a high-performance test done at ages 35 and 45 years, and lastly, a 90% of those identified with cervical disease (premalignant or malignant) to receive treatment (90% of women with precancer treated, 90% of women with invasive cancer managed) (Sung et al. 2021).

As society moves or upgrades from Society 4.0 to Society 5.0, there will be a transition from currently known dimensions to newer dimensions (Polat and Erkollar 2021). There are some key differences between Industry 4.0 and Society 5.0 (Table 3). The former advocated for smart factories while the latter called for a super smart society. Their scope of deployment of cyber-physical systems differs in that Industry 4.0 deploys in a manufacturing environment whereas Society 5.0 deploys across society as a whole (Deguchi et al. 2020).

Society 5.0 has the potential to resolve multiple challenges in many aspects of human life such as mobility, agriculture, food, manufacturing, disaster control, energy, and most importantly healthcare. The concept fully integrates with a sustainable society where everyone can live a safe and fulfilling life empowered by digital solutions and an integrated approach to health challenges. This will surely allow governments the opportunity to develop a robust framework for a smooth transition from Society 4.0 into Society 5.0, enriched with new-age digital technologies (Deguchi et al. 2020; United Nations 2021). The model is likely to benefit South African society through processes as described in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Vision of a sustainable society where everyone can live a healthy, safe, and fulfilling life

6 How Will Cervical Cancer Screening Be Affected?

6.1 Introduction

As the third most common cancer in women globally, effects have been put to increase and improve screening and vaccination programs in developed countries. There is a wide disparity in the burden of disease between women in developed countries and women in underdeveloped or developing countries. Such has become more profound recently (Sung et al. 2021). Human papillomavirus (HPV) is categorized as low-risk (Lr) or high-risk (Hr), depending on the oncogenic potential of the strain or sub-strain. The majority of cervical cancer diseases are attributed to the infection with the Lr HPV. Sexual contact is often necessary for HPV transmission, and it is the most common STI in the world. Incidences of the disease are highest during teenage years and in 20–30-year-olds. These ages are associated with risk factors such as the early age of sexual debut and multiple sexual partners (Bedell et al. 2020).

When there is immune competency, most young women will be able to mount an effective immune response and clear the HPV infection or reduce the viral load to less than detectable levels within the 24 months period. Tobacco use, immunosuppression, low socioeconomic status, and long-term use of oral contraceptives are associated with the persistence of the disease. HPV consists of a circular, double-stranded genome containing nine open reading frames. "Early" (E) genes control DNA maintenance, replication, and transcription (Fig. 3). E1 and E2 are expressed at high levels early in HPV infection and allow for viral replication within cervical cells. "Late" (L) genes encode capsid proteins (Bedell et al. 2020).


Fig. 3 The role of HPV E6 and E7 in cervical cancer carcinogenesis

6.2 Medical Laboratories in Cervical Cytology and HPV Screening in the Context of Vision 2030 and Society 5.0

Lower-middle-income countries face many challenges that hamper progress in the eradication of HPV infection and treatment of its sequelae (Catarino et al. 2015). Among these is a desperately under-resourced healthcare system. The doctor-to-patient ratio in South Africa stands at 26 per 100,000 1: 3846. The nurse-to-patient ratio is calculated at 1: 213. A cytotechnologist screens approximately 60 cervical smears daily in the public sector, well above recommended daily case numbers with potentially high error rates (Ahmed and Davids 2021; SANC 2020). The lack of improvement in these statistics and lack of innovation means that sub-Saharan Africa continues to under-diagnose and undertreat HPV and cervical cancer. This is further complicated by an entrenched undercurrent of poorly managed HIV infection (Marima et al. 2021). With adequate funding and resourcing, local vaccinology will manufacture HR HPV vaccines. Following the COVID-19 pandemic, governments in Africa are investing in prefilled vaccine manufacturing and rollout.

A Society 5.0 ideal in this space will see individuals self-vaccinating, in a similar way that patients are self-administering insulin and heparin in the comfort of their own homes. Family-centered vaccination by parents for their children and school-driven vaccination drives are initiatives that will reduce much pressure on the health

Challenges	South Africa's Vision 2030, in line with the Society 5.0 approach
Low laboratory equipment capacity	Repurposing of oversupplied PCR testing equipment as well as accompanying skills left behind by the COVID-19 pandemic. ^a
Low laboratory staff capacity	Use of automated cytology screening tools such as BD's FocalPoint GS. Such tools save laboratory human capacity valuable screening time, affording staff more time to focus on difficult positive cases.
Low healthcare professional capacity	Self-testing: Placing testing into the patients' hands provides much-needed relief in terms of health professionals' capacity. ^b
The human condition	Adequate sex education. Equal responsibility for sexual health is shared by both sexes. Eradicative HPV vaccination drives. Educa- tion on the use of existing smartphone tech- nology towards sharing health information amongst individuals and health-care profes- sionals, placing the responsibility of individ- ual's health back into their hands.
Current and historical economical inequality	National Health Insurance.
HPV screening is riddled with diagnostic pit- falls which include transient infections, con- tributing to over-diagnosis and potential over- treatment and inaccurate statistics	Extension of basic HPV PCR screening to include a full cytological evaluation. This can be achieved by the addition of preserving media to self-testing kits: • Diagnosis grading of intraepithelial neo- plasia • Diagnosis of in-situ and invasive malig- nancies • Diagnosis of concomitant infections such as trichomoniasis, candida Enduring that protocols are properly applied to avoid over-treatment.

Table 4 Challenges that may impact South Africa's Vision 2030 in the context of Society 5.0

^aLozar et al. (2021)

^bArbyn et al. (2018), Bishop et al. (2019), Hitti (2020), Saville et al. (2020), Smith et al. (2016)

system. Some contextual challenges for the realization of Vision 2030 and Society 5.0 in South Africa are presented in Table 4.

The WHO's approach: The current approach to cervical screening for HPV as mandated/guided by the WHO in their 2020 report assessment has placed HPV PCR as an adjunct step in the algorithm for screening and treatment for cervical Hr HPV. In accommodation of the larger developing world, the visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) step is retained due to its affordability and wide availability and sensitivity. The addition of HPV-PCR as an adjunct in the algorithm was informed by the need to re-purpose/utilize the massive roll-out of PCR that was stimulated by the COVID-19 pandemic (skilling, software, hardware, and consumables) (WHO 2021).

South Africa has done away with the VIA step because patients already receive Pap testing at primary health-care level facilities. Because of the pandemic, even the poorest third-world countries now have PCR testing facilities (WHO 2021).

6.3 HPV Self-Testing Devices Are Already in Use on the Continent

Human papillomavirus self-testing is an important screening tool for the early detection of HPV infection and the development of benign and malignant HPV-associated lesions. Some of the self-testing HPV devices are described in Fig. 4a–d.



Fig. 4 (a) Various HPV self-testing medical devices available on the market (Rover) (Bishop et al. 2019). Images used with permission from Rovers® Medical Devices (www.roversmedicaldevices.com). (b) Evalyn® Brush used in Kenya (by Rover) (Bishop et al. 2019). Image used with permission from Rovers® Medical Devices (www.roversmedicaldevices.com). (c) Matter's Sukha concept enables women to carry out smear tests at home. Images used with permission from Matter (matter.co.uk). (d) Widely used dry swab already piloted in Australia (Arbyn et al. 2018; Bishop et al. 2019; Saville et al. 2020; Smith et al. 2016)

6.4 Newer Cervical Screening Technologies That May Benefit the LMICs

6.4.1 HPV DNA

The Hybrid Capture II HPV-DNA Assay (Digene) is the first FDA-approved test for the detection of Hr HPV. To date, four other tests have received FDA approval: Cervista HPV HR (Hologic), Cervista HPV 16/18 (Hologic), Cobas HPV test (Roche Molecular Systems), and APTIMA HPV Assay (Gen-Probe). These have expanded the scope in an era where HPV is used as a primary screening modality. The HPV testing machine is costly and needs laboratory processing, and time to obtain results. However, for LMICs, there is a newer variant of the test, the Hybrid Capture II HPV DNA test that has been designed to work in low-resource settings (the careHPV testing system, QIAGEN, Germantown, MD, USA). It is simple, fast, low-cost, and robust (Bedell et al. 2020). There is also a low-cost PCR-based testing system (AmpFire human papillomavirus detection system, Atila Biosystems) that is not only rapid in analyzing specimens but also more sensitive (Fig. 5). It is approved for use in China and Europe but not yet in the USA. This will also be ideal for LMICs such as South Africa (Bedell et al. 2020).

6.4.2 HPV mRNA Technology

The new focus is on the use of HPV mRNA tests for oncoproteins E6 and E7 messenger RNA detection as an alternative to HPV DNA. The HPV infects the basal cell layer and uses the double-stranded DNA at its core and a protein coat (capsid). The HPV DNA tests detect viral DNA through a hybridization technique or a highly conserved region of the L1 capsid protein or E genes using PCR whereas the HPV mRNA tests detect transcripts of the viral E6/E7 oncoproteins (WHO 2021).



Fig. 5 AmpFire human papillomavirus detection system, Atila Biosystems (Bedell et al. 2020)

Oncogenesis is a result of persistent infection from any of the high-risk genotypes of HPV. This is essential for cervical oncogenesis. The viral particles enter the basal layer of the cervical epithelium and integrate their DNA with the host cellular DNA. As it persists, the E6 and E7 oncoproteins are expressed. These proteins are primarily responsible for neoplastic transformation (WHO 2021).

The E7 protein binds and degrades retinoblastoma (pRb), the tumor suppressor protein, which initiates uncontrolled activation of the cell cycle. The E6 protein degrades p53 (another tumor suppressor protein) and inhibits apoptosis (programmed cell death) and upregulates telomerase activity. The results are cell cycle deregulation and cellular immortalization which kickstarts the process of carcinogenesis. The level of E6 and E7 expression increases as the grade of cervical intraepithelial dysplasia worsens. These changes in HPV mRNA expression of E6/E7 oncoproteins directly underlie the neoplastic phenotype. Detection of HPV E6/E7 mRNA of these two oncoproteins could be more specific than viral DNA (WHO 2021).

6.4.3 Digital Colposcopy

Advances in technology have led to the development of digital optical technology and the manufacturing of highly portable digital colposcopes (Fig. 6) with ultrahigh-resolution benefits to manipulate the picture such as magnification and transfer. The gadget and its portability are useful tools for the visual inspection and treatment of premalignant lesions in rural settings (Liu et al. 2016).

When using digital colposcopy software, it is possible to connect through a smartphone which further enhances the image and offers ease of image transfer to a higher center for interpretation. An example is a technology used in the Enhanced Visual Assessment System (MobileODT, Israel) which utilizes the advanced optics found in Android smartphones and is easily available even in low-resource countries (Bedell et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2016).

6.4.4 Self-Sampling for HPV

Self-sampling is an acceptable method in lower-middle-income countries and has been accepted well in rural areas such as the Kwazulu-Natal in South Africa. The specimen is collected with either a swab or brush. Several pilot studies have shown the benefits of using a tampon for specimen collection. The use of the Dacron swab makes testing easy as this device is used in combination with the color indicator cards (Mbatha et al. 2017). Since its introduction, self-testing has been reported to be less sensitive (11% reduction) to the clinician-collected sample with regards to a DNA test and detection of high-grade cervical lesions (Gravitt and Rositch 2014). However, recent studies have shown that self-collected vaginal samples, cotton swabs, and Dacron swabs have an overall sensitivity of 0.74 and specificity of 0.88 when compared with the clinician-collected samples and at times the two are

Fig. 6 Digital colposcopy



comparable (Mbatha et al. 2017). A study in a lower-middle-income country, Ghana, reported that because the prevalence of high-risk HPV is higher in HIV-positive women, acceptance of the self-test helps reduce the weight of visiting a facility and delayed referral for management as these patients are known to progress rapidly from severe dysplasia to malignancy (Asare et al. 2022). We believe that in LMICs, there are barriers that need to be overcome such as personal preferences, environmental factors affecting access, and other barriers including religion. If women are to benefit maximally from the legacy facilities retained after pilot studies or larger studies, these barriers must be overcome.

6.4.5 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation (DNAme) of host cell DNA is another alternative triage tool for Hr HPV-positive women. DNAme has a major role in gene transcription and in genomic stability. Aberrant methylation leads to the silencing of tumor suppressor genes, cell immortality, and malignant transformation. When used for screening triage, it will be an added advantage that it is automated, objective, and run on the same sample as the HPV assay. Some of the genes that have been shown to have elevated methylation profiles in cervical cancer are CADM1, DAPK1, and RARB. Its disadvantages are that it does not cover other HPV types such as 18, 31, 33, and 45 and the high cost (Lorincz et al. 2013).

Elevation of methylation of the HPV 16 L1 and L2 is associated with high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasm (CIN) and invasive cancer. Although further studies are required to validate this for clinical practice, there is indeed a known association between specific patterns of DNAme in HPV16 L1 and L2 and high-grade CIN. When rolled out for clinical use, it will help in reducing the waiting period for results and reduce the false negative rate (Lorincz et al. 2013).

6.4.6 The Use of Gene-Xpert

Xpert® HPV is a qualitative, in vitro test that detects HPV in liquid-based cytology (LBC) specimens collected in PreservCyt®. It is able to detect DNA of different Hr HPV types of up to 14. It is quick and results may be available in 60 minutes (Fig. 7). Due to the prevalence of TB in Southern Africa and Africa in general, many health facilities in South Africa have a Gene-Xpert machine. Therefore, its use in screening for cervical cancer is a good step forward toward reducing morbidity and mortality. Each HPV test can be completed in around 1 hour (Cubie and Campbell 2017).



Fig. 7 The Gene-Xpert machine HPV testing process

Although currently, the positivity is about 19.9%, in the detection of HPV graded as "other," it is more than such detection on HPV 16 or HPV 18/45 (64.4% versus 24.2%) for each of HPV 16 or 18/45. The test identifies HPV 31-related types (HPV 31, 33, 35, 52, or 58) mostly in HIV positive people (43.4%). It also has the advantage of ease of use by non-laboratory staff with minimal training, has a rapid turnaround time, and gives reproducible results in about an hour with the added bonus of partial genotyping (Cubie and Campbell 2017).

6.4.7 HPV First Void Urine Testing

Urine "liquid biopsy" for human HPV DNA testing has been reported to have a reasonable correlation with that which is collected from the cervix. The ease of sampling and higher acceptability by women due to its non-invasiveness makes it a perfect test for use in LMICs. The test is performed on the first-void urine and is able to detect cervical cells that were shed off into the vagina and have become a contaminant on the labia (Pattyn et al. 2019). During voiding, these cells are admixed with urine, making it possible for testing HPV DNA on this first void specimen (Vorsters et al. 2014). However, there are challenges related to the standardization of urine collection, storage and preservation, and processing techniques. This technique is predominantly still being piloted, and hopefully, we will have answers that address these challenges and improve the efficacy of the test.

6.5 Radiotherapy Management in LMICs

Surgery has an established role in the curative treatment of cervical cancer. However, a large number of women present with advanced or inoperable diseases for which radiotherapy has an established role in both cure and palliation. The availability of gynecology oncology and radiation oncology services is, however, limited in lower-middle-income countries. Even in LMICs with limited gynecology oncology services, patient access to services is limited by poverty and access to tertiary care facilities (Zubizarreta et al. 2014).

Approximately two-thirds of low-income countries and up to one-third of middleincome countries do not have radiotherapy facilities. The figures for Africa are significantly worse with 80% of low-income countries (LIC) and 44% of LMICs having no radiotherapy facilities (Zubizarreta et al. 2014). Between 4000 and 7000 new units are required to meet the needs of LMICs currently.

Concurrent chemoradiotherapy remains the standard of care for locally advanced cervical cancer. Cisplatinum 40 mg/m2 has been the most common agent studied and a dose-response has been found to impact disease-free survival with a cumulative dose of 200 mg required to meet the threshold for clinical benefit.

6.5.1 Radiotherapy Access in LMICs

There is a dire shortage of radiotherapy resources across the African continent. Even with the upscaling of HPV vaccinations, there will remain a significant burden of cervical cancer requiring radiotherapy treatment (Rodin et al. 2021). At least 5000 new megavoltage radiotherapy units are required to meet the needs of the African continent (Ngwa et al. 2022). Less than half the continent has brachytherapy equipment and like megavoltage units, most of these are concentrated in certain parts of the continent (Tumba and Theyra-Enias 2022). The mere provision of equipment will not address the problem. Human resources include radiation oncologists, medical physicists, radiotherapists, and oncology nurses. Staffing numbers are determined by patient workload and equipment availability. Based on the current equipment needs in Africa, ~50,000 individuals will need to be trained to meet current recommendations (Rodin et al. 2021).

6.5.2 Technological Advances to Deal with LMICs' Radiotherapy Needs

Hypofractionated Radiotherapy

Hypofractionation for pelvic malignancies has proven to be an acceptable form of treatment. The process of delivering higher doses per fraction while reducing the total dose and overall treatment time is an attractive one, especially in centers where resources are limited. Clinical evidence has confirmed the safety and efficacy in breast, prostate, and rectal cancers (Kapiteijn et al. 2001; START Trialists' Group 2008). In rectal cancer, 25Gy in five fractions has been confirmed in early stage, resectable, as well as locally advanced disease (Kapiteijn et al. 2001). Data has been lacking on cervical cancer but there are ongoing randomized studies in this regard. Nonetheless, hypofractionated cervical cancer radiotherapy is practiced in LMICs driven by need as opposed to clinical evidence (Rodin et al. 2021).

7 A Vision for the Future in LMICs

For LMICs, a process where screening a woman at just one time in her life after the age of 35 will be beneficial. Evidence suggests that it decreases the risk of dying from cervical cancer by 70% with the risk of cancer-related death reduced by 85% if the screening is done every 5 years (Bedell et al. 2020) The future where testing is rapid, low-cost, high volume, and self-administered with multitudes of tests a day is not impossible using the above-mentioned technologies. It is not hard to imagine a future where screening programs utilize rapid, low-cost, high-volume, self-swab HPV testing of thousands of women per day. Although these modern tools utilize minimal energy and some are operated and rechargeable batteries, there is still a need

for a secured energy supply. In most LMICs' government systems, there is a crisis in energy supply, and many villages and other establishments still do not have at least a reliable supply of electricity if at all (Jamal 2015). The screening could be done by nurses, midwives, or trained local healthcare workers and images interpreted by artificial intelligence software (Bedell et al. 2020). Not least, drones have been used in healthcare and have proven to assist in breaking the divide and giving the opportunity to patients who have limited (or would rather not directly seek) access to healthcare facilities.

8 Challenges to Implementing Programs for Improving Women's Health in LMICs

For Society 5.0 to work effectively in improving the screening and treatment of women's malignancies, there should be a good and collaborative working relationship between national and local governments. The current red tape in many LMICs hinders progress in developing services such as building an inter-sector information integration architecture and striking a balance between protection and access to personal information. For innovation to be successful, ease on existing national and district regulations should be imposed (Deguchi et al. 2020).

Currently, the rural regions of these LMICs have little identifiable data management systems and such should be established. The urbanized part of the LMICs has some regions with data managed both privately and publicly and these should be consolidated, leveraged, and coordinated with the resultant building of inter-sector information integration architecture (Deguchi et al. 2020).

The existing national and local government policies in existence will need to be enforced together with resolutions of social issues. The generation of data, analysis, and synthesis should not be done only by private companies that are conducting research, piloting projects, and building infrastructure for these studies. Governments should also play a role. However, in most LMICs, governments often fail to do so, and health data will be owned by private companies with no guarantee of citizens' safety (Deguchi et al. 2020).

9 Conclusion

LMICs will benefit from pilot studies done by big pharma and manufacturers with regard to equipment. The pilot of cervical cancer screening tools such as those used in self-collection when combined with mobile stations for pilots, use of drones, and smartphone technology will solve the problems experienced by patients with regard to access to results, follow-up plans, and referral for treatment. Africa and other LMICs are not without resources but have resistance from bureaucrats and political

leaders who in most instances do not share the vision with healthcare workers on the ground. The WHO 2030 plan and its accelerated approach to address all the SDGs is possible in LMICs. The sharing of skills and training of fellow clinicians in the identification and management of precancer and cancer patients will be made possible and easy by aspiring toward Society 5.0. The implementation strategies of Society 5.0 will see LMICs improve drastically with regard to screening and treatment of premalignant lesions and improve the outcome of cervical cancer management, via integration of the cyberspace with physical healthcare space for better women's health.

References

- Adel A (2022) Future of industry 5.0 in society: human-centric solutions, challenges and prospective research areas. J Cloud Comput (Heidelb) 11(1):40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13677-022-00314-5
- Ahmed N, Davids R (2021 Sep 16) Covid 19: are south African junior doctors prepared for critical care management outside the intensive care unit? Pan Afr Med J 40:41. https://doi.org/10. 11604/pamj.2021.40.41.30134
- Arbyn M, Smith SB, Temin S, Sultana F, Castle P (2018) Detecting cervical precancer and reaching underscreened women by using HPV testing on self samples: updated meta-analyses. BMJ 363: k4823. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k4823
- Asare M, Abah E, Obiri-Yeboah D, Lowenstein L, Lanning B (2022 Jul 8) HPV self-sampling for cervical cancer screening among women living with HIV in low- and middle-income countries: what do we know and what can be done? Healthcare (Basel) 10(7):1270. https://doi.org/10. 3390/healthcare10071270
- Bedell SL, Goldstein LS, Goldstein AR, Goldstein AT (2020) Cervical cancer screening: past , present , and future. Sex Med Rev [Internet] 8(1):28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2019. 09.005
- Bishop E, Katz ML, Reiter PL (2019 Apr 30) Acceptability of human papillomavirus self-sampling among a National Sample of women in the United States. Biores Open Access 8(1):65–73. https://doi.org/10.1089/biores.2018.0040
- Bray F, Loos A, Mccarron P, Weiderpass E, Arbyn M, Møller H, Hakama M, Dm P (2005 Mar) Trends in cervical squamous cell carcinoma incidence in 13 European countries: changing risk and the effects of screening. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 14(3):677–686. https://doi.org/10. 1158/1055-9965.Epi-04-0569
- Catarino R, Petignat P, Dongui G, Vassilakos P (2015) Cervical cancer screening in developing countries at a crossroad: emerging technologies and policy choices. World J Clin Oncol 6(6): 281–290. https://doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v6.i6.281
- Cubie H, Campbell C (2017) Use of the GeneXpert test in Malawi. http://www.hpvworld.com
- de Hoyos Guevara JA (2022) Editorial. RISUS J Innov Sustain 13(3):1–3. https://doi.org/10.23925/ 2179-3565.2022v13i3p1-3. https://revistas.pucsp.br/index.php/risus/article/view/59750/40806
- Deguchi A, Hirai C, Matsuoka H, Nakano T, Oshima K et al (2020) What is society 5.0? In: Society 5.0. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-2989-4_1
- Fardazar FE, Choopani A, Ahmad S, Teymourlouy A, Arkian SH (2021, May 13) Challenges of health care reforms (HCRS) in low and middle-income countries (LMICS): a qualitative systematic review. Preprint (Version 1) available at Research Square. https://doi.org/10. 21203/rs.3.rs-510547/v1

- Forslund O, Miriam Elfström K, Lamin H, Dillner J (2019) HPV-mrNA and HPV-DNA detection in samples taken up to seven years before severe dysplasia of cervix uteri. Int J Cancer 144: 1073–1081. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31819
- Gravitt PE, Rositch AF (2014) HPV self-testing and cervical cancer screening coverage. Lancet Oncol [Internet] 15:13–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70605-3
- Hitti N (2020) Matter's Sukha concept enables women to carry out smear tests at home. https:// www.dezeen.com/2020/05/15/sukha-smear-test-concept-design-matter
- Ioppolo G, Vazquez F, Mg H, Andrès E (2020 Jul 12) Medicine 4.0: new technologies as tools for a society 5.0. J Clin Med 9(7):2198. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9072198
- Jamal N (2015) Options for the supply of electricity to rural homes in South Africa. J Energy South Afr 26(3):58–65. http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1021-44 7X2015000300006&lng=en&tlng=en. Accessed 19 January 2023
- Jedy-Agba E, Joko WY, Liu B, Buziba NG, Borok M, Korir A et al (2020 October) Trends in cervical cancer incidence in sub-Saharan Africa. Br J Cancer [Internet]. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41416-020-0831-9
- Kapiteijn E, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Putter H, Steup WH, Wiggers T, Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group et al (2001 Aug 30) Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer. N Engl J Med 345(9):638–646. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa010580
- Liu AH, Gold MA, Schiffman M, Smith KM, Zuna RE, Dunn ST et al (2016 Apr) Comparison of colposcopic impression based on live colposcopy and evaluation of static digital images. J Low Genit Tract Dis 20(2):154–161. https://doi.org/10.1097/LGT.000000000000194
- Lorincz A, Castanon A, Wey Lim AW, Sasieni P (2013 Sep 9) New strategies for human papillomavirus-based cervical screening. Womens Health (Lond) 5:443–452. https://doi.org/ 10.2217/whe.13.48
- Lozar T, Nagvekar R, Rohrer C, Dube Mandishora RS, Ivanus U, Fitzpatrick MB (2021 Sep 18) Cervical cancer screening postpandemic: self-sampling opportunities to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer. Int J Women's Health 13:841–859. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH. S288376
- Mahdavi M, Parsaeian M, Jaafaripooyan E, Ghaffari S (2018) Recent Iranian health system reform: an operational perspective to improve health services quality. Int J Health Policy Manag 7(1): 70–74
- Marima R, Hull R, Lolas G, Syrigos KN, Kgoebane-Maseko M, Kaufmann AM et al (2021 Sep 18) The catastrophic HPV/HIV dual viral oncogenomics in concert with dysregulated alternative splicing in cervical cancer. Int J Mol Sci 22(18):10115. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms221810115
- Mbatha JN, Mtshali A, Taylor M, Ndhlovu PD, Kjetland EF (2017) Self-sampling for human papillomavirus testing among rural young women of KwaZulu - Natal, South Africa. BMC Res Notes [Internet] 2017:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-017-3045-3
- Mohamoud A (2020) New standards introduced to improve information sharing between health and social care. https://healthcareleadernews.com/new-standards-introduced-to-improve-informa tion-sharing-between-health-and-social-care
- Narvaez Rojas C, Alomia Peñafiel GA, Loaiza Buitrago DF, Tavera Romero CA (2021) Society 5.0: a Japanese concept for a superintelligent society. Sustainability 13(12):6567. https://doi. org/10.3390/su13126567
- Ngwa W, Addai BW, Adewole I, Ainsworth V, Alaro J, Alatise OI et al (2022) Cancer in sub-Saharan Africa: a Lancet Oncology Commission. Lancet Oncol 23(6):e251
- Pattyn J, Van Keer S, Biesmans S, Ieven M, Vanderborght C, Beyers K et al (2019 Feb) Human papillomavirus detection in urine: effect of a first-void urine collection device and timing of collection. J Virol Methods 264:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.11.008
- Polat L, Erkollar A (2021) Industry 4.0 vs. society 5.0. In: Durakbasa NM, Gençyılmaz MG (eds) Digital conversion on the way to industry 4.0. ISPR 2020, Lecture notes in mechanical engineering. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62784-3_28

- Pravettoni G, Triberti A (2020) "P5" approach to healthcare and health technology. In: P5 eHealth: an agenda for the health technologies of the future. Springer, Cham, Switzerland
- Rodin D, Tawk B, Mohamad O, Grover S, Moraes FY, Yap ML, Zubizarreta E, Lievens Y et al (2021 Apr) Hypofractionated radiotherapy in the real-world setting: an international ESTRO-GIRO survey. Radiother Oncol 157:32–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2021.01.003
- Saville M, Hawkes D, Keung M, Ip E, Silvers J, Sultana F et al (2020) Analytical performance of HPV assays on vaginal self-collected vs practitioner-collected cervical samples: the SCOPE study. J Clin Virol 127:104375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104375
- Smith M, Jie Bin Lew BE, Simms K, Canfell K (2016 Mar 21) Impact of HPV sample selfcollection for under-screened women in the renewed cervical screening program. Med J Aust 204(5):1941e-7. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja15.00912
- South African Nursing Council (SANC) (2020). https://www.sanc.co.za/
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A et al (2021) Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 71(3):209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Tart Trialists' Group (2008 Mar 29) The UK Standardisation of Breast Radiotherapy (START) Trial B of radiotherapy hypofractionation for treatment of early breast cancer: a randomised trial. Lancet 371(9618):1098–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60348-7
- The Academy of Medical Sciences (2019) Achieving universal health coverage in LMICS: the role of quality of care research. https://www.interacademies.org/sites/default/files/publication/ achieving_universal_health_coverage_in_lmic.pdf
- Tumba N, Theyra-Enias H (2022 Jun) Brachytherapy infrastructure in sub-Saharan Africa and quest for cervical cancer elimination. J Contemp Brachytherapy 14(3):241–247. https://doi.org/10. 5114/jcb.2022.116414
- United Nations (2020a) The recovery from the COVID-19 crisis must lead to a different economy. Launch of report on socio-economic impacts of COVID-19. https://www.un.org/en/uncoronavirus-communications-team/launch-report-socio-economic-impacts-covid-19
- United Nations (2020b) The sustainable development goals report. https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/ files/2020-09/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf
- United Nations (2021) Social development for sustainable development. Sustainable Development Goals. https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/2030agenda-sdgs.html
- Vorsters A, Van Damme P, Clifford G (2014) Urine testing for HPV: rationale for using first void. BMJ 349:g6252. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g6252
- WHO (2020) WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention, second edition: use of mRNA tests for human papillomavirus (HPV). https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240040434
- WHO (2021, July 6) WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention. https://www.who.int/news/item/06-07-2021-q-and-a-screening-and-treatment-cervical-pre-cancer-lesions-for-cervical-cancer-prevention
- Zubizarreta EH, Fidarova E, Healy B, Rosenblatt E (2014) Need for radiotherapy in low and middle income countries the silent crisis continues. Clin Oncol [Internet]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clon.2014.10.006

Artificial Intelligence–Enhanced Drug Discovery and the Achievement of Next-Generation Human-Centered Health System



Sikhumbuzo Z. Mbatha, Thanyani V. Mulaudzi, Zukile Mbita, Henry A. Adeola, Jyotsna Batra, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract Conceptualized in Japan, Society 5.0 sets an ambitious goal of advancing the human endeavor from the current information-intensive society to a knowledge-intensive society by creating a human-centered society based on the integration of cyberspace with real-world physical space, exploiting the powers of artificial intelligence technologies for the betterment of all human life at both individual and societal levels. It is a society that uses technological advancement objectively to

S. Z. Mbatha (🖂)

Department of Surgery, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: sikhumbuzo.mbatha@up.ac.za

T. V. Mulaudzi Department of Surgery, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: thanyani.mulaudzi@up.ac.za

Z. Mbita

Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Biotechnology, University of Limpopo, Sovenga, Mankweng, South Africa e-mail: Zukile.Mbita@ul.ac.za

H. A. Adeola

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, University of the Western Cape and Tygerberg Hospital, Cape Town, South Africa

Division of Dermatology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences and Groote Schuur Hospital, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: henry.adeola@uct.ac.za

J. Batra

Centre for Genomics and personalized Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

Translational Research Institute, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

School of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia e-mail: jyotsna.batra@qut.edu.au

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_7 provide an equitable and fair distribution of the world's resources, circumventing the current inter-personal and global-regional based disparities and inequalities. Such a society will be incomplete without a human-centered health care system, designed to understand patients holistically and provide suitable comprehensive solutions to a patient's health needs. Artificial intelligence (AI) in the drug discovery process uses machine learning and deep learning computational models that enhance the understanding of disease heterogeneity, identify dysregulated molecular pathways, and find the right therapeutic target as well as the appropriate drug candidate during the discovery and design process; thereby, improving efficacy and speed of drug discovery. AI can use deep learning algorithms to analyze vast amounts of data from scientific text and publications relating it to a patient's clinical data and laboratory characteristics and thereby identify suitable candidates for inclusion in a particular clinical trial. AI can also predict the responses to therapy including drugdrug or drug-food interactions. Another crucial aspect of achieving a humancentered health care system will be the protection and upholding of basic human rights as enshrined in the UN's Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Drug development has notable impact on some of these rights and now even more so with the incorporation of AI and machine learning. In this chapter, we outline a brief overview of some of the uses of AI in the drug development process. We discuss the possible influence of AI-enhanced drug discovery in a human-centered health care system with special reference to the drug discovery process, the challenges of availability of therapeutics, especially in low- and middle-income countries, and the challenge posed by the energy crisis on big pharma. And finally, we touch on the human rights issues posed by AI in drug discovery.

Keywords Society $5.0 \cdot$ Drug discovery \cdot Machine learning \cdot Human-centered design \cdot Deep learning \cdot Artificial intelligence \cdot Right to access medicines

K. R. M. Blenman

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Z. Dlamini

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

1 Introduction

From time immemorial, human society has gone through a number of eras characterized by massive paradigm shifts and evolution from one era to the next. Human beings started their journey as mere hunter-gatherers (Society 1.0), then settled into agrarian communities (Society 2.0), and eventually progressed to start large industries during the industrial revolution phases (Society 3.0) which culminated in the information age (Society 4.0). Some argue that perhaps now we are also at the precipice of another jump from the information-gathering and informationconsuming society to an information-application society characterized by the integration of artificial intelligence (AI) in our everyday lives (Society 5.0). Japan has now set a challenge to the world by conceptualizing what is commonly called Society 5.0. The ideals and ambitious goals of Society 5.0 is the advancement of human endeavor by creating a human-centered society, moving from the current information-intensive society to a knowledge-intensive society, by the integration of cyberspace with real-world physical space and exploiting the powers of AI technologies for the betterment of all human life at both individual and societal levels (Tokyo 2020). It is a society that uses technological advancement objectively to provide an equitable and fair distribution of the world's resources, circumventing the current inter-personal and global-regional based disparities and inequalities (Tokyo 2020).

One of the fundamental tenets of a human-centered society is the creation of human-centered health care systems. A health care system based on the fundamental appreciation of human emotions, thought processes, and people's behavioral tendencies as far as their health is concerned, while at the same time optimizing and encouraging human-centered behavior among all health care providers and health care facilities (Searl et al. 2010). A health care system designed to understand patients holistically and provide suitable comprehensive solutions, delivering products and services that cater to the patient's health needs in a meaningful and pleasurable experience (Melles et al. 2021). Central to the delivery of any health care is the provision of safe therapeutic agents to the right patient, at the right time via an effective and safe dose. The human-centered design includes the design of policies, strategies, services, and products that are effective; accessible; sustainable; lead to improvement in the well-being of humans; enhance user satisfaction; and counteract possible adverse events on human health, safety, and performance (Melles et al. 2021). Health care provision almost always involves the prescription of drugs either as the main treatment of the disease or part thereof. To this end, it is important that clinicians provide effective and safe drugs that are easy to administer and improve patient compliance. Drug discovery is a complex and tedious process, where a traditional workflow can take 12-14 years costing on average more than 2.6 billion USD (Manish Vyas et al. 2018). Though recently, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have seen faster time to market of drugs and vaccines in effort to fight the pandemic with much faster repurposing of already existing agents and the FDA more rapidly issuing emergency use approval (EUA) for a number of drugs. For example, the combination drug consisting of monoclonal antibodies Casirivimab and imdevimab used to treat mild to moderate SARS-CoV-2 infection by targeting the spike protein was issued the first EUA in November 2020 (Gao and Sun 2021). The efficacy of Casirivimab and imdevimab combination to decrease the development of symptomatic disease or reduce the duration of symptoms was tested in a Phase III clinical trial, that started enrolling on July 13, 2020, and lasted for seven months to January 28, 2021, and follow-up ending on March 11, 2021, having only enrolled only 314 participants (O'Brien et al. 2022). Artificial intelligence can be successfully applied at different phases of drug development to enhance efficiency and speed while significantly lowering costs. AI can be employed at various phases of the drug development process, for example, cell target classification and sorting, the prediction of a drug's physical properties, prediction of toxicities, prediction of the 3D structure of a drug, and prediction of drug-protein interactions (Chan et al. 2019). For drug discovery to enhance the envisaged human-centered society, the fundamental question will be on which areas of drug discovery should be the main focus, especially since recent research experience suggests that computational methods fare better with chemistry than they do with biology in a sense that specific chemical reactions are constant and predictable whereas biological systems may respond differently to the same chemical compound due to a variety of factors like patient physiology, genomics, previous environmental or chemical exposures, etc. (Bender and Cortés-Ciriano 2021). Hence, the application in a systems-oriented manner of novel in silico AI approaches to drug discovery and administration will tremendously improve precision health, particularly in resource-limited settings.

2 Drug Discovery

The process of drug discovery starts by identifying a disease process which may be either new or existing, that requires pharmacological therapy. The needed therapeutic agent may be unavailable as in the case of new disease or in a case of existing disease. The available agents may be inadequate due to a variety of reasons, including lack of safety, poor efficacy, toxicity, or poor compliance, as a result of cumbersome dosages. The initial phases of drug development and one of the most important steps involves generation and analysis of data to identify a suitable drug target, which can be either a receptor, a protein, a gene, an RNA, or a disease pathway that if inhibited or activated will result in a desired therapeutic effect (Hughes et al. 2011). The biological target, which is involved in a dysfunctional biological process leading to a disease state, is often identified during basic science research (Mohs and Greig 2017). Table 1 summarizes the drug development process. New drug discovery projects are associated with high attrition rates due to the everrising cost of research and development, coupled with low success rates. For example, only around 11% of new compounds complete development and get approval from regulators, while approximately 62% of new drug candidates fail in phase II and III clinical trials. Another major hurdle in drug development is the

Activity	Aim and description	Examples, time, and cost	References
Target identification	Identify molecular compound or pathway involved in the disease process that can be targeted with a drug. Involves data mining of a wide range of biomedical data.	Genes, pathways, proteins, or RNAs: lncRNA, miRNA, ceRNAs	Hughes et al. (2011), Jayarathna et al. (2022)
Target validation	Employ various techniques to interrogate that the target will respond to a drug with safe therapeutic benefits. Multi- validation approaches are preferred.	Antisense technologies. Monoclonal antibodies assess- ment. Chemical genomics assess genomic response to chemicals	Hughes et al. (2011)
Hit discovery	"Hit"—The first compound that shows activity against a targeted protein or pathway, often found by screening chemical libraries or computer simulations.	Obtained via virtual, tradi- tional high-throughput, or fragment-based screen- ing = small molecules (<1000 Dalton)	Mak and Pichika (2019), Zhu et al. (2013)
Lead com- pound identification	A chemical compound that has the potential to be developed into a new drug and is used as the basis for structural chemi- cal modifications.	Compounds with molecular weights below 500 and logP values below 5	Mak and Pichika (2019), Hefti (2008)
Lead optimi- zation phase	Drug candidates are designed from the lead compound maintaining its favorable properties while improving on its deficiencies.	High throughput DMPK (drug metabolism and pharmacoki- netics) screening	Deore et al. (2019)
Pre-clinical testing	In vivo animal studies to eval- uate drug candidate safety and efficacy and in vitro studies.	Assess pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of drug and monitor toxicity Timeline: 1–2 years	Deore et al. (2019), Matthews et al. (2016)
Clinical tri- als (0–IV) on human subjects	Phase 0 – first-in-human, micro-dose studies, and few volunteers to clean pharmacokinetic data. Phase I – assess safety and dosage. Phase II – assess efficacy and side effects. Phase III – assess efficacy and adverse drug events in larger groups over longer periods.	Timeline: 6–7 years	Deore et al. (2019), Matthews et al. (2016)
Regulatory approval	Application for regulatory approval once the drug has passed Phase III.	Timeline: 1–2 years (FDA)	Matthews et al. (2016), Deore et al. (2019)
Clinical trial –Phase IV	Phase IV – post-approval monitoring of drug perfor- mance in real-world setting.	Thromboprophylaxis in esophageal cancer patients (TOP-RCT) – ongoing trial	Zhang et al. (2016), NIH (2022)

 Table 1 Drug development process: Overview summary of the process of drug development project from initiation to FDA approval



vastness of chemical space, which is composed of more than 10^{60} molecules (Mak and Pichika 2019). To get one drug approved, approximately 5000-10,000 compounds have to be tested and enter the investigation and development pipeline, significantly increasing cost and time (Deore et al. 2019). Figure 1 shows the funnel-type progression of chemical compounds through the drug development process. A wide variety of molecular structures or ligands can be targeted for drug design based on their level of complexity and the desired pharmacological drug effect. G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), for example, have become some of the most commonly targeted protein families because of their involvement in multiple physiological functions and rich ligand space owing to their structural and functional complexity (Díaz et al. 2019). Understanding the physical interplay between therapeutic agents and the intended targets in a living ecosystem is crucial during the drug development process and also remembering that the clinical outcomes observed may be the result of downstream effects (Zhavoronkov et al. 2020). Generally, the more nuanced the intended effect is, the more complex the molecular space that is required for drug design. There are various types of ligands that are targeted during the process of drug design, including full and partial agonists, neutral antagonist, full and partial inverse agonists, allosteric modulators, and biased ligands (Díaz et al. 2019).

2.1 Artificial Intelligence in Drug Discovery

Machine learning (ML) and in particular deep learning (DL) have proven useful in enhancing drug development. Drug discovery proceeds in a feedback loop mechanism of design, make, test, and analyze (DMTA) cycle ensuring that developers can adapt, recover, and learn from mistakes during the process. Machine learning methods that utilize active learning (AL) are well suited to this feedback loop mechanisms (Smith et al. 2018). AI technology is becoming more and more useful in the pharmaceutical industry due to the advancement and exponential growth of big data; AI is used to predict whether treatment will be successful in a patient, to assess for potential repurposing of existing drugs, and to evaluate the drug's safety and efficacy (Patel and Shah 2022). Machine learning involves the use of algorithms to identify patterns within given data sets. Deep learning uses artificial neural networks (ANNs) comprising of interconnected sophisticated computing elements comparable to the human brain neural network that mimic the functioning of the human brain and thus have an ability to learn and deduce new data and solve problems by recognizing patterns in the input data (Paul et al. 2021). AI learning requires harnessing and understanding volumes of data derived from basic science, clinical research, and clinical practice. This data is typically sourced from hundreds of sources and presented in different formats. Cognitive computing solutions, like IBM Watson, are empowered to understand technical, industry-specific information and use advanced reasoning, predictive modeling, and machine learning techniques to enhance research. They were specifically designed to combine and interrogate big datasets and understand various types of data such as laboratory results in a structured database or the text of scientific publications (Chen et al. 2016). The main benefits of using AI in drug development are in drug design, poly-pharmacology, drug repurposing, and drug screening. Predicting drug properties helps to reduce the rate of inappropriate clinical trials and unsuitable participants, which would be beneficial from both financial and ethical standpoints (Patel and Shah 2022). With drug repurposing and reevaluation using AI tools, we can develop better and improved medicines than currently available, medications that offer benefits in terms of potency, safety, tolerability, and convenience without the need to manipulate new biological targets that are dissimilar to those directly affected by existing medications (Mohs and Greig 2017). Machine learning models such as support vector machines, k-Nearest Neighbors, Naïve Bayes, and Random Forest have been utilized for some time in drug discovery. However, recently deep learning or deep neural networks (DNNs) have risen to prominence because of the superior computational power and flexible architecture which allows the generation of models that can perform single-task or multitask machine learning as well as predict drug-target interaction more accurately (Ekins et al. 2019). The advantage of deep learning is its capability to adapt to a wider class of chemical compounds and modeling tasks allowing for a more efficient use of data (Jiménez-Luna et al. 2021). Figure 2 depicts the role of artificial intelligence in the drug discovery process over time, while Fig. 3 highlights some of the areas where artificial intelligence can be successfully employed during drug development.

2.1.1 Artificial Intelligence in Identifying Potential Drug Targets

Artificial intelligence is useful in identifying potential biological entities that can be used as targets for drug development. For example, IBM Watson as a cognitive learning computational model was used to accurately predict and rank RNA-binding



Fig. 2 Artificial intelligence in drug discovery: Depicts the progress of AI application in drug discovery over the years, showing increases in computing power and data. CPU – central processing unit, GPU – graphics processing unit, QSAR – quantitative structure-activity relationship, CADD – computer-aided drug discovery, ANN – artificial neural networks, scRNA – single-cell RNA sequencing data (Zhu 2020; Wang et al. 2019; Cai et al. 2020)



Fig. 3 Depicting some of the areas where AI can be integrated into the drug discovery process. Adapted from Paul et al. (2021)

proteins (RBPs) that are altered in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) by mining scientific publications and extracting domain-specific text features to identify new connections between the entities of interest. Eight of the top ten altered RBPs as ranked by IBM Watson were validated with immunohistochemistry and RNA and protein analyses of the lumbar spinal cords of ALS patients and normal non-neurogenic controls. ALS is a devastating neurodegenerative disease that is putatively caused by alterations in RBPs and at present has no treatment (Bakkar et al. 2018).

Applying multiple supervised and unsupervised machine learning algorithms on molecular data, Sinkala et al. (2020) sub-classified pancreatic cancer into two distinct subtypes that upregulate different kinases. Subtype-1 tumors showed upregulation of m-TOR signaling pathway-associated kinases like MTORpS2448, GSKB-pS21-S9, and PDK-pS241 whereas subtype-2 tumors display upregulation of the cell cycle-associated kinases like CDK1-pY15, p27-pT158, and p27-pT198. Most of these kinases are potential targets for small molecule inhibitors. The small molecule inhibitors are currently being tested or used in some anticancer clinical trials (Sinkala et al. 2020). ML can analyze multiple complex pathways to identify appropriate potential targets. For example, competing endogenous RNAs (ceRNA) have been identified as important post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression via the microRNA-mediated mechanism and may play a prominent role in the molecular pathogenesis of hormone-dependent cancers (Jayarathna et al. 2022). Jayarathna et al. utilized a supervised machine learning algorithm called Cancerin to identify regulation-factor-mediated ceRNA networks in five hormone-dependent cancers; they identified cancer survival significant ceRNAs BUB1 and EXO1 for invasive breast carcinoma, adenocarcinoma of the colon, uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma; and ceRNA RMM 2 for prostate adenocarcinoma, adenocarcinoma of the colon, and uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma. These ceRNAs provide potential targets for drug development against these hormone-dependent cancers (Jayarathna et al. 2022).

2.1.2 Artificial Intelligence Tools in Pharmaceuticals

A number of AI-based tools that function in the pharmaceutical industry have been developed, and these include the following:

IBM Watson

IBM Watson is a supercomputer developed by International Business Machines (IBM) which has a combination of AI and sophisticated analytical software. Watson can be utilized in various domains, including medicine, life sciences, engineering, law, and finance. It collates data into what is called Watson corpus and groups databases relevant to each domain into domain-specific corpuses. It then uses deep natural language processing and machine learning capabilities to teach itself and make a meaningful conclusion in a cognitive fashion from the vast data (Chen et al. 2016). Its health application called Watson

Health was designed to analyze structured and unstructured data from a patient's medical records, scientific publications, and other relevant data (i.e., clinical research trial data and basic science research) and thereby assist clinicians by providing possible appropriate options for further treatment or disease management of a patient. Watson has information from literature curated by Memorial Sloane Kettering Cancer Center, over 200 textbooks, 12 million text pages, and over 290 medical journals (Manish Vyas et al. 2018; Paul et al. 2021). However, while Watson Health is excellent at the interpretation of well-organized curated data it has had difficulties with the interpretation of very unstructured medical abbreviations used by clinicians because it fails to decipher the medical context when an acronym is used; MD Anderson data found that despite training Watson still could not interpret unstructured medical language as well as human beings could (Schmidt 2017).

• Robot pharmacy

While employing AI to develop innovative medicines is helpful, we also need to consider access and the appropriate administration of these drugs. In the real-world setting almost half of all medications are inappropriately prescribed, dispensed, or sold, while at the same time only about 50% compliance rate is seen among patients (Leisinger et al. 2012). Technological companies have developed AI technology in the form of Robot pharmacies to improve safety and efficiencies in drug dispensing, with improved dose preparation and the ability to keep track of all medications dispensed and stored in the facility. UCSF Medical Center uses robotic technology for the preparation and tracking of medications and their system purportedly performed much better than humans at delivering accurate medication to correct patients after preparing more than 350,000 doses (Manish Vyas et al. 2018).

Although Robot pharmacies have been proven to significantly reduce medication errors, they do have disadvantages and limitations. These include high initial set-up cost coupled with expensive up-keep that may lead to job losses to offset those costs, an unexpected failure of the computer program controlling the pharmacy with disastrous consequences especially with IV preparation systems, etc. Mechanical errors do also occur, which included vials or fluid bags that fall outside the weight parameters, failure of the robot to successively grip or hold a vial due to manufacturing defects, incorrect measurements of syringes or other items, faulty needles, and failure to recognize barcodes and correct medication vials (Alahmari et al. 2022).

2.1.3 Artificial Intelligence in Drug Screening/Virtual Screening

Artificial intelligence, ML, and DL through superior computational modeling have the ability to identify and validate chemical compounds, assist in the hit discovery, peptide synthesis, evaluation of physiochemical properties, drug monitoring for efficacy and effectiveness, and drug repurposing. AI models can also identify potential toxicity problems that may occur as a result of off-target interactions (Gupta et al. 2021).

Virtual screening (VS) is a computational technique used to search a large library of chemical compounds in order to identify those that are likely to bind to a specific drug target, usually an enzyme or receptor (Gimeno et al. 2019). Traditionally screening for lead compounds involved in vitro high-throughput screening of all the chemical space for existing compounds in a particular collection, which is very time- and resource-heavy while producing a low number of hits (Carpenter and Huang 2018; Mcinnes 2007). Virtual screening introduces the possibility to screen both existing molecules as well as those that are not physically present in the collection of interest, but can be purchased or synthesized, while at the same time introducing the increased computational ability to predict binding affinity which enables scientists to test only a relatively small subset of compounds in low or medium throughput assay format (Mcinnes 2007).

Virtual screening for potential drug candidates minimizes time and cost associated with early drug discovery, by accurately predicting the ligand-protein binding potential between a chemical compound and target protein in silico, thus minimizing the need for costly in vitro/in vivo experiments. VS facilitates faster hit identification and validation and lead optimization. VS methods can be ligand-based (LBVS) or structure-based (SBVS) or a combination of both, with SBVS having emerged as one of the most promising techniques (Maia et al. 2020; Negru et al. 2022). VS sequentially selects the compounds that have a higher susceptibility to bind to the target protein with the least amounts of adverse reactions. This process can filter out from 500 compounds down to only 5 compounds that will proceed to in vitro experiments (Maia et al. 2020). In SBVS, the protein structure is known and available and it's docked into the environment of the biochemical target, and the compound library of small molecules is explored using computer algorithms and scoring functions (mathematical algorithms) to assess the binding affinity strength between the docked compound and the target. A number of docking software programs are available with different conformational sampling algorithms and a variety of scoring functions. In LBVS, biological data is evaluated to identify known active or inactive compounds that will be used to retrieve other potentially active molecular scaffolds based on similarity measures (evaluates the database for the nearest-neighbor molecules most likely to exhibit the needed bioactivity against the bioactive reference structure), common pharmacophores (a 3D molecular structure that is needed for a ligand to interact with target receptor binding site), or descriptor values (Lavecchia and Di Giovanni 2013).

Pal et al. in their study to identify potential anti-cancer agents that may target GPR12 0, a G-protein coupled receptor that is over-expressed in colorectal cancer cells, virtually screened approximately 350,000 well-characterized and drug-like molecules from the SPECS database against GPR120s and finally only selected 13 hit-compounds which needed in vitro testing. In the end, they identified a potential chemical scaffold for future CRC anti-cancer drugs named *dihydrospiro* (*benzo[h]quinazoline-5,1' -cyclopentane)-4(3H)-one* (Pal et al. 2021).

Virtual screening will undoubtedly be further enhanced by the machine learning ability to not only predict drug-protein interactions but also to accurately predict the three-dimensional structure of proteins. The revolution in protein structure prediction is the advent of AlphaFold2 system developed by DeepMind, and it is an artificial neural network system that predicts protein structure with a median accuracy of 1.5 ångströms. AlphaFold2 considers both local and long-range interactions in protein molecules. It uses computational algorithms that efficiently capture long-range interactions on the basis of fundamental aspects of protein geometry and repeatedly applies these operations to refine its structure prediction, while also applying structured machine-learning approaches that deduce protein structures by identifying patterns of mutation in proteins that evolve in common temporo-spatial environment and thereby identifying amino-acid residues that are closely related to each other. It may predict approximately 60% of all human-protein regions (Alquraishi 2021).

2.1.4 Artificial Intelligence in Prediction of Physiochemical Properties

A crucial step in drug discovery and design is to define the relationship between chemical structures and biologically active physiochemical properties because they indirectly affect the drug's pharmacokinetics and its target receptor family. Physicochemical properties include solubility, partition coefficient (logP), degree of ionization, and intrinsic permeability of the drug (Paul et al. 2021).

Quantitative structure-property relationship (OSPR) methods involve supervised learning methods designed to extract and predict often complex relationships between the physicochemical properties of interest and the molecular structure of chemical materials (Le et al. 2012; Zang et al. 2017). Zang et al. developed QSPR models for in silico prediction of six physicochemical properties (logP, logS, logBCF, BP, MP, or logVP) by analyzing the binary molecular fingerprints from diverse data sets of environmental organic chemicals. The data sets used were obtained from Estimation Program Interface (EPI) Suite. They used unambiguous machine learning algorithms, namely multiple linear regression (MLR) which produced a linear model to describe the relationship between a physicochemical property and molecular fingerprint bits, partial least-squares regression (PLSR) generated linear statistical models based on the fingerprint bits and the physicochemical property being predicted, random forest (RF) is a nonlinear consensus method based upon an ensemble of decision trees, and support vector regression (SVR), which was shown to be superior to the other three approaches, modeled a nonlinear relationship between the property and molecular descriptors (Zang et al. 2017).

"Quantitative-structure activity relationship (QSAR) modeling is a computational approach through which quantitative mathematical models can be created between chemical structure and biological activities" (Gupta et al. 2021). The mathematical model helps in identifying a chemical entity from molecular databases that can be used as a drug compound, which is then sent for laboratory synthesis followed by in vitro or in vivo testing (Gupta et al. 2021). Many systems-oriented, multiscale

mathematical models using ordinary and stochastic differential equations (ODE and SDE) have been formulated to determine the therapeutic efficacy of combinatorial administration of cancer drugs (Goldie et al. 1988; Sun et al. 2016; Malinzi et al. 2021). The merits of these higher order abstraction mathematical models have been demonstrated in various experimental scenarios to be able to significantly mitigate the prohibitive cost and human effort required in the drug development pipeline, as well as determine the optimal combination of drugs, which minimizes toxicity and other adverse side effects (Malinzi et al. 2021). These emerging novel mathematical oncological approaches would be potentially beneficial for optimal and cost-effective oncological care in resource-limited health care settings.

2.1.5 Artificial Intelligence in Predicting Drug-Drug and Drug-Food Interactions

Drug-drug interaction (DDI) and drug-food interaction (DFI) can lead to a significant decrease in drug efficacy, compliance, and safety with increased risk of adverse events. Furthermore, pharmacogenomics which deals with individual genomic differences in metabolism of drugs can affect the efficacy and precision of pharmacological agents in treating various diseases (Ryu et al. 2018). Available computational models that are used to predict drug-drug interactions can be divided into three categories namely similarity-based methods, networks-based methods, and machine learning methods. ML methods improve DDI prediction by integration of multiple aspects of data from a single source or multiple heterogeneous data sources, with ensemble learning, kernel methods, and deep learning used predominantly to integrate data from heterogeneous sources. However, data integration has a downside of increasing data complexity and a potential to drown data regarding the underlying molecular perturbations that result in DDI (Mei and Zhang 2021). In an attempt to improve on these data integration shortcomings, Mei and Zhang developed a machine learning framework that uses drug target gene profiles and signaling pathways as the basis of learning and prediction of DDI; they employed l₂-regularized logistic regression model (Mei and Zhang 2021).

Artificial intelligence can be used not only to predict potential drug-drug and drug-food interactions, but also suggest alternative drug pairs that produce minimal side effects and are more effective. Ryu et al. (2018) presented a computational model called DeepDDI that employed machine learning and DNN to predict and classify drug-drug interaction for a given drug pair. As system inputs, they used the names of drugs and their chemical compound's structural information, provided in simplified molecular-input line-entry system (SMILES). DeepDDI outputs were presented as readable human sentences that describe changes in pharmacological effects and/or the risk of adverse drug events because of the interaction between two drugs in a pair. DeepDDI produced specific information on drug interactions with high accuracies of 84.8–93.2% in predicting drug-drug interaction and drug-food interactions (Ryu et al. 2018).

2.1.6 Drug Repurposing

Drug repurposing is an approach of assessing whether an existing drug, which may or may not have been approved for original intended use, can be repositioned and used for another new indication. It offers a cost-effective and rapid solution to drug development, bringing much needed therapeutics to patients quicker and at less cost than designing a new drug (Zhou et al. 2020).

Ge et al. (2021) used an integrative network combining machine learning and statistical analysis model to identify potential drug targets for the treatment of SARS-CoV-2. They used a network-based knowledge mining algorithm called CoV-DTI and used a deep learning–based relation extraction method named BERE among other methods. Their study demonstrated that poly-ADP-ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1) inhibitor CVL218 exhibited significant antiviral activity against SARS-CoV-2 and therefore could be used to treat COVID-19. CVL218 demonstrated inhibitory activity against the replication of SARS-CoV-2. Its antiviral mechanism was shown to be potentially mediated by binding and interaction with the nucleocapsid protein of SARS-CoV-2. At the time of their study CVL218 and other PARP1 inhibitors either already had FDA approval or were being actively tested in clinical trials as potential antiviral therapeutic agents (Ge et al. 2021).

2.1.7 Clinical Trial Design and Artificial Intelligence

Significant cost and time in the drug development pipeline are consumed by the clinical trial phases (Ekins et al. 2019). This phase can take up to 57% (1.46 of 2.56 billion USD) of the total budget cost and last for 7-10 years. Therefore, failure in clinical trials impairs investment into the trial itself and also negatively affects pre-clinical development costs. The major reasons for failures during trials are poor patient selection and recruitment, as well as ineffective patient monitoring during trials (Zhavoronkov et al. 2020). AI can improve the success of clinical trials. For example, for patient cohort selection natural language processing (NLP) and computer vision algorithms such as optical character recognition (OCR) can be used to automate and compile patient data from "omic" data, electronic medical record (EMR), handwritten paper copies, digital medical imagery, and biomarkers, thereby improving clinical trial enrichment and patient cohort composition (Harrer et al. 2019). IBM developed the AI-based clinical trial matching system called Watson for Clinical Trial Matching (WCTM) that helps to match patients to clinical trial by analyzing and integrating the large quantity of structured and unstructured EMR data, creating detailed patient profiles of clinical findings and comparing them to trial eligibility criteria in ongoing clinical trials (Zhavoronkov et al. 2020). A study by Beck et al. evaluated the performance of WCTM in a cohort of 239 breast cancer patients and found that WCTM correctly identified 91-95% of eligible patients in three out of the four trials and reduced screening time by 78%, and they concluded that WCTM assisted and expedited matching patients with correct clinical trials (Beck et al. 2020).

2.2 Challenges

The sheer scale of the large chemical space plus data sets of millions of compounds that are held by pharmaceutical companies for drug development coupled with the rapid growth, diversity, and uncertainty of this large data poses a significant challenge to computing power of traditional ML tools and AI. For instance, some computational models can predict large numbers of compounds or simple physico-chemical parameters but fail to predict complex biological and pharmaco-genomic properties, such as the efficacy and adverse effects of compounds (Paul et al. 2021).

Artificial intelligence models and tools rely heavily on the availability of credible medical data. One of the challenges is the accessibility of EMR data. EMR formats tend to differ widely between institutions and regions and are sometimes not compatible with each other; some records are not digitalized or even electronic and exist in a decentralized environment with no data exchange. Strict legal regulatory frameworks on data collection also limit access to patient data by third parties, with even patients themselves having difficulty accessing their own records (Harrer et al. 2019). Properly kept EMR will be particularly useful in low- and middleincome countries (LMICs), especially in Africa, where infectious diseases have become the leading cause of death, with HIV and multi-drug resistant TB being the major culprits, followed by trauma deaths. Patients with infectious diseases require continuous treatment and long-term care, necessitating an efficient recordkeeping system. Some of the challenges negatively affecting widespread use and implementation of EMR in LMICs are related to poor bandwidth availability and access to the internet in health facilities, low levels of computer literacy and lack of motivation to use the system correctly, and concerns from clinicians about medicolegal litigation (Ohuabunwa et al. 2016). For most LMICs, EMR adoption and implementation is limited to specific disease programs such as HIV and TB in small regions of the country. Effective implementation is influenced by the availability of funding (which commonly comes from external donors) and poor involvement of stakeholders, and therefore evidence-based strategies need to be developed to enable EMR integration in the national health care systems of LMICs (Kumar and Mostafa 2020).

Despite an enormous amount of extremely valuable chemical and biological data being now publicly available together with screening data, most of this data is kept in different databases using different formats and generally is not AI model ready or machine readable. Therefore, this data needs to be properly curated and prepared before the machine learning models can be used (Ekins et al. 2019). Over and above that in resource-constrained settings, the feasibility of deploying AI for drug delivery is limited by factors such as lack of stable power supply, human resources, and computer infrastructures.

Another challenge that AI faces is the interpretation and analysis of unstructured medical data because the quality of data varies and different medical institutions sometimes use medical terms differently (Schmidt 2017).

Major global events of the past three years have led to unprecedented multipronged crises. The COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent shutdowns have led to shortages of raw materials and the Ukraine-Russia war has worsened the situation leading to an energy crisis that has negatively impacted not only Europe but the entire globe. Big pharma is faced with escalating energy costs and costs of raw material, such that a lobby group, Medicines for Europe, has warned that European pharmaceutical companies may have to stop producing cheaper generic drugs (Hawkins 2022). The increase in energy and resource costs will push drug prices higher, limiting the availability of medicines, especially in under-resourced countries. Companies are now having to change their business models in order to accommodate the energy crisis, such as looking at alternative energy sources in particular renewable energies (Stewart 2023).

3 Achieving a Human-Centered Health System

A human-centered health system has people as the focal point of all care solutions. It is a system that seeks to gain deep understanding of people's needs and design solutions by seeing the world through the eyes of all people involved (patients, caregivers, clinicians, nurses, pharmacists, and all the involved stakeholders). It incorporates the experiences and insights of patients, citizens, and the workforce. Human-centered health design involves empathy and prototyping, requiring input from both patients and clinicians, which results in greater satisfaction, better health outcomes, and proper allocation of resources (Naar et al. 2018).

The most expensive part of drug design is the conduct of human clinical trials. AI has the potential to lower this cost, but by supplementing trial designs with humancentered design (HCD), costs can be lowered even further. HCD has the ability to bring new ideas to entrenched problems by bringing in a strong human lens and integrating multiple stakeholder perspectives in program designs. The greater the engagement of stakeholders in a project the greater their continued willingness and motivation to engage and see the project to completion (Blynn et al. 2021). Bender and Cortes have argued that limiting the failure rate in clinical trial phases may be more important in terms of cost reduction than decreases in the cost of individual preclinical phases or the speed of completion of a phase. They also argue that it is crucial to improve the quality of decisions regarding which chemical compound will be the best to take forward in drug discovery projects, the best compound being the one that is most likely to provide the desired outcome in terms of efficacy and safety (Bender and Cortés-Ciriano 2021).

Artificial intelligence applications in drug discovery can increase access to medicine and improve the experience of patients, their families together with health care workers, and all involved in the health care system. Access to affordable, safe, and effective medicine is a fundamental human right. To try and attain universal human rights and improve the lives of all the earth's inhabitants, in accordance with the United Nations developed sustainable development goals (SDG) that need to be achieved by the year 2030. Goal number 3 talks about "Ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being for all at all ages" and particularly goal 3.8 seeks to "Achieve universal health coverage, including financial risk protection, access to quality essential health-care services and access to safe, effective, quality and affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all" (UN-SDGs 2015). However, more than half of the people living in low- and middle-income countries do not have access to essential medicines for a variety of reasons including the high cost of medicines and poor health care infrastructure. New medicines are unaffordable for the majority of the population living in LMICs, while at the same time these countries have 75% of the world's poor, accounting for the majority of the global disease burden (Stevens and Huys 2017). Therefore, leveraging the AI's advantages of increased speed coupled with reduced cost of drug development will be paramount if we are to attain Goal 3 of SDGs. While governments are responsible for the health care infrastructure, pharmaceutical companies can play a key role in improving access to medicines; through innovation and enhancing research and development capabilities, they will be well poised to produce cheap and innovative medicines that improve quality of life (Leisinger et al. 2012). Improving access to essential medicines and vaccines coupled with their proper use will reduce unnecessary suffering and potentially save up to 10.5 million lives each year (Leisinger et al. 2012).

Artificial intelligence plays a crucial role in the development of a human-centered health care system, playing a role not only in the laboratory space of research and development but also during the implementation processes. For example, Beede et al. conducted a human-centered evaluation of a deep learning system by conducting a prospective sociotechnical study in a real-world clinical setting. The study evaluated the performance of the deep learning algorithm used to assess retinal images of diabetic patients for the detection of diabetic eye disease (diabetic retinopathy), but it also had an additional focus on the human aspects of deploying the DL algorithm. They assessed the experience of nurses, technicians, and indirectly of patients interacting with the system. They found that the system significantly improved the time to specialist referral recommendation from up to ten weeks for a referral recommendation to same-day immediate referral recommendation. However, the study did highlight human aspect challenges with respect to nurse and patient experience; nurses expressed frustrations with the systems' inability to grade "poor" quality images while patients complained about the logistical problems posed by the sudden need to travel to the far away referral center (Beede et al. 2020). Figure 4 demonstrates the interaction between drug discovery and artificial intelligence and how that can be integrated with human-centered design with the aim of achieving a human-centered health care system.

Artificial intelligence in the treatment of disease is not confined to drug discovery alone. In recent years, virtual reality (VR) simulations have emerged as a treatment for a variety of mental health diseases. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), mental health disorders affected 12.5% (1/8) of the world's population in



Fig. 4 Human-centered health care system. Requires putting people first. Applying humancentered design principles of empathy and prototyping in any project that will result in a health care outcome or health care experience

2019, with anxiety and depressive disorders being the most common conditions. Just in 2020 alone with the COVID-19 pandemic, there was an estimated increase of 26% in anxiety and 28% in depression (WHO 2022). Virtual reality provides an advanced human–computer interface that enables the creation of specific computer-generated virtual environments that are used to retrain the brain's reaction to the scenarios that lead to the mental disorder (Riva and Serino 2020). VR in vitro exposure allows for better control and standardization of the simulated environment for both therapists and patients compared to in vivo exposure (Guitard et al. 2019). VR exposure therapy combined with cognitive behavioral therapy has been used to successfully treat social anxiety disorder, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, phobias, autism, and schizophrenia (Baghaei et al. 2021; Park et al. 2019).

4 Human Rights Impact of Artificial Intelligence and Drug Development

Another fundamental tenet of achieving a human-centered health care system will be the protection and upholding of basic human rights as enshrined in the UN's Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Drug development has notable impact on some of these rights and now even more so with the incorporation of AI and machine

Area	Impact of AI	Protected rights	Threatened rights
Health and health	Improved diagnostics	Right to health	Right to work
care	Improved access to care	Right to life	Right to health
	Increased safety in care	Right to infor-	Right to culture
	Strengthening and precision in	mation	Right to life
	prevention	Right to work	Right to
	Improved quality control of care	Right to	non-discrimination
	Improving health promotion	participate	

 Table 2 Impact of AI on human rights in relation to health care (Adapted from Mpinga et al. 2022)

learning. These two fields raise certain challenges; drug development impacts the right to health and access to essential medicines, while AI and machine learning raise challenges with regard to privacy and security of citizens and protection from biases. Enhancing drug development with AI involves canvassing large amounts of sensitive and private medical data from large groups of patients be it in the initial phases of identifying a target disease or during the clinical trial phases, thereby raising concerns about the right to privacy (Noorbakhsh-Sabet et al. 2019). It is important, however, to underline that human rights are not necessarily always threatened but may be enhanced by AI as noted by Mpinga et al.; see Table 2 (Mpinga et al. 2022). The use of AI in the drug discovery and development process fast-tracks the process making it more cost-effective and efficient, thereby promoting access to medicines and the right to health. While on the other hand, selection biases of data points used to feed learning algorithms and the use of "limited" genomic and clinical trial databases from selected regions or ethnic groups may lead to the development of agents that may be unsafe to use in underserved under-represented peoples, thereby threatening their rights to health, safety, and life (Naik et al. 2022).

Pharmaceutical companies as main developers of drugs have an obligation to find a balance between their needs to protect their patents and profits on one hand, while on the other hand ensuring people's right to access safe and quality medicines by promoting transparency, monitoring, accountability, fair pricing, ethical marketing, and promulgating and adhering to regulations concerning drug safety and quality. Whereas governments have a legal obligation to ensure quality essential medicines are available, affordable, and accessible to their citizenry and they are duty-bound to prevent violations of human rights by pharmaceutical companies (Gruskin and Raad 2010). Two United Nations guidelines – the *Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights* (2011) and the *Human Rights Guidelines for Pharmaceutical Companies in Relation to Access to Medicines* (2008) – appropriate a moral obligation and responsibility to pharmaceutical companies to make essential medicines including vaccines are available, particularly to patients in LMICs (Santoro and Shanklin 2020).

5 Conclusion

Enhancing human-centered health care is about improving the quality of health care offered to all the world's citizens, regardless of race, gender, age, sexual orientation, or geography. Human-centered design needs to be integrated in all projects or innovation of any product or service that is intended to produce healthy outcomes and service experience. Incorporation of artificial intelligence in drug discovery will drastically reduce the cost and time to production of new, innovative, safe, efficient, easy-to-use medications, with minimal occurrence of adverse drug events. The ease of drug administration and less adverse events will surely improve the experience of not only the patients but also the clinicians and caregivers. And more importantly, pharmaceutical companies that lead drug development should realize that they have a moral responsibility to assist in the achievement of the right to access to essential medicines as a vital component of the fundamental human right to health. AI in drug discovery has the potential to transform the drug discovery process from a purely industrial design to hopefully a more human-centered design process.

References

- Alahmari AR, Alrabghi KK, Dighriri IM (2022) An overview of the current state and perspectives of pharmacy robot and medication dispensing technology. Cureus 14:e28642
- Alquraishi M (2021) Protein-structure prediction revolutionized. Nature 596:487-488
- Baghaei N, Chitale V, Hlasnik A, Stemmet L, Liang HN, Porter R (2021) Virtual reality for supporting the treatment of depression and anxiety: scoping review. JMIR Mental Health 8: e29681
- Bakkar N, Kovalik T, Lorenzini I, Spangler S, Lacoste A, Sponaugle K, Ferrante P, Argentinis E, Sattler R, Bowser R (2018) Artificial intelligence in neurodegenerative disease research: use of IBM Watson to identify additional RNA-binding proteins altered in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Acta Neuropathol 135:227–247
- Beck JT, Rammage M, Jackson GP, Preininger AM, Dankwa-Mullan I, Roebuck MC, Torres A, Holtzen H, Coverdill SE, Williamson MP, Chau Q, Rhee K, Vinegra M (2020) Artificial intelligence tool for optimizing eligibility screening for clinical trials in a large community cancer center. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 4:50–59
- Beede E, Baylor EE, Hersch F, Iurchenko A, Wilcox L, Ruamviboonsuk P, Vardoulakis LM (2020) A human-centered evaluation of a deep learning system deployed in clinics for the detection of diabetic retinopathy. In: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems
- Bender A, Cortés-Ciriano I (2021) Artificial intelligence in drug discovery: what is realistic, what are illusions? Part 1: ways to make an impact, and why we are not there yet. Drug Discov Today 26:511–524
- Blynn E, Harris E, Wendland M, Chang C, Kasungami D, Ashok M, Ayenekulu M (2021) Integrating human-centered design to advance global health: lessons from 3 programs. Glob Health Sci Pract 9:S261–s273
- Cai C, Wang S, Xu Y, Zhang W, Tang K, Ouyang Q, Lai L, Pei J (2020) Transfer learning for drug discovery. J Med Chem 63:8683–8694
- Carpenter KA, Huang X (2018) Machine learning-based virtual screening and its applications to Alzheimer's drug discovery: a review. Curr Pharm Des 24:3347–3358

- Chan HCS, Shan H, Dahoun T, Vogel H, Yuan S (2019) Advancing drug discovery via artificial intelligence. Trends Pharmacol Sci 40:592–604
- Chen Y, Elenee Argentinis JD, Weber G (2016) IBM Watson: how cognitive computing can be applied to big data challenges in life sciences research. Clin Ther 38:688–701
- Deore A, Dhumane JR, Wagh HV, Sonawane RB (2019) The stages of drug discovery and development process. Asian J Pharm Res Dev 7:62–67
- Díaz Ó, Dalton JAR, Giraldo J (2019) Artificial intelligence: a novel approach for drug discovery. Trends Pharmacol Sci 40:550–551
- Ekins S, Puhl AC, Zorn KM, Lane TR, Russo DP, Klein JJ, Hickey AJ, Clark AM (2019) Exploiting machine learning for end-to-end drug discovery and development. Nat Mater 18: 435–441
- Gao J, Sun F (2021) Drug discovery to treat COVID-19 two years after its outbreak. Drug Discov Ther 15:281–288
- Ge Y, Tian T, Huang S, Wan F, Li J, Li S, Wang X, Yang H, Hong L, Wu N, Yuan E, Luo Y, Cheng L, Hu C, Lei Y, Shu H, Feng X, Jiang Z, Wu Y, Chi Y, Guo X, Cui L, Xiao L, Li Z, Yang C, Miao Z, Chen L, Li H, Zeng H, Zhao D, Zhu F, Shen X, Zeng J (2021) An integrative drug repositioning framework discovered a potential therapeutic agent targeting COVID-19. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6:165
- Gimeno A, Ojeda-Montes MJ, Tomás-Hernández S, Cereto-Massagué A, Beltrán-Debón R, Mulero M, Pujadas G, Garcia-Vallvé S (2019) The light and dark sides of virtual screening: what is there to know? Int J Mol Sci 20
- Goldie JH, Coldman AJ, Ng V, Hopkins HA, Looney WB (1988) A mathematical and computerbased model of alternating chemotherapy and radiation therapy in experimental neoplasms. Antibiot Chemother 1971(41):11–20
- Gruskin S, Raad Z (2010) Are drug companies living up to their human rights responsibilities? Moving toward assessment. PLoS Med 7:e1000310
- Guitard T, Bouchard S, Bélanger C, Berthiaume M (2019) Exposure to a standardized catastrophic scenario in virtual reality or a personalized scenario in imagination for generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Med 8
- Gupta R, Srivastava D, Sahu M, Tiwari S, Ambasta RK, Kumar P (2021) Artificial intelligence to deep learning: machine intelligence approach for drug discovery. Mol Divers 25:1315–1360
- Harrer S, Shah P, Antony B, Hu J (2019) Artificial intelligence for clinical trial design. Trends Pharmacol Sci 40:577–591
- Hawkins L (2022) The impact of the energy crisis on pharma [online]. https://www.pharma-iq.com/ business-development/news/the-impact-of-the-energy-crisis-on-pharma
- Hefti FF (2008) Requirements for a lead compound to become a clinical candidate. BMC Neurosci 9:S7
- Hughes JP, Rees S, Kalindjian SB, Philpott KL (2011) Principles of early drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol 162:1239–1249
- Jayarathna DK, Rentería ME, Batra J, Gandhi NS (2022) A supervised machine learning approach identifies gene-regulating factor-mediated competing endogenous RNA networks in hormonedependent cancers. J Cell Biochem 123:1394–1408
- Jiménez-Luna J, Grisoni F, Weskamp N, Schneider G (2021) Artificial intelligence in drug discovery: recent advances and future perspectives. Expert Opin Drug Discov 16:949–959
- Kumar M, Mostafa J (2020) Electronic health records for better health in the lower- and middleincome countries. Library Hi Tech 38:751–767
- Lavecchia A, Di Giovanni C (2013) Virtual screening strategies in drug discovery: a critical review. Curr Med Chem 20:2839–2860
- Le T, Epa VC, Burden FR, Winkler DA (2012) Quantitative structure–property relationship modeling of diverse materials properties. Chem Rev 112:2889–2919
- Leisinger KM, Garabedian LF, Wagner AK (2012) Improving access to medicines in low and middle income countries: corporate responsibilities in context. South Med Rev 5:3–8

- Maia EHB, Assis LC, De Oliveira TA, Da Silva AM, Taranto AG (2020) Structure-based virtual screening: from classical to artificial intelligence. Front Chem 8
- Mak KK, Pichika MR (2019) Artificial intelligence in drug development: present status and future prospects. Drug Discov Today 24:773–780
- Malinzi J, Basita KB, Padidar S, Adeola HA (2021) Prospect for application of mathematical models in combination cancer treatments. Inform Med Unlocked 23:100534
- Manish Vyas ST, Riyaz B, Bansal KK, Tomar B, Mishra V (2018) Artificial intelligence: the beginning of a new era in pharmacy profession. Asian J Pharm 12:72–76
- Matthews H, Hanison J, Nirmalan N (2016) "Omics"-informed drug and biomarker discovery: opportunities, challenges and future perspectives. Proteomes 4:4
- Mcinnes C (2007) Virtual screening strategies in drug discovery. Curr Opin Chem Biol 11:494-502
- Mei S, Zhang K (2021) A machine learning framework for predicting drug–drug interactions. Sci Rep 11:17619
- Melles M, Albayrak A, Goossens R (2021) Innovating health care: key characteristics of humancentered design. Int J Qual Health Care 33:37–44
- Mohs RC, Greig NH (2017) Drug discovery and development: role of basic biological research. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 3:651–657
- Mpinga EK, Bukonda NKZ, Qailouli S, Chastonay P (2022) Artificial intelligence and human rights: are there signs of an emerging discipline? A systematic review. J Multidiscip Healthc 15: 235–246
- Naar L, Zimmermann A, Bobinet K, Sklar AE (2018) The human-centered health system: transforming healthcare with design
- Naik N, Hameed BMZ, Shetty DK, Swain D, Shah M, Paul R, Aggarwal K, Ibrahim S, Patil V, Smriti K, Shetty S, Rai BP, Chlosta P, Somani BK (2022) Legal and ethical consideration in artificial intelligence in healthcare: who takes responsibility? Front Surg 9:862322
- Negru PA, Miculas DC, Behl T, Bungau AF, Marin RC, Bungau SG (2022) Virtual screening of substances used in the treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infection and analysis of compounds with known action on structurally similar proteins from other viruses. Biomed Pharmacother 153: 113432
- NIH U. S. National Library of Medicine (2022). ClinicalTrials.gov [Online]. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/home
- Noorbakhsh-Sabet N, Zand R, Zhang Y, Abedi V (2019) Artificial intelligence transforms the future of health care. Am J Med 132:795–801
- O'Brien MP, Forleo-Neto E, Sarkar N, Isa F, Hou P, Chan K-C, Musser BJ, Bar KJ, Barnabas RV, Barouch DH, Cohen MS, Hurt CB, Burwen DR, Marovich MA, Brown ER, Heirman I, Davis JD, Turner KC, Ramesh D, Mahmood A, Hooper AT, Hamilton JD, Kim Y, Purcell LA, Baum A, Kyratsous CA, Krainson J, Perez-Perez R, Mohseni R, Kowal B, Dicioccio AT, Geba GP, Stahl N, Lipsich L, Braunstein N, Herman G, Yancopoulos GD, Weinreich DM, COVID-19 Phase 3 Prevention Trial Team (2022) Effect of subcutaneous Casirivimab and Imdevimab antibody combination vs placebo on development of symptomatic COVID-19 in early asymptomatic Sars-CoV-2 infection: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 327:432–441
- Ohuabunwa EC, Sun J, Jean Jubanyik K, Wallis LA (2016) Electronic medical records in low to middle income countries: the case of Khayelitsha Hospital, South Africa. Afr J Emerg Med 6: 38–43
- Pal A, Curtin JF, Kinsella GK (2021) In silico and in vitro screening for potential anticancer candidates targeting GPR120. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 31:127672
- Park MJ, Kim DJ, Lee U, Na EJ, Jeon HJ (2019) A literature overview of virtual reality (VR) in treatment of psychiatric disorders: recent advances and limitations. Front Psych 10:505
- Patel V, Shah M (2022) Artificial intelligence and machine learning in drug discovery and development. Intell Med 2:134–140
- Paul D, Sanap G, Shenoy S, Kalyane D, Kalia K, Tekade RK (2021) Artificial intelligence in drug discovery and development. Drug Discov Today 26:80–93

- Riva G, Serino S (2020) Virtual reality in the assessment, understanding and treatment of mental health disorders. J Clin Med 9(11):3434
- Ryu JY, Kim HU, Lee SY (2018) Deep learning improves prediction of drug-drug and drug-food interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:E4304–E4311
- Santoro M, Shanklin R (2020) Human rights obligations of drug companies. J Human Rights 19: 557–567
- Schmidt C (2017) M. D. Anderson breaks with IBM Watson, raising questions about artificial intelligence in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 109(5)
- Searl MM, Borgi L, Chemali Z (2010) It is time to talk about people: a human-centered healthcare system. Health Res Policy Syst 8:35
- Sinkala M, Mulder N, Martin D (2020) Machine learning and network analyses reveal disease subtypes of pancreatic cancer and their molecular characteristics. Sci Rep 10:1212
- Smith JS, Roitberg AE, Isayev O (2018) Transforming computational drug discovery with machine learning and AI. ACS Med Chem Lett 9:1065–1069
- Stevens H, Huys I (2017) Innovative approaches to increase access to medicines in developing countries. Front Med 4
- Stewart A (2023) Winter is coming: how the energy crisis will change pharma in 2023 [Online]. https://themedicinemaker.com/business-regulation/how-the-energy-crisis-will-affect-pharmain-2023
- Sun X, Bao J, Shao Y (2016) Mathematical modeling of therapy-induced cancer drug resistance: connecting cancer mechanisms to population survival rates. Sci Rep 6:22498
- Tokyo T (2020) Society 5.0: a people-centric super-smart society: a people-centric super-smart society
- UN-SDGS (2015) The sustainable development goals [online]. https://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/
- Wang T, Johnson TS, Shao W, Lu Z, Helm BR, Zhang J, Huang K (2019) Bermuda: a novel deep transfer learning method for single-cell RNA sequencing batch correction reveals hidden highresolution cellular subtypes. Genome Biol 20:165
- WHO (2022) Mental disorders [Online]. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mentaldisorders
- Zang Q, Mansouri K, Williams AJ, Judson RS, Allen DG, Casey WM, Kleinstreuer NC (2017) In silico prediction of physicochemical properties of environmental chemicals using molecular fingerprints and machine learning. J Chem Inf Model 57:36–49
- Zhang X, Zhang Y, Ye X, Guo X, Zhang T, He J (2016) Overview of phase IV clinical trials for postmarket drug safety surveillance: a status report from the ClinicalTrials.gov registry. BMJ Open 6:e010643
- Zhavoronkov A, Vanhaelen Q, Oprea TI (2020) Will artificial intelligence for drug discovery impact clinical pharmacology? Clin Pharmacol Ther 107:780–785
- Zhou Y, Wang F, Tang J, Nussinov R, Cheng F (2020) Artificial intelligence in COVID-19 drug repurposing. Lancet Digit Health 2:e667–e676
- Zhu H (2020) Big data and artificial intelligence modeling for drug discovery. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 60:573–589
- Zhu T, Cao S, Su PC, Patel R, Shah D, Chokshi HB, Szukala R, Johnson ME, Hevener KE (2013) Hit identification and optimization in virtual screening: practical recommendations based on a critical literature analysis. J Med Chem 56:6560–6572
The Role of Digital Twinning, the Next Generation of EMR/EHR in Healthcare in a Society 5.0: Collecting Patient Data from Birth to the Grave



Rodney Hull, Nkhensani Chauke-Malinga, Guy Roger Gaudji, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract The U.S. FDA estimates that drug treatments may be ineffective in 38–75% of patients. This clearly demonstrates the importance of personalized medicine. Personalized medicine requires vast amounts of data, and a digital twin is an easy way to represent and use this data. A digital twin is a virtual copy of an individual generated using large amounts of highly descriptive data specific to that individual. To generate the most accurate digital twin, information should be collected from the individual's birth, and this record must be kept up to date. This digital twin will then be a digital version of the individual containing their full medical history, genetic information, family history, biometric data, demographic information, and details concerning their environment and exposure to risk factors for various diseases. Epigenomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, metabolomic, and microbiomic data should be collected at various times to identify potential risk

N. Chauke-Malinga

K. R. M. Blenman

R. Hull (🖂) · Z. Dlamini

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: rodney.hull@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: ny.chauke-malinga@up.ac.za

G. R. Gaudji

Department of Urology, Level 7, Bridge C, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Arcadia, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: guy.gaudji@up.ac.za

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_8

biomarkers that have developed. When an individual requires medical treatment, the digital twin can be updated using the latest "omics" data. These digital twins can then be used as accurate virtual models to test patient responses to various treatment, or to monitor patients at risk, which will improve early diagnosis and ensure early treatment. In this way, the digital twin could contribute to the lifetime healthcare goals of healthcare in Society 5.0, leading to the goals of improving the life expectancy and vitality of an individual through personalized healthcare from the cradle to the grave. Digital twins can also be used to improve health delivery and the healthy layout of cities and attain a multitude of other sustainable development goals, through virtual modeling and optimization based on the use of these models. Despite the promise of digital twins in healthcare, there are barriers to their use and implementation. These include ethical issues, violation of privacy, abuse, and the creation of a population of hypochondriacs as digital twins can be used to overdiagnose conditions.

Keywords Digital twins \cdot Human digital twins \cdot Precision medicine \cdot Personalized medicine \cdot Precision public health in Society $5.0 \cdot$ SDGs \cdot In silico experiments \cdot Ethical issues \cdot Privacy \cdot Energy crisis \cdot Rights

1 Introduction

The emerging technology and practice of creating a digital twin has most often been employed by the industrial and engineering sectors (Wickramasinghe et al. 2021). A digital twin can be used to represent a physical object (or individual), process, or service as a virtual model consisting of both data and algorithms. They differ from traditional models in that they can represent unique features specific to the entity being modelled. Using technologies such as smart sensor technology, data analytics, and artificial intelligence, these models can be used to "test" their real-world counterparts in a digital virtual space and as these technologies improve, the predictions made through the use of digital twins will become more accurate. In the industrial engineering and commercial space this allows for prediction of system failures and the improvement of system performance or to innovate whole new approaches (Liu et al. 2019).

However, the creation of digital twins is now being applied to the field of healthcare and medicine, where it is being promoted as an exciting and promising approach that can further advance efforts in medical discoveries and improve clinical and public health outcomes (Schwartz et al. 2020). Some of these applications include modeling the management of diseases such as multiple sclerosis (Voigt et al. 2021), dementia (Wickramasinghe et al. 2022), cancer (Hernandez-Boussard et al. 2021), and cardiovascular disease (Sun et al. 2022). Digital twins can also be used for the testing and development of medical equipment in a virtual space, such as radiological devices (Pesapane et al. 2022), or as a means to perfect or develop new procedures, such as a model for surgical interventions (Kurakova et al. 2022). A digital twin is created using patient-specific data to create a virtual copy of the

patient. Additionally, these digital twins could be amalgamated into a digital representation of a population group. To create an accurate digital twin, detailed and upto-date patient information is required (Batch et al. 2022). This digital twin can be used to monitor the change in the patient's risk of developing a disease across their lifespan and to decide on the best treatment for an individual. Simply put, this digital twin serves as a model of a physical entity and can be used to model the response of the physical entity to situations within the digital domain (Wickramasinghe et al. 2021). In the fields of medicine and public health, it can serve as the next development in electronic health/medical records for either an individual or an aggregate of records to model the response of a population. Modeling disease occurrence, spread, response to treatment, and outcome using digital twins would be required for a new era of precision medicine (Wickramasinghe et al. 2021; Björnsson et al. 2019). Healthcare in a Society 5.0-based healthcare system would involve a humancentered approach that is actively led by the patient focused on preventive care, but most importantly it is centered around the individual with personalized medicine, involving tailor-made solutions from treatment and diagnosis to assessment (Natakusumah et al. 2022). The importance of personalized medicine was demonstrated by a report from the FDA in 2013 which estimated that drug treatments were ineffective in 38–75% of patients being treated for a variety of conditions. This is due to standardized treatments being unable to account for individual variations (Parker 2005). This illustrates just a single problem that exists in healthcare that can be solved through the use of digital twins and the digitization of every individual patient. This chapter will discuss the development, application, and concerns around digital twins in Society 5.0 healthcare systems. In line with achieving the reforms necessary to implement Society 5.0 are the 17 United Nations sustainable development goals. These goals were agreed to by member states in 2015 and are meant to provide a blueprint for the development of a prosperous future for individuals and the planet. Healthcare is covered by SDG-3. This chapter will cover the use of digital twins in the realization of SDG-3, but digital twinning can be applied to most if not all these development goals, examples of which are given in Fig. 1 (Costanza et al. 2016).

2 History, Overview, and the Generation of a Digital Twin

The first practical use of a digital twin was in 2010 where NASA used digital twins to model spacecraft flight (Glaessgen and Stargel 2012). The digital twin model system consists of three components, the source, which is the physical thing being modelled, the digital twin, and the data which connects them. The source can be virtually anything ranging from an individual to a population to a city or even a manufacturing process. The twin that is created based upon this object or process is a virtual copy based on all the descriptive or quantitative data available to create the most exact copy. This data is collected from the source and used to create the twin (Grieves 2014). The use of the digital twin as a predictive model for patient

DEVI DEVI	STAINABLE GOALS	7 AFFORMABLE AND CLEANENERGY	Access to clean, sustainable and affordable energy plays a crucial role in advancing health. Digital twins can help alleviate the energy crisis by modelling plants and energy grids to minimise failures
1 ND FOVERTY	Poverty is a major contributor to poor health. Digital twins of whole population or communities can be used to model public health initiatives in poor communities and the development of financial incentive programs related to health	9 ANDINFRASTRUCTORE	Digital twins of medical and pharmaceutical industries and processes can be used to improve the use of resources and fine tune processes in the individual environment of companies, nations or new technologies
3 GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING	Digital twins of individuals, diseases, populations and medical facilities to model personal and public health	11 SUSTAINABLE CITES	Digital twins of cities and infrastructure to model town planning and improve health by avoiding human settlement in hazardous polluted or congested areas
G CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION	Digital twins of sanitation, systems, water tables and fresh water systems as well as surrounding human activity can be use d to ensure access to clean water or track pollutants, contaminates or water borne disease	13 CLIMATE ACTION	Digital twins can lead to more accurate and detailed climate models . These can be used to protect people from natural disasters or lessen the impact of climate change on peoples health

Fig. 1 The role digital twins can play in the realization of various UN sustainable development goals in relation to health. The creation of digital twins can be used to improve simulations and modeling that is performed prior to implementation of various strategies. This can help point out problems and predict outcomes



Fig. 2 The flow of information from physical objects to digital twins. Information is gathered from the physical object(s), in this case individual patients. This information can be gathered by medical professionals through clinical means or through the individual's interaction with devices connected to the Internet of Things. This data is unique to each individual and gives rise to a corresponding unique digital twin. These twins can be used to perform various simulations, the result of which can be used to implement changes in real life. This will change the status of the individual which will be reflected in new information gathered from the individual. This information is fed back into the digital twin. In this way, the AI algorithms can learn from those implemented changes and use this information to fine-tune its predictions

healthcare is becoming more accurate thanks to the aforementioned smart sensor technologies, data analytics, and artificial intelligence. This predictive information can then be applied back to the patient, changes can be implemented, and new data can be gathered and used to alter the twin to make new predictions. This creates a feedback loop of information between the patient and the digital twin where the digital twin can be said to be learning (Boschert et al. 2018) (Fig. 2). The modeling and simulations of a human body using a digital twin to improve diagnosis, prognosis, treatment, screening, and overall well-being can be more beneficial with the expansion of the source and scope of accessible data since the twin will become more accurate. Due to the bi-directional flow of data between the physical world and the digital twin, the twin is also capable of learning and developing (Björnsson et al. 2019; Tao et al. 2019a).

The bi-directional flow of information between a digital twin and its physical counterpart means that a digital twin is not a static copy or simple simulation model. Not only that but the continuous inclusion of updated information the idea of a digital twin is based upon means that the digital twin will change as their physical counterpart changes (Boschert et al. 2018).

A digital twin can be created not just of an individual, but of various tissues, body systems cell types, diseases, or populations. These different types of digital twins can even be created to model individual cells or even cellular components (Fig. 3). Not



Fig. 3 Concepts in the design and creation of and types of digital twins. The various levels of complicity of a digital twin describe how often the twin is updated: never, frequently, or in real time. The most complex and useful twin for the highest accuracy modeling would be one where the twin is updated in real time and can use machine learning algorithms to learn from the changes brought about by interventions or changes to the real life individual. The *red* lines and circles indicate concepts such as the twin being a temporal entity and a repository of digital twins in the form of a "bank." The *blue* lines and circles represent the main types of digital twins while the *black* lines and circles represent the different applications of a digital twin

only can digital twins be created for a specific disease or disorder, but a twin could be created for the causative agent, bacteria, virus, or parasite. This twin could be used to model the effect of drugs, vaccines, or other therapeutic agents on these agents or even a population of these agents (Singh et al. 2021a). As previously stated, one type of digital twin is a digital replica of infectious or disease-causing agents, while another is the modeling of individual components. In its simplest form, this may only be a model of individual molecules. Protein modeling has been performed for many years and these are in fact digital twins representing the same physical characteristics of the real-life molecule (Fig. 3). These types of digital twins have recently been used to model the interaction between the spike protein of the SARS-coronavirus and digital twins of real-life individual's angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors (Piplani et al. 2021).

One of the most basic types of digital twins is the reference digital twin, a template used to construct digital twins. As such they are also known as prototwins (Popa et al. 2021). One of the major uses of digital twins in healthcare is the ability to test various treatments or scenarios of the same patient's digital twin at the same time. To do this, multiple copies of the same individual's digital twin need to be made. These digital twin copies are referred to as digital twin instances. In order to create a digital twin of a population of individuals an aggregate or composite twin must be made by adding information from the individual digital twins that represent the individuals making up that population. This type of twin can be used for predicting the spread of a pandemic within an individual population (De Benedictis et al. 2022). Both aggregates and instances can be stored in organized repositories which can be combined with other similar repositories to create different aggregates or groups of instances. These repositories are known as digital twin banks (Garg 2021). A final type of digital twin that is useful in healthcare is the digital twins of organizations (DTOs). This could be a model of a hospital or other healthcare organization, a health department, or a referral chain between healthcare providers. This twin can be used to optimize their design and running (Callcut et al. 2021).

In addition to different types of digital twins, there are also different levels of sophistication, abstraction, and complexity for digital twins. These differences are due to the fidelity of the twin which is a measure of how much the digital twin reflects the current state of the real-life patient. This fidelity is therefore a measure of three different characteristics. Firstly, how much real-world detail is used to construct the digital twin. Secondly, if the digital twin is being updated with new information in real time using updated data from connected instruments (via the IOT), and finally, if the algorithm used to update the twin is capable of learning from the changing status of the patient using the new information (Gerber et al. 2019) (Fig. 3).

A final important concept for digital twins is that they are a product of the time the data used to create them covers in the physical world. In other words, was the data used to construct them recorded at an individual's birth continuing until they die or was it just between two specific dates? This information is important for aggregate twins as they can cover the period for which a population was exposed to the situation being modeled or the times they existed as a distinct population. This temporal delineation of the digital twin is known as the digital thread (Garg 2021).

Currently, there is no single software that is specifically designed to create a digital twin of an individual. Some of the software that has previously been developed or is in use to model either medical devices, specific organs, or the digital environment of an individual are listed in Table 1. A multi-purpose human/medical digital twin software development kit (SDK) has been developed and is available as of 2022. It is hoped it will become widely available at some point in the future to complement existing (generic) digital twin software tools (e.g., GE Digital 2022) and optimize them for medical and healthcare applications.

2.1 Data Used to Generate a Digital Twin

The collection of data is one of the most important concepts and barriers for the creation of an accurate digital twin. However, recent developments may make this easier. In particular, the Internet of Things may mean that data can be accurately gathered from everyday objects an individual uses and most importantly for healthcare from devices attached to or implanted into the human body. This would

Company and software	Details	References
Semarx: The Human Digital Twin (HDT)	AI-based software that learns based on the users' interactions with the environment. The digital twin enables the user to optimize and automate their digital interactions based on their preferences and interests.	SEMARX (2022)
Twinbase	Open-source digital twin web server that stores digital twin documents.	Autiosalo et al. (2021)
Living Heart'	Transform a person's two-dimensional (2D) scan into a full-dimensional model of their heart. Allows for manipulation and testing using a virtual heart model.	Scoles (2016)
ALTAIR-One total twin	Medical device design by simulating and optimizing to improve device designers and manufacture. Leading to improved patient care and reduced costs.	Forward (2022)

Table 1 Software used to create digital twins relevant to healthcare

allow for the acquisition of greater quantities of real-time, more accurate data than ever before, which can then be used to construct a more accurate digital twin (Jacoby and Usländer 2020). These not only include devices but also apps such as activity trackers, diet monitors, and telemedicine services (Björnsson et al. 2019). This ability to collect real-time data not only allows data concerning the health of an individual to be gathered but also environmental data concerning risk factors to which they may be exposed. The Internet of Things would also allow devices to communicate with each other concerning an individual who is using many connected devices. This remote monitoring and integration of data would allow for faster generation of digital twins in real time whilst continually updating with the most recent data concerning the status of an individual and allow for the generation of a more up-to-date digital twin. The collection storage and analysis of this data is assisted by other advancing technologies, with the aforementioned AI being the most important, but also including cloud computing (Kamel Boulos and Al-Shorbaji 2014).

Only the development of modern simulation capabilities and the ability to gather large amounts of data in the form of genomic, transcriptomic, epigenomic, proteomic, microbiomic and medical reports, among others, make the creation of a digital twin modeling something as complex as the human body even possible. This allows for the modeling of even complex molecular processes such as protein structures (Paul et al. 2021). The collection of these omics data should ideally begin at birth with the genome being sequenced. Mutations can be identified, and all this data will be used as the basis for the generation of the digital twin, along with basic demographic data and data concerning the family history of disease. At this stage, the collection of transcriptomic data would only be done in a future setting where this is easy, rapid, and routine as each tissue and cell type within the body would have a different transcriptome. Rather data like this will be collected at various points throughout the lifetime with clinical checkups and consultations. At various stages throughout the life of the patient, the genome can be sequenced again to track any mutations that have arisen in different tissues of the body. All this data can be used to make a digital twin that best reflects the genetics of the individual (Telenti et al. 2016). Another form of omics data which is being increasingly studied is microbiomics. The population of the microbiome of an individual can give important insights into an individual's health and well-being. In the future, microbiomic data can be gathered at every doctor's visit. This will give the digital twin the ability to model an individual's changing lifestyle, diet, and health and allow for the modeling of the risk of developing specific disease due to these changes (Lloyd-Price et al. 2016).

At this moment, the generation of a digital twin that is fully capable of fully representing a physical object as complex and intricate as the human body is not possible. This is largely due to all the complex interactions between the various molecules, tissues, cells, organs, and body systems present. Modern medicine is still able to use the simplified twins we are capable of generating, such as pandemic modeling, drug design, and disease progression. However, without the ability to gather and utilize large amounts of specific data, these twins will remain simple approximations and will only give predictions of limited accuracy. Currently relying on omics data to generate a digital twin is problematic due to the cost associated with whole genome, transcriptome, or proteome studies. However, with the research costs of big data technologies constantly decreasing and the increasing availability of computing resources, obtaining this data for every patient will become more cost-effective. This would lead to the use of digital twins becoming the standard procedure (Lehrach et al. 2016).

3 The Role of a Digital Twin in a Society 5.0 Healthcare System

The aim of personalized medicine is to provide healthcare that is centered around the differences between individuals and populations and target these for care, diagnosis, prognosis, monitoring, and prevention. These differences include genetic makeup, lifestyle, and environmental factors. Digital twins give the ability to model how this unique makeup of an individual will affect the different aspects of healthcare (Harvey et al. 2012).

Digital twins can also be used to model many healthcare situations. These include determining drug interactions; the effectiveness of a treatment; the safety and outcomes of a procedure; the frequency and type of disease screening to be carried out; the most useful molecular markers to use for diagnosis, prognosis, and disease monitoring; as well as keeping an accurate and fully accessible complete medical ID. All these can be done in silico, improving care and optimizing resources (Kuchemüller et al. 2021; Sahal et al. 2022). Digital twins can also be used in medical research to lower costs, and partially replace laboratory experiments and the use of laboratory animals, with in silico simulations. Rather than using animals aggregate digital twins can be used to perform more personalized medicine research

(Kuchemüller et al. 2021; Piplani et al. 2021). By modeling the health and wellness of individuals and populations, digital twins can also be used to improve the working life span of an individual as well as increase efficiency and output by decreasing sick leave and incapacity leave (Tao et al. 2019b). The use of digital twins as virtual test subjects will also lead to a decrease in errors made in treating a patient and highlight any side effects or harm a treatment may cause. This will in turn result in a reduction in medicolegal liabilities (Benson 2021).

3.1 Digital Twins in Personalized Medicine

The "guardian angels" principle was proposed by Lehrach et al. (2016). These guardian angels were "virtual twins" of every European individual that could assist in establishing personalized healthcare and disease prevention in Europe. These digital twins will be created using data gathered from multiple sources including but not limited to -omics, imaging, clinical, and sensor data (Lehrach et al. 2016).

Personalized disease management using digital twins has been tested in various studies. Disease such as multiple sclerosis requires lifetime management to prevent or lessen the resulting neurological disability. This disease occurs in young adults and is a chronic multidimensional disease. This disease has been intently studied and large amounts of research data can be used to create digital models of the disease itself. These can be used in conjunction with the digital twin of the individual patient to model the progression of the disease and suggest the best actions that must be taken to minimize morbidity. This can be done by using the patient's genomic information and evaluating how it will interact with the molecular basis of the disease as well as the effect of the patient's environment, nutrition, and lifestyle on the disease (Voigt et al. 2021; Walsh et al. 2020). A large body of evidence support the link between endocrine disruptor chemicals (EDCs) and urogenital birth defects, diabetes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome worldwide and in South Africa. Digital twins can provide scientific data to address the current gaps in environmental policies and in the long term reach the SDG-3 goals with regards to maternal newborn and children deaths. Evidence shows that EDCs have a substantial impact on an individual's genome, transcriptome, proteome, epigenome, and metabolome (Bornman et al. 2017; Singh et al. 2021b). All this information is contained within the patient's digital twin (Voigt et al. 2021; Walsh et al. 2020).

3.2 Treatment Modeling

The guardian angel digital twin proposal previously described envisages the practice of generating a digital twin becoming the standard medical practice, leading to each individual in Europe having a digital twin which can be used to test all possible treatments and only prescribing the most predicted to be the most effective for the patient (Lehrach et al. 2016). This process involves the generation of multiple twin instances. Each instance or duplicate twin is treated using a different drug or treatment option. Like the twin, these treatments are all virtual and are created based on known data concerning the treatment. This includes its pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, the molecular pathways it affects, whole libraries of proteins and ligands that it may associate with, the models of these interactions, the treatment side effects, toxicity, and half-life. This data may also include case reports concerning the previous use of the treatment. All this data is tested against the digital twin using advanced AI algorithms. A different treatment is applied to each individual twin meaning that multiple treatment options can be tested simultaneously. The results can be used to select the best treatment option (Björnsson et al. 2019).

There are many ways these drugs can be tested in these simulations. One example is the use of protein–protein interaction (PPI) networks, constructed using a patient's proteomic or transcriptomic data as a map. Changes in protein expression caused by a treatment can then be mapped to the patients PPI to identify changes in the pathways the drug could cause when used to treat the patient (Zhou et al. 2014; Barabási et al. 2011). Another example could involve genetic changes detected in a patient. These alterations that lead to transcript and protein changes can be used to create a twin with the altered protein and protein expression patterns. A treatment targeting this protein can be used to treat the digital twin. The resulting effects on PPI and pathways can then be simulated in the twin.

Digital twins also show promise in the fields of drug discovery, drug development, as well as replacing or shortening animal and laboratory drug trials. By creating digital twins of target organs or through the use of aggregate digital twins, experimental drugs can be assessed for their effectiveness, toxicity, or pharmacokinetics, before further money is invested in them or further development takes place, thus saving time and money (Canzoneri et al. 2021; Portela et al. 2021). For example, a digital twin of the liver was created using knowledge concerning liver disease and the effect of drugs on the liver. This twin was used to simulate the development of various liver diseases, but also assess the response of both normal liver function and the response of liver disease to new experimental drugs (Subramanian 2020).

Digital twins of the human immune system have also been created; obviously the immune system is important in a wide range of disorders from autoimmune disease to infections. Because of this, a digital twin of this body system will be especially useful in modeling the ability of an individual's immune system to fight off an infection, screening individuals for autoimmune diseases and modeling the progression of a disease or condition. However, these twins are challenging to create due to the human immune system involving complex interactions between many different immune cells and tissues. It is also difficult to measure an individual's immune state. To construct a digital twin of an individual's immune system, data is collected from each level of the physiological scale from the whole body to the body systems, to the organs, to the tissues, to the cells, and to the molecular level. A digital twin of each of these levels of complexity is constructed and then these separate digital twins are integrated into a multiscale base model (Laubenbacher et al. 2022).

Even far simpler treatment options such as orthodontic treatment have been shown to benefit from the creation of simple digital twins. Using facial scans and three-dimensional (3D) imaging to create a digital twin of the patient's face and jaw, the correct measurements, and assessments of the alignment of the various structural components of a patient's face allow for more precise individual interventions to correct any issues with the alignment of the central incisors with the forehead (Cho et al. 2021).

3.3 Aggregate Twins and Digital Twin Populations: Whole Population Modeling

Society 5.0 aims to bring about a society that is a balance of economic, societal, and personal development, and relies on the interdependence of these factors. The recent COVID-19 pandemic highlighted how this delicate balance can be plunged into turmoil during a global pandemic. In many regards the pandemic highlighted the shortcomings of public health. As healthcare in society 5.0 is centered on the individual so public health in Society 5.0 should be centered on the individuals within that society (Natakusumah et al. 2022). Of greatest concern to public health 5.0 would be the interactions between people and the existence of patients with medical conditions within a community (Adel 2022). One of the main concerns of public health is to prevent disease outbreaks and to track the spread of diseases to try to limit or control that spread (Natakusumah et al. 2022). Aggregate twins can be constructed using the individuals of a particular population to give a digital representative population for the modeling of public health concerns. However, digital twins of entire populations may also be useful.

As already alluded to one of these concerns is tracking and managing disease outbreaks. Virtual systems capable of doing this more accurately than current models using standardized populations would be vital to allow public health sectors to be better prepared and to take meaningful action when the time comes. A model of a smart city or Society 5.0 city contained an integrated disease outbreak model (Deren et al. 2021). This model was constructed using data gathered in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. It made use of a digital twin of the patients at a particular time period in specific locations during the pandemic. It also used cloud computing and AI to analyze new data concerning a new or hypothetical outbreak to generate instructions on how to best stop the spread of the outbreak. The integrated model can trace the disease based on the locations of affected patients as well as identifying these patients' close contacts. When digital twins of different non-patient populations are entered into the model, it can assess the risk of the disease spreading through this population using the location, health status, and environment of these digital twins (Deren et al. 2021).

Another method making use of digital twins to monitor and control a disease outbreak uses digital twins of individuals based on their smartphones. The phones collect basic data such as age, gender, and underlying health issues, which the user enters. The user can then also enter any symptoms they have and the results of any diagnostic test. These digital smartphone twins are location-linked with hospitals and medical centers that will use the information collected from the digital twins to plan for bed space, medical staff, and equipment. Once again close contacts can be identified using the smartphone location or recently visited locations (El Azzaoui et al. 2021).

Digital twins of cities have been created to help city planners improve the health of people living within those cities. These can range from access to people with special needs to removal of waste, pest control, the effect of heat waves as well as the effect of emissions from traffic and industries as well as the use of chemicals in agriculture. In South Africa, both agrochemicals and pest control insecticides, mainly for the control of malaria, have been found to leach into aquatic environments including freshwater supplies. These chemicals have been linked to endocrine disruption, interfering with normal hormone function (Horak et al. 2021; Patrick et al. 2016). Digital twins can be used to simulate the effect of these chemicals on individuals, but even more importantly they can be used to simulate the environments in which the chemicals are deployed. This will allow predictions of how these chemicals enter the water resources through runoff and drainage. These models can be used to change the way these chemicals are used, limiting their indiscreet or excessive use as well as allowing for the prevention of runoff or drainage. The current energy crisis has important implications for healthcare. The WHO states that "Access to clean, sustainable and affordable energy, outlined in the seventh Sustainable Development Goal (SDG 7), plays a crucial role in advancing health (SDG3)" (World Health Organisation 2023). Digital twins are already being used to create simulations of powerplants and energy grids to optimize maintenance, avoid waste, and predict failures. Industries can use digital twins to model their manufacturing process and assess their energy usage and waste. This includes providing predictions of energy lost to the production of heat as a by-product as well as modeling their creation of waste gasses such as CO and CO₂ (Sifat et al. 2022).

These models are not static simulations but mirror the movement and infrastructure of a city at different times of the day and the behavior of the city residents. These model cities allow various alterations both physical and administrative to be modelled in the virtual world (Deren et al. 2021). These cities also allow for modeling the effect new buildings will have on the health and well-being of the city residents. New buildings will alter the sunlight surrounding buildings receive and these changes caused by shadows can be modelled in various seasons and conditions (Patrick 2020). Reduced sunshine can lead to seasonal affective disorder, a condition that normally appears in the autumn and has symptoms including depression, low energy, listlessness, insomnia or over-sleeping, lack of hunger or dietary changes, and even suicidal thoughts (Kurlansik and Ibay 2012).

4 Issues with Digital Twins

There are many design criteria for creating a digital twin, many of which revolve around the data used to construct the model. These concerns and design criteria include the perceived accuracy of the data, the use of personal information, who is able to access alter or remove data, how visible the data is, and finally is the twin designed in such a way that it can be easily integrated into different healthcare computational systems. There are also issues of consent when it comes to the gathering and storing of data. How much needs to be disclosed to the real-life people the twin represents? (Schwartz et al. 2020) When it comes to data removal, whether due to the presence of incorrect data or data that violates an individual's privacy, who has the right to access and edit this data? One option to solve this is the creation of a modular digital twin, where related data sets are separated (Fig. 4). The twin only functions as a whole with all modules working together by each module communicating through a central data structure. This means new modules can be added or others edited without interfering with the twin as a whole. Additionally, access to edit the twin can be granted to different modules at different times (Masison et al. 2021) (Fig. 4). The safety of data is also a concern. To what extent should the data used to create a digital twin be encrypted and who has the right to the key to unencrypted data? If commercial companies are paid to host or curate the digital twins what is stopping them from selling this data to a third party? (Parmar et al. 2020; Fuller et al. 2020)



Fig. 4 Representation of a modular digital twin. Related datasets are separated but joined by a central network or framework to create the entire functional digital twin. Only certain modules are accessible to certain individuals. For instance, commercial entities such as insurance companies are only allowed to access modules such as demographic data, while an individual can access all modules but is only allowed to edit specific modules

Even some of the technologies used to implement digital twins have their own disadvantages and limitations. Since they are based on AI technology both the twin and the underlying AI algorithms require good quality accurate data. Questions surrounding the quality of data are important considerations for not only AI but data analytics as well. The intensive collection of data from individuals may itself pose an ethical risk as it can infringe on the rights of an individual who may not want their data collected but are not given the choice due to the automated collection of data that occurs with the IOT. It may also increase the risk of an individual's data being stolen through data mining inference attacks (Krumm 2007). The danger of hyper-collection of data may lead to the collection and inclusion of data that has no bearing on health, and this in turn can lead to overcomplications and incorrect results when the twin is used to model a healthcare scenario (Bagaria et al. 2020). This excess data collection may be exploited to collect data which can then be sold to other commercial entities such as insurance companies or retailers. This is known as data brokerage and healthcare data may be very valuable to pharmaceutical companies and marketing organizations (Prainsack 2017). Currently, health data is protected by law and legally informed consent is required from the patient to share this information. However, the networking of devices and databases in the smart society may render this legal protection obsolete. The maintenance and use of data also pose a problem since as software and hardware are upgraded, so digital obsolescence may result in data not being able to be transferred to the newer systems. This may result in the loss of data. Another problem is data transferability. This becomes a problem as data is collected by devices from different manufacturers using different analysis or operating software. This may lead to data being unable to be used or being entered into the analysis or AI software incorrectly (Sandborn 2007).

Smart sensors that can be used to gather data are likely to be expensive since the microchips need to contain both sensors and actuators, making them more complex. Another issue is that of sensor calibration. Currently, smart sensors need to be calibrated using an external processor. If this means an individual needs to take the sensor to a manufacturer or service partner, the end result may be devices that are not serviced regularly, correctly, or not at all. This may result in the collection of incorrect inaccurate data (Majumder et al. 2017). This may be problematic when it comes to data gathered through the IOT. For instance, if an AI were to monitor the information from a device such as a smartphone which gives the individual's location as a bar, it does not necessarily mean that the individual is consuming alcohol, yet an AI capable of learning may infer this (Rao and Mane 2019). The use of mobile wearable devices and smartphones to collect data is also a concern as the constant collection of data and real-time updating of a digital twin would be happening without the individual's consent. The individual may want the device and may want to wear the device but may not agree to the collection of data (Armstrong 1995). There are also questions around the accuracy of these devices (Falter et al. 2019; Marcus 2020).

Digital twins also face the same issues that AI does in mistrust and suspicion. It is human nature to fear the new and unknown. It is natural to doubt the accuracy of

predictions made by AI using digital twins because it is difficult to understand how AI has come to this conclusion. These concerns over mistrust in AI are valid and can be summed up by the black box problem. This problem revolves around medical professionals not being able to determine or understand how an AI came to its conclusion. This is especially problematic once the AI is fully automated using ML or DL. This may lead to doubt as to the accuracy of the conclusions reached by the AI (Sorell et al. 2022). One option would be to develop AI systems that explain their operations by creating an easy to understand log of the actions taken by the AI in constructing or modeling using the digital twin (Kwong et al. 2022). In addition to this, there has always been a mistrust of mechanization and automation, of these things replacing or rendering humans obsolete. It is important to remember that digital twins are tools to be used to make predictions and the decision to act on those predictions will ultimately reside with the humans using these tools (Fuller et al. 2020).

The digital twin also requires standardization, involving the actions of an organizing body comprised of all stakeholders such as industry, government, academia, and practitioners. Such organizing bodies already exist, such as the Swedish Digital Twin Consortium (2022) and the Digital Twin Consortium (2022). The Digital Twin Consortium is a collection of industrial, government, and academic members. These industry partners include software and hardware IT companies, companies from the aerospace and motor vehicle sectors, the agricultural sector, transportation, military, natural resource management, as well as the healthcare sector. The consortium aims to drive the adoption and development of digital twin technology (DigiTwins Consortium 2022). The STDC is more focused on the medical sector than the DT consortium. It is made up of partners from multiple disciplines within the healthcare sector. These include partners from healthcare, medical and technical faculties, and industry. The academic partners consist of multiple universities, hospitals, and medical institutes within Switzerland (Consortium.).

The mass of information contained within a digital twin and the extensive results generated when that twin is used to model a scenario, suggests that there may be an issue that could lead to overdiagnosis. Digital twins can be effectively used to give an early warning of a disease and allow for preventive healthcare. But this may also lead to overdiagnosis and overtreatment. For instance, if a patient possesses specific genetic biomarkers these may only indicate that the patient is predisposed to developing a disease, not that they have the disease (Mandl and Manrai 2019; Walker and Rogers 2017; Bunnik et al. 2015).

One of the main ethical issues concerning digital twins is how much control a person has over their digital twin, but this twin must be able to be accessed by and therefore managed by the healthcare system. The aforementioned regulatory organizations as well as governments must be responsible for data privacy and the protection of people's personal biological information (Bruynseels et al. 2018). There is also a fear that aggregate digital twins or populations of digital twins may lead to population-specific patterns being identified and this information being used to discriminate against groups of individuals, especially in those countries, such as the USA, where the majority of healthcare is privatized (Bruynseels et al. 2018). The

answer to all these problems most likely lies in the creation of new regulations. These new technologies require the creation of new laws specifically for the collection and use of information by AIs for the use of creating a digital twin and the use of this twin. In South Africa, the Protection of Personal Information Act 4 of 2013 ("POPI") came into effect on July 1, 2021. This act requires that all companies treat, handle, store, and protect the private information of other parties or their clients in a way that it cannot be misused, exploited, or divulged.

The major cost associated with digital twins is the creation of infrastructure to generate, capture, and integrate the data. There is also the initial capital cost of setting up digital information systems, which involves the cost of software to build the twin, AI systems to manage and integrate data being used to create the twin, servers or space on cloud storage, and finally, the training of individuals to run and maintain the system (Parmar et al. 2020). Currently, the costs involved with data collection and curation mean that for poorer individuals or in lower- to middle-income countries the use of digital twin technology for personalized medicine might not be a viable healthcare initiative. This could result in increased discrimination and inequity between the haves and have-nots. Countries like South Africa with their public and private healthcare systems may only be able to institute digital twin technology in the private healthcare sector (Bruynseels et al. 2018).

It has been suggested that like many medical advances, the use of digital twins should be pioneered using animals. Already digital twins have been used in the veterinary care of livestock, where digital twins were not only used to manage livestock but also to detect signs of distress and to predict and diagnose illnesses in the animals (Neethirajan and Kemp 2021).

5 Conclusion

Society 5.0 calls for the sustainable and more intelligent use of resources while it aims to improve the lives of those living in it through, among other initiatives, improved healthcare. One of the main tenets put forward by the concept of healthcare in Society 5.0 is the desire for personalized lifelong healthcare. Digital twins are simply the digitization of the individual based upon data collected throughout the individual's lifetime or over a given period of time. The integration of technology into our everyday lives makes collecting this data far easier and in conjunction with advances in the biomedical industry makes the creation of an accurate digital twin feasible (Fig. 5). An intelligent digital twin, combining data, knowledge, and algorithms (AI), has the capacity to accurately simulate public health and medical situations. These simulations will be individual or population specific as the digital twins reflect those physical entities. These simulations can include medical conditions, disease progression, drug interactions, treatment effectiveness, as well as the spread of a disease and make accurate predictions which can inform practices and assist in planning, diagnosis, prognosis, and the choice of treatment. They can also be used to model health-related situations that are in line



Fig. 5 A summary of digital twin technology in healthcare 5.0. A twin of the real-world patient is created through the collection of multiple forms of data, which is interpreted by an AI algorithm to create a digital twin. In healthcare the twin can be used as an individual, a group, as a population, or the characteristics of multiple twins can be combined to create an aggregate twin. These twins can be used in simulations of either conditions pertaining to an individual patient such as diagnosis, prognosis, or response to treatment or even to monitor the disease progression. Aggregate or populations of twins can be used to model public health initiatives and planning, to optimize the treatment of patients at a medical facility, or model the spread of a disease

with the UN SDGs. These include the layout of healthy cities, clean water and contaminants in drinking water systems, the effects of the energy crisis on healthcare and how to efficiently use limited electricity capacity in healthcare, as well as the alleviation of poverty. The use of digital twins in healthcare can help drive the transformation to healthcare 5.0 by providing truly personalized modeling of the patient.

References

- Adel A (2022) Future of industry 5.0 in society: human-centric solutions, challenges and prospective research areas. J Cloud Comput (Heidelb) 11:40
- Armstrong D (1995) The rise of surveillance medicine. Sociol Health Illness 17:393-404
- Autiosalo J, Siegel J, Tammi K (2021) Twinbase: open-source server software for the digital twin web. IEEE Access 9:140779–140798
- Bagaria N, Laamarti F, Badawi H, Albraikan A, Martinez R, El Saddik, A (2020, January) Connected health in smart cities
- Barabási AL, Gulbahce N, Loscalzo J (2011) Network medicine: a network-based approach to human disease. Nat Rev Genet 12:56–68

- Batch KE, Yue J, Darcovich A, Lupton K, Liu CC, Woodlock DP, El Amine MAK, Causa-Andrieu PI, Gazit L, Nguyen GH, Zulkernine F, Do RKG, Simpson AL (2022) Developing a cancer digital twin: supervised metastases detection from consecutive structured radiology reports. Front Artif Intell 5:826402–826402
- Benson M (2021) Digital twins will revolutionise healthcare. IET Digital Library 16:50-53
- Björnsson B, Borrebaeck C, Elander N, Gasslander T, Gawel DR, Gustafsson M, Jörnsten R, Lee EJ, Li X, Lilja S, Martínez-Enguita D, Matussek A, Sandström P, Schäfer S, Stenmarker M, Sun XF, Sysoev O, Zhang H, Benson M (2019) Digital twins to personalize medicine. Genome Med 12:4
- Bornman MS, Aneck-Hahn NH, De Jager C, Wagenaar GM, Bouwman H, Barnhoorn IEJ, Patrick SM, Vandenberg LN, Kortenkamp A, Blumberg B, Kimmins S, Jegou B, Auger J, Digangi J, Heindel JJ (2017) Endocrine disruptors and health effects in Africa: a call for action. Environ Health Perspect 125:085005
- Boschert S, Heinrich C, Rosen R (2018) Next generation digital twin. In: Proceedings of TMCE 2018. Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain, pp 7–11
- Bruynseels K, Santoni De Sio F, Van Den Hoven J (2018) Digital twins in health care: ethical implications of an emerging engineering paradigm. Front Genet 9:31
- Bunnik EM, Janssens AC, Schermer MH (2015) Personal utility in genomic testing: is there such a thing? J Med Ethics 41:322–326
- Callcut M, Cerceau Agliozzo J-P, Varga L, Mcmillan LJS (2021) Digital twins in civil infrastructure systems. Sustainability 13:11549
- Canzoneri M, De Luca A, Harttung J (2021) Digital twins: a general overview of the biopharma industry. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 177:167–184
- Cho SW, Byun SH, Yi S, Jang WS, Kim JC, Park IY, Yang BE (2021) Sagittal relationship between the maxillary central incisors and the forehead in digital twins of Korean adult females. J Pers Med 11
- Costanza R, Daly L, Fioramonti L, Giovannini E, Kubiszewski I, Mortensen LF, Pickett KE, Ragnarsdottir KV, De Vogli R, Wilkinson R (2016) Modelling and measuring sustainable wellbeing in connection with the UN Sustainable Development Goals. Ecol Econ 130:350–355
- De Benedictis A, Mazzocca N, Somma A, Strigaro C (2022) Digital twins in healthcare: an architectural proposal and its application in a social distancing case study. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform. https://doi.org/10.1109/JBHI.2022.3205506
- Deren L, Wenbo Y, Zhenfeng SJCUS (2021) Smart city based on digital twins. Comput Urban Sci 1:1–11
- Digitwins Consortium (2022) DigiTwins consortium. [Online]. http://www.digitwins.org/ consortium
- El Azzaoui A, Kim TW, Loia V, Park JH (2021) Blockchain-based secure digital twin framework for smart healthy city. In: Advanced multimedia and ubiquitous engineering. Springer
- Falter M, Budts W, Goetschalckx K, Cornelissen V, Buys R (2019) Accuracy of apple watch measurements for heart rate and energy expenditure in patients with cardiovascular disease: cross-sectional study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 7:e11889
- Forward (2022) Healthcare [Online]. https://www.altair.com/healthcare?_ga=2.117750793.18781 70733.1671062788-1355503050.1668856147&_gac=1.220449386.1671062995. CjwKCAIAheacBhB8EiwAItVO254s-Yhrc1AXcVATr0cq94nppmgS2C43 RQ5Aoui9vAJeblAfgCxHzhoC5GUQAvD_BwE. Accessed 14 December 2022
- Fuller A, Fan Z, Day C, Barlow CJIA (2020) Digital twin: enabling technologies, challenges and open research. IEEE Access 8:108952–108971
- Garg H (2021) Digital twin technology: revolutionary to improve personalized healthcare. Sci Prog 1:32–34. https://doi.org/10.52152/spr/2021.105
- GE Digital (2022) *DIGITAL TWIN SOFTWARE*. Available: https://www.ge.com/digital/ applications/digital-twin. Accessed 18 November 2022
- Gerber D, Nguyen B, Gaetani I (2019) Digital twin: towards a meaningful framework. New York, Arup, p 160

- Glaessgen E, Stargel D (2012) The digital twin paradigm for future NASA and US Air Force vehicles. In: 53rd AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC structures, structural dynamics and materials conference. 20th AIAA/ASME/AHS adaptive structures conference 14th AIAA, 1818
- Grieves MJWP (2014) Digital twin: manufacturing excellence through virtual factory replication. White Paper 1:1–7
- Harvey A, Brand A, Holgate ST, Kristiansen LV, Lehrach H, Palotie A, Prainsack B (2012) The future of technologies for personalised medicine. New Biotechnol 29:625–633
- Hernandez-Boussard T, Macklin P, Greenspan EJ, Gryshuk AL, Stahlberg E, Syeda-Mahmood T, Shmulevich I (2021) Digital twins for predictive oncology will be a paradigm shift for precision cancer care. Nat Med 27:2065–2066
- Horak I, Horn S, Pieters R (2021) Agrochemicals in freshwater systems and their potential as endocrine disrupting chemicals: a South African context. Environ Pollut 268:115718
- Jacoby M, Usländer TJAS (2020) Digital twin and internet of things—current standards landscape. Appl Sci 10:6519
- Kamel Boulos MN, Al-Shorbaji NM (2014) On the internet of things, smart cities and the WHO healthy cities. Int J Health Geogr 13:10
- Krumm J (2007) Inference attacks on location tracks. In: International conference on pervasive computing. Springer, pp 127–143
- Kuchemüller KB, Pörtner R, Möller J (2021) Digital twins and their role in model-assisted design of experiments. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 177:29–61
- Kurakova NG, Tsvetkova LA, Polyakova YV (2022) Digital twins in surgery: achievements and limitations. Khirurgiia (Mosk):97–110
- Kurlansik SL, Ibay AD (2012) Seasonal affective disorder. Am Fam Physician 86:1037-1041
- Kwong JCC, Khondker A, Tran C, Evans E, Cozma AI, Javidan A, Ali A, Jamal M, Short T, Papanikolaou F, Srigley JR, Fine B, Feifer A (2022) Explainable artificial intelligence to predict the risk of side-specific extraprostatic extension in pre-prostatectomy patients. Can Urol Assoc J 16:213–221
- Laubenbacher R, Niarakis A, Helikar T, An G, Shapiro B, Malik-Sheriff RS, Sego TJ, Knapp A, Macklin P, Glazier JA (2022) Building digital twins of the human immune system: toward a roadmap. npj Digit Med 5:64
- Lehrach H, Ionescu A, Benhabiles N (2016) The future of health care: deep data, smart sensors, virtual patients and the Internet-of-humans, vol 11. European Union
- Liu Y, Zhang L, Yang Y, Zhou L, Ren L, Wang F, Liu R, Pang Z, Deen MJ (2019) A novel cloudbased framework for the elderly healthcare services using digital twin. J IEEE Access 7:49088– 49101
- Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C (2016) The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med 8: 51
- Majumder S, Mondal T, Deen MJ (2017) Wearable sensors for remote health monitoring. Sensors (Basel) 17
- Mandl KD, Manrai AK (2019) Potential excessive testing at scale: biomarkers, genomics, and machine learning. JAMA 321:739-740
- Marcus GM (2020) The apple watch can detect atrial fibrillation: so what now? Nat Rev Cardiol 17: 135–136
- Masison J, Beezley J, Mei Y, Ribeiro H, Knapp AC, Sordo Vieira L, Adhikari B, Scindia Y, Grauer M, Helba B, Schroeder W, Mehrad B, Laubenbacher R (2021) A modular computational framework for medical digital twins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 118
- Natakusumah K, Maulina E, Muftiadi A, Purnomo M (2022) Digital transformation of health quality services in the healthcare industry during disruption and society 5.0 era. Front Public Health 10:971486
- Neethirajan S, Kemp B (2021) Digital twins in livestock farming. Animals 11(4):1008
- Parker FR (2005) Department of Health and Human Services, US Food and Drug Administration: authority and responsibility. In: FDA administrative enforcement manual. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL

- Parmar R, Leiponen A, Thomas LDJBH (2020) Building an organizational digital twin. Bus Horizons 63:725–736
- Patrick B (2020) Meet Boston's digital twin. Esri Blog
- Patrick SM, Bornman MS, Joubert AM, Pitts N, Naidoo V, De Jager C (2016) Effects of environmental endocrine disruptors, including insecticides used for malaria vector control on reproductive parameters of male rats. Reprod Toxicol 61:19–27
- Paul S, Riffat M, Yasir A, Mahim MN, Sharnali BY, Naheen IT, Rahman A, Kulkarni A, Networks A (2021) Industry 4.0 applications for medical/healthcare services. J Sensor 10:43
- Pesapane F, Rotili A, Penco S, Nicosia L, Cassano E (2022) Digital twins in radiology. J Clin Med 11
- Piplani S, Singh PK, Winkler DA, Petrovsky N (2021) In silico comparison of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein-Ace2 binding affinities across species and implications for virus origin. Sci Rep 11: 13063
- Popa, E. O., Van Hilten, M., Oosterkamp, E., Bogaardt, M.-J. & Policy 2021. The use of digital twins in healthcare: socio-ethical benefits and socio-ethical risks. Life Sci Soc, 17, 1–25
- Portela RMC, Varsakelis C, Richelle A, Giannelos N, Pence J, Dessoy S, Von Stosch M (2021) When is an in silico representation a digital twin? A biopharmaceutical industry approach to the digital twin concept. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 176:35–55
- Prainsack B (2017) Personalized medicine. New York University Press, New York
- Rao DJ, Mane S (2019) Digital twin approach to clinical DSS with explainable AI. Artif Intell. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1910.13520
- Sahal R, Alsamhi SH, Brown KN (2022) Personal digital twin: a close look into the present and a step towards the future of personalised healthcare industry. Sensors (Basel) 22:5918
- Sandborn P (2007) Software obsolescence complicating the part and technology obsolescence management problem. IEEE Trans Compon Packaging Technol 30:886–888
- Schwartz SM, Wildenhaus K, Bucher A, Byrd B (2020) Digital twins and the emerging science of self: implications for digital health experience design and "small" data. Front Comput Sci 2: 31
- Scoles S (2016) A digital twin of your body could become a critical part of your health care
- Semarx (2022) Human digital twin (HDT) [online]. SEMARX, Lorton, VA. https://www.semarx. com/human-twin. Accessed 15 December 2022
- Sifat, M. M. H., Choudhury, S. M., Das, S. K., Ahamed, M. H., Muyeen, S., Hasan, M. M., Ali, M. F., Tasneem, Z., Islam, M. M., Islam, M. R. & Ai 2022. Towards electric digital twin grid: technology and framework review. Energy, 11, 100213
- Singh M, Fuenmayor E, Hinchy EP, Qiao Y, Murray N, Devine D (2021a) Digital twin: origin to future. Appl Syst Innov 4:36
- Singh RD, Koshta K, Tiwari R, Khan H, Sharma V, Srivastava V (2021b) Developmental exposure to endocrine disrupting chemicals and its impact on cardio-metabolic-renal health. Front Toxicol 3
- Sorell T, Rajpoot N, Verrill C (2022) Ethical issues in computational pathology. J Med Ethics 48: 278–284
- Subramanian K (2020) Digital twin for drug discovery and development—the virtual liver. J Indian Inst Sci 100:653–662
- Sun T, He X, Song X, Shu L, Li Z (2022) The digital twin in medicine: a key to the future of healthcare? Front Med (Lausanne) 9:907066
- Swedish Digital Twin Consortium (2022). https://www.sdtc.se/#consortium. Accessed 20 November 2022
- Tao F, Liu W, Zhang M, Hu T, Qi Q, Zhang H, Sui F, Wang T, Xu H, Huang Z (2019a) Fivedimension digital twin model and its ten applications. Comput Integr Manuf Syst 25:1–18
- Tao F, Qi Q, Wang L, Nee AJE (2019b) Digital twins and cyber–physical systems toward smart manufacturing and industry 4.0. Correlation Comparison 5:653–661
- Telenti A, Pierce LC, Biggs WH, Di Iulio J, Wong EH, Fabani MM, Kirkness EF, Moustafa A, Shah N, Xie C, Brewerton SC, Bulsara N, Garner C, Metzker G, Sandoval E, Perkins BA, Och

FJ, Turpaz Y, Venter JC (2016) Deep sequencing of 10,000 human genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:11901–11906

- Voigt I, Inojosa H, Dillenseger A, Haase R, Akgün K, Ziemssen T (2021) Digital twins for multiple sclerosis. Front Immunol 12:669811
- Walker MJ, Rogers W (2017) Defining disease in the context of overdiagnosis. Med Health Care Philos 20:269–280
- Walsh, J. R., Smith, A. M., Pouliot, Y., Li-Bland, D., Loukianov, A. & Fisher, C. K. 2020. Generating digital twins with multiple sclerosis using probabilistic neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.02779
- Wickramasinghe N, Jayaraman PP, Forkan ARM, Ulapane N, Kaul R, Vaughan S, Zelcer J (2021) A vision for leveraging the concept of digital twins to support the provision of personalized cancer care. IEEE Internet Comput 26:17–24
- Wickramasinghe N, Ulapane N, Andargoli A, Ossai C, Shuakat N, Nguyen T, Zelcer J (2022) Digital twins to enable better precision and personalized dementia care. JAMIA Open 5: 00ac072
- World Health Organisation (2023) Health topics: health and energy [Online]. https://www.who.int/ health-topics/energy-and-health#tab=tab_1. Accessed 17 January 2023
- Zhou X, Menche J, Barabási AL, Sharma A (2014) Human symptoms-disease network. Nat Commun 5:4212

Integration of Cyber-Physical Systems in the Advancement of Society 5.0 Healthcare Management



Botle Precious Damane, Mahlatse Cordelia Kgokolo, Guy Roger Gaudji, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract Cyber-physical systems (CPSs) allow the integration of digital and physical systems to perform well-organized and precise tasks in several disciplines including medicine. Reliability, efficiency, and security are key players in achieving successful CPSs. Artificial intelligence (AI) systems can host and manage large data sets from different sources including omics and biomarkers bank used for the development of targeted therapies and accurate medical diagnoses. The inclusion of CPSs can advance the ability of AI systems to logically synergize digital

B. P. Damane (\boxtimes)

M. C. Kgokolo Department of Dermatology, Bridge A, Level 9, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: mahlatse.kgokolo@up.ac.za

G. R. Gaudji

Department of Urology, Level 7, Bridge C, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Arcadia, Pretoria, South Africa

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: guy.gaudji@up.ac.za

K. R. M. Blenman

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

Z. Dlamini

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

Department of Surgery, Level 7, Bridge E, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: precious.setlai@up.ac.za

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_9

platforms with physical elements and back, thus improving control and automatic actuation of health technologies. In a world where digitalization has become part of our daily lives, incorporating and actualizing new technologies for personalized and precision medicine can be achieved through CPSs. Input data can be communicated to computational platforms where patient environmental, health, and diagnostic information can be analyzed to assess the efficacy of precise medical therapies. Human-based technologies such as networks-on-chip (NoC) could allow constant communication between patients and healthcare providers as well as real-time monitoring of patient health status. However, the disadvantage of CPS is the vulnerability to cyber-based attacks which could be as a result of terrorism or organized crime thus compromising confidentiality and human rights. Should certain information regarding patients end up in the wrong hands, this information can be used to target, harass, or take advantage of certain groups of individuals. The inclusion of a security layer equipped with protocols such as open authorization, user-managed access, and self-sovereign identity in Society 5.0 ensures the incorporation of common global laws. This chapter will focus on integrating CPSs in Society 5.0 to improve accurate patient diagnosis, treatment, and monitoring in advancing healthcare management systems.

Keywords Cyber-physical systems \cdot Metaverse \cdot Robotics \cdot Artificial intelligence \cdot Healthcare management \cdot Holography \cdot SDGs \cdot Human rights \cdot Security \cdot Confidentiality \cdot Energy conservation

1 Introduction

The Fourth Industrial Revolution focuses on efficient and optimal industrial production and data management. It comprises cyber-physical systems (CPSs) in which the physical and digital worlds are intertwined by the industrial Internet of Things (IoT). The idea here was to create smart machines/factories that can be utilized in various sectors including health (Adebayo et al. 2019; Popov et al. 2022). Multilayered architectures for specific CPSs have three main layers which include the physical layer, the cyber layer, and the human interactive/decision layer. The physical layer comprises of two sublayers which are the sensor and the application layers. The cyber layer has two sublayers, which are the storage and the processing layers. The collected data is processed and analyzed using different algorithms (Edward et al. 2017; Pedro 2022). The development of network layer architecture for CPS security to protect and guard against cyberattacks serves as a crucial component of medical CPS (Chaganti et al. 2021). Future technological advancements have sparked the idea of smart or intelligent hospitals. Integration of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies for processing of high volume of patient information through big data systems to allow prompt decision-making is essential for the new concepts adapted to the upcoming new era referred to as Society 5.0 (Rovira-Simón et al. 2022). Most of the technologies used for monitoring patients' health status rely on embedded systems. The use of glucose/heart rate/blood pressure monitors, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computerized tomography (CT) scans, positron emission tomography (PET) scans, and so forth have advanced medical diagnostics and monitoring (Lindén and Björkman 2014). Some of these systems permit remote monitoring of patients and all facilitate prompt diagnosis and treatment decisions.

However, future technologies continue to advance toward nano and smart technologies, including microchips. A link between innovative and social sciences is formulated and sustained with the intention of providing human-centered healthcare (Ioppolo et al. 2020). Society 5.0 is expected to most certainly bridge the gap between cyberspace and physical space. To achieve this, Society 5.0 will facilitate the realization of modern smart technologies through the integration of AI algorithms which facilitate big data analytics, IoT, metaverse, robotics, digital twining, blockchain, and networks-on-chip (NoC) for the optimization of personalized medicine. This chapter will explore some of these concepts in the context of CPSs in healthcare management. These technologies will be integrated into the healthcare management systems and in the process ensure cost-effectiveness and quality of life (Garg 2022). CPS is most important in modern-day medical practice where new effective human-centered healthcare management and service delivery are in high demand. The study by Sony et al. supports the idea that medical CPSs will provide high-quality, comprehensive, accessible, reproducible, more coordinated, and accountable human-centered healthcare service delivery (Sony et al. 2022) (Fig. 1).

2 CPS-Embedded Systems

Embedded systems require specialized skills for programming and installation of hardware components. Mobile medical systems can monitor health parameters such as temperature and heartbeat with a wireless microcontroller. The sensor signaling conditioning circuits have an embedded software algorithm responsible for monitoring the temperature, pulse rate, heartbeat, and blood pressure. Thereafter a record generated from the electrocardiogram (ECG) is displayed on the liquid-crystal display (LCD) screen (Reshma 2019; Fouad 2017). Data generated from these recordings is stored in the built-in erasable programmable read-only memory (EPROM) of the microcontroller. This ensures that data is not lost in case of power cut-off (Fouad 2017) or during loadshedding which frequently takes place in South Africa. Additionally, data can be processed using ARM7LPC2148 which is transferred wirelessly to LabVIEW software through ZigBee. The ZigBee technology is cost-effective and energy-conserving (Thirukrishna et al. 2021).

Some monitoring systems are designed to monitor both health and fitness status. This is mostly important in patients with metabolic diseases. Fitness or health status can be recorded and sent via text messages or email to relevant individuals who could then advise or take necessary action. In addition, blood glucose level and muscle condition data can also be recorded, displayed on the screen, and stored as patient history (Abdullah et al. 2015). The embedded systems can automatically send the recordings to an android phone of healthcare providers potentiating



Fig. 1 Transitioning from an information society to a supersmart society. Whereas the concept of Society 4.0 brought a lot of technological advancements, it focused more on the manufacturing sector. The society depended more on machines to complete various tasks. However, Society 5.0 looks forward to integration and collaboration between humans and machines. Human emotion, cognitive skills, and analytical skills cannot be completely replaced by machines and the lack of these abilities does not benefit society as a whole but mostly the manufacturing sector. These skills are essential in healthcare management/delivery systems. Society 5.0 intends to connect all these aspects through the integration of CPS, AI, and fog-cloud computing. This will also create global competitiveness and facilitate socioeconomic balance

clinicians to remotely examine the patient, make a diagnosis, and provide patient prescription (Reshma 2019). Remote health monitoring systems can be redesigned from the already available hospital equipment using advanced technology (Reshma 2019).

2.1 Fog- and Cloud-Based CPS for Diagnosis and Disease Management

The next generation of digital systems should have new methodologies which incorporate modular design approaches, highly configurable systems, and secure hardware and software components. Federated cloud is a collaboration of cloud providers who deliver services, which could include healthcare services to the cloud

broker to the consumer's request and satisfaction. Here the middleware infrastructure and service layers are replaced with a cloud broker (manages cloud services and establishes relationships between cloud providers and consumers). A classic service enabler, which is a messaging platform that allows efficient and consistent exchange of information, notifications, or communication between the applications and enablers, is incorporated into private cloud infrastructures (Andriopoulou and Lymberopoulos 2012). Federated healthcare cloud broker architecture is proposed for accessing and sharing information at different sites. Policy-based, service-level agreement (SLA) verification and reputation-based approaches are computed trustenhancing instruments to ensure the security and privacy of the users. The development of a software with multi-tier cloud applications is also suggested for distribution among more than one layer thus providing efficient management and high

security (Gao et al. 2017). Early detection of the disease is crucial in determining the treatment strategies which could lead to the reversal or cure of the disease. Fog-cloud-assisted CPS can assist with screening and early detection of the disease even in remote areas. The physical space includes healthcare providers and data (medical, personal, and environmental datasets) collected which is integrated into cyberspace where analysis of real-time data (diagnosis, evaluation of adverse effects, and sending out alerts) occurs. The fog layer of the cyberspace serves as a bridge between the physical space and the cloud layer. The connection between the fog and cloud layers allows for the classification of the disease and storing of medical information. To achieve this, the fog layer-based naïve Bayes classifier was used to classify ulcerative colitis user into critical or non-critical events. Cloud layer-based IoT sensors are embedded in the user's body for monitoring purposes. The principal component analysis was used for predictive accuracy and ensuring the reduction of redundancy and background noise. Thereafter, deep neural network (DNN) was used to assess the current stage of ulcerative colitis. The multilayer perceptron (MLP) was used to classify ulcerative colitis into different stages. This novel IoT-fog-cloud-assisted CPS was predicted to accurately diagnose and classify ulcerative colitis. The benefit of the system is that patient information is stored on a cloud where it is accessible anytime it is needed remotely and at the point of care. Patients can constantly be monitored, and an alarm will be set off to alert healthcare providers should the patient be in need of emergency assistance (Verma et al. 2020). Medical cybernetics (MC) includes monitoring devices that use mathematical processes and measurement models embedded within a wearable sensor system. Zsolt suggests that current monitoring systems such as exercise heart rate monitors can be improved by the integration of CPS tools such as cloud computing to assist in the prevention or early diagnosis of cardiometabolic conditions. Their goal is to develop devices that can support fitness goals by building resilience and improved physiological reserve capacity. These new-generation devices will measure parameters such as insulin resistance and maximal oxygen uptake (VO2max) for risk assessment of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Zsolt 2020).

The risk of developing coronary heart disease (CHD) can also be assessed with the assistance of a cloud-based cyber-physical localization system. High-risk patients can be tracked and located with global positioning system (GPS)-enabled monitors for prompt emergency responses and facilitation of home-based healthcare management services. The physical systems such as wearable devices will collect data from the user which will be stored in a cloud. The data will be accessible to both the user and healthcare professionals for a long period of time. Should the patient develop CHD over time, diagnostic alerts due to an abnormal electrocardiogram (ECG) reading will be sent to the user, caregivers, and the treating doctor (Sood and Mahajan 2018). The incorporation of AI systems in the early detection of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) could be one of the cornerstones of the efforts toward a cancer-free and metabolic disease-free Society 5.0. Machine learning (ML) algorithms can be integrated with CPS to identify risk factors, predict and classify the disease, and facilitate the monitoring of several NCDs (Ferdousi et al. 2021).

3 Nanotechnology

The concept of a supersmart society (5.0) contributes to the realization of United Nations (UN) sustainable development goals (SDGs). Nanotechnology/nanoscience is already contributing immensely to accelerating SDG 3 vision. Pokrajac and co-authors discuss how nanotechnology can be aligned with SDGs to accelerate the progress toward the 2030 vision. The authors are developing a multisectoral approach by inviting leading nanocenters to contribute to the realization of this vision. This includes the development of messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) for the development of COVID-19 vaccines. Monitoring of patients with the use of microchips and nursing robots for preventative and therapeutic purposes will ensure extended healthy life expectancy. As a result, the global cost of medical care will be minimized (Pokrajac et al. 2021).

The NoC systems can be developed for the detection of dysregulations in genomic and/or proteomic processes that lead to diseases. Cellular signaling and response can be modeled using biochemical reaction networks such as stochastic networks. Explicit models which identify bound or unbound molecules or particle-based models which identify ways in which molecules interact with each other causing either activation or inhibition of the other can be implemented. Following this, techniques such as the Gillespie-based, particle-based rule evaluation, or spatial particle-based can be utilized to get information on how cellular interactions enable normal function or disease development (Bogdan et al. 2015).

Automated CPSs (ACPSs) play an important role in the implementation of early and reliable diagnostics. The efficiency of next-generation microprocessors will depend on the use of multicore accelerators for high performance of multiple tasks and energy efficiency. The ACPS multicore accelerator uses NoC to facilitate personalized healthcare. However, limited computational speed can affect the effectiveness of the processing components of the NoC. Thus, Hou et al. bridged this gap by developing a novel 3-D optical NoC (ONoC) topology structure for the ACPS that could quickly identify disease biomarkers as in the case of aberrations in a protein structure that could lead to a particular disease. Data from the chip was captured using the proteomic and genomic sensing technology, and this was achieved by the inclusion of the intralayer on-chip optical router onto the 3-D torus topology structure followed by the incorporation of the vertical on-chip optical router. The signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) - aware routing-on-chip algorithm guarantees favorable and improved reliability of data transmission intended for humanmachine interaction. In terms of the area of the chip, the topology structure corresponded to a smaller chip area. The advancement of the ratio was directly proportional to that of the topology scale thus allowing the system to provide automated diagnosis and personalized healthcare. A novel grooming-on-chip mechanism improved computation speed for assessing biomarkers. Therefore, the ONoC-based ACPS accelerator operated at a faster speed for rapid analysis of the biomarkers. Photonic sensing was used for the detection of biomarkers thus ascertaining the accuracy and reliability of the results. The size of the chip and automation (no need for technical expertise) made it convenient for use in personalized healthcare (Hou et al. 2019).

Li et al. designed a NoC-based multicore architecture as a solution for large-scale nonlinear model predictive control (NMPC) problems. Management of big data sets in healthcare management and service delivery systems is crucial. Thus, computational platforms should be able to analyze big data sets and determine control decisions from information collected from physical and cyber processes. For this to be possible, the NoC-based multicore systems could be used in cases where a virus such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) manages to escape immunosurveillance and spreads. The CPS technology utilizes sensed data to detect the pathogen and a model predictive control (MPC) approach to administer an engineered compound or trigger protein to detect and control the infection. For this model to work, a large-scale system of cognitive hierarchical architecture which can collect data from the sensed physical and cyber layers developing dynamical models that can provide accurate real-time decisions was considered. To solve problems usually associated with MPCs, a CPS with multiple computational units with NoC-enabled parallelized multicore chips was developed. The specific CPS was intended for HIV gene therapy simulation where the MPC can regulate the administration of protected T cells to reduce the viral load. The MPC algorithm developed was aimed at achieving dynamic optimization through performing system estimates and determining the possible outcome before decision-making can take place. Computational platforms embedded into network-of-networks architecture for real-time control decisions surpass their predecessors with limitations in memory bandwidth and energy consumption. The approach taken by the authors was a parallelized formulation of a nonlinear MPC (NMPC). Its computational and communication workload characteristics were analyzed for designing an effective NoC-based multicores. The increased prediction horizon facilitated the performance of the NoC and attained considerable improvements in network latency and energy consumption compared to the mesh NoC-based counterparts (Li et al. 2016).

The inclusion of very-large-scale integration (VLSI) systems in NoC provides the ability to be efficient and fault tolerant. However, challenges in mapping real-time

application tasks to multicores accelerator limit the advantage of improved network latency and energy consumption which contribute to the output. To leverage the maximum potential of the chip, efficient mapping of the cores is required. To achieve this, a clustering-based technique is incorporated in order to leverage the main algorithm. Thereafter, an Andean condor algorithm (ACA) is applied as a mapping technique on the microprocessor cores of the NoC. This algorithm provides the highest performance when compared to other state-of-the-art algorithms (Mehmood et al. 2022). Nanorobots are another breakthrough nanotechnology that will be discussed in the following section.

4 Robotics

4.1 Surgery

Robotic surgical technology is minimally invasive with limited hospital stay and fast recovery. This technology provides evidence-based, state-of-the-art standard of care with better surgical outcomes. This technology is already introduced in more advanced countries and so, to facilitate the alignment of Society 5.0 with SDGs, the establishment of robotic-assisted collaboration programs between local surgeons and international robotic experts will improve skills training models. Robotic surgical skills come with the benefit of reduced exhaustion experienced by surgeons particularly in public hospitals with a long waiting elective theatre list, resulting in better decision-making and reduced conversion. The rate of conversion is unlikely with robotic surgery with the benefit of reduced technical error (Randell et al. 2015; Bateman 2015). Training will improve the effectiveness of theatre staff, coordination, and operative duration. Ergonomic training will improve the technical skills of the operating surgeon (Kanji et al. 2021). Advancement of robotic surgical systems in Society 5.0 will come with the development of autonomous systems that makes it easier to maneuver the ergonomics of the robotic console thus reducing strain experienced by the operating surgeon. The idea of having robots assist in surgical treatment was first entertained in 1967, although it took three decades for the first surgical robot to be developed. In the 1980s, the orthopedic image-guided system used in prosthetic replacement was developed. Thereafter, the United States (US) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the da Vinci surgical system by Intuitive Surgical which is now widely used in countries that can afford it around the world (George et al. 2018).

According to literature, patents for the da Vinci surgical system expired in 2019, and this was followed by several robotic systems that were in development. The robots are categorized according to their control consoles with some using arrangement of robotic arms, laparoscopic handles, eye tracking, microscope-like oculars, and so on (Rassweiler et al. 2017). The new laparoscopy surgical robots, Senhance surgical robotic system and the REVO-I Robot platform, were introduced. The differences between da Vinci and Senhance surgical robotic systems are the independent arms rather than a "cluster" of arms and the unique eye tracking system that

makes it easier to manipulate and operate the latter. The position of the monitor is placed in such a way that surgical trainees can see and follow the surgical procedure. Recurring costs are less because of the reusable laparoscopic instruments. The REVO-I Robot platform has a four-armed robotic operation cart like the da Vinci and the advantage of reusable endoscopic instruments, making it more cost-effective (Rao 2018). Nakadate et al. suggested that the next-generation robotic surgery should be accessible and have extended dexterity for port surgery. The authors suggest the integration of sensor technology and data storage (Nakadate et al. 2015) of which in this case fog and cloud computing might be advisable.

4.2 Other Healthcare Robots

The use of robots in state hospital pharmacies which usually have a high number of patients has proven effective in facilitating service delivery and reducing waiting time for discharged/outpatients who need their prescription medicine before heading home. The surge of COVID-19 has also facilitated the use of robots for effective and regular sanitation of certain areas of the hospital without the need of exposing healthcare workers to infectious diseases. Turnaround time for diagnostic laboratories has also been improved by the use of automated laboratory equipment capable of processing several samples at the same time. Medical robots acting as caregivers can be used to monitor and take care of the elderly remotely. These robots could provide medication and regularly monitor health status. In case of an abnormal reading or an emergency, the robot can alert the healthcare providers who will then make a diagnosis and provide prescriptions (Owen-Hill 2022; Holland et al. 2021). Other interesting future healthcare robots to embrace the concept of Society 5.0 are nanorobots. A micro-ingestible origami robot comes in a form of a capsule that can be ingested. When it reaches the stomach, the robot unfolds, allowing it to detect a swallowed button battery which if left long enough damages the lining of the stomach. The robot can also patch the burned stomach lining and deliver the drugs to the affected area for enhanced recovery. The robot is designed in such a way that the structure that removes the battery from the stomach is folded in an anelliptic cylinder package and frozen so that it can dissolve when reaching the stomach. The diametrically oriented cubic neodymium magnet embedded into the robot will attract and pull the battery toward the robot. This magnetic attraction is also used to guide the robot to the battery's location. Once the battery is removed through the gastrointestinal tract, another origami robot is sent to patch the inflamed area burned by the battery. This robot has a similar design with the difference being that, once it reaches its destination, it degrades in order to release the delivered drug (Hardesty 2016; Miyashita et al. 2016). Nanorobots can also be used in targeted cancer therapies. A DNA robotic system has a DNA aptamer which specifically identifies nucleolin expressed by tumors and thrombin with the tumors. Coagulation gets activated within the tumor and deprives the tumor of blood supply (Li et al. 2016). Future robotic systems and their application in health will improve healthcare management

Robot	Key roles	References
Nanorobots	Precision oncology (target and kill cancer cells) Patch wounds Remove foreign objects Deliver drugs to a precise location	Li et al. (2016), Hardesty (2016)
Tele-nursing	A nurse can control the robot remotely and perform normal patient care tasks for patients.	Hauser and Shaw (2020)
AI doctors and coaches	Artificial intelligence algorithm is developed to assist clinicians effectively and diagnose and treat patients according to their specific diseases.	Banks (2022)
Exoskeletons	These robots are used in physical rehabilitation to assist patients to recover from injuries. The robot trains the body how to move again.	Banks (2022)
Clinical training robots	These robots allow trainee doctors to practice skills including surgical skills until they are ready to treat patients. Trainees can go back to training modules saved on the robots to access their progress.	Alexander (2020)
Blood sampling robots	Blood can be drawn with precision from the patient's arm and be tested instantaneously thus providing fast results and healthcare service. They could also administer intravenous fluid as first-line patient treatment.	Leipheimer et al. (2019)
CPS-based homecare robotic systems (HRS)	Based on the concept of autonomous cyber- physical systems rather than closed-loop human- machine systems. These robots are capable of decision-making without human intervention unless something out of the ordinary happens. They are social companions expected to serve as first-aid robots in case of emergency. They are to be involved in assisted living, interventional rehabili- tation, and disease prevention programs.	Yang et al. (2020)

Table 1 Future healthcare robotic systems

by delivering accurate, timeous, and reliable diagnostic, decision-making, and treatment tools (Table 1).

5 Metaverse Platforms in Healthcare Industry

Metaverse is a three-dimensional (3D) cyberspace that is a replica of the physical/ biological world integrated into digital reality. Metaverse is facilitated using virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR), mixed reality (MR), extended reality (XR), and high-speed internet (5G/6G). Users of VR can have a real physical world experience in a virtual realm through digital technologies. With AR technology, the physical or biological object is integrated into virtual space and gets projected as a 3D object. The XR technology on the other hand integrates the physical/biological and virtual (VR, AR, and MR) worlds in virtual space. The XR technology is expected to be more in demand in the future and strategical plans for its implementation in Society 5.0 healthcare industry must be in place. These strategies can include education and training of medical professionals on the use of metaverse services to solve healthcare challenges (Lee 2022), especially in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) where healthcare service delivery is poor due to a lack of human resources and infrastructure. Strategies should also have a means of securing global competitiveness in the healthcare industry (Lee 2022). These strategies should then align well with the SDGs and the 2030 agenda. The SDGs 3, 9, and 10 aim to reduce premature mortality by ensuring good health and promoting wellbeing (Chotchoungchatchai et al. 2020).

Human rights to good health and well-being must not be discriminatory and should accommodate everyone despite their age, race, and gender. To protect human rights or remedy the right to health, Nampewo et al. suggest that there be people responsible for ensuring that human rights to health are enforced in healthcare management services. Enshrining legal laws and delegating human rights laws to health to specific duty bearers will ensure that all patients are treated fairly and with respect (Nampewo et al. 2022). Access to healthcare services which includes infrastructure (SDG 9) is enshrined in the Bill of Rights in the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996, but the realization and practicality of it in the existing healthcare status in South Africa is not yet possible (Kirby 2010). This is the reality that is faced by many LMICs. Efforts to improve the quality of healthcare delivery systems in the country are not enough (Maphumulo and Bhengu 2019) more so if there is a lack of infrastructure. These issues should be addressed during the implementation of smart hospitals in LMICs to ensure that quality healthcare services are provided to all (SDG 10) (Ngoc Dinh et al. 2020). Thus, future development of smart industrial innovation and infrastructure should be cognizant of these issues and facilitate the implementation of virtual realities which will reduce the use of invasive health management protocols. The development and availability of infrastructure should reduce global inequalities and insure global healthcare competitiveness (Fig. 2). In metaverse, a patient's real-world health data can be used to generate the patient's digital twin which could be used for diagnostic purposes and decision-making or predict clinical outcomes.

The development of new digital systems should be able to address global development goals. In particular, SDGs 3 (good health and well-being), 9 (industry, innovation, and infrastructure), and 10 (reduced inequality) are centered around the achievement of improved disease-free life expectancy. These goals can be reached through the development of AI-integrated smart hospitals/infrastructure that can be readily available even in LMICs to minimize global inequalities. Metaverse will transform the world of medicine by allowing for the diagnosis and treatment of patients to be performed remotely without the need for invasive therapeutic interventions, improving patient survival and reducing medicolegal concerns. For medical metaverse systems to be of great success, high internet frequencies (5G/6G) will be required to provide increased capacity, very high speed, and reduced latency.



Hologram technology is a system that allows 3D polarized projection of images (Fig. 3). It can be utilized in treatment planning of invasive procedures such as surgical interventions. Clinicians can use the projected 3D organ structure in a holographic image for decision-making. The image will be an exact replica of the organ studied and thus provide detailed information of the patient's organ during the procedure. Moreover, an injury or fractures of soft or hard tissue can be picked up with ease on the patient's hologram. Patient data can be stored on digital platforms (vide supra), allowing clinicians to track the patient's progress through readily available medical records. Radiological holograms could be applied in cardiovascular, chest, genitourinary, musculoskeletal, neuroradiology, pediatric, and head and neck radiology (Haleem et al. 2020). A metaverse of medical technology and AI (MeTAI) can facilitate medical imaging-guided diagnosis and therapy. For instance, a patient presenting with a cardiovascular disease can be taken for a CT scan which will then provide information on the potential pathologies. This data will then be projected on the patient's avatar and scanned using virtual CT scanner. Threedimensional printing of physical avatars could mimic real scans and improve not only decision-making but also patient education about their condition (Wang et al. 2022).

Invasive surgical procedures such as biopsies will not be necessary for diagnosis and decision-making. Clinicians will be able to examine the exact replica of the 3D human organ projection before proceeding with therapeutic interventions

The future of surgical training will include the simulation of surgical procedures using VR. The concept dates back to the mid-1990s when Ota et al. suggested that



Fig. 3 An example of Society 5.0 medical hologram system

surgical trainees could be taught new surgical procedures and their level of competence assessed before they could operate on patients. Information stored during training can be revisited to allow trainees continual practice to perfect their skills. The VR simulation could be used to mimic laparoscopic surgical techniques thus improving training without the cost of expensive animal training models (Ota et al. 1995). A virtual reality simulator for laparoscopic surgery (MIST VR) which simulates movement needed to perform minimally invasive surgical procedures minimizes the need to practice on patients. The model could provide all the elements that mimic laparoscopic surgery and could accurately separate a novice surgeon from a trainee. Measurement of psychomotor skills gave feedback on the effectiveness of training and junior trainees could be separated into those that require more training and the group that is ready to operate on patients (Taffinder et al. 1998).

Initially, VR and AR were used in anatomical education before implementation as tools for surgical training. However, AR is applied to enhance neuroimaging data. HoloLens, the AR device by Microsoft Inc., is a headset computer hologram that allows the user to observe, listen, and interact with the projected physical world/ object. The LCD screen is displayed in front of the user's eyes, and the spatial sound technology and gestural interaction promote a distinct interactive holographic environment. The data needed to project computational objects is stored in the HoloLens thus eliminating the need for computer storage systems. Karmonik and colleagues developed an algorithm that could be used to create AR objects from MRI data. The algorithm was created using readily available cost-free software. High-resolution

MRI images of the brain were imported into FreeSurfer. The left and the right brain hemispheres were obtained in the stereolithographic (STL) format. Both hemispheres were combined on a 3D visual platform using ParaView and stored in the X3D format. The task-based fMRI images were analyzed, and the white matter tracts were reconstructed using different systems before functional connectivity (FC) was determined. The created algorithm for converting the image data into 3D objects could successfully provide a virtual display of the brain through the AR device (Karmonik et al. 2018). A 3D printed and AR kidney model was created for a better understanding of the anatomy of the kidney. The model could be utilized in planning therapeutic intervention and decision-making during robotic partial nephrectomy. As in the previous study, radiological imaging was used to collect data. Image segmentation was performed using other algorithm platforms followed by 3D printing before the kidney could be virtually displayed using an AR device (Wake et al. 2018).

6 Challenges of CPS Healthcare Systems

The need for the development of novel architectures for cellular and molecular modeling has long been recognized although their development comes with several challenges. The heterogenicity, structural variability, and complex functionality of biological systems pose these challenges. Biological interactions are multiscale and relevant simulation approaches can be a challenge even with the use of specialized hardware. Analysis of biological proteins generates a large amount of data which could range from gigabytes to terabytes depending on the time scale of the simulation software used. This could lead to tedious analysis and interpretation of results (Bogdan et al. 2015). The exchange of information between the patient and the healthcare providers is important for the early detection of the disease and decision-making. The complexity of the anatomical and physiological parameters in relation with the patients' demographics, for example, newborn versus the elderly and female versus male, require the development of computational intelligence that can accommodate all these issues (Lee et al. 2012).

The ability to tailor-make healthcare management systems according to specific diseases/personalized treatment comes with its pros and cons. Medical CPSs are vulnerable to cyberattacks making cybersecurity a big concern. These attacks could be due to terrorism or organized crime. The safety of these technologies must be assured by the development of high-confidence, authenticated software that can guarantee the security of medical CPSs. Software systems that not only handle big data but guarantee the confidentiality and safekeeping of these data while providing easy access to the user are critical. If these data fall into the wrong hands, it could compromise the patient's health making them vulnerable to discrimination, possible bodily harm, and abuse. The performance of real-time applications requires low fault latency to prevent delays that could disturb the operational cycle of medical CPSs. This could lead to poor data sharing and consequently affect timeous patient diagnosis and treatment (Lee et al. 2012).
Confidentiality is important in the security layer. The proposed framework for Society 5.0 shall include sharing of personal information using different security methods, such as the OAuth 2.0, user-managed access (UMA), and self-sovereign identity (SSI). The OAuth is the standard protocol utilized for authorization thus allowing an application to access information from the other for the end user with an access token. The UMA is layered on top of the OAuth 2.0 allowing the user to have options in terms of accessibility to personal data, the period and conditions of access. The users can manage and monitor sharing preferences from a central control. The SSI is a sovereign and portable identity. It can be utilized for personal purposes or as companies giving the user verified credentials related to their identity for access to all relevant digital services and ensuring confidentiality at the same time. For instance, these protocols could assist in cases where healthcare providers need access to patient data such as medical history or reports using OAuth and UMA. Patient consultation fees could be paid using payment applications that require both the healthcare practitioner and the patient to have access to payment-related data for the application using OAuth and UMA (Patil et al. 2022; Yildiz et al. 2022).

Lastly, safety for the use of medical CPSs should be assured by issuing operational certificates. The process of approving and validating these devices should be cost-effective thus ensuring that these get distributed to provide much-required services (Lee et al. 2012). Currently, the cost-effectiveness of medical CPS devices such as robotic systems is not certain as it is difficult to prove that the benefits of robotic surgery outweigh that of traditional open and laparoscopic surgery (Chiu et al. 2019).

With regards to these future novel wearable, ingestible, implantable, and other similar direct human contact technologies, safety and the impact on the biology and behavior of human beings is not clearly defined. For example, technology-related addiction from smartphones, the internet, and video games is a well-known risk associated with obesity which leads to metabolic diseases such as diabetes and CVDs. This is a critical problem that currently has detrimental impacts on the lives of adults and most children (Kracht et al. 2020; Haghjoo et al. 2022; Porter and Goolkasian 2019). The other concern includes the increasing psychological impact seen with interactions through virtual platforms. A high percentage of individuals engaging in these activities are reported to develop mental health issues leading to depression and suicide (Twenge et al. 2018). These are concerns that cannot be ignored when developing innovative CPSs for future health management services so that the adverse effects do not outweigh the intended benefits of these technologies. On the contrary, there are games that have solely been developed to assist people to cope with stress (Ajmal et al. 2022). Metaverse has been reported to induce intense negative emotions which are also associated with violent behavior compared to the use of computers (Lavoie et al. 2021; Drummond et al. 2021). However, it is worth noting that metaverse can also be used to encourage and promote healthy living (Plante et al. 2003). The ONoC-based chip are also not always reliable as the data generated have the potential to mislead the medical practitioner, causing false interpretations as a result of the imprecise understanding of the biomarkers (Hou et al. 2019). The safety of other medical CPSs such as



Fig. 4 Summary of the contributions of healthcare CPSs in Society 5.0. Development of high-end technology for monitoring systems. Medical robots clean and sanitize certain areas in the hospital. Assistant robots assist patients with adherence and monitoring of general health status. High-end technology is used to develop systems such as remote monitors. Metaverse (AR/VR) allows the user to see, hear, and interact with the projected organ in cyberspace. Augmented reality–AR; Visual reality–VR

miniature robots including origami is yet to be investigated as these types of innovations are still under laboratory experimental stages. Whether the biodegradability of the robot will take long enough to develop certain adverse effects is not yet known. The method for removal and discharge of foreign materials from the gastrointestinal tract by the robots is also not yet well defined (Miyashita et al. 2016). We can therefore not omit or gloss over these very important issues. Safety measures have to be in place when developing these technologies. This includes high security measures and ensuring that there are limited or no adverse effects associated with these technologies (Fig. 4).

7 Conclusion

Integration of embedded software that regulate monitoring devices, fogging, automated physical systems, and AI algorithms in healthcare management is about to change the way medicine is practiced in Society 5.0. Medical CPS applications permit remote patient monitoring through sensor technology, digitalization of data storing/mining/sharing, and alerts sent to care providers. Integration of AI and cloud/ fog computing enables the processing and storage of big data. Digitally assisted patient management ensures timeous, less invasive, and effective methods of treating patients. The security of CPSs can be assured by the development of reliable autonomous security patches that detect any form of a security hole and eradicate the threat before it can cause any harm. Should there be any disruptions, these should be dealt with in a timeous manner to prevent any delays in patient care and management.

Apart from the cybersecurity concerns, which can be dealt with by continuous research and reprogramming of security systems, some of the biggest concerns in LMICs are the potential loss of jobs which most of these countries have worked hard to acquire, scarce skills, and lack of medical personnel. This stems from the automation of hospital services which in some instances could potentially replace human labor. Yes, machines will occasionally require human intervention, but the question would be, how many people will be needed to check if the machine is operating well and optimally? How many times will the machines need to be serviced by humans and how many people will be required to provide these services? Will the era of automation lead to self-services as well? Although machines cannot completely replace humans, these are real societal concerns especially in countries like South Africa where job creation is a challenge. Plans to ascertain global socioeconomic balance still sound further off as the poor might still not be able to afford these advanced technologies. Although overall survival is bound to improve over time, the disparities between hospitals might still exist. Private hospitals are only afforded by a certain class of individuals who will certainly have access to the best healthcare management services facilitated by high-end technologies. The less fortunate might have access to average healthcare technological advancements, and this would be a violation of human rights to good and efficacious health service delivery. For these reasons and others mentioned in the text, the concept of Society 5.0 promises to align with UN SDGs to ensure equality and a long healthy life span for all.

References

Abdullah AG, Ismael A, Rashid A, Abou-Elnour A, Tarique M (2015) Real time wireless health monitoring application using mobile devices. Int J Comput Netw Commun 7:13

Adebayo AO, Chaubey M, Numbu LP (2019) Industry 4.0: the fourth industrial revolution and how it relates to the application of Internet of Things(IoT). J Multidiscp Eng Sci Stud. 5(2)

- Ajmal A, Aldabbas H, Amin R, Ibrar S, Alouffi B, Gheisari M (2022) Stress-relieving video game and its effects: a POMS case study. Comput Intell Neurosci 2022:4239536
- Alexander D (2020) 15 medical robots that are changing the world [online]. Interesting Engineering. https://interestingengineering.com/health/15-medical-robots-that-are-changing-the-world. Accessed 24 November 2022
- Andriopoulou F, Lymberopoulos DK (2012) Future SDP through cloud architectures. In: Iliadis L, Maglogiannis I, Papadopoulos H, Karatzas K, Sioutas S (eds) Artificial Intelligence applications and innovations. Springer, Berlin, pp 1–15
- Banks M (2022) How robots are redefining health care: 6 recent innovations [online]. Robotics tomorrow. https://www.roboticstomorrow.com/story/2022/03/how-robots-are-redefininghealth-care-6-recent-innovations/18339/. Accessed 24 November 2022
- Bateman C (2015) Robotic computer system develops high-skill 'technosurgeons'. South Afr Med J 105:435
- Bogdan P, Majumder T, Ramanathan A, Xue Y (2015) NoC architectures as enablers of biological discovery for personalized and precision medicine. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Networks-on-Chip, pp 1–11
- Chaganti R, Gupta D, Vemprala N (2021) Intelligent network layer for cyber-physical systems security. Int J Smart Secur Technol 8:42–58
- Chiu CC, Hsu WT, Choi JJ, Galm B, Lee MG, Chang CN, Liu CC, Lee CC (2019) Comparison of outcome and cost between the open, laparoscopic, and robotic surgical treatments for colon cancer: a propensity score-matched analysis using nationwide hospital record database. Surg Endosc 33:3757–3765
- Chotchoungchatchai S, Marshall AI, Witthayapipopsakul W, Panichkriangkrai W, Patcharanarumol W, Tangcharoensathien V (2020) Primary health care and sustainable development goals. Bull World Health Organ 98:792–800
- Drummond A, Sauer JD, Ferguson CJ, Cannon PR, Hall LC (2021) Violent and non-violent virtual reality video games: influences on affect, aggressive cognition, and aggressive behavior. Two pre-registered experiments. J Exp Soc Psychol 95:104119
- Edward G, Christopher G, David W, Martin B (2017) Framework for cyber-physical systems: Volume 1, Overview. Special Publication (NIST SP). National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MS
- Ferdousi R, Hossain MA, Saddik AE (2021) Early-stage risk prediction of non-communicable disease using machine learning in health CPS. IEEE Access 9:96823–96837
- Fouad H (2017) Healthcare mobile application for embedded telemedicine system design and implementation. Int J Sci Eng Res. 8(1):9
- Gao X-Z, Kumar Sangaiah A, Sugumaran V (2017) Cloud based cyber-physical systems in the design of next-generation digital systems. Intell Autom Soft Comput 23:475–476
- Garg PK (2022) The future healthcare technologies: a roadmap to society 5.0. In: Garg PK, Tripathi NK, Kappas M, Gaur L (eds) Geospatial data science in healthcare for society 5.0. Springer Singapore, Singapore
- George EI, Brand TC, Laporta A, Marescaux J, Satava RM (2018) Origins of robotic surgery: from skepticism to standard of care. JSLS 22:e2018.00039
- Haghjoo P, Siri G, Soleimani E, Farhangi MA, Alesaeidi S (2022) Screen time increases overweight and obesity risk among adolescents: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. BMC Primary Care 23:161
- Haleem A, Javaid M, Khan IH (2020) Holography applications toward medical field: an overview. Indian J Radiol Imaging 30:354–361
- Hardesty L (2016) Ingestible origami robot [online]. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. https:// news.mit.edu/2016/ingestible-origami-robot-0512. Accessed 24 November 2022
- Hauser K, Shaw R (2020) How medical robots will help treat patients in future outbreaks [online]. IEEE Spectr. https://spectrum.ieee.org/medical-robots-future-outbreak-response. Accessed 24 November 2022

- Holland J, Kingston L, Mccarthy C, Armstrong E, O'Dwyer P, Merz F, Mcconnell M (2021) Service robots in the healthcare sector. Robotics 10:47
- Hou W, Ning Z, Hu X, Guo L, Deng X, Yang Y, Kwok RYK (2019) On-chip hardware accelerator for automated diagnosis through human–machine interactions in healthcare delivery. IEEE Trans Autom Sci Eng 16:206–217
- Ioppolo G, Vazquez F, Hennerici MG, Andrès E (2020) Medicine 4.0: new technologies as tools for a society 5.0. J Clin Med 9
- Kanji F, Catchpole K, Choi E, Alfred M, Cohen K, Shouhed D, Anger J, Cohen T (2021) Worksystem interventions in robotic-assisted surgery: a systematic review exploring the gap between challenges and solutions. Surg Endosc 35:1976–1989
- Karmonik C, Boone TB, Khavari R (2018) Workflow for visualization of neuroimaging data with an augmented reality device. J Digit Imaging 31:26–31
- Kirby N (2010) Access to healthcare services as a human right. Med Law 29:487-496
- Kracht CL, Joseph ED, Staiano AE (2020) Video games, obesity, and children. Curr Obes Rep 9:1– 14
- Lavoie R, Main K, King C, King D (2021) Virtual experience, real consequences: the potential negative emotional consequences of virtual reality gameplay. Virtual Reality 25:69–81
- Lee CW (2022) Application of Metaverse service to healthcare industry: a strategic perspective. Int J Environ Res Public Health 19:13038
- Lee I, Sokolsky O, Chen S, Hatcliff J, Jee E, Kim B, King AL, Mullen-Fortino M, Park S, Roederer A, Venkatasubramanian KK (2012) Challenges and research directions in medical cyber–physical systems. Proc IEEE 100:75–90
- Leipheimer JM, Balter ML, Chen AI, Pantin EJ, Davidovich AE, Labazzo KS, Yarmush ML (2019) First-in-human evaluation of a hand-held automated venipuncture device for rapid venous blood draws. Technology 07:98–107
- Li X, Duraisamy K, Bogdan P, Majumder T, Pande PP (2016) Network-on-chip-enabled multicore platforms for parallel model predictive control. IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems 24:2837–2850. https://doi.org/10.1109/tvlsi.2016.2528121
- Lindén M, Björkman M (2014) Embedded sensor systems for health providing the tools in future healthcare. Stud Health Technol Inform 200:161–163
- Maphumulo WT, Bhengu BR (2019) Challenges of quality improvement in the healthcare of South Africa post-apartheid: a critical review. Curationis 42:e1–e9
- Mehmood F, Baloch NK, Hussain F, Amin W, Hossain MS, Zikria YB, Yu H (2022) An efficient and cost effective application mapping for network-on-chip using Andean condor algorithm. J Netw Comput Appl 200:103319
- Miyashita S, Guitron S, Yoshida K, Shuguang L, Damian DD, Rus D (2016) Ingestible, controllable, and degradable origami robot for patching stomach wounds. In: 2016 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), 16–21 May 2016, pp 909–916
- Nakadate R, Arata J, Hashizume M (2015) Next-generation robotic surgery--from the aspect of surgical robots developed by industry. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol 24:2–7
- Nampewo Z, Mike JH, Wolff J (2022) Respecting, protecting and fulfilling the human right to health. Int J Equity Health 21:36
- Ngoc Dinh M, Nygate J, Hoang Minh T, Thwaites CL (2020) New technologies to improve healthcare in low- and middle-income countries: global grand challenges satellite event, Oxford University Clinical Research Unit, Ho Chi Minh City, 17th-18th September 2019. Wellcome Open Res 5:142
- Ota D, Loftin B, Saito T, Lea R, Keller J (1995) Virtual reality in surgical education. Comput Biol Med 25:127–137
- Owen-Hill A (2022) 5 ways robotics are used in medicine and healthcare [Online]. https://blog. robotiq.com/5-ways-cobots-are-used-in-medicine-and-healthcare. Accessed 24 November 2022
- Patil R, Ambritta N, Mahalle P, Dey N (2022) Medical cyber-physical system s in society 5.0: are we ready? IEEE Trans Technol Soc 3:1–1

- Pedro HJN (2022) The three layers of cyber-physical systems. In: Cyber-physical systems: theory, methodology, and applications. IEEE
- Plante TG, Aldridge A, Bogden R, Hanelin C (2003) Might virtual reality promote the mood benefits of exercise? Comput Hum Behav 19:495–509
- Pokrajac L, Abbas A, Chrzanowski W, Dias GM, Eggleton BJ, Maguire S, Maine E, Malloy T, Nathwani J, Nazar L, Sips A, Sone JI, Van Den Berg A, Weiss PS, Mitra S (2021) Nanotechnology for a sustainable future: addressing global challenges with the international Network4Sustainable nanotechnology. ACS Nano 15:18608–18623
- Popov VV, Kudryavtseva EV, Kumar Katiyar N, Shishkin A, Stepanov SI, Goel S (2022) Industry 4.0 and digitalisation in healthcare. Materials (Basel) 15(6):2140
- Porter AM, Goolkasian P (2019) Video games and stress: how stress appraisals and game content affect cardiovascular and emotion outcomes. Front Psychol 10
- Randell R, Alvarado N, Honey S, Greenhalgh J, Gardner P, Gill A, Jayne D, Kotze A, Pearman A, Dowding D (2015) Impact of robotic surgery on decision making: perspectives of surgical teams. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2015:1057–1066
- Rao PP (2018) Robotic surgery: new robots and finally some real competition! World J Urol 36: 537–541
- Rassweiler JJ, Autorino R, Klein J, Mottrie A, Goezen AS, Stolzenburg J-U, Rha KH, Schurr M, Kaouk J, Patel V, Dasgupta P, Liatsikos E (2017) Future of robotic surgery in urology. BJU Int 120:822–841
- Reshma DR (2019) Remote health monitoring using embedded systems. Int J Sci Res Eng Dev 2(2):374-380
- Rovira-Simón J, Sales-I-Coll M, Pozo-Rosich P, Gates D, Patt C, Hennessey I, Emery L, Hueto-Madrid JA, Carbonell-Cobo M, Garcia-Cuyàs F, Moz M, Chaudry Z, Shaw G (2022) Introduction to the cognitive hospital. Future Healthc J 9:34–40
- Sony M, Antony J, Mcdermott O (2022) The impact of medical cyber-physical systems on healthcare service delivery. TQM J 34:73
- Sood SK, Mahajan I (2018) A fog assisted cyber-physical framework for identifying and preventing coronary heart disease. Wirel Pers Commun 101:143–165
- Taffinder N, Sutton C, Fishwick RJ, Mcmanus IC, Darzi A (1998) Validation of virtual reality to teach and assess psychomotor skills in laparoscopic surgery: results from randomised controlled studies using the MIST VR laparoscopic simulator. Stud Health Technol Inform 50:124–130
- Thirukrishna JT, Aishwarya MV, Mansi Singh, Mounisha B, Kaveri N (2021) Efficient data transmission in WSN using wearable sensors for healthcare monitoring. International Journal Of Advance Research And Innovative Ideas In Education, 7(2), pp. 446–457 IJARIIE [Online]. Available at: https://ijariie.com/AdminUploadPdf/Efficient_data_Transmission_in_WSN_ using_wearable_sensors_for_Healthcare_Monitoring_ijariie13860.pdf (Accessed)
- Twenge JM, Joiner TE, Rogers ML, Martin GN (2018) Increases in depressive symptoms, suiciderelated outcomes, and suicide rates among U.S. adolescents after 2010 and links to increased new media screen time. Clin Psychol Sci 6:3–17
- Verma P, Sood SK, Kaur H (2020) A fog-cloud based cyber physical system for ulcerative colitis diagnosis and stage classification and management. Microprocess Microsyst 72:102929
- Wake N, Bjurlin MA, Rostami P, Chandarana H, Huang WC (2018) Three-dimensional printing and augmented reality: enhanced precision for robotic assisted partial nephrectomy. Urology 116:227–228
- Wang G, Badal A, Jia X, Maltz JS, Mueller K, Myers KJ, Niu C, Vannier M, Yan P, Yu Z, Zeng R (2022) Development of metaverse for intelligent healthcare. Nat Mach Intell 4:922–929
- Yang G, Pang Z, Deen MJ, Dong M, Zhang YT, Lovell N, Rahmani AM (2020) Homecare robotic systems for Healthcare 4.0: visions and enabling technologies. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 24:2535–2549

- Yildiz H, Küpper A, Thatmann D, Göndör S, Herbke P (2022) A tutorial on the interoperability of self-sovereign identities. TechRxiv
- Zsolt PO (2020) Integrated cyber-physical system to support early diagnosis and prevention of prediabetes and complications of type 2 diabetes. In: Anca Pantea S (ed) Type 2 Diabetes. IntechOpen, Rijeka

Transformation of the Healthcare Ecosystem in the Era of Society 5.0



Meshack N. Bida, Sylvia Motlalepule Mosito, Thabiso Victor Miya, Demetra Demetriou, Kim R. M. Blenman, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract The term "healthcare ecosystem" refers to a system in which patients, healthcare providers, healthcare policy makers, and administrators participate in health outputs. The COVID-19 pandemic has given us new lessons and changed the definition of norm worldwide. Some lessons may be temporary, but, groundwork changes in our approach to healthcare ecosystem design will be necessary to assist in handling the challenges of future catastrophes. The healthcare ecosystem is mainly comprised of value creation formula, customer value proposition (CVP), as well as partner network. These elements are driven by four business model pillars which are: management, information, financing, and human resources. The use of artificial intelligence (AI) in healthcare promises to revolutionize healthcare ecosystem structural reforms in terms of robustness, agility, and accuracy. Digitization of the healthcare system is occurring on several fronts such as cloud-based technology, blockchain technology, and medical Internet of Things (IoT). Many of these health

M. N. Bida (🖂)

S. M. Mosito

T. V. Miya · D. Demetriou · Z. Dlamini SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Hatfield, South Africa e-mail: thabiso.miya@up.ac.za; dd.demetriou@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

K. R. M. Blenman

Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: meshack.bida@nhls.ac.za

Department Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: Sylvia.mosito@up.ac.za

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_10

technologies offer a hope to improve access to healthcare to under-resourced communities as well as provide quick often real-time access to patient health data for quick real-time clinical decisions, but they are not without limitations. Whereas some of these limitations are purely technical, others are related to compromised patient privacy. These healthcare technologies further improve the wave of precision medicine in the long run, by improving the turn-around time for diagnosis and treatment. The privacy, safety, and security of patient health records can be set at the highest level using healthcare technologies through several oversight mechanisms available. However, legitimacy of implementation remains subject to the legal framework of human rights policies, the ability to avoid potential environmental health hazards, as well as the economy of scale.

Keywords Healthcare ecosystem design · Artificial intelligence · Digitization · Precision medicine · Oversight · Privacy and security · Human rights

1 The Main Objectives of Healthcare Ecosystem Design

The main objectives of healthcare ecosystem in oncological settings are to work toward increasing access to screening, early diagnosis, and improving accessibility of high-quality medicinal treatment. It could also assist to improve the community and patient's knowledge of cancer across a broad range of other topics—including lifestyle modifications, quality of life benefits, and diet. The improved healthcare ecosystem will be used to ensure that the patients focus on the cure rather than the disease itself. Therefore, every individual in the cancer care ecosystem has a role to play in reforming and providing support to every patient with cancer (Singh 2020).

By weighing the costs of services with the benefits to the consumer, effective utilization of resources, prevention of over-servicing, reduction of fruitless expenditure, as well as coordinating care for maximum effectiveness can be achieved. The value creation formula can be described as the value of care which comprises of quality service, end results, and well-being divided by the total cost of patient care over a period. This translates into the actual measurement of improvement in patient's health outcomes for the given cost of attaining that improvement. The purpose of value-based care revision is to enable the healthcare system to generate more worth for patients. The ideal model of the ecosystem of healthcare should include a range of levels of healthcare, from community-based, secondary healthcare centers to tertiary healthcare centers (Viswanadham 2021).

The efficiency ideas in healthcare should always involve the patient's contribution in creation of value. The providers should aim at matching the value creation standard process to the customer (patient) (Nordgren 2009). Soon, healthcare should embrace collaboration, cooperation or partnerships, and affiliations in all sectors of the biological and life science in the ecosystem.

2 The Trends of the Healthcare Ecosystem

The terrain of the healthcare ecosystem is rapidly changing with five main trends becoming apparent:

- · Hybrid care models combining virtual services
- · Digitalization of healthcare specialties
- Increased AI adoption
- Migration of health systems to the cloud
- · Advanced precision medicine

3 Hybrid Care Models Combining Physical and Virtual Services

Hybrid healthcare comprises of physical (in-person) and telemedicine consultations (Fig. 1). It is also driven by telecommunication tools such as Zoom meetings, video conferencing, etc. Several aspects of clinical care such as patient monitoring, appointment scheduling, and follow-up can also be done in a virtual platform. The patient's individual circumstances determine if remote management or face-to-face management will be ideal (Rongey et al. 2011).

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly accelerated telehealth adoption and is rapidly changing the patient and practitioner experience. Several specialist practices such as dermatology have benefited from telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic and have managed to operate even during the height of total lockdown. However, some patients were not yet comfortable with telemedicine and still prefer physical consultations. Nonetheless, video conferencing consultations have been welcomed by most patients. For some patients with minor medical conditions, such



Fig. 1 A hybrid model of the healthcare system

as psoriasis or acne, telemedicine consultations remain a preferable option. But for patients who may need surgery or biopsies, telehealth consultations are not an option.

A general workplace model mixes physical contact and remote consultation and gives room and support to employees. Employees have better work-life balance and autonomy in a hybrid;/ workplace and tend to be more applied to their work. This makes the workplace productive. A genera workplace which prioritizes the health of employees may be of value to some of the HR technologies. Some of the benefits include:

- **Increased employee productivity:** Several factors contribute to improving employee productivity: fewer interruptions at home compared to the office, increased autonomy to choose location and work hours, repurpose commuting time, and the opportunity to go to the office at times when in-person collaboration is ideal.
- **Reduced overhead costs:** Institutions or companies now take into consideration the real estate opportunities and strategies to reduce office space or locate their offices to smaller cities which can reduce the cost of production and office expenses such as electricity bills and rental. Genera employees often become more engaged, leading to reduced costs and less turnover.
- **Staff experience and work-life balance:** Autonomy and improved flexibility increase job satisfaction and happiness. In turn, this increases performance at work and overall employee well-being. An integrated focus on work-life balance can lead to a prosperous hybrid workplace.
- Additional protection through social distancing: With COVID-19 variants still posing a threat to physical contact, the genera workplace model enables the office space to be designed in a way that emphasizes safety and sanitization. Mixing and matching who is in the office, and when, enables social distancing and increased cleaning. In turn, this makes it easier if there is a need to perform contact tracing (Durai 2022).

3.1 Digitization of Healthcare Specialties

The health ecosystem digital era requires innovations that advance diagnosis and treatment, especially in hospital-based patient care that results in a reduction of error (Fig. 2) (India 2017). Furthermore, numerous innovations, such as video consultations or virtual meetings, are also required to ensure continuous care through the facilitation of off-site patient management. This can be achieved through telemedicine by reducing wastage, such as time and labor in the delivery system (India 2017). By partnering with individuals to support self-management, digital innovation will positively impact on the socioeconomic determinants of health, such as transportation costs and lesser consultation fees using remote technologies (Serbanati et al. 2011).



Fig. 2 Utilizing digital health technology to create evidence and deliver evidence-based healthcare (Adapted from Sharma et al. 2018)

Digital technologies provide advantages that are associated with the possibility of remote access to many medical services, and in the last decade have led to the rapid spread of digital medicine. Furthermore, there are several negative factors that have emerged through the diverse use of digital technologies in medicine. These technologies may cause serious harm to the life and health of people, and induce significant damage to the society, especially where the diagnosis is incorrect which results in mismanagement of patients (Mirskikh et al. 2021).

The information age of healthcare provides opportunities to optimize clinical research and clinical care delivery using telecommunication. Regarding telecommunications in patient care and research, although of high quality, there are major concerns about patients' protection and privacy, especially due to the absence of legislation that guarantees ownership on the part of the healthcare provider in cases of mismanagement. This requires new regulatory policy innovations before full-scale implementation (Sharma et al. 2018). The types of innovations that are likely to be adopted in a healthcare organization should address the quality improvements in health outcomes.

4 Digital Transformation of the Healthcare Ecosystem Through Blockchain Health Technology

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted even the world's best healthcare systems because of the state of operating on disconnected and centralized networks with inefficient data-sharing capability. Decentralization, with effective patient metadata sharing using blockchain technology, provides an opportunity to preserve and accurately utilize patient data. Deploying this blockchain technology in the healthcare ecosystem enables the regulatory authorities and healthcare providers to process large volumes of data, make timely decisions, and develop better health policies to intervene. Blockchain is a technology that keeps a record of healthcare information or data in a secure and immutable manner. Blockchain was introduced via Bitcoin, and research is ongoing to explore its suitability and application to non-financial markets. Research in the application of blockchain technology in the healthcare sector is still new and will have a major impact, especially in the access and management of a large volume of data (Agbo et al. 2019). Instead of using a central database, the blockchain record is distributed across networks, with optimal information security. The authorized users can upload or download data but cannot delete or alter the data. The system preserves and exchanges patient data through healthcare centers and individuals. Blockchain technology also reduces error in a significant way, by allowing several participants to play an oversight role and thus gives ideal operational efficiency in the healthcare system (Burniske et al. 2016).

The features of blockchain include immutability, transparency, efficiency, better security, and decentralization (see Fig. 3):

- Features of blockchain:

Decentralization: Blockchain uses a decentralized and distributed ledger to deliver the optimal processing capabilities of all participating users in the network. This decreases latency and eliminates errors that may occur from any point of the user.

Immutability: It is the ability to ensure the stability of entries by creating immutable ledgers. In blockchain technology, the blocks are permanently saved and never changed if the participating user continues to maintain the network.

Transparency: A high level of transparency by sharing entry details among all users involved in the network.

Better security: Blockchain offers better security, especially public types of blockchain where a public key infrastructure is in place, to protect against adverse actions to change data. This security feature in the blockchain network protects the integrity of information.

Efficiency: Blockchain distributes all data entries to make it more transparent, thus allowing data verification at multiple points of usage (El Bassam 2021).

Healthcare institutions and healthcare providers often work in silos in the healthcare ecosystem without the benefit of momentary updates in patient information. This insufficient interoperability allows a high level of information gap and is



Fig. 3 A blockchain is a decentralized architecture with built-in security to increase the trust and integrity of transactions (Adapted from El Bassam 2021)

error-prone in decision-making during patient management. For example, some of the patient data in the use of medicines may be relevant to the pathologists in terms of diagnosis and if such information is shared among all healthcare providers timeously, it may be helpful for the healthcare practitioners to make a timeous diagnosis. Large volumes of healthcare metadata are shared across the healthcare system and in so doing errors, fraud, and duplications can be avoided (Engelhardt 2017).

Thus, blockchain development for healthcare addresses the following key lapses:

- Patients can avoid medical services that are irrelevant to their current care.
- Physicians have full access to the medical history of a patient, thus minimizing the risk of inaccurate decision-making in emergency cases.
- Ability to trace first and last mile delivery verticals in pharmaceutical stores as well as to identify the specific medicines based on the active ingredients (Panwar and Bhatnagar 2020).
- Limitations of blockchain application in healthcare:

In many ways, the potential of blockchain technology in the healthcare industry is sometimes overstated. It has up to date remained as theoretical frameworks, layouts, or models, seldom with a prototype or pilot implementation especially in the most under-resourced areas, where the impact is likely to be most observable to learn



Fig. 4 Types of blockchain: Public, private, or something in between (Adapted from Wegrzyn and Wang 2021)

from. Thus, large-scale deployment of blockchain technology in the healthcare industry is rare in practice.

In addition, blockchain is not well suited as a storage facility due to the capacity constraints of computational needs in every network participant (often called "node"). Storing large records on this blockchain technology, including full electronic medical records or genomic data records, would be costly or inefficient if such computational needs are not in place. In this regard, government institutions rather than private healthcare organizations are best suited for this task. It is also difficult to use blockchain technology as an analytic tool for such data, thus providing limited clinical decision support and statistical analysis, especially for research use.

On the Protection of Personal Information Act (POPI Act) in South Africa, storing personal health data "on chain" (i.e., in blockchain) will make such information visible to other network participants, which is data privacy infringement (South African Government 2013). Then there are patient rights under the EU General Data Protection Regulation, particularly the right to erasure, which are incompatible with the immutability of blocks in a chain (Europe 2022) (Fig. 4).

All types of blockchains can be regarded as permissionless, permissioned, or both. Permissionless blockchains allow any user to pseudo-anonymously join the blockchain network (i.e., to become "nodes" of the network) with minimal or no restriction to the rights of the nodes on the blockchain network. Permissioned blockchains have built-in restrictions to data access on the network to certain nodes and often restrict the rights of the nodes on the particular network. However, the identities of the users of a permissioned blockchain are known to the other users in the network (Wegrzyn and Wang 2021). Hybrid blockchains are centrally controlled by a single organization, but with a level of oversight performed by the public blockchain. In this regard, data security in the case of healthcare blockchains can be customized accordingly to comply with the protection of patient information policy

in South Africa, for example, by regulating access to information using codes or password protection (Wegrzyn and Wang 2021).

4.1 Digitalization Through the Internet of Things

In the last ten years or so, there has been an increase in the development of health devices and instruments that can be operated using the internet. These devices are referred to as the Internet of Things (IoT) devices. These IoT devices have a wide range of industry application which includes process systems, manufacturing, and law enforcement but are now increasingly being implemented in the field of healthcare systems (Pradhan et al. 2021a, b).

Medical IoT can also be used to collect patient's information, for diagnosis of diseases, for monitoring of patient's health condition, and to provide alerts in case of a medical emergency (see Fig. 5).

The use of IoT devices in the healthcare sector is referred to as medical IoT and has now become a large field of study, which is transforming the healthcare systems' operations, by enabling remote patient consultation, accessing of patients' vital records by physicians, and even doing minor surgical procedures remotely, such as incision and drainage of superficial skin abscess and self-sampling for specimen procurement for HPV testing (Akkaş et al. 2020). Some of these devices have been



Fig. 5 Categories of IoT application (Adapted from Pradhan et al. 2021a)

applied as IoT-enabled biosensors, IoT in medical implant manufacturing, IoT in rehabilitation devices, IoT-enabled medical robotics, IoT in genomics, as well as IoT devices in pharmaceutical industries (Akkaş et al. 2020). A complete IoT system consists of four separate components that operate together to ensure the required output (Pradhan et al. 2021b).

- Sensors/Devices:

The sensors are connected to special devices and collect minute data from the surrounding environment. Some of these data include geographical location or vital data of a patient, such as temperature, pulse, or blood pressure. Sensors can be attached to a device such as a mobile phone which already has built-in sensors such as GPS, camera, and accelerometer.

- Connectivity:

The data is sent to a cloud infrastructure or an IoT platform with the help of either wireless or wired networking technologies, such as Bluetooth, Wi-Fi, cellular networks, ethernet, etc.

- Data Processing:

The data is stored in a cloud infrastructure, analyzed, and processed by a Big Data Analytics Engine, for clinical decision-making. This analysis could range from checking if the temperature, heart rate, blood pressure or blood glucose readings are within an acceptable range (Jagadeeswari et al. 2018). The processed data is then used to act accordingly or provide a medical opinion.

- User Interface:

The end user is notified often by an email, text, notification, or alert sound triggered on their IoT application.

4.2 Benefits of IoT

The benefits of the application of IoT in other industries provide a positive spin-off in the healthcare ecosystem, which includes:

- Access to High-Quality Data:

One of the most frustrating things in practicing healthcare is accessing patient data in good quality. Clinical history, laboratory results, medical treatment, and even surgical procedures for an individual patient are often hand scribbled with illegible handwriting or poor electronic records data quality. IoT promises to magnificently improve data quality especially with verification and timeous access (Pradhan et al. 2021b).

- Better Tracking and Management:

Over time, health records become difficult to store and access at the point of need. IoT has the potential to trace back any such medical history as may be relevant at the point of care, irrespective of where and when such data was accumulated.

- Efficient Resource Utilization:

One of the challenges in managing patients is the wastage of resources through duplication of tests, for example. Because of the transparency that is offered by IoT technology, such wastage could be reduced.

- Automation and Control:

Automation drives laboratory medicine, and this links well with IoT to allow remote access to essential laboratory information within the network.

- Comfort and Convenience:

The interconnectivity of devices and aggregation of data provide the patient with full control over the monitoring of their health condition with accessible remote monitoring by the clinical care team. Several visits to the healthcare center for monitoring becomes unnecessary in some cases of chronic care, such as diabetes and hypertension, especially if hand-held devices are used to monitor patients in this regard.

- Saves Time and Money:

The cost of healthcare delivery is markedly reduced by cutting overheads such as travel and several face-to-face consultations, especially in some follow-up consultations which allow remote monitoring. Specialist physician consultations take place quicker on the network with delay.

Some real-world applications of IoT presently in use are:

- Smart Home:

Smart home systems such as connected inhalers, smart thermometers, ECG monitors, and blood pressure monitor devices offer security and convenience and save time.

- Wearables:

Devices such as Smart Watches and Fitness Tracking Bands that can be worn can, with the help of installed software, track and monitor heart rate, blood pressure, sleeping and eating habits, caloric intake, etc. The measurements made by these devices, can be relayed to a healthcare service provider.

– Smart Cities:

Smart cities provide their citizens with a preventative aspect of communitybased healthcare and allow public health data to be easily collected from citizens. Smart cities assist to minimize environmental pollution and provide optimal waste management (Menon et al. 2022).

4.3 Examples of Internet of Things

Several examples of IoT are out there in public but the one that is often spoken about in the healthcare industry is *Hero Health*. It is a medication dispenser that is used for home treatment and elderly care. This smart appliance also sends alerts to your smartphone if they miss a dose, thus assisting the physician in monitoring the patient (Mathew et al. 2018). Other examples such as Blossom, Philips Hue, Nest Learning

Thermostat, and Amazon Go have not found a niche yet in the healthcare sector so far and are mainly used in manufacturing, especially with regards to equipment monitoring (Fig. 6).

4.3.1 Limitations of Internet of Things–Based Systems

Several challenges are encountered in the application of medical IoT:

- Servicing and Cost:

Like any other computational system, IoT requires continuous upgrading regularly. Every IoT-based system involves many connected medical devices and sensors which require high cost of maintenance, servicing, and upgradation costs.

- Power Consumption:

Most IoT devices consume large quantities of voltage requiring a high-power battery. Integration of the IoT system with renewable energy systems may help to address this challenge.

- Standardization:

Standardization of medical IoT devices, although without its faults, is based on the communication protocols from data aggregated. The validation and standardization of electronic medical records (EMRs) recorded by IoT devices should be done on a wide scale. This can be achieved if various organizations and standardization bodies form working groups for the standardization of the devices.



Fig. 6 An example of how an IoT system works from collecting data to taking action (Adapted from Pradhan et al. 2021b)

- Data Privacy and Security:

Internet of Things-aided applications in healthcare networks are susceptible to cyberattacks. This may result in mismanagement of patients' valuable information as well as negatively affecting patient treatment.

- Scalability:

Most medical IoT-aided devices are not liable to scalability as new information on emerging diseases is gathered due to a lack of uniformity among the connected devices.

- Identification:

Patients often have multiple diseases and are seen by multiple healthcare specialists which may compromise the identity of the patient, caregiver, and doctors among each other in a single treatment process, due to large volumes of specific data that needs to be correctly captured (Gatouillat et al. 2018).

4.3.2 Digitalization Using Robotic Services

The IoT-aided robotic system is a wireless network that offers robotic services by interconnecting multiple robots with the smart environment, using information and communication technologies to share large volumes of data. The IoT-aided robotic system is integrated with various sensors directed toward particular healthcare goals such as disease monitoring, diagnosing, and doing simple tasks, depending on the level of integration. The higher levels of integration systems may perform complex operations (Alotaibi and Yamin 2019). In other words, the IoT-aided robotic system is simply a complex form of IoT that also has the functional advantage of robotic technology. The layout of an IoT-aided robotic system consists of three layers: the physical layer, the network control layer, and the application layer.

The Internet of Things and robotics are closely linked. The Internet of Robotics Things (IoRT) is also viewed as the integration of robotics technologies in IoT scenarios (Afanasyev et al. 2019). The sensors are used to collect vital health data of the patient's body such as blood pressure, pulse, and temperature. The sensors may also be upgraded to include switches, actuators, and other drives that can be used to perform simple tasks. Robots can connect either with other robots with sensors or actuators, to create a multi-robot network of routers, and controllers through communication network protocols. The application layer solely depends on the objective of the integrated system. The healthcare applications of an IoT-aided robotic system depend on the nature of tasks and objectives which are drafted in the communication protocol as a set of functionalities which can meet the demands. Some of these functionalities may involve the quaternary care of patients as in the rehabilitation of patients and remote management of chronic diseases and disabilities, such as remote management of paraplegics, diabetes, or psychotherapy.

Once machine learning techniques have been applied to these robots, the robots are able to develop recognition ability and the ability to perform complex tasks and are able to function in various scenarios in which they are deployed. The robots can access sensor data that are recorded in real time such as speech, image, and video. These data are time sensitive and must be processed in real time to allow prompt intervention and treatment where necessary (Hadidi et al. 2018).

4.3.3 Increased Artificial Intelligence Adoption

"AI is a capability of a computer program to perform tests or reasoning processes that we usually associate with intelligence in a human being."

Medical science has improved and continues to do so immensely, increasing the life expectancy of individuals worldwide. As life expectancy rises, the healthcare systems face an increase in the need for healthcare services. The high life expectancy means that the cost of healthcare delivery increases. The workforce is increasingly facing increasing demands and struggling to accommodate the needs of its patients. The demand increases due to the aging population, lifestyle changes, and changing patient demands. Treating such patients is costly and requires systems that are dynamic and suited for long-term continuity of care.

In the context of the healthcare ecosystem, AI has the potential to improve accuracy, that is, diagnostic precision, thus yielding better outcomes as well as reducing the time of production. This is seen largely in laboratory diagnosis, clinical diagnosis, imaging analysis, research studies, financial administration, documentation, workflow simplification, and other duties in the healthcare system.

Currently, medical management spending is exorbitant and without major structural changes, the healthcare system will struggle to remain effective. The adoption of AI has the potential to positively alter the medical management system and assist in the challenges set out above (Dhamnani et al. 2019). AI in healthcare has relevance in the processing of claims, clinical documentation, revenue cycle, and medical records management. AI technology can assist healthcare professionals to diagnose patients by analyzing symptoms, suggesting personalized treatments, predicting risks, and detecting abnormal results (Table 1). Outweighing the benefits and risks of AI, concerns have been raised regarding the impacts, benefits, and risks of AI on patients, healthcare professionals, and healthcare systems. There are also debates on how AI and the data that supports it should be used.

A complete adoption of AI into the healthcare system is still in its early stages. In low socioeconomic settings, AI adoption is significantly affected by social power which can either be knowledge-based or non-knowledge-based. The knowledgebased power structures are social powers related to knowledge and skills, such as expertise in AI. They can also include informational, expert, and referent powers. This knowledge-based power is therefore more applicable in areas of large-scale high socioeconomic development, which are capacitated in terms of human resources. The non-knowledge-based power structures comprise of coercive, reward, and legitimate powers. They are not related to personal knowledge and individuals' skills (Sun 2021). Additional benefits of AI in medical sciences include patient diagnosis, end-to-end drug discovery and development, as well as improvement of communication between healthcare providers and patients (Ekins 2016; Dilsizian and Siegel 2014). In the recent past, computer algorithms have virtually

Company name	Main purpose	Website
AiCure (New York City), patient-oriented	Utilizes audio, video, and behavioral infor- mation to better understand the link between patients, disease, and treatment.	https://www. aicure.com
Aidence (Amsterdam, the Netherlands), clinician-oriented	AI for radiologists that improves diagnostics for lung cancer treatment.	https://www. aidence.com
Aiva Health (Los Angeles), administrative and operational- oriented	The first voice-powered medical care assis- tant: Connects patients with the correct healthcare providers for communication.	https:// aivahealth. com
Babylon Health (London), administrative and operational- oriented	Uses NLP and AI to generate an internation- ally accessible and affordable healthcare system.	https://www. babylonhealth. com
Bot MD (Singapore), clinician- oriented	Bot assistant: Answers clinical questions, transcribes case notes, and organizes images and files automatically.	https://www. botmd.io/en/
Suki (San Francisco), clinician- oriented	Voice-controlled digital health assistant for physicians.	https://www. suki.ai
Insitro (San Francisco), patient- oriented	Utilizes advanced machine learning together with computational genomics to decrease time and cost related to drug discovery for patients.	

 Table 1
 Major healthcare companies using AI in medical sciences around the world (Adapted from Basu et al. 2020)

eliminated errors in the health system, often very attractive and intimidating to humans (Basu et al. 2020).

Artificial intelligence applications in healthcare can be clinician-orientated, patient-oriented, or administrative and operational-oriented AI (Davenport and Kalakota 2019).

4.3.4 Migration of Health Systems to the Cloud

Cloud computing augments healthcare technologies such as electronic medical records, mobile applications, patient portals, and big data analytics (Fig. 7). It is scalable and flexible, can be customized to most healthcare ecosystems, and ultimately improves the decision-making process. By leveraging cloud-based computing solutions, healthcare systems can reduce costs, enhance privacy, and improve patient care quality through collaboration and interoperability. Examples of healthcare cloud computing include Amazon Web Services (AWS), which has been rated as a leader in the healthcare cloud computing market.

Cloud-based healthcare can be described as the integration of cloud computing technology to create and manage cloud-based healthcare services. Since the generated data can be securely stored off-site, it is regarded as a critical benefit for provider organizations regardless of the volume of data stored. This cloud-based healthcare system tackles the following essential requirements of the healthcare industry:



Fig. 7 Some reasons why healthcare is moving to the cloud (Adapted from ScienceDirect)

- 1. On-demand access to computing with large volume storage resources, which will otherwise not be possible in old healthcare systems
- 2. Support enormous datasets for electronic health records (EHR), genomic data, and radiology images offloading
- Ability to share EHR among authorized physicians and healthcare facilities in different geographic locations, with timely access to life-saving information and reducing the need for double testing
- 4. Improvement in monitoring and analysis of diagnosis, treatment, performance, and cost data

Healthcare's digital transformation has encouraged patients to seek out more in the way of operational efficiency, clinical excellence, innovation capability.

4.3.5 Advanced Precision Medicine

The world is in a period of enormous progress in the fight against cancer. We now have immunotherapy and cancer early diagnostic tests which we never had before. Despite having these tools, we still have persistent inconsistencies in cancer end results. Precision medicine (also referred to as personalized medicine) is a technologically advanced approach to mass population screening, disease diagnosis, treatment, and prevention based on the individual's uniqueness in terms of genetic makeup, unique environment, and lifestyle. The emerging field of precision medicine is an area of enormous potential and is rapidly catching the public eye. The future of precision medicine rests on the different technologies that are integrated to complement the knowledge and skills of healthcare professionals in the milieu of clinical practice. This requires ongoing research to understand the knowledge gap as well as weighing the benefits it provides in patient management.

According to Prosperi et al. precision medicine is the "approach for disease treatment and prevention that takes into account individual variability in genes, environment, and lifestyle for each person" (Adams and Petersen 2016; Prosperi et al. 2018). The current treatment for cancer may be a combination of surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, and immunotherapy, depending on the histologic type of cancer and its staging. Looking at the gene level, precision medicine can help decide on individualized treatment with certain medicines demonstrating to be more efficacious for specific genes (World Economic Forum 2020). It needs a balanced healthcare ecosystem to attain personalized prevention and treatment. This can be achieved by incorporating risk assessment into the primary healthcare setting and ensuring that the healthcare providers in the primary care are provided with the right equipment to make precision prevention possible (Ayodele 2022).

From targeting late-stage cancers to curing rare inherited diseases, precision medicine is assured to impact millions of people within the next decade. The biggest challenge in the field of precision medicine is patient confidentiality. The protection of privacy, confidentiality of personal and medical information, of the participants is critical, especially with the POPI Act's policy innovation. During research, participants need to be briefed about the risks and advantages of partaking. In essence, researchers must have a rigorous informed consent process. Lastly, cost is also a critical issue in precision medicine and needs to be addressed. Precision medicine partially depends on data collection and analysis. The data collection, storage, and sharing, which are crucial to implementing precision medicine, make security, privacy, and integrity a serious concern to patients, healthcare providers, and society as a whole (Rasch 2018, 2021).

5 Technology and Innovation in Biomarker Discovery Through Genomics and Multi-omics Data Processing

Omics technologies are critical in advancing precision medicine through the discovery of new biomarkers. To date these technologies have not been fully exploited given that only a few omics-derived biomarkers have been incorporated into clinical practice. A careful selection of potential biomarkers requires a high level of sensitivity and specificity to be clinically relevant. The ideal omics-driven biomarker should have features with high predictive power in accuracy, be less robust in analytic terms, as well as be cost-effective in production (Fortino et al. 2020).

6 Funding Mechanisms in Propelling Health Innovation

Access to quality healthcare is a major problem worldwide. Together with poverty, these two factors are the twin devils causing poor livelihood for many across the globe. However, innovative finance through partnerships can assist to make access to healthcare a possibility. These partnerships can redirect resources and address market inefficiencies and other systemic deficiencies that are preventing people in lower socioeconomic regions to access healthcare. Healthcare companies can potentially play a major role as investors, innovators, and advisors to generate financial returns and develop new markets, and eventually improve health outcomes. In this way, new opportunities are identified through finance partnerships, thus breaking down access barriers at each stage of the healthcare value chain.

6.1 Innovative Finance Can Be Applied in Four Key Areas of the Healthcare Ecosystem

- Research and Development (R&D): The main focus of financing is product development partnerships as well as investment funds through research. These goals can be achieved using incentives and collaboration often between the under- and over-resourced partnerships. It is a sure way of ensuring skills transfer as well as capacity building.
- Core Operations: Optimizing core operational platforms can be facilitated by volume guarantees, payment plans, and investment agreements. In this way, new business models are usually conceived which ensures a wider distribution network that increases access to healthcare. A good example of volume guarantee arrangement is the use of contraception devices by the majority of women in low socioeconomic settings through a group of funders in Africa (Tsui et al. 2017).
- Health Systems: Through financing small business enterprises, the health systems can be strengthened and expanded. These financial ventures may take the

form of credit trade finance and social bonds which can strengthen the capacity to deliver medicines, patient education, and health services to remote areas previously untapped.

 Patients and Customers: There are opportunities for healthcare companies to start micro-economic ventures in savings, credit, and insurance. This has the potential to stimulate demand and improve access to health services and products (Nordic Precision Medicine Forum 2022).

7 Alignment with Sustainable Development Goals

One of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), as adopted by the United Nations in 2015, is Goal 3 for "GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING." The evolution of the healthcare ecosystem should be aligned with this goal by working toward removing barriers of access to healthcare using technology. An effective healthcare ecosystem will allow increased access to screening, early diagnosis, and improved accessibility to high-quality medicinal treatment. This will implement SDG Goal 3 by assisting good health and well-being. It can also assist to improve the community and patient's knowledge of cancer, lifestyle modifications, quality of life benefits, and diet. The improved healthcare ecosystem, as previously mentioned, can be used to give hope to the patients for better options in disease monitoring and management. In the same breath, access without affordability will be meaningless and, in this way, cost-effective funding strategies should also be pursued through collaborative partnerships especially targeting low-income communities. Good health should not be a prized commodity but a basic human right for us to realize the 2030 Agenda of sustainable development. Multiple fronts of the pursuit of the 2030 Agenda of sustainable development should include addressing the health of our communities as part of dealing with socioeconomic inequalities.

8 Overall Impact of Technology on the Ecosystem

The impact of technology on the healthcare ecosystem is closely interlinked with other determinants such as affordability, eagerness to the adoption of new technologies, status of health of population, and skills level of healthcare professionals to utilize these technologies. Due to the lack of widespread usage in a greater population scale, modeling quality improvements, such as its impact on life expectancy, aging populations, productivity, and gross domestic product (GDP), is a challenging task (Marino and Lorenzoni 2019). Given the low-level adoption of digital technology, especially in low-income countries, an autoregressive distributed lag (ARDL) model approach has been used in some studies in countries such as BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa), which demonstrated increasing life expectancy between 1993 and 2019, except in Brazil (Jiang et al. 2022).

The impact of technology on the healthcare work force has been variable in most studies, reflecting the complex nature of technology integration in the healthcare ecosystem. Several determinants come into the picture such as eagerness to adopt technology, especially due to physicians' attitudes and skills. There is a lot of variation in the impact, with many healthcare organizations seeing no benefits (Acemoglu and Autor 2011).

9 Human Rights

Several of the transformative technologies which have impacted the healthcare ecosystem are by nature global and operate based on a set of rules and principles that have a law-like nature-the Lex Cryptographia. This law-like nature of these technologies makes some of the utilization by international organizations difficult due to questionable compliance with the local laws and foreign policy perspective, thus questioning the legitimacy of use in some countries. Lex Cryptographia is defined as a set of rules that are managed through smart contracts in a setting of decentralized organizations. These complex systems of smart contracts are required for technologies such as blockchain for purposes of code-dependent self-executable rules among the individuals participating in a blockchain network (Dimitropoulos 2022). Blockchain technology is so global that the United Nations and the World Bank have adopted it. The World Health Organization (WHO) has partnered with major blockchain and technology companies to launch a distributed ledger technology (DLT)-based platform for sharing data concerning the coronavirus pandemic to facilitate "fully private information sharing between individuals, state authorities and health institutions."

10 Privacy

In terms of privacy, blockchain technology maintains long-term storage and confidentiality of patient data and records. Such data or records can also be stored as immutable data or records depending on the situation. The types of data and records that can be stored include medical history, treatment-related data, and laboratory information all of which could be historic or current. Access to data can be regulated to allow only certain individuals to have access or modify or add additional data. For example, some participants may only have read the data, whilst others are able to load additional data. This serves well for maintaining and controlling patient privacy, especially where data access by unauthorized participants may have undesirable consequences, for example, HIV status not readily accessed by the nursing staff, etc. (Haleem et al. 2021).

11 Safety

Blockchain technology in the healthcare ecosystem can preserve and exchange health data and records of patients, as well as accurately identify serious errors in the workup and management of patients. This can range from the appropriateness of pharmaceutical prescriptions, doses, to the frequency of medicinal treatment. Some patients may be allergic to certain medical drugs and information on any allergies can be obtained from the clinical history of the patient. This will be flagged by this technology to ensure the safety of patients. In clinical trials, decision-making with regards to the continuation of the trials when adverse reactions are experienced by patients, can be safely done in the early phase of the trial (Haleem et al. 2021).

12 Security

Storage and management of patient health data and records must be stored with versatility, accountability, and authentication for data access. As the health records and data are accessed and used for different purposes, safekeeping, decentralized protection, and confidentiality are paramount to avoid threats of unauthorized access. Thus, there is a great potential for blockchain technology to improve data efficiency for healthcare, as well as assist to avoid the fear of data manipulation and ensure a unique data storage pattern at any desired level of security. Through a distributed ledger network that adds and never deletes or modifies records without a common consensus, security is guaranteed. The high level of data security is provided by a cryptographic hash that connects newly added information, but at the same time blocks records with a data block. The distributed blockchain ledger architecture ensures that data is not processed in any particular centralized hub or venue and is accessible and accountable to all network users (Haleem et al. 2021).

13 Oversight

Using common consensus mechanisms, adequate oversight can be achieved throughout the blockchain network of interconnectivity. Two common consensus mechanisms have been described which includes:

- Proof of Work (PoW) is one of the most common consensus mechanisms. The blockchain users or miners (a blockchain user/node who participates in a competition with others to solve complex cryptographic problems, to validate a particular block) have that block added to the blockchain and receive a reward for doing so.
- Proof-of-Stake (PoS) is the second most common consensus mechanism alternative to PoW. This uses low energy, less processing time, low cost, and low

computational power than PoW. The PoS consensus mechanism uses a randomized method to select the participants who get to create the next new block in the chain. Instead of miners, the validators are present in PoS. The users can stake their tokens to become a validator which means they lock their money for a certain period of time to create a new block. The user who has the biggest stake has the highest chance to become a validator and a chance to create a new block. This process also depends on that one user, considering how long the coins have been staked. By using this consensus mechanism in the network, we can save the energy of other validators because only selected validators can create a block.

Several other consensus mechanisms have been adopted in other industries and include Delegated Proof of Stake, Proof of Authority, and Proof of History.

Several important blockchain concepts and definitions are:

- Ledger—A record of transactions over time while still allowing for tracking and analysis. It documents the transfer of ownership and is ultimately a means for proving ownership.
- Block—A block is a unit of data (or record) that holds a collection of transactions which, together with many other blocks arranged in a specific order, form a blockchain.
- Hash—Digital equivalent of a fingerprint; unique and useful for detecting changes in a file. This is one component that makes the blockchain secure.
- Consensus mechanism—A fault-tolerant process to achieve agreement about a set of data among many users or nodes. Proof of Work is one of the most common consensus mechanisms.
- Miner—A blockchain user/node who participates in a competition with others to solve complex cryptographic problems, to validate a particular block, have that block added to the blockchain, and receive a reward for doing so.
- Blockchain can refer to: (1) a data structure which represents a series of immutable transaction records; (2) an algorithm or a collection of technologies; (3) a distributed, peer-to-peer network of systems; and (4) a system of recording information in a way that makes it difficult or impossible to change, hack, or cheat the system (HHS 2021).

14 Energy Crisis

Blockchain technology presents with it the potential side effects due to the increasing needs in electricity for validation of all blockchain-based transactions or records, which could eventually generate some crypto-damages and give rise to several health issues. The implementation of blockchain technology should be done with caution to ensure a real sustainable, ethical, and consistent healthcare system. The potential environmental and eventually health impact cannot be underestimated with the increasing use of blockchain within the healthcare ecosystem. This lack of consideration becomes somewhat of a paradox as technological solutions are meant to improve healthcare and must therefore be implemented in a way that does not harm the environment nor human health (Schinckus 2022).

15 Resource Crisis

Although blockchain technologies are useful in improving efficiencies in the healthcare ecosystem, the technology infrastructure comes with a high demand of, amongst others, human capital in terms of technological skills, high tech computer infrastructure as well as bandwidth connectivity. These resources are, in most low-income countries, simply not affordable. Thus, the uptake of this technology is likely to lag in the developing economies as the implementation of these technologies is likely to create a resource crisis in many ways. Careful consideration of several factors is necessary to avoid disruption of these developing economies. A phased-out approach is perhaps the best way to avoid creating a resource crisis, by selectively identifying urbanized areas before a complete rollout is undertaken. One of the strategies of implementation is to consider public health intervention especially disease-specific screening, as this is likely to reduce the global burden of diseases, mortality, morbidity, and economic costs (Bhattacharya et al. 2019).

16 Conclusion

Advancements in the healthcare system such as electronic consultations and videoconferencing assist in real-time diagnosis as well as accessing digital therapeutics. These strategies have become vital as part of the fourth industrial innovation, through advancement in medical science and dependence on digital platforms. The efficient extraction of high-volume information analytics through internetworked machines has grown to a great extent. Society 5.0 involves a human-centered community which seeks to strike a balance between high economic demands and societal liabilities by combining the cyber and physical space. AI seems to be on the high rise and intimidating to healthcare providers. However, it remains a viable option in achieving equity in the provision of high-quality healthcare to society. Most healthcare technologies are already in the domain of genomic analysis, clinical data storage, big data, and analytics to drive precision medicine. However, full-scale extension in the implementation of these strategies in clinical platforms is still lagging, especially in the low socioeconomic setting. Digital technology innovation is gradually impacting the healthcare sector using several technologies, such as blockchain technology, IoT, and IoT-aided robotics. Blockchain is a relatively new technology that can be used to manage large volumes of patient data in a transparent and accountable manner. It operates as a ledger of transactions where all ledger entries are visible to all participants within a communication network.

A large body of knowledge about the layout of medical IoT systems, their components, and the network of communication among the different components exist, albeit with minimal practical implementation experience, more so in the underresourced communities mainly due to cost barriers. These technologies should be expanded to the low socioeconomic populations as pilot projects with carefully planned financing strategies. They will certainly be tested in their robustness especially when it comes to remote diagnosis and patient monitoring. There is a guarantee of privacy, safety, and security of patient health records through several oversight mechanisms available. However, several countries may need to relook at their healthcare policy and legal framework to bolster the legitimacy of implementation and address the potential environmental health hazards to avoid potential litigations.

References

- Acemoglu D, Autor D (2011) Skills, tasks and technologies: implications for employment and earnings. In: Handbook of labor economics. Elsevier, New York
- Adams SA, Petersen C (2016) Precision medicine: opportunities, possibilities, and challenges for patients and providers. J Am Med Inform Assoc 23:787–790
- Afanasyev I, Mazzara M, Chakraborty S, Zhuchkov N, Maksatbek A, Yesildirek A, Kassab M, Distefano S (2019) Towards the internet of robotic things: analysis, architecture, components and challenges. IEEE, pp 3–8
- Agbo CC, Mahmoud QH, Eklund JM (2019) Blockchain technology in healthcare: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 7(2):56
- Akkaş MA, Sokullu R, Cetin HE (2020) Healthcare and patient monitoring using IoT. Internet of Things 11:100173
- Alotaibi M, Yamin M (2019) Role of robots in healthcare management. IEEE, pp 1311-1314
- Ayodele FO (2022) How the healthcare ecosystem can remove barriers to precision health [online]. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinesscouncil/2022/10/19/how-the-healthcareecosystem-can-remove-barriers-to-precision-health/?sh=f5a7cf46fda1. Accessed 6 December 2022
- Basu K, Sinha R, Ong A, Basu T (2020) Artificial intelligence: how is it changing medical sciences and its future? Indian J Dermatol 65:365
- Bhattacharya S, Singh A, Hossain MM (2019) Strengthening public health surveillance through blockchain technology. AIMS Public Health 6:326
- Burniske C, Vaughn E, Cahana A, Shelton J (2016) How blockchain technology can enhance electronic health record operability. ARK Invest, New York
- Davenport T, Kalakota R (2019) The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare. Future Healthc J 6(2):94
- Dhamnani S, Singal D, Sinha R, Mohandoss T, Dash M (2019) RAPID: rapid and precise interpretable decision sets. IEEE, pp 1292–1301
- Dilsizian SE, Siegel EL (2014) Artificial intelligence in medicine and cardiac imaging: harnessing big data and advanced computing to provide personalized medical diagnosis and treatment. Curr Cardiol Rep 16:1–8
- Dimitropoulos G (2022) The use of blockchain by international organizations: effectiveness and legitimacy. Policy Soc 41:328
- Durai (2022) 5 benefits and challenges of hybrid work [Online]. https://www.zoho.com/workdrive/ digest/top-5-benefits-and-challenges-of-hybrid-work.html. Accessed 12 November 2022
- Ekins S (2016) The next era: deep learning in pharmaceutical research. Pharm Res 33:2594–2603

- El Bassam N (2021) Blockchain. In: Distributed renewable energies for off-grid communities. Elsevier
- Engelhardt MA (2017) Hitching healthcare to the chain: an introduction to blockchain technology in the healthcare sector. Technol Innov Manag Rev 7:22
- Europe (2022) EU data protection regulation 2022 [Online]. https://gdpr-info.eu. Accessed 10 November 2022
- Fortino V, Scala G, Greco D (2020) Feature set optimization in biomarker discovery from genomescale data. Bioinformatics 36:3393–3400
- Gatouillat A, Badr Y, Massot B, Sejdić E (2018) Internet of medical things: a review of recent contributions dealing with cyber-physical systems in medicine. IEEE Internet Things J 5:3810– 3822
- Hadidi R, Cao J, Woodward M, Ryoo MS, Kim H (2018) Distributed perception by collaborative robots. IEEE Robot Autom Lett 3:3709–3716
- Haleem A, Javaid M, Singh RP, Suman R, Rab S (2021) Blockchain technology applications in healthcare: an overview. Int J Intell Netw 2:130–139
- HHS (2021) Blockchain for healthcare
- India (2017) National EHealth Authority (NeHA) [Online]. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, New Delhi, India. https://www.nhp.gov.in/national_eHealth_authority_ neha_mtl. Accessed 11 November 2022
- Jagadeeswari V, Subramaniyaswamy V, Logesh R, Vijayakumar V (2018) A study on medical Internet of Things and big data in personalized healthcare system. Health Inf Sci Syst 6:1–20
- Jiang C, Chang H, Shahzad I (2022) Digital economy and health: does green technology matter in BRICS economies? Front Public Health 9:827915
- Marino A, Lorenzoni L (2019) The impact of technological advancements on health spending
- Mathew PS, Pillai AS, Palade V (2018) Applications of IoT in healthcare. In: Cognitive computing for big data systems over IoT. Springer
- Menon VG, Jacob S, Joseph S, Sehdev P, Khosravi MR, Al-Turjman F (2022) An IoT-enabled intelligent automobile system for smart cities. Internet of Things 18:100213
- Mirskikh I, Mingaleva Z, Kuranov V, Dobrovlyanina O (2021) Problems and negative consequences of the digitalization of medicine. Springer, pp 445–455
- Nordgren L (2009) Value creation in health care services-developing service productivity: experiences from Sweden. Int J Public Sect Manag 22:114
- Nordic Precision Medicine Forum (2022, April) Nordic precision medicine Forum, Stockholm
- Panwar A, Bhatnagar V (2020) Distributed ledger technology (DLT): the beginning of a technological revolution for blockchain. IEEE, pp 1–5
- Pradhan B, Bharti D, Chakravarty S, Ray SS, Voinova VV, Bonartsev AP, Pal K (2021a) Internet of things and robotics in transforming current-day healthcare services. J Healthc Eng 2021: 9999504
- Pradhan B, Bhattacharyya S, Pal K (2021b) IoT-based applications in healthcare devices. J Healthc Eng 2021:6632599
- Prosperi M, Min JS, Bian J, Modave F (2018) Big data hurdles in precision medicine and precision public health. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 18:139
- Rasch MD (2018) Privacy and security in the internet-connected world of precision medicine. SciTech Lawyer 15:18–39
- Rasch MD (2021) Privacy and security in the world of precision medicine [Online]. https://www. americanbar.org/groups/gpsolo/publications/gp_solo/2021/july-august/privacy-and-securitythe-world-precision-medicine/. Accessed 6 December 2022
- Rongey C, Asch S, Knight SJ (2011) Access to care for vulnerable veterans with hepatitis C: a hybrid conceptual framework and a case study to guide translation. Transl Behav Med 1:644–651
- Schinckus C (2022) A nuanced perspective on blockchain technology and healthcare. Technol Soc 71:102082

- Serbanati LD, Ricci FL, Mercurio G, Vasilateanu A (2011) Steps towards a digital health ecosystem. J Biomed Inform 44:621–636
- Sharma A, Harrington RA, Mcclellan MB, Turakhia MP, Eapen ZJ, Steinhubl S, Mault JR, Majmudar MD, Roessig L, Chandross KJ (2018) Using digital health technology to better generate evidence and deliver evidence-based care. J Am Coll Cardiol 71:2680–2690
- Singh K (2020) Cancer: a new patient-centric ecosystem [online]. PharmaTimes Magazine. https:// www.pharmatimes.com/magazine/2020/julyaugust_2020/cancer_a_new_patient-centric_eco system. Accessed 6 December 2022
- South African Government (2013) Protection of Personal Information Act 4 Commencement of section 58(2). South Africa
- Sun TQ (2021) Adopting artificial intelligence in public healthcare: the effect of social power and learning algorithms. Int J Environ Res Public Health 18:12682
- Tsui AO, Brown W, Li Q (2017) Contraceptive practice in sub-Saharan Africa. Popul Dev Rev 43: 166
- Viswanadham N (2021) Ecosystem model for healthcare platform. Sādhanā 46:1-13
- Wegrzyn EWKE, Wang E (2021) Types of Blockchain: public, private, or something in between. Foley & Lardner LLP
- World Economic Forum (2020) Precision medicine vision statement: a product of the World Economic Forum Global Precision Medicine Council [Online]. https://www.weforum.org/ reports/precision-medicine-vision-statement-a-product-of-the-world-economic-forum-globalprecision-medicine-council/. Accessed 2 December 2022

Healthcare Transformation Using Blockchain Technology in the Era of Society 5.0



Thabiso Victor Miya, Benny Mosoane, Georgios Lolas, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract Prior to the advancement of technology as we know it today, many hospitals stored maintenance and patient medical records using paper-based record systems. However, this is changing as the digital era is tremendously advancing. The shortcomings of paper-based record systems include data loss, manipulation, and access constraints. In some healthcare facilities, patient medical records are kept only for a certain period of time. Thus, patients are unable to retrieve their medical records after a certain period of time. Although many facilities store patients' medical records in electronic computer systems, these data can still be accessed and manipulated without the knowledge of the patient. However, this downside can be solved by the use of Blockchain technology. Blockchain can be described as a structure that stores records of transactions into blocks in cyberspace. This technology prevents records from being manipulated or corrupted without a common consensus. In essence, Blockchain is a "digital ledger" whereby every transaction is monitored and permitted by the owner using a digital signature, thus making this technology secure and reliable. With regard to data management and maintenance, the introduction of Blockchain technology will make a significant difference to the healthcare ecosystem in Society 5.0. Blockchain technology, although it is not a panacea, provides fertile ground for investment and experimentation as well as

B. Mosoane

T. V. Miya (🖂) · Z. Dlamini

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: thabiso.miya@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

Department of Anatomical Pathology, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: benny.mosoane@NHLS.ac.za

G. Lolas

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece e-mail: glolas@med.uoa.gr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_11

proof-of-concept testing. Blockchain is still in developmental stages and as such, it faces several challenges such as latency, security, privacy, and usability. Thus, legal and technological experts need to collectively revise feasible solutions that are in line with human rights so that this technology can thrive and succeed.

Keywords Blockchain technology · Society 5.0 · Healthcare · Patients · Medical records · Human rights

1 Introduction

1.1 Health Data Challenges in the Healthcare Industry

Proper management and safe retrieval of large personal health data generated during the provision of services and conducting business remain as important challenges for the healthcare industry (Attaran 2022). This generated health data is mostly non-standardized across systems, inaccessible, and difficult to comprehend, utilize, and share. Furthermore, this data is pulled from diverse sources and stored in centralized information technology (IT) systems, thus making it difficult to manage and share (Attaran 2022). Requesting, compiling, sending, and receiving patient data requires many resources and is also time-consuming (Clim et al. 2019). Secure retrieval and efficient management of this data allow healthcare systems to generate a holistic view of patients, enhance communication, improve health results, while also improving care quality and treatments (Bresnick 2016). Other significant challenges facing the healthcare industry are the lack of comprehensive and secure population health data, interoperability, and inaccessibility of medical records. Lastly, the security of the generated healthcare data is also an important issue in this industry. For instance, numerous healthcare organizations store critical health data in a centralized IT infrastructure which is vulnerable to hacking, ransomware, and other cyberattacks (Bresnick 2016).

There has recently been a move towards patient-driven interoperability, whereby the exchange and use of healthcare data are patient-driven (Kamble et al. 2018). However, the development of infrastructure, computer programs, and tactical methods that can bring data reliably and securely is still in its infancy stage (Gordon and Catalini 2018). Healthcare data systems that are currently in use have numerous challenges which include data accuracy, integrity, quality, and patients' privacy. Thus, innovative technology that can help resolve these problems is urgently needed. Blockchain technology is emerging as one of the promising solutions to the current challenges facing the healthcare industry (Pirtle and Ehrenfeld 2018).

2 Blockchain Technology in 5.0 Society

2.1 What Is Blockchain Technology?

Blockchain technology was first introduced in 2008 through the Bitcoin cryptocurrency technology endoskeleton by Satoshi Nakamoto. This technology is based on technologies and concepts from 1991 by Stuart Haber and W. Scott Stornetta (1990). Post inception, Blockchain has been applied in numerous industries including healthcare, finance, and business (Kassab et al. 2019). Blockchain technology can be described as a decentralized public digital ledger that records transactions across different computers (Haleem et al. 2021), essentially a living list of linked digital records. Blockchain is verified and linked to the previous "block," thus forming a long chain as shown in Fig. 1. This means that the data involved cannot be retrospectively changed without changing the following blocks (Haleem et al. 2021). In Blockchain, transactions are registered and checked publicly, thus providing a certain level of accountability to the participants (Kumar et al. 2018). Furthermore, Blockchain data is maintained on networks instead of a central



Fig. 1 Basic steps on how transactions are initiated, verified, and executed using Blockchain technology. Adapted from Onik et al. (2019)
database. This is important because it improves stability and prevents the data from being hacked (Moona et al. 2019).

3 Blockchain Structure

A block in Blockchain technology comprises information, a hash of the current block, a hash of the previous block, and a timestamp (Monrat et al. 2019; Shahnaz et al. 2019) as shown in Fig. 2. A hash in Blockchain can be described as an arbitrary number that miners usually alter to receive a certain hash value. The received value is then used to significantly decrease the exertion required to check transactions in a block (Iansiti and Lakhani 2017). Transactions in Blockchain can be described as small units of tasks stored in public blocks. These transactions are verified by the system participants and are, thus, tamperproof. Furthermore, participants in this system are able to replicate, host, and maintain the Blockchain. This enables the Blockchain to be protected from unauthorized access and hackers (Iansiti and Lakhani 2017).

4 Blockchain Categories

There are currently four Blockchain categories, namely private, public, consortium, and hybrid Blockchains (Ray et al. 2020). Private Blockchains are for single enterprise solutions, and they are used for tracking data exchange between



Fig. 2 Components of Blockchain technology. Adapted from Monrat et al. (2019)

individuals or various departments. Furthermore, each participant in private Blockchain needs consent to join in and to be considered as a known member. Conversely, public Blockchain is a decentralized network where each member has access to the Blockchain data and could also participate in the consensus process (Wood 2014). Examples of public Blockchain include Ethereum and Bitcoin (Wood 2014). Consortium Blockchain on the other hand is a permissioned network that is accessible to a certain privileged group. This type of Blockchain is utilized as a synchronized distributed database that tracks data exchange between participants and is both auditable and dependable (Wood 2014). Lastly, hybrid Blockchains are a combination of public and private Blockchain benefits. In this case, the public Blockchain is used to make a completely accessible ledger, while the private Blockchain runs in the background to control changes to the ledger (Wood 2014).

5 Applications of Blockchain in Society 5.0 Healthcare

5.1 Healthcare Record-Keeping Using Blockchain

Blockchain technology can be used as a record-keeping solution in healthcare (Attaran 2022). In particular, Blockchain is a useful mechanism for recording steady and continuous growth of transactions (Cheng et al. 2018). Therefore, this technology can be used to secure personal information, healthcare records, important medical information, as well as DNA data. Blockchain can be used in healthcare to securely store patients' medical records whereby doctors and patients can remotely access those records (Finasko 2017). Furthermore, Blockchain allows for a heterogenous protection system and movability across different phases. Therefore, this enables healthcare providers to make an integrated health records system that is centered around the patients. Thus, patients have full control of their data (Bresnick 2016). This Blockchain-driven integrated health system can help to curb fraud and also allows for reconciliation of records and activities. Furthermore, this integrated health system enables patients to remotely access, manage, and securely share their medical information with healthcare professionals anywhere around the world. It also enables patients to track their medical backgrounds like vaccines, chronic diseases, and allergies (Bresnick 2016). Li et al. proposed a medical data Blockchain-powered preservation system that enables a reliable storage solution to ensure the verifiability and primitiveness of medical data and simultaneously ensure users' privacy (Li et al. 2018). The proposed system also enables users to permanently preserve critical data. Moreover, if tampering of the data is suspected, the originality of the preserved data can be verified (Li et al. 2018). In another study, Zhang and Lin proposed a Blockchain-powered personal health information system which is secure and ensures the privacy of the users (Zhang and Lin 2018). This system is mainly for diagnosis improvements in the e-Health systems (Zhang and Lin 2018). Since Blockchain technology is immutable, it can help to improve the

accuracy of diagnosis. Privacy and security assurance are important issues in the proposed system (Zhang and Lin 2018).

5.2 Healthcare Data Sharing Using Blockchain

Inadequate interoperability of data leads to the complexity of identifying patients (Attaran 2022). It also leads to information blockage whereby healthcare providers constrain the exchange of electronic health information or patient data (Attaran 2022). Blockchain can make it easier to share healthcare data across system users and also end the problem of interoperability in the Society 5.0 healthcare system (Paranjape et al. 2019). Patients are identified using a unique identifier called hash ID in the permissioned healthcare Blockchain (Paranjape et al. 2019). This hash ID ensures the security and privacy of the system user and, thus, puts the patient at the helm of the ecosystem. Furthermore, patients oversee the sharing of the decryption key associated with their own blocks of data with their healthcare provider. Therefore, Blockchain will enable patients and healthcare providers to receive or access accurate and updated comprehensive medical information (Paranjape et al. 2019).

5.3 Healthcare Data Security and Identity Management Using Blockchain

Medical data security and patient privacy are pivotal issues in the healthcare industry (Attaran 2022). Therefore, there is a need for innovative solutions that can effectively resolve these issues. As previously mentioned, healthcare providers often store medical information in old IT infrastructures that are susceptible to hacking (Bresnick 2016). Loss of this medical information often leads to the loss of a lot of money (Bresnick 2016). Thus, healthcare providers have begun investing in novel technologies such as advanced data encryption and artificial intelligence (AI) to prevent cyberattacks on medical data (Duffy 2018). Blockchain technology can provide identity management and health data security solutions to the healthcare industry (Bouras et al. 2020). This technology can protect medical data and curb cyberattacks. Blockchain protects confidential data through encryption, thus rendering it immutable and indecipherable. As previously mentioned, Blockchain uses hash ID which is a unique number that is only known by the user. Thus, healthcare providers can access patient medical information only with clear access to the Blockchain record (Yaeger et al. 2019). Therefore, this puts the patients at the center of the Blockchain network. Interoperation of medical data between healthcare providers increases diagnostic accuracy and probability of successful treatments. It also reduces the healthcare cost, which is beneficial to the patients (Leon 2018). Lastly, Blockchain allows patients to keep their medical data secure while also allowing them to share it with their preferred healthcare providers. Thus, it provides complete ownership of the medical data and guarantees authenticity against potential cyberattacks (Leon 2018).

5.4 Monitoring of Patients Remotely

Blockchain technology plays a key role in storing, sharing, and recovering medical data, remotely (Ben Fekih and Lahami 2020). Thus, Blockchain can potentially be used to monitor patients remotely. To do this, medical data are collected using tools such as mobile devices, the Internet of Things (IoT), as well as body area sensors (Ben Fekih and Lahami 2020). For example, Ichikawa et al. applied Blockchain to their mobile health app which facilitates cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia (CBTi) through smartphones (Ichikawa et al. 2017). CBTi is the most effective method for treating insomnia (Jacobs et al. 2004). However, it is expensive, laborintensive, and it is based in medical facilities (Ichikawa et al. 2017). Due to its high cost and lack of trained clinicians to perform this treatment, many patients do not have access to the CBTi method (Ichikawa et al. 2017). To overcome this problem, Blockchain technology has enabled developers to deliver CBTi through the internet. This is done by collecting patients' medical data from their smartphones. The data then gets stored in the network server where feedback on the stored data can also be transferred back to the patients (Ichikawa et al. 2017). Griggs et al. also created a system that utilizes Blockchain smart contracts feature to analyze patients' medical data collected by Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs) (Griggs et al. 2018). These WBANs are created through different implanted or wearable patient medical devices that measure and record vital indicators, in real time (Griggs et al. 2018). These vital indicators include glucose levels and heart rates. Other medical devices are actuators that can automatically provide treatments, based on measurements recorded by the sensors (Griggs et al. 2018). In 2016, it was reported that approximately 7.1 million patients worldwide use remote monitoring to manage their health (Mack 2017).

5.5 Healthcare Financial Records Management Using Blockchain

Fraud and billing errors are critical issues in healthcare billing (Attaran 2022). Thus, modern innovative technologies are required to solve these problems. Blockchain can solve these issues by decentralizing billing records which can process payments while also preventing fraudulent transactions (Giancaspro 2017). Blockchain has a feature called smart contracts. These smart contracts are self-activating and their terms of agreement between the buyer and the seller are written directly into lines of code. Furthermore, these contracts are distributed across a decentralized network of

Blockchain (Giancaspro 2017). Smart contracts are located in a specific area in the Blockchain network and have a specialized address. These contracts are invoked by depositing cryptocurrency to a unique address. This is followed by a verification process in the consensus protocol (Luu et al. 2016). Importantly, these smart contracts do not require a third party or updated security and traceability (Li et al. 2018). Smart contracts can help eliminate mistrust between the payers and healthcare providers by permitting a more capable healthcare payment model. In addition, penalties and reimbursements can be executed through unique health parameters within the medical record in the Blockchain network. This in turn helps eliminate human errors from applying value-based payments (Yaeger et al. 2019). Smart contracts Blockchain can alert patients' insurance companies about billing and claim settlements. This in turn increases fraud detection effectiveness while also decreasing administrative costs and pricing (Lorenz 2016). Blockchain can help insurance companies improve claims processing by acquiring inputs from various sources without compromising the information (Lorenz 2016). Lastly, Blockchain technology can provide reliable medical insurance data storage solutions. These solutions can ensure the verifiability and primitiveness of the data while also ensuring high credibility to network users (Zhou et al. 2018).

6 Application of Blockchain in Society 5.0 Pharmaceuticals

6.1 Drug Tracing Using Blockchain

Counterfeit drugs are a major issue faced by the healthcare industry (Attaran 2022). In developing countries, over 15% of drugs sold are counterfeit (Singh 2019). It is reported that pharmaceutical companies lose approximately \$200 billion each year due to counterfeit drugs (Singh 2019). The problem of counterfeit drugs can be solved using Blockchain technology through the provision of drug traceability, security, and visibility. Blockchain utilizes features such as point-by-point and authenticity tracking to prevent drug counterfeiting while also ensuring the genuineness of the drugs produced by specific pharmaceuticals. Furthermore, this technology allows users to authenticate the drugs before they purchase them (Haq and Esuka 2018). Besides tracking the drugs from the manufacturer to the patient, Blockchain can also record drug effectivity on the patient after use (Haq and Esuka 2018). This data is subsequently stored for future statistical purposes (Haq and Esuka 2018).

6.2 Clinical Trials Using Blockchain

Clinical trials commonly generate a lot of data and are expensive to conduct as they take years to complete and often involve fraud (Attaran 2022). Therefore, it is

important to develop a transparent solution that can ensure that anyone can review clinical reports. The solution also needs to secure and protect the authenticity of the trial results to prevent mutability (Attaran 2022). Blockchain technology can be used to facilitate clinical trials through the provision of document verification and data integrity (Singh 2019). Lastly, this technology ensures that the generated data does not get modified without the consent access (Singh 2019).

6.3 Public Health Management Using Blockchain

The recent COVID-19 outbreak has shone a light on the importance of population health data (Nash 2015). This data is a critical tool used to promote good health practices and also to treat various health problems (Nash 2015). It is difficult to carry out analytical solutions needed to map COVID-19 behavior and impact without a comprehensive population health data system (Postelnicu 2020). Blockchain can provide instant information regarding potential outbreaks to relevant health institutions (Postelnicu 2020). Blockchain facilitates the collaboration of various healthcare providers involved in healthcare initiatives using distributed ledger technology. This is important because it allows healthcare providers to gain insights into critical healthcare trends (Postelnicu 2020). Overdosing on medical compounds such as opioids is another critical issue facing the healthcare industry (IBM 2018). Blockchain can be used to provide the sole source of comprehensive information regarding the purchase of any controlled substance in all dispensers. The seller can use this information to determine the appropriate number of opioids a dispenser can order, for example. Lastly, this information can also be used to raise awareness about alcohol and drug abuse (IBM 2018).

6.4 Healthcare Supply Chain Using Blockchain

Blockchain technology is used by pharmaceutical companies to track raw materials, components, or compounds in the supply chain (Singh 2019). Pharmaceutical researchers can also use Blockchain to obtain health- and medical-related supply chain data. The authenticity and origin of medical supplies can be identified using Blockchain, thus improving the security of the supply chain (Bocek et al. 2017; Shanley 2017; Vecchione 2017). Lastly, Blockchain technology can be applied across different sectors in the healthcare industry, including vaccine transportation, perishable foods, medical supplies, and clinical trials (Rijmenam 2018).

7 The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals Versus Blockchain Technology

In 2015, the United Nations (UN) Member States created 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (United Nations 2015). These UN SDGs are aimed at ending poverty and other major challenges facing humanity and the planet in alignment with strategies to improve education and health (Hughes et al. 2019). Furthermore, the goals are also aimed at reducing inequality, stimulating economic growth, preserving oceans and forests, while also tackling climate change (Hughes et al. 2019). Thus, if these goals can be systematically addressed, the world will be a better place to live in (de Villiers et al. 2021). Digitalization has been widely accepted as an important part of attaining these UN SDGs. In fact, digital technologies are seen as both enablers and obstacles to sustainability, equality, as well as social inclusion (Zheng and Walsham 2008). For the purposes of this chapter in relation to healthcare in Society 5.0, Table 1 discusses how the UN's "Good health and well-being" SDG (United Nations 2015) can be integrated into Blockchain technology.

The integration of Blockchain into the UN SDGs emphasizes the many benefits that can be achieved by the widespread adoption of this innovative technology (Hughes et al. 2019). However, this requires international partnership and substantial investment to effect security, standards, and governance (Thiruchelvam et al. 2018). Lastly, migration toward Blockchain technology should be spearheaded by developing economies as this will reduce adoption barriers (Thiruchelvam et al. 2018).

8 Blockchain Challenges and Limitations

Different researchers have identified a number of challenges and limitations associated with Blockchain technology. According to Khan et al. (2020), Blockchain technology is error-prone and possesses some architectural issues. Below is a summary of the seven main technical issues associated with Blockchain technology identified by Swan (2015).

UN SDG	Blockchain technology
Good health and well-being	Blockchain technology could facilitate change in relation to sustainability that can impact health, medication, and humanitarian aid supply and distribution. Developing countries still face challenges in relation to the integrity of basic food products and medical supplies. Furthermore, logistical management and enforcement across geographical diversity and linguistic barriers are also major challenges in developing counties. Blockchain technology can help solve these challenges by enabling parties to ship and monitor the lifecycle of health products by using its transactional integrity and immutability features. This will in turn improve the health and well-being of the citizens.

 Table 1
 The "Good health and well-being" UN SDG vs. Blockchain technology. Adapted from Hughes et al. (2019)

8.1 Low Throughput

Throughput is one of the seven issues associated with Blockchain as identified by Swan (2015). For example, a Blockchain-powered Bitcoin network can process 3 to 20 transactions per second (Xu 2016). According to Khan et al. (2020), the maximum number of transactions in the Bitcoin network does not exceed five. Conversely, Cong and He (2019) reported 47,000 transactions per minute in the visa.com network after conducting several network stress tests. Therefore, if e-commerce companies process transactions using Blockchain, then they will fail (Khan et al. 2020). This is due to transactional delays and will subsequently increase network communication costs (Khan et al. 2020). Min et al. (2016) proposed a permission Blockchain network to increase protocol performance. This is achieved by partitioning the main network and computing power into sub-committees, also known as chunks (Min et al. 2016). The purpose of this method was to increase throughput and lower latency while retaining the Bitcoin network security (Min et al. 2016).

8.2 High Latency

High latency is an important issue in the Blockchain-powered Bitcoin network (Khan et al. 2020). Bitcoin network requires 10 minutes to process one transaction and requires even more time to prevent double-spending issues (Khan et al. 2020). Although Bitcoin has security measures in place to reject double-spending, it eventually exacerbates latency further. Eyal et al. (2016) proposed a novel Bitcoin-NG protocol aimed at enhancing throughput while also lowering the latency. The authors claim that latency will only be limited to the propagation delay of the network. They managed to achieve this by decoupling the Bitcoin network into two planes and transaction serialization. Eyal et al. (2016) reported a lower latency in Bitcoin-NG compared to the original Bitcoin. Croman et al. (2016) also proposed a suggestion to increase throughput while lowering the latency. The suggestion is that the block size should not go beyond 4 megabytes (MB), and that the block interval should not be less than 12 seconds. This will increase throughput to about 27 transactions per second (Croman et al. 2016).

8.3 Security and Privacy Issues

Blockchain technology is best known for its innovative security features. Bitcoin cryptocurrency is a notable innovation by Blockchain, and it is said to be more valuable than real gold (Khan et al. 2020). Therefore, this makes Bitcoin a valuable target for hackers. The first security risk in the Bitcoin network is identity theft

(Xu 2016). Identity on this network is a combination of private and public keys. However, private keys determine the overall security in the network. Furthermore, storage of these private keys requires wallets. Various wallets are available in the market, for example, paper, web, desktop, hardware, and mobile wallets (Khan et al. 2020). Paper and hardware wallets are said to be more secure, but they are not enough to prevent private key theft (Khan et al. 2020). Ethereum cryptocurrency is another popular Blockchain implementation (Wood 2014). In the case of Ethereum, private keys are secured by a wallet provider company. The company provides password protection solutions for private keys. Thus, if the keys get stolen, the funds cannot be accessed and stolen (Sohaib et al. 2019). Two-factor security is another solution that can be used to prevent the theft of private keys (Goldfeder et al. 2014). In this instance, private keys can be shared between two devices such as a mobile phone and a computer. A confirmation is forwarded to the owner's mobile phone whenever a transaction is executed from a different phone or computer. A transaction will be signed and ready for successful execution, only after the owner's confirmation from the phone (Goldfeder et al. 2014). Eclipse attacks are other examples identified by Heilman et al. (2015). Eclipse attacks involve the exploitation of numerous IP addresses to monopolize connections through a node of the victim. Hackers can then attack consensus systems, selfish mining, or double-spending (Heilman et al. 2015). This can be prevented by choosing specific outgoing connections or by disabling incoming connections (Heilman et al. 2015).

With regard to privacy, some aspects of Blockchain are pseudonymous. This means that user identity is hidden behind a public key while other aspects of transcriptions are shared publicly (Sweeney 2000). This is particularly problematic with regard to health data. This is because people can be identified using basic demographic information (Sweeney 2000). Therefore, if an individual's identity is matched to their public key, all the transactions associated with that particular key are then known to be associated with an individual (The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union 2016). This problem is not only limited to public Blockchain, but it is also catastrophic to the private Blockchain. This is because an individual may not want all users to gain access to the same data or they may want to revoke data authorization sometime later (The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union 2016). However, both of these options are not possible if their identity has been linked to their public key. Thus, Blockchain innovations that provide selective disclosure of private data will be needed in the healthcare sector (The European Parliament and the Council of the European Parliament and the Council of the European Parliament and the Council of the European Sector (The European Parliament and the Council of the European Parliament and the Council of private data will be needed in the healthcare sector (The European Parliament and the Council of the European Parliament and the Council of

8.4 Fork Issues

In Blockchain, forking happens when alterations need to be made (Khan et al. 2020). Two types of forks exist in Blockchain, and those are hard and soft forks. Nodes adopt any change that occurs within the network. When nodes are upgraded, they continue to validate blocks. Soft fork is when non-upgraded nodes continue to

validate blocks. Conversely, with hard forks non-upgraded nodes do not continue to validate blocks. In hard fork, Blockchain network is permanently separated into two chains. Additionally, non-upgraded nodes remain on the existing Blockchain while upgraded nodes transition toward a novel Blockchain. In contrast, a soft fork remains temporary until the software upgrade is complete. After the upgrade, nodes continue to work on a common chain and the Blockchain does not split (Khan et al. 2020).

8.5 Wasting of Resources and Energy

Proof of work (PoW) is crucial in the Bitcoin network because it provides security against cyberattacks. However, a bundle of computing resources gets wasted, including electricity bills and hardware costs (Khan et al. 2020). Approximately 15 million dollars' worth of energy is wasted every day (Koteska et al. 2017; Yli-Huumo et al. 2016; Reynolds et al. 2017). This energy wastage does not align with UN SDG number seven which is "affordable and clean energy." Thus, innovative solutions need to be implemented to address this issue.

8.6 Usability

According to Swan (2015), the Bitcoin application programming interface (API) is way less user-friendly compared to the current standards of other new user-friendly APIs such as the commonly used REST API. A lack of expertise may impede the incorporation and utilization of Blockchain technology in the healthcare industry (Haleem et al. 2021). Thus, innovative solutions need to be implemented to address these issues.

8.7 Size and Bandwidth Limitation

The constantly increasing size of the Blockchain in the Bitcoin network is an important issue. In February 2016, the Bitcoin database size was recorded at 500000 MB (Yli-Huumo et al. 2016; Koteska et al. 2017). According to Visa, the size will approximately reach 214 PB each year if the network continues to grow (Khan et al. 2020). According to Kim et al. (2017), the size will grow each year due to the addition of new blocks of data to existing data. As the number of nodes increases, data will also increase. Furthermore, this data is broadcast to all nodes in the network, subsequently leading to increased costs. Thus, the easiest way of managing the data size is to erase old blocks that are not currently needed (Kim et al. 2017).

8.8 Human Rights Issues

Blockchain technology is a gift and a threat when it comes to the issue of human rights (Naves et al. 2019). The right to privacy, to remedy, and not to be discriminated against are particularly at risk. To ensure that the positive impact of this technology outweighs the negative, human rights must be considered at an early stage of Blockchain development. The right to privacy is particularly vulnerable in this instance because data cannot be altered or deleted once it has been submitted to a Blockchain platform. This means that errors made with regard to personal data cannot be reversed (Naves et al. 2019). Although the right to privacy needs informed consent from the participants for the usage of their personal information, there is a risk that Blockchain platforms are technically complex, and so participants will find it difficult to understand. Permissioned or regulated permissionless Blockchains operate by certain rules, therefore they can be easily regulated and forced to comply with current legal systems. Thus, legal and technological experts need to come together and devise solutions that are both technically feasible and prioritize human rights (Naves et al. 2019).

9 Conclusion

Despite being in its early developmental stages, Blockchain technology has numerous innovative applications in the healthcare industry. Due to its inherent data encryption and decentralization capabilities, Blockchain can enhance the security of medical records, cost reduction, supply chain, improve access control, improve interoperability, improve data integrity, strengthen trust in clinical trials, and also prevent counterfeit medical supplies (Fig. 3). Other beneficial applications of Blockchain technology include medicines tracing (drug discovery, development, and distribution process), smart contracts, and healthcare insurance mediation.

Blockchain applications in healthcare will continue to broaden in the future. However, Blockchain challenges such as throughput, latency, security, privacy, usability, size, and bandwidth problems still need to be addressed. Various organizations and individual researchers have already proposed innovative solutions to address the challenges and limitations of this technology. Nevertheless, this technology will be of great benefit to Society 5.0 once it is completely adopted into the healthcare system in the near future.

Immutability	Disintermediation	Cost reduction	Decentralization	Security
*Immune to tampering *Preserves authenticity *File intergrity	*Remove third party intervention *Data manipulation rate is reduced	*Drastic reduction in operational costs *Compensation is unavoidable	*Open to all with a higher degree of security *Concurrent data processing *Collaborative version control	*A tamper- proof audit log *Easy identification of malicious data & user *Data access management

Fig. 3 Overview of Blockchain advantages on healthcare. Adapted from Onik et al. (2019)

References

- Attaran M (2022) Blockchain technology in healthcare: challenges and opportunities. Int J Healthcare Manag 15:70–83
- Ben Fekih R, Lahami M (2020) Application of blockchain technology in healthcare: a comprehensive study. In: International Conference on Smart Homes and Health Telematics. Springer, New York, pp 268–276
- Bocek T, Rodrigues BB, Strasser T, Stiller B (2017) Blockchains everywhere-a use-case of blockchains in the pharma supply-chain. In: 2017 IFIP/IEEE symposium on integrated network and service management (IM). IEEE, pp 772–777
- Bouras MA, Lu Q, Zhang F, Wan Y, Zhang T, Ning H (2020) Distributed ledger technology for eHealth identity privacy: state of the art and future perspective. Sensors 20:483
- Bresnick J (2016) Exploring the use of blockchain for EHRs, healthcare big data. HealthITAnalytics, August 30
- Cheng EC, Le Y, Zhou J, Lu Y (2018) Healthcare services across China on implementing an extensible universally unique patient identifier system. Int J Healthcare Manag 11:210–216
- Clim A, Zota RD, Tinica G (2019) Big data in home healthcare: a new frontier in personalized medicine. Medical emergency services and prediction of hypertension risks. Int J Healthcare Manag 12:241–249
- Cong LW, He Z (2019) Blockchain disruption and smart contracts. Rev Financ Stud 32:1754–1797
- Croman K, Decker C, Eyal I, Gencer AE, Juels A, Kosba A, Miller A, Saxena P, Shi E, Gün Sirer E (2016) On scaling decentralized blockchains. In: International conference on financial cryptography and data security. Springer, New York, pp 106–125
- De Villiers C, Kuruppu S, Dissanayake D (2021) A (new) role for business promoting the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals through the internet-of-things and blockchain technology. J Bus Res 131:598–609
- Duffy (2018) The 3 most important security statistics healthcare organizations need to know. [Online]. Barkly. https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/healthcare-information-technology/ the-3-mostimportant-security-statistics-healthcareorganizations-need-to-know.html

- Eyal I, Gencer AE, Sirer EG, Van Renesse R (2016) Bitcoin-NG: a scalable blockchain protocol. In: 13th USENIX symposium on networked systems design and implementation (NSDI'16), pp 45–59
- Finasko (2017) Blockchain analysis applications of technology in different sectors. [Online]. https://finasko.com/t/blockchain-analysis-applications-of-the-technologyin-different-sectors/13 5
- Giancaspro M (2017) Is a 'smart contract'really a smart idea? Insights from a legal perspective. Comput Law Secur Rev 33:825–835
- Goldfeder S, Bonneau J, Kroll J, Felten E (2014). Securing bitcoin wallets via threshold signatures
- Gordon WJ, Catalini C (2018) Blockchain technology for healthcare: facilitating the transition to patient-driven interoperability. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 16:224–230
- Griggs KN, Ossipova O, Kohlios CP, Baccarini AN, Howson EA, Hayajneh T (2018) Healthcare blockchain system using smart contracts for secure automated remote patient monitoring. J Med Syst 42:1–7
- Haber S, Stornetta WS (1990) How to time-stamp a digital document. In: Conference on the theory and application of cryptography. Springer, New York, pp 437–455
- Haleem A, Javaid M, Singh RP, Suman R, Rab S (2021) Blockchain technology applications in healthcare: an overview. Int J Intell Netw 2:130–139
- Haq I, Esuka OM (2018) Blockchain technology in pharmaceutical industry to prevent counterfeit drugs. Int J Comput Appl 180:8–12
- Heilman E, Kendler A, Zohar A, Goldberg S (2015) Eclipse attacks on Bitcoin's peer-to-peer network. In: 24th Usenix Security Symposium (USENIX Security 15), pp 129–144
- Hughes L, Dwivedi YK, Misra SK, Rana NP, Raghavan V, Akella V (2019) Blockchain research, practice and policy: applications, benefits, limitations, emerging research themes and research agenda. Int J Inf Manag 49:114–129
- Iansiti M, Lakhani KR (2017) Do not copy or post. In: HBR, R1701J, Jan-Feb
- IBM (2018) Team medicine: how life sciences can win with blockchain. [Online]. IBM Corporation. https://public.dhe.ibm.com/common/ssi/ecm/03/en/03013903usen/team-medicine.pdf
- Ichikawa D, Kashiyama M, Ueno T (2017) Tamper-resistant mobile health using blockchain technology. JMIR mHealth uHealth 5:e7938
- Jacobs GD, Pace-Schott EF, Stickgold R, Otto MW (2004) Cognitive behavior therapy and pharmacotherapy for insomnia: a randomized controlled trial and direct comparison. Arch Internal Med 164:1888–1896
- Kamble SS, Gunasekaran A, Goswami M, Manda J (2018) A systematic perspective on the applications of big data analytics in healthcare management. Int J Healthcare Manag
- Kassab M, Defranco J, Malas T, Laplante P, Destefanis G, Neto VVG (2019) Exploring research in blockchain for healthcare and a roadmap for the future. IEEE Trans Emerg Top Comput 9: 1835–1852
- Khan FA, Asif M, Ahmad A, Alharbi M, Aljuaid H (2020) Blockchain technology, improvement suggestions, security challenges on smart grid and its application in healthcare for sustainable development. Sustain Cities Soc 55:102018
- Kim NH, Kang SM, Hong CS (2017) Mobile charger billing system using lightweight Blockchain. In: 2017 19th Asia-Pacific Network Operations and Management Symposium (APNOMS). IEEE, pp 374–377
- Koteska, B., Karafiloski, E. & Mishev, A. (2017) Blockchain implementation quality challenges: a literature. In: SQAMIA 2017: 6th workshop of software quality, analysis, monitoring, improvement, and applications, vol 8, p 8
- Kumar T, Ramani V, Ahmad I, Braeken A, Harjula E, Ylianttila M (2018) Blockchain utilization in healthcare: Key requirements and challenges. In: 2018 IEEE 20th International conference on e-health networking, applications and services (Healthcom), 2018. IEEE, pp 1–7
- Leon (2018) How is blockchain revolutionizing healthcare? The Startup. [Online]. The Startup. https://medium.com/swlh/how-isblockchain-revolutionizing-healthcare-d971d351528f

- Li H, Zhu L, Shen M, Gao F, Tao X, Liu S (2018) Blockchain-based data preservation system for medical data. *Journal of medical systems* 42:1–13
- Lorenz (2016) Blockchain in insurance: opportunity or threat? [Online]. https://www.mckinsey. com/~/media/mckinsey/industries/financial%20services/our%20insights/blockchain%20in%20 insurance%20opportunity%20or%20threat/blockchain-in-insurance-opportunity-or-threat.ashx
- Luu L, Chu D-H, Olickel H, Saxena P, Hobor A (2016) Making smart contracts smarter. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM SIGSAC conference on computer and communications security, pp 254–269
- Mack H (2017) Remote patient monitoring market grew by 44 percent in 2016, report says
- Min X, Li Q, Liu L, Cui L (2016) A permissioned blockchain framework for supporting instant transaction and dynamic block size. In: 2016 IEEE Trustcom/BigDataSE/ISPA. IEEE, pp 90–96
- Monrat AA, Schelén O, Andersson K (2019) A survey of blockchain from the perspectives of applications, challenges, and opportunities. IEEE Access 7:117134–117151
- Moona G, Jewariya M, Sharma R (2019) Relevance of dimensional metrology in manufacturing industries. MAPAN 34:97–104
- Nash DB (2015) Trending in 2015: population health. J Healthc Manag 60:246-248
- Naves J, Audia B, Busstra M, Hartog KL, Yamamoto Y, Rikken O, Van Heukelom-Verhage S (2019) Legal aspects of blockchain. Innov Technol Gov Glob 12:88–93
- Onik MMH, Aich S, Yang J, Kim C-S, Kim H-C (2019) Blockchain in healthcare: challenges and solutions. In: Big data analytics for intelligent healthcare management. Elsevier
- Paranjape K, Parker M, Houlding D, Car J (2019) Implementation considerations for blockchain in healthcare institutions. In: Blockchain in healthcare today. Elsevier
- Pirtle C, Ehrenfeld J (2018) Blockchain for healthcare: the next generation of medical records? Springer
- Postelnicu (2020) How the world of health and tech is looking at the coronavirus outbreak. [Online]. Mobihealthnews. https://www.mobihealthnews.com/news/europe/how-world-health-and-techlookingcoronavirus-outbreak
- Ray PP, Dash D, Salah K, Kumar N (2020) Blockchain for IoT-based healthcare: background, consensus, platforms, and use cases. IEEE Syst J 15:85–94
- Reynolds J, Rezgui Y, Hippolyte J-L (2017) Upscaling energy control from building to districts: current limitations and future perspectives. Sustain Cities Soc 35:816–829
- Rijmenam (2018) Why blockchain is quickly becoming the gold standard for supply chain. [Online]. https://medium.com/dataseries/why-blockchain-is-quickly-becomingthe-gold-stan dard-for-supply-chains-ec296bad305
- Shahnaz A, Qamar U, Khalid A (2019) Using blockchain for electronic health records. IEEE Access 7:147782–147795
- Shanley A (2017) Could Blockchain improve pharmaceutical supply chain security. Pharm Technol 1:s34–s39
- Singh (2019) Blockchain for healthcare: use cases and applications. [Online]. 101 Blockchains. https://101blockchains.com/blockchain-for-healthcare/
- Sohaib O, Naderpour M, Hussain W, Martinez L (2019) Cloud computing model selection for e-commerce enterprises using a new 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic decision-making method. Comput Ind Eng 132:47–58
- Swan M (2015) Blockchain: Blueprint for a new economy. O'Reilly Media
- Sweeney L (2000) Simple demographics often identify people uniquely. Health (San Francisco) 671:1–34
- The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (2016) Regulation on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (Data Protection Directive). Off J Eur Union 119:1–88
- Thiruchelvam V, Mughisha AS, Shahpasand M, Bamiah M (2018) Blockchain-based technology in the coffee supply chain trade: case of Burundi coffee. J Telecommun Electron Comput Eng 10: 121–125

United Nations (2015) Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, New York

Vecchione A (2017) Blockchain tech could track pharmacy supply chain. Drug Topics 161:21

- Wood G (2014) Ethereum: a secure decentralised generalised transaction ledger. Ethereum Project Yellow Paper 151:1–32
- Xu JJ (2016) Are blockchains immune to all malicious attacks? Financ Innov 2:1-9
- Yaeger K, Martini M, Rasouli J, Costa A (2019) Emerging blockchain technology solutions for modern healthcare infrastructure. J Sci Innov Med 2
- Yli-Huumo J, Ko D, Choi S, Park S, Smolander K (2016) Where is current research on blockchain technology?—A systematic review. PLoS One 11:e0163477
- Zhang A, Lin X (2018) Towards secure and privacy-preserving data sharing in e-health systems via consortium blockchain. J Med Syst 42:1–18
- Zheng Y, Walsham G (2008) Inequality of what? Social exclusion in the e-society as capability deprivation. Inf Technol People 21:222–243
- Zhou L, Wang L, Sun Y (2018) Mistore: a blockchain-based medical insurance storage system. J Med Syst 42:1–17

Society 5.0 Healthcare: Ethics, Legal Rights, Human Rights, Safety and Security



Kim R. M. Blenman, Rodney Hull, Charles Maimela, Thulo Molefi, Richard Khanyile, and Zodwa Dlamini

Abstract The smart digital technologies required to make Society 5.0 and healthcare possible in our current society are new and in many cases operate in ethical gray areas as they can be misused or used incorrectly, violating human rights and values in many countries and especially in those with low resources. Some of the issues include violation of privacy, ignoring patient autonomy, bias, targeting vulnerable groups of people, cost, availability, accuracy, transparency, trust, employment, and safety-related issues. The gathering of patient data is one of the major concerns surrounding these technologies. This is due to the invasion of privacy associated with the collection of this data and the ability of this data to be used without the individual's permission in some countries. The gathering of privacy. The

K. R. M. Blenman (🖂)

R. Hull · Z. Dlamini

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: rodney.hull@up.ac.za; zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za

C. Maimela Faculty of Law, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: charles.maimela@up.ac.za

T. Molefi · R. Khanyile

Department of Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA e-mail: kim.blenman@yale.edu

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: thulo.molefi@up.ac.za; richard.khanyile@up.ac.za

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_12

ease of analysis with which artificial intelligence (AI) can identify patterns within patient data may lead to overdiagnosis and overtreatment. There are fears that as these technologies advance there may be a loss of autonomy due to a lack of transparency of exactly how a specific AI works, what it is actually producing, how that product is confirmed, and how that product is being interpreted to make a healthcare decision. As such regulations are currently being put in place in many countries to ensure that a human being plays a vital role in the decision-making process. Biased data and outdated datasets could lead to AI adopting age, gender, ancestry/ethnicity, cultural, socioeconomic, or other biases against specific groups, usually those who were historically disadvantaged or suppressed. The diverse means by which this information is gathered is also a cause for concern. Many of the wearable, mobile devices currently offered are not pure medical devices but are entertainment or fashion devices with the built-in ability to record an individual's biometrics and vital signs. As such, the reliability of these devices is unclear. Even pure medical devices require maintenance, calibration, and upgrades, all of which could influence the quality of data collection. Despite these challenges, the promise held by these technologies for advancing healthcare is too great to ignore, and as such there are a variety of solutions to these problems which are being put in place or have been proposed. These technologies require the creation of new laws and a reassessment of legal rights surrounding privacy and liability and the creation of legal frameworks to ensure the safety of these technologies as well as reexamining the laws surrounding consent and intellectual property. This chapter, although not intended to be exhaustive, will discuss some problems and ethical issues surrounding these new technologies and some potential solutions. We hope that this will start the continued discussion on how to incorporate these new technologies legally, ethically, safely, and securely in keeping with the highest standards of human rights.

Keywords Privacy · Transparency · Liability · Bias · Data collection · Accuracy

1 Introduction

New technologies are the cornerstone of the new smart society proposed by Society 5.0. The adoption of these new technologies holds much promise in optimizing and improving healthcare, leading to a healthier population. However, many challenges, both ethical and practical, face the adoption and application of these new technologies. The ethical concerns, in particular, are wide and varied and are present in clinical, research, public health, and personalized medicine applications. These new technologies present many ethical problems around data usage, data access, trust in the new technologies, the technologies negatively influencing patient–doctor communication, the efficiency of health services delivered by these technologies, safety, and liability issues. Apart from these issues, there is a problem surrounding the cost of these new technologies and whether poorer countries will have access to or be able to implement these technologies safely and ethically.

A PubMed (United States National Institute of Health National Library of Medicine) search revealed that there are very limited publications on ethics and the promising technologies for the Society 5.0-based healthcare system in the MEDLINE database of references from life science and biomedical topics. Most publications are concerned with ethics and artificial intelligence, big data, bioinformatics, and the digitization of healthcare (Fig. 1a). Apart from peaks in papers, especially those concerning ethics and bioinformatics, the trend is a modest increasing number of papers that have remained flat from 2017 to 2022. It is hoped that these papers will drastically increase especially as these topics become more important as a concerted effort is made to move to a Society 5.0-based healthcare system. The newer technologies represented in Fig. 1b have significantly fewer publications. It is apparent that before Society 5.0 can truly be implemented, ethical and other human-centric (e.g., legal rights, human rights, safety, and security) questions surrounding the use of the technologies required for its implementation need to be addressed.

2 Human Values and Ethics

All new medical technologies or devices must be built around a core of human values. Alongside this, there must be accountability for the use of these technologies. The aim of Society 5.0 and healthcare in this society is human-centered. As such, the implementation of these new technologies requires not only input from medical science but also from the social sciences and humanities as well as from lawmakers and economists just to name a few (Dignum 2019). When designing a device or software to be used in healthcare 5.0 the following tenets should be remembered:

- Ethics in design—Involves considering various ethical issues during the design of the device or software. For example, this includes avoiding age, gender, ancestry/ ethnicity, cultural, socioeconomic, or other bias in the implementation of the technology.
- 2. Ethics in application—This highlights the ethical behavior of those individuals involved in the design and use of these tools and devices. For artificial intelligence (AI), this would also cover the curation of the AI learning and giving it data sets representative of the population it will be working with.
- 3. Ethics for diverse stakeholders—This involves making sure that these tools and devices are regulated by rules and laws that protect all stakeholders. This will also ensure that the technology can be effectively and safely applied to healthcare systems (Dignum 2019).

One of the most important factors in the development of Society 5.0 is that this smart society will aid in the world achieving the sustainable development goals (SDGs) put forth by the United Nations (UN). The official purpose of the UN is to "maintain international peace and security, develop friendly relations among nations, achieve international cooperation, and be a center for harmonizing the



Fig. 1 Papers with ethics and various digital technologies in their titles or abstracts from PubMed. (a) The results with the highest number of papers included ethics and artificial intelligence, ethics and big data, ethics and bioinformatics, and ethics and the digitization of healthcare. (b) The search terms with a smaller number of papers included ethics and cyber-physical systems, ethics and the Internet of Things, ethics and blockchain, ethics and digital twins, and ethics and remote sensing

actions of nations." Since it was founded in 1945 it has been involved in the worldwide promotion and protection of health (Brown et al. 2006). However, the new digital technologies required for this smart society have also led the UN to develop ethical frameworks and regulations regarding the use of these new technologies. In terms of artificial intelligence, one of the most important and prevalent of these new technologies, the United Nations spent two years preparing a report outlining the ethical use of AI. The purpose of this report was to help ensure that the report and the six principles it covers can help serve as a foundation for the ethical implementation of this technology. The six principles outlined in the report are:

Protecting autonomy—The first UN guideline states that the final say on all health decisions should be made by a human being. Ideally, that human being should be the patient in consultation with their doctor or health professional. Doctors must be able to, if they feel it is necessary, reject the conclusion and decision of an AI system. Additionally, patient data should be protected and not be accessed without patient permission (WHO Guidance 2021).

Promoting human safety and well-being—AI and any health-related technology should be constantly monitored to make sure they are working correctly (WHO Guidance 2021).

Ensuring transparency—Information regarding the design of AI systems must be freely available and their operation must be transparent enough so that they avoid becoming black boxes (WHO Guidance 2021).

Fostering accountability—There must be a mechanism to hold someone accountable if a technology leads to patient harm, through incorrect use, AI making a mistake through errors in learning (poor data or algorithm development), or a failure in the technology itself. This means there must be a method for determining who is at fault and how they should be penalized (WHO Guidance 2021).

Ensuring equity—Making AI and other medical technologies easily accessible to the whole world (low-, middle-, and high-resource countries). This can be achieved by making sure it is available in multiple languages and is trained using diverse sets of data to avoid overfitting. Finally, it must be ensured that no ancestry/ ethnicity or other (age, gender, cultural, socioeconomic, etc.,) biases are present in any data analysis or collection technologies (WHO Guidance 2021).

Promoting tools that are responsive and sustainable—The maintenance and updating of devices and software should not be so expensive or difficult that it cannot be done in healthcare systems with limited resources. There must be mechanisms in place to remove ineffective devices or software, and regular updates must be available (WHO Guidance 2021) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Principles guiding the ethical application of digital technologies and their relationship with the UN guidelines on AI. The general guidelines when it comes to creating an ethical piece of technology for healthcare include maintaining ethical considerations during the application and design of the technology, as well as ensuring that it benefits or does no harm to any of the stakeholders

3 Specific Ethical Problems Surrounding Healthcare Technologies in Healthcare 5.0

3.1 Sociodemographic Biases and Protecting Vulnerable Populations

Ethical issues around sociodemographic biases include concerns over discrimination based on ethnicity, age, gender, socioeconomic status, disabilities, mental health, and even culture. Artificial intelligence systems can either consciously or unconsciously reflect the biases of those who created it or those that taught it leading it to discriminate against vulnerable groups or individuals. For instance, in cultural bias there may be issues such as the technologies or the implementation of the technologies ignoring cultural differences and applying a one solution fits all approach. An example of this is facial recognition software, which is less able to consistently recognize African faces compared to European faces, most likely because it was trained on Asian and European faces. This can also serve as an example of problems with data or training data quality (Kaur et al. 2020). Two types of bias exist, data bias and societal bias. Data bias occurs when a dataset is used in machine learning that is biased toward certain individuals. This can happen easily with the use of artificial intelligence and machine learning (ML) by using inappropriate or incomplete datasets as training datasets. The choice of the dataset must take ethical issues into consideration. It must also evaluate human dignity. Older datasets may include terms or classifications now known to be meaningless or even immoral. such as data with racist or sexist classifications or terms. This becomes especially dangerous if this is applied to new data collected in a biased way. This threat becomes even greater if it is the intention of the user to purposefully stigmatize a group of individuals based on certain traits and use the AI to justify their actions or plan/implement these actions (Ghassemi and Mohamed 2022; Chang and Obermeyer 2020). Societal bias involves societal norms leading to us thinking in very set ways ignoring individuals that fall outside of these societal norms. This will result in any AI trained with data edited by a data scientist with these societal biases to also try and force decisions regarding these vulnerable individuals to conform to societal norms. These societal biases include gender, sexuality, and disabilities (Mozafari et al. 2022). Biases can also occur if, for instance, a device or AI is designed and developed in a resource-rich setting and then used in a low-resource setting. These two settings will differ in the treatments that can be safely and fairly performed (Price et al. 2019).

One of the greatest fears when it comes to AI targeting groups due to demographics, racial, ancestry/ethnicity, or genetic differences is the targeting of a specific group for special treatment, which in the most extreme case could result in genocide. This is easy to see with respect to the application of AI to autonomous weapon systems. This may result in a situation such as that imagined in fictional works such as the motion picture The Terminator (Poghosyan 2020). It is not difficult to see how medical information can be used by AI, big data, digital twinning, and cloud computing to instigate, plan, or justify genocide, segregation, or stigmatization based on historical examples of the use of medical science in these situations. The genocide of the Herero and Nama people which took place in Namibia in the early twentieth century involved medical sterilization, and medical science was used to justify these actions by "confirming" the superiority of certain populations over others (Semmens 2019). Another example is that of the Tuskegee syphilis studies which took place from 1932 to 1972. During these studies, African Americans were purposefully left untreated in order to observe the progress of the disease (Brandt 1978). Yet, another example is the Havasupai Native American Tribe (study 1989, Arizona, USA) in which their genetic material was taken and not used for the purpose that it was originally intended but was also used for other purposes without the patient's consent (Sterling 2011). The ability of AI to learn from and adopt racist attitudes from those individuals it interacts with has been shown to occult easily and without intention. In 2016 Microsoft launched an AI called Tay. Tay was designed to be an AI chatbot that would interact with individuals on social media to develop conversational understanding by learning from other individuals on social media. Over a period of just 24 hours, the AI developed racist and sexist attitudes and began using racist and sexist language, resulting in the AI being shut down (Schwartz 2019).

The Singapore framework group released a framework detailing how AI should be used to ensure that it conforms to ethical standards and has a means of ensuring responsibility. One of the central tenets of this framework is that AI should be able to conform to the different societal contexts of the communities the AI intends to serve. In order to do this, the AI must be designed to recognize different societal norms and values (Makridakis 2017).

3.2 Protection of the Individual

3.2.1 Employment and Job Market

Major concerns of healthcare 5.0 are how the adoption of new technologies will affect jobs related to healthcare as well as budget and resource allocations in healthcare institutions. For instance, it is important to note that the introduction of AI into the workplace will result in changes in the types and needs for certain jobs due to it causing a shift in the demand for required skills. It will also affect the size of the workforce as AI, and many of the other smart technologies, will allow an increase in efficiency and many jobs will be able to be done, debatably, with less staff. Currently, AI is having a greater effect on middle-skilled jobs, while robotics is affecting lower-skilled jobs (Kristin 2017). Job losses in certain sectors may be offset as new jobs are created, especially around the new digital technologies which will be introduced and become more common in the smart Society 5.0 (Cooke and Zubcsek 2017). However, as a society, we must be intentional in ensuring the diverse representation of individuals who will be in these new fields.

3.2.2 Informed Consent

There is an active debate globally concerning whether a patient is required to give informed consent for their data to be used by these smart technologies or even collected and stored in the first place. It is possible that the collection of information will become fully automatic, instantaneous, and ubiquitous just like the constant collection of location-tracking information from individuals who have smartphones. This could happen to the extent that it will be impossible for anyone to avoid. However, the storage and use of this data is another question. This is especially a concern if the patient does not want certain types of information to be used or accessed (Win 2005). If these technologies become the standard for patient care, the clinical care team must not only request the use of these digital technologies but also educate the patient on what these technologies will do, how they will help, and the risks involved. In addition, if the technology such as AI is operating in a way the clinicial care team does not fully understand, that is, if the AI is a black box, must the clinicians disclose that they do not fully understand how the diagnosis was reached or why the treatment regime decided on was chosen based on the AI assessment (Win 2005)? If the patient has a right to have the treatment explained to them and the clinical care team cannot do so, it could be said that the patient's rights are being violated if the technology and treatment were used without the patient's consent (Win 2005).

3.2.3 Safety

The IBM Watson AI for Oncology treatment is meant to select the best treatment for patients based on their medical records. However, it became apparent that some of its recommendations were unsafe and incorrect (Strickland 2019; Brown 2018). These errors were due to the AI being trained using a small number of hypothetical cases rather than actual patient data (Strickland 2019). This highlights the concerns regarding the safety and effectiveness of AI. The safety of AI's recommendations, diagnoses, and prognoses can only be ensured by using valid datasets for training as well as having a human user or technician understand how the AI works. This is true of any of the digital technologies used in this new era of smart healthcare.

3.3 Excess Data Collection, Data Quality, and Over- and Under-Diagnosis

The danger of hyper-collection of data occurs when data not useful to patient care or relevant in healthcare is collected and stored (Institute of Medicine (US) The National Roundtable on Health Care Quality 2010). This excess data could be used for purposes, nefarious or benign, without the consent of the patient. This excess data can, for example, be sold to or acquired by private companies for marketing purposes. An example is the contact-tracing application developed by the Singapore government to help in the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic, which was found to be collecting data that could be used in criminal investigations (Wong et al. 2022). This repurposing of healthcare data is known as "function creep," and is greatly helped and facilitated through the collection of excess data. The inclusion and analysis of unnecessary data in any analysis performed by an AI may result in incorrect or false predictions due to data that is unrelated to the task at



Fig. 3 The processes of deductive disclosure and sampling bias. A collection of data describing individuals' data on their age, education level, and whether they have a genetic polymorphism can be used to identify an individual or a group of individuals. For instance, even if the data has been anonymized, by looking at all three parameters (dimensions) we can deduce that if the data shows the individual is between 36 and 50, has a postgraduate level of education, and does not have the polymorphism, this is individual A. This figure also demonstrates sampling bias. These samples were most likely collected at a university campus as most of the subjects have a tertiary level of education, which is not true of the general population

hand, clouding the decision-making process of the AI by overcomplicating the process (Bagaria et al. 2020). The problems caused by using poor-quality data can clearly be seen in the failure of many of the applications designed to help during the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, the AI COVID-19 detection software that used chest scans to make their diagnosis. This data was poor in quality and resulted in a very low success rate in the prediction of a positive COVID-19 infection (Mohamadou et al. 2020).

Historically, health research has been prone to the collection of biased data and the stigmatization of certain groups of people. Many of the datasets used to teach AI can be biased since they predominantly consist of data from individuals who according to sociopolitical race are considered white men of European descent (Mahmood et al. 2014). This data can also be influenced by societal biases (Mahmood et al. 2014). An AI using this data or a digital twin being created using this data may result in patients of different ethnicities and socioeconomic statuses being over- or under-treated (Vyas et al. 2020). Figure 3 gives a simple example of sampling bias. The samples collected here show a larger percentage of individuals having higher education qualifications than is true of the general population. A simple explanation is that these samples were collected from a university with staff and students having higher education levels than most of the population.

Overdiagnosis is the process whereby actions are carried out unnecessarily due to the presence of indicators that a problem may arise. An example of this is the presence of a genetic marker which may predispose an individual to a disease, which requires surveillance but no further actions or treatment. It can also apply if a condition that can cause no harm or symptoms is diagnosed and treated rather than being merely noted and observed (Kale and Korenstein 2018; Mandl and Manrai 2019; Bunnik et al. 2015; Walker and Rogers 2017). The ease of testing, including self-testing, diagnosis, and remote diagnosis, has led to a period of new digital screening tests which are being developed faster than they can be tested for their accuracy and effectiveness (Capurro et al. 2022). This may lead to many false diagnoses as well as under- and overdiagnosis.

3.4 Privacy and Protection of Information

As information technologies advance, the collection and availability of data grows. This raises valid concerns about who can access this data and what it can be used for (Mai 2016). One of the risks surrounding data collection and storage arises from the fact that disclosed information could potentially be used to identify an individual (Bader et al. 2016). Associated with this are risks surrounding the dimensionality of data. Even if data is anonymized, it is possible to re-identify an individual through association with multidimensional data. That is, with only one parameter most individuals cannot be eliminated, but with each additional parameter the number of individuals in each dataset diminishes until an identification can be assigned (Fig. 3). This process is known as deductive disclosure (Rothstein 2010). Some of the new technologies that will be used to drive healthcare in Society 5.0 pose a threat to privacy by their very nature. This includes remote sensor technology, the Internet of Things, GPS in smartphones, social media, and large omics databases (Bader et al. 2016). Accidental disclosures of health-related data are more likely as the volume of data increases (Lundberg and Lee 2016). This may happen due to malicious data hacking or through inadvertent data mismanagement (Myers et al. 2008).

With the rampant use of technologies such as social media, the IoT, cloud computing, and AI using big data, it has been suggested that what people consider a normal level of privacy will change (Xafis 2015). Even before the current big data era, it became obvious that privacy can no longer be considered as the ownership of data since the generation of much of this data involves many people. Even in clinical tests, the results are generated by lab workers and are known by the clinical care team who commissioned the tests. Even if the results should not be publicly disclosed, the information is still known by multiple people and could be obtained from one of these individuals in some countries (Mai 2016).

Currently, data relating to an individual's health is protected by the law in most nations. Since healthcare technologies in Society 5.0 revolve around the collection of large amounts of data from many sources, the number of people involved in the collection of this data is vast and that number grows when the people involved in data curation are taken into account. The intensive collection of data from individuals may itself pose an ethical risk as it can infringe on the rights of an individual who may not want their data collected but are not given the choice due to the automated collection of data that occurs with the IoT. It may also increase the risk of an individual's data being stolen through data mining inference attacks (Krumm 2007).

Another question is that of the ownership of data. The practice of selling patient data is on the rise with both companies and governments having sold patient data for profit (Lords 2018). The trading of data by public companies for commercial, insurance, or marketing purposes is known as data brokerage. The data obtained from a variety of sources that makes smart healthcare possible would also be valuable to companies. This healthcare data may be used to sell specific products based on an individual's health or be used to alter the risk-based contributions for medical or life insurance as well as to pharmaceutical companies (Prainsack 2017; Gerke et al. 2019). This function creep is another violation of data privacy, and the data sold or exchanged through data brokerage violates the doctor-patient relationship. This is further complicated by the excess collection of data discussed in Sect. 3.4. where unrelated data is gathered under the guise of health data in some countries. Patients need to be protected from such practices. Another issue which must be resolved is whether a patient has the right to change or remove information. This data is meant to reflect the patient and, therefore, there must be a good reason to edit it. The removal of data would decrease the ability of any smart technology such as AI or digital twinning to recommend treatments or diagnose illness, but are there circumstances where it would be within the patients' right to remove data? Also many technologies analyze data in real time, so if a patient wants this data deleted then it is likely that the results of the analysis would also need to be deleted (Gerke et al. 2019).

Currently, health data is protected by law and legally informed consent is required from the patient to share this information. However, the networking of devices and databases in the smart society could potentially render this legal protection obsolete. The maintenance and use of data also pose a problem since software and hardware are frequently upgraded. This could potentially result in digital obsolescence where data may not be transferrable to newer systems if standard backward compatibility approaches are not included in the technology designs. This may result in the loss of data. Another problem is data interoperability. This becomes a problem if data is collected by devices from different manufacturers using different analysis or operating software. This may lead to data being unable to be used or being entered into the analysis or AI software incorrectly (Sandborn and Packaging Technologies 2007).

4 Inherent Flaws in the New Technologies

The implementation of these advanced technologies that are required to implement smart healthcare in Society 5.0 may be too expensive for many low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). The costs associated with these technologies are varied. In terms of gathering data, the internet in many LMICs may not be fast enough to

support many of the remote technologies. Additionally, the construction of smart sensors is complicated by the need for sensors, actuators, and connectivity functions. This complexity leads to increased costs.

The information technologies used to gather information that is to be used to drive digital healthcare and smart individual-centered healthcare have demonstrated that they can have problems with accuracy. Even if data is accurately captured, stored, and curated, this may change over time as stored data is sensitive to changes or upgrades in software and hardware. Currently, the most popular operating systems are Android, Windows, and iOS. The transfer of data between these operating systems as well as the accessibility of data using browsers and different software is not always directly possible without conversion software. Even with conversion software some data may be lost. This problem is known as data transferability. This is especially true when it comes to the software on different smart devices not being directly transferable to the OS or software of the storage system or analysis software. The end result of this is unusable or corrupted data (Sandborn and Packaging Technologies 2007). For remote sensors, such as worn devices or smart devices that connect through the IoT, to be accurate, these devices need to be calibrated. Generally, this calibration cannot be done remotely and requires the input from an external processor. This may be even more problematic in LMICs where there may be a lack of technicians, or the technician or calibrating device may only be available in urban centers (Majumder et al. 2017). There are questions surrounding the accuracy of many of the devices that are used to gather information for the digitization of healthcare. This is especially true of the remote sensors or devices that record data and submit it via the IoT. These include smartphones, wearable devices, appliances, motor vehicles, and even social media and internet search histories. For example, the Apple Watch can collect data on an individual's heart rate and energy expenditure. However, when assessing the use of the Apple Watch for monitoring the heart rate and energy expenditure of a cardiac patient, it was found that the device overestimated energy expenditure (Falter et al. 2019).

Technologies such as AI (including ML) and many of the remote data-gathering procedures create a sense of mistrust due to a lack of transparency. This is most prevalent in regard to AI. This is because it is not always clear how the AI has come to its final decision. This is especially true of ML or deep learning algorithms as they can adapt and change in ways that the original creator did not foresee or intend. This is known as the black box problem (Poon and Sung 2021). This lack of transparency can lead to mistrust and doubts about the result given by the AI (Sorell et al. 2022). This has resulted in reluctance in the adoption of these technologies for diagnosis and treatment recommendations in some countries. There is also a lower tolerance for machine errors than there is for human errors, which is enhanced when a user is unable to understand what could have led to the technology failing.

5 Applications to Medical Research

The incorporation of these technologies into medical research is a point of concern as the reliability and accuracy of the results generated through these technologies are uncertain. One of the problems the use of these technologies can lead to is overfitting. In this case, the data used by an AI tool or recorded by a remote sensor is specific to a group of individuals and not the population as a whole. The use of this data to formulate a treatment or construct the digital twin of a population will lead to errors when used on patients outside of the small group used to obtain the data. An example of this is research data concerning heart attacks, which is mainly obtained from men. Using this data to create models for the prediction and prognosis of heart attacks will not be accurate when applied to women (Sallstrom et al. 2019). The collection and maintenance of research data are also complicated by the large amounts of data that are now possible to collect using technologies such as remote sensing, the IoT, cloud computing, and AI tools. As more data is collected and analyzed it becomes far more likely that disclosure of study participants' private information will occur. In another example of deductive disclosure, genome-wide association studies that report allele frequencies could be used to identify individuals in that study if someone had access to this person's genotype (Braun et al. 2009).

6 Legal Rights and Issues

6.1 Regulation

In the United States, some laws have been recently put in place that include the regulation of these new digital technologies. The 21st Century Cures Act includes mechanisms that support the adoption of electronic health records, nationwide interoperability, and information blocking. In response, the FDA has a created a Digital Health Center of Excellence which includes documents and guidance on digital health content, digital health policy, digital health reports, medical device interoperability, augmented reality and virtual reality in medical devices, software as a medical device (SaMD), device software functions including mobile medical application, wireless medical devices, and the digital health software precertification pilot program (https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/digital-health-center-excel lence). It is anticipated that the regulations and guidance will grow as more technologies are created specifically for the diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease in the new era of Society 5.0 healthcare.

In other countries, discussions are still ongoing as to the regulatory fate of this technology. Global bodies such as the United Nations have deliberated on minimal requirements in their guidelines for the ethical use of AI. In LMICs, such as Africa, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") reported that 700 AI policy initiatives have been implemented by 60 countries since 2017,

and 42 countries adopted the OECD's intergovernmental AI policy guidelines. However, only five African countries contribute to the OECD's 60-country membership (ALT Advisory 2022). The status of regulation of AI, in particular, is given in Table 1, where it can be seen just how much work needs to be done on the continent.

In 2020, Cyril Ramaphosa, the president of South Africa, called for a unified regional approach to AI involving the creation of a blueprint for African nations on which to base the development of their own AI policies. South Africa, in collaboration with other African nations as well as Smart Africa Alliance and multidisciplinary stakeholders, is attempting to create an Artificial Intelligence Blueprint aimed at outlining opportunities and challenges as well as to make recommendations on policy. The African Union (AU) has established an AU working in 2019. The mandate of the Working Group is threefold. Firstly, to facilitate the creation of an Africa-wide stance on AI. Secondly, to develop an Africa-wide capacity-building framework. Finally it aims to create a think tank to carry out these functions in order to realise both the AU's Agenda 2063 and the UN SDGs (ALT Advisory 2022).

6.2 Data Privacy and Protection

Various laws in various countries exist to protect an individual's privacy. However, these may not be sufficient in the big data era with smart healthcare being driven by technologies that are reliant on big data. In the United States of America, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) protects privacy, but it only covers specific health information and only relates to specific "covered entities" which includes clinical organizations, health-related companies, and their associates (Cohen and Mello 2018). In a smart healthcare system, information is going to be gathered by many organizations and systems not covered by this act or is data collected by the individual through wearable devices (Price and Cohen 2019). This act does not protect de-identified health information, which is allowed to be shared and used freely. However, we have already discussed the challenges with de-identified data in many dimensions (Fig. 3). In LMICs like Africa, the Malabo Convention is a set of laws adopted by the AU. The stated aim of this convention is that it is "aimed at strengthening fundamental rights and public freedoms, particularly the protection of physical data, and punish any violation of privacy without prejudice to the principle of the free flow of information." Some of the laws and regulations that the convention contains include the necessity for each state to establish a national data protection authority ("DPA") and limited provisions for the regulation of AI. These limited regulations apply to the automated processing of personal information and for people not to be subject to decisions based solely on the automated processing of data (ALT Advisory 2022).

Cybersecurity of the IoT, where the smart healthcare system of Society 5.0 will operate, is a concern as the IoT is vulnerable to deliberate attacks, both cyber and

Country	Data protection legislation addresses automated decision-making	Has a national AI strategy	Has draft policy on AI	Expert body on AI	National Development Plan priority
Algeria	8				
Angola					
Benin					
Botswana					
Burkina Faso					
B Burundi					
Cabo Verde					
Cameroon					
Central African Republic					
Chad					
Comoros					
Congo (Rep. of)					
Cote d'Ivoire					
Democratic Republic of Congo					
Djibouti					
Egypt					
Equatorial Guinea					
Eritrea					
Eswatini					
Ethiopia					
Gabon					
The Gambia					
Ghana					
Guinea					
Guinea-Bissau					
Kenya					
Lesotho					
Liberia					
Libya					
Madagascar					
Malawi					

 Table 1
 The state of AI regulation on the African continent (ALT Advisory 2022)

(continued)

MaliImage: state				
MauritaniaImage: sector of the se	Mali			
MauritiusImage: state s	Mauritania			
MoroccoImage: Second Secon	Mauritius			
MozambiqueImage: Second Se	Morocco			
NamibiaImage: Constraint of the second s	Mozambique			
NigerImage: Second	Namibia			
NigeriaImage: Selection of the s	Niger			
RwandaImage: state in the state	Nigeria			
Sao Tome & PrincipeImage: Source of the second	Rwanda			
SenegalImage: senegalImage: senegalSeychellesImage: senegalImage: senegalSierra LeoneImage: senegalImage: senegalSomaliaImage: senegalImage: senegalSouth AfricaImage: senegalImage: senegalSouth SudanImage: senegalImage: senegalSudanImage: senegalImage: senegalSudanImage: senegalImage: senegalSudanImage: senegalImage: senegalTanzaniaImage: senegalImage: senegalTogolese RepublicImage: senegalImage: senegalTunisiaImage: senegalImage: senegalUgandaImage: senegalImage: senegalZambiaImage: senegalImage: senegalZimbabweImage: senegalImage: senegal	Sao Tome & Principe			
SeychellesImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSierra LeoneImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSomaliaImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSouth AfricaImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSudanImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSudanImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesTanzaniaImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesTogolese RepublicImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesUgandaImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesSahrawi Arab RepublicImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesZambiaImage: SeychellesImage: SeychellesZimbabweImage: SeychellesImage: Seychelles	Senegal			
Sierra LeoneImage: Constraint of the second of	Seychelles			
SomaliaImage: SomaliaImage: SomaliaSouth AfricaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanSudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanTanzaniaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanTogolese RepublicImage: South SudanImage: South SudanTunisiaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanUgandaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanSahrawi Arab RepublicImage: South SudanImage: South SudanZambiaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanZimbabweImage: South SudanImage: South Sudan	Sierra Leone			
South AfricaImage: Constraint of the sector of	Somalia			
South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanSudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanTanzaniaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanTunisiaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanUgandaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanSahrawi Arab RepublicImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanZambiaImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South SudanZimbabweImage: South SudanImage: South SudanImage: South Sudan	South Africa			
SudanImage: SudanImage: SudanTanzaniaImage: SudanImage: SudanTogolese RepublicImage: SudanImage: SudanTunisiaImage: SudanImage: SudanUgandaImage: SudanImage: SudanSahrawi Arab RepublicImage: SudanImage: SudanZambiaImage: SudanImage: SudanZimbabweImage: SudanImage: Sudan	South Sudan			
TanzaniaImage: Constraint of the second	Sudan			
Togolese Republic Image: Constraint of the second	Tanzania			
Tunisia Image: Constraint of the second se	Togolese Republic			
Uganda Image: Constraint of the second sec	Tunisia			
Sahrawi Arab Republic	Uganda			
Zambia Image: Constraint of the second sec	Sahrawi Arab Republic			
Zimbabwe	Zambia			
	Zimbabwe			

Table 1 (continued)

The various laws and regulations that a country should have in place to ethically and responsibly institute AI. The green boxes denote that the country has the rules, regulations, or advisory bodies in place while the red box denotes that the country has no such regulation in place. The table clearly shows that much work is still needed for the ethical use of AI to be implemented in Africa Table columns must be alliged with each other

physical attacks (Perakslis 2014). There are multiple targets for cyberattacks which include wearable devices, company or hospital servers, medical devices, and patient data storage clouds (Masons 2017). These attacks can risk patient data, either resulting in data leaks or the loss of data, which can threaten a patient's privacy or healthcare. These attacks could even interfere with the functioning of the AI or bioinformatic tools resulting in poor analysis of data and incorrect recommendations (Perakslis 2014). It is necessary to create and enforce an international law that details cybersecurity, its implementation, and the strengthening of underlying systems and infrastructure to make these systems more resilient and responsive to attack. The greatest difficulty is that this must be done across borders, regardless of the wealth of a country or region (Perakslis 2014; Gerke et al. 2019).

Privacy in the European Union is protected by the General Data Protection Regulation. This is a newer law and contains specific definitions on what healthrelated data is specific for an individual and is related to their physical or mental health. The act also accepts a broader definition of what an entity is that gathers or uses data and what the provision of health services means (Irish National Teachers' Organisation 2018). The act prohibits the processing of genetic data, biometric data, and data concerning health, but does also include a list of exceptions. These exceptions include cases where explicit consent is given or if the analysis of and use of the information is required for public health or if it is needed for archiving purposes to advance the public interest. Research purposes are another exception, both scientific and historical (Irish National Teachers' Organisation 2018). Under this act, patients and individuals whose data is collected must be informed and made aware of the existence of technologies which can automatically analyze and interpret this data to make decisions regarding the profiling of the population and themselves. They must also be informed about the consequences of these analyses (Irish National Teachers' Organisation 2018). The individuals must be able to access the data used in these analyses and to insist on the right not to be subject to a decision made by the automated analysis of their data (Irish National Teachers' Organisation 2018).

6.3 Liability and Responsibility

Another important question is who is responsible or liable when these technologies fail, cause harm, or even death. This is especially a concern for the use of automated machines for surgery or AI-based treatment selection. There are multiple individuals or companies that could bear responsibility. These include the software developers or engineers, the company that builds the smart device or robotic system, individuals or regulatory bodies that approved the device or software for medical use, and/or the healthcare professionals who were the endpoint users of the technology. Additionally, what should be done if something an AI tool has learned, through poor data or incorrect analysis, leads to harm? Should governments or regulatory bodies decide who is at fault or should it be decided on a case-by-case basis? It is impossible to hold the technologies themselves accountable but if manufacturers or designers could be shown not to have tested or constantly monitored for quality assessment and quality assurance, the software, robot, or device extensively then they may be held responsible. It is for this reason that it has been suggested that a list of stakeholders should be generated showing who is responsible at what stage of use or implementation of the technology (Dignum 2019). This is further complicated when humans follow the recommendations of a given AI tool, for example, for treatment. What are the legal repercussions if a doctor follows these recommendations only for it to be incorrect and lead to harming the patient? Additionally, could a doctor be held responsible for choosing not to follow the recommendations given by the AI tool? Even if this leads to harm, there is no way of knowing if the recommendation given by an AI tool would have had a better outcome (Dignum 2019).

Currently, in the United States, AI- and healthcare-related software are defined as a tool under the control of the health professional and they are responsible for any errors that occur, resulting in them being sued for *medical malpractice* if anything happens that lead to these technologies causing harm (Esmaeilzadeh 2020; Price et al. 2019). However, if the details of the technology is hidden from the clinician or

if the AI/ML- based algorithm comes to a decision in which the clinician has no insight (i.e., black box), should the clinician be responsible? This is a future consideration since neither AI tools nor any other digital technology are used as a standard of care and are currently only used in supportive roles and the clinician is not without options, such as ignoring the recommendations made by an AI tool that has analyzed data collected from various sources (Price et al. 2019). The fact that these technologies play a supporting role also means that legal claims against the manufacturers may fail in some countries (Price and Nicholson 2017). Corporate liability and vicarious liability laws may also be used to assign blame against the hospitals or medical institutes that purchase software or devices to assist in patient treatment in some countries. Negligent credentialing laws may also apply here for some countries. These laws state that a hospital is responsible for verifying the credentials of their medical staff and in the same way, they would be responsible for verifying the accuracy and reliability of the software or devices they use to treat patients (Gerke et al. 2020).

The European Parliament published the Civil Law Rules on Robotics: European Parliament resolution in 2017. This resolution stated that the current liability laws will not suffice for the regulation of these new technologies in healthcare and new laws need to be developed and put in place. This was followed by the creation of the EU's New Technologies Formation (NTF) group in 2019. This group released a report on these new emerging technologies. Some of these recommendations were that AI robotic systems that operate in a public space must be held responsible for any damage they cause and those using technologies that can be considered as autonomous are still accountable for any harm caused (Nagamarpalli 2021). In 2020, the European Commission published a report on AI, the IoT, and robotics concerning their safety and implications for the liability which concluded that while existing laws can cope, they need to be adjusted. Adjustments also need to be made to national regulatory frameworks concerning product liability (Cohen et al. 2020) (Fig. 4).

6.4 Intellectual Property

The cost of developing these new technologies as well as gathering the data that they require is high, and companies and individuals require the promise of financial rewards to incentivize them to develop these technologies. However, information technologies have long been plagued by piracy and theft, and the rights of the companies to the information they collect and the software they develop for these new technologies must be corrected. This must be balanced against the desire for open-source software, freedom of information in science, and equal access of all, regardless of economic and developmental limitations, to databases and these devices and software (Lemley and Shafir 2011). These technologies and the information they require are currently protected by a variety of laws, including long contracts, copyright, trade secrets/the law of confidence, database rights, competition



Fig. 4 The assigning of liability when new digital "smart" technologies cause harm. The first step in establishing responsibility is examining consent and disclaimer information. What did the patient give assent to and were they warned of the risks? The patient must then be able to prove that harm was done to them through the use of technology. The liability framework to be followed once harm has been established depends on whether the technology is classed as a service or a product. If the technology is classed as a service, the blame would almost always fall on the endpoint user. However, if the technology is a product, then blame can fall on a variety of individuals or companies. In almost every case, blame can be assigned to the hospital of the healthcare facility that approved the use of the technology in the facility

law, and personal data integrity rights (Minssen and Pierce 2018). However, these laws are sometimes not compatible with large databases made up of unstructured nonrelational data (Gervais 2019). Also, these laws may hinder the transformation of technologies such as AI tools into transparent entities as trade secret laws and contracts can protect the disclosure of algorithms and hide software functions and datasets (Gervais 2019). Public-private partnerships need to be encouraged as do incentives to share data (Richter and Slowinski 2019).

7 Solutions to Some of These Issues

Many of the issues surrounding the ethical and moral implementation of these digital technologies would be solved through the implementation and adoption of a means of assigning responsibility for the design of these technologies and the accountability for their failures. These regulations should help to protect human rights and ensure the well-being of patients and conform to ethical principles and societal values (Bhattacharya et al. 2020). This would require the formulation of new laws and regulatory bodies or government departments to efficiently control the application of these new technologies. These bodies would help to establish a chain of responsibility (Dignum 2019). Regulatory bodies must also ensure that autonomous AI tools are specifically designed with a clear aim, and this aim must be beneficial to the Society 5.0 framework as well as constantly monitored for deviations from its aim and programming (Anderson et al. 2018). To correctly perform these functions, the members of these regulatory bodies and the lawmakers overseeing the implementation of new laws must have a clear understanding of the capacity and limitations of all these technologies. These laws and regulations may be difficult to formulate and enforce as they must deal with issues around accountability, responsibility, and transparency, but with diligent oversight, this process can succeed (Dignum 2019).

Biases in datasets may be resolved as the amount of collected data increases. With the prevalence of data collection sources such as the IoT any skewness in the data should eventually be corrected and the databases should come to resemble the actual population. This can be additionally improved if attempts are made to collect data from underrepresented groups. It should also be noted that different algorithms for analysis or machine learning should be used for different population groups, or the AI or bioinformatic software should be able to narrow its functionality based on different population groups only in circumstances where this is the only option or it is warranted by a scientific rationale such as biology (e.g., cancer patients with BRCA mutations).

When it comes to improving the transparency of AI technologies, it has been proposed to use a stepwise approach, where the AI functions in a small stepwise fashion allowing clinicians and healthcare professionals to clearly understand each of the small steps the AI makes to get to the final decision. Another option would be to create an AI that generates a log of all its activities and actions (Kwong et al. 2022). The excessive collection of information and the trading of information without an individual's consent is another issue that would require the action of lawmakers and regulatory bodies. The misuse of information or the use of poor or historically biased datasets is more difficult to solve and would require careful auditing of these datasets as well as teaching the AI when to exclude data. In addition to this, the learning and development of the AI can be audited at every stage. This can be done by carefully analyzing the results generated by the analysis of the data performed by the AI and checking the results for accuracy and meaningfulness. These results can be used to fine-tune the performance of the AI (Hripcsak et al. 2016). The regulation of devices that can be used to record medical data as well as
laws controlling how long a device can function without an upgrade or service would vastly improve the reliability and accuracy of collected data.

The autonomy of these different technologies, such as automatic data collection and transmission, the real-time creation of digital twins, and automated decisions made by AI and implemented by robotics, is a cause for concern as it may violate human values and rights and could lead to discrimination and immoral unethical actions. These aims should not be, for instance, the creation of an AI or medical device that can be used to replace health workers, but rather to improve the lives of patients, health workers, and not replace the final decision of the patient in consultation with their doctor and clinical care team. Regardless of the role the technology is expected to play, it must always consider the individual rather than groups of individuals or treat all populations as if they are identical regardless of socioeconomic status or culture (Dignum 2019).

8 Conclusion

The digitization of healthcare and biological information is proceeding rapidly and is required for the implementation of a smart society and the healthcare system to match, that is, Society 5.0 Healthcare. Despite these technologies posing significant ethical challenges, they offer too many promises of truly personalized healthcare to be ignored, and it is basically the responsibility of governments, regulatory bodies, and international cooperation in the form of organizations like the UN to implement means to effectively regulate these technologies so that they do no harm. The UN has already formulated guidelines for the use of AI, and other regulatory bodies already exist for digital twins and medical devices. This is similar to the situation in the early twentieth century regarding the sale of medicines and drugs, which initially was unregulated and led to a great deal of harm and in many instances death. New laws and regulatory bodies were created to control and enforce laws surrounding the testing, manufacture, and sale of drug therapies. The same process will have to be performed for these new technologies. These ethical issues can be solved as long as these technologies are implemented cautiously with extensive testing and auditing and as long as the healthcare system these technologies promise to improve remains human-centered.

References

ALT Advisory (2022) AI governance in Africa [Online]. ai.altadvisory.africa

Anderson J, Rainie L, Luchsinger A (2018) Artificial intelligence and the future of humans, 10. Bader MD, Mooney SJ, Rundle AG (2016) Protecting personally identifiable information when using online geographic tools for public health research. Am J Public Health 106:206–208

Bagaria N, Laamarti F, Badawi H, Albraikan A, Martinez R, El Saddik A (2020, January) Connected health in smart cities

- Bhattacharya S, Hossain MM, Practice C (2020) National digital health blueprint of India: a need for implementation research. J Appl Sci 1:21
- Brandt AM (1978) Racism and research: the case of the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. Hastings Cent Rep 8:21–29
- Braun R, Rowe W, Schaefer C, Zhang J, Buetow K (2009) Needles in the haystack: identifying individuals present in pooled genomic data. PLoS Genet 5:e1000668
- Brown J (2018) IBM Watson reportedly recommended cancer treatments that were 'unsafe and incorrect'. Gizmodo
- Brown TM, Cueto M, Fee E (2006) The World Health Organization and the transition from "international" to "global" public health. Am J Public Health 96:62–72
- Bunnik EM, Janssens AC, Schermer MH (2015) Personal utility in genomic testing: is there such a thing? J Med Ethics 41:322–326
- Capurro D, Coghlan S, Pires DEV (2022) Preventing digital overdiagnosis. JAMA 327:525-526
- Chang CY, Obermeyer Z (2020) Association of clinical characteristics with variation in emergency physician preferences for patients. JAMA Netw Open 3:e1919607
- Cohen IG, Mello MM (2018) HIPAA and protecting health information in the 21st century. JAMA 320:231–232
- Cohen IG, Evgeniou T, Gerke S, Minssen T (2020) The European artificial intelligence strategy: implications and challenges for digital health. Lancet Digital Health 2:e376–e379
- Cooke AD, Zubcsek PP (2017) The connected consumer: connected devices and the evolution of customer intelligence. J Assoc Consum Res 2:164–178
- Dignum V (2019) Responsible artificial intelligence: how to develop and use AI in a responsible way. Springer Nature
- Esmaeilzadeh P (2020) Use of AI-based tools for healthcare purposes: a survey study from consumers' perspectives. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 20:1–19
- Falter M, Budts W, Goetschalckx K, Cornelissen V, Buys R (2019) Accuracy of Apple watch measurements for heart rate and energy expenditure in patients with cardiovascular disease: cross-sectional study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 7:e11889
- Gerke S, Minssen T, Yu H, Cohen IG (2019) Ethical and legal issues of ingestible electronic sensors. Nat Electron 2:329–334
- Gerke S, Minssen T, Cohen G (2020) Ethical and legal challenges of artificial intelligence-driven healthcare. Artif Intell Healthcare 2020:295–336
- Gervais D (2019) Exploring the interfaces between big data and intellectual property law. J Intell Prop Inf Technol 10:3
- Ghassemi M, Mohamed S (2022) Machine learning and health need better values. NPJ Digit Med 5: 51
- Hripcsak G, Ryan PB, Duke JD, Shah NH, Park RW, Huser V, Suchard MA, Schuemie MJ, Defalco FJ, Perotte A, Banda JM, Reich CG, Schilling LM, Matheny ME, Meeker D, Pratt N, Madigan D (2016) Characterizing treatment pathways at scale using the OHDSI network. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:7329–7336
- Institute of Medicine (US) The National Roundtable on Health Care Quality (2010) Measuring for quality in health and social care: a statement by The National Roundtable on Health Care Quality [Online]. National Academies Press (US), Washington, DC. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK230815/
- Irish National Teachers' Organisation (2018) General data protection regulation. Intouch, 25.
- Kale MS, Korenstein D (2018) Overdiagnosis in primary care: framing the problem and finding solutions. BMJ 362:k2820
- Kaur P, Krishan K, Sharma SK, Kanchan T, Law T (2020) Facial-recognition algorithms: a literature review. Med Sci Law 60:131–139
- Kristin L (2017) Artificial intelligence, automation, and the economy. Chin Am Forum 2017:22–23
- Krumm J (2007) Inference attacks on location tracks. In: International conference on pervasive computing. Springer, Cham, pp 127–143

- Kwong JCC, Khondker A, Tran C, Evans E, Cozma AI, Javidan A, Ali A, Jamal M, Short T, Papanikolaou F, Srigley JR, Fine B, Feifer A (2022) Explainable artificial intelligence to predict the risk of side-specific extraprostatic extension in pre-prostatectomy patients. Can Urol Assoc J 16:213–221
- Lemley MA, Shafir Z (2011) Who chooses open-source software? Univ Chicago Law Rev 78:139 Lords HO (2018) AI in the UK: ready, willing and able?
- Lundberg S, Lee S-I (2016) An unexpected unity among methods for interpreting model predictions. arXiv preprint arXiv: 07478
- Mahmood SS, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wang TJ (2014) The Framingham Heart Study and the epidemiology of cardiovascular disease: a historical perspective. Lancet 383:999–1008
- Mai J-E (2016) Three models of privacy: new perspectives on informational privacy. Nordicom Rev 37:171-175
- Majumder S, Mondal T, Deen MJ (2017) Wearable sensors for remote health monitoring. Sensors (Basel) 17
- Makridakis SS (2017) The forthcoming Artificial Intelligence (AI) revolution: its impact on society and firms. Futures 90:46–60
- Mandl KD, Manrai AK (2019) Potential excessive testing at scale: biomarkers, genomics, and machine learning. JAMA 321:739-740
- Masons P (2017) New digital pills pose data protection and cybersecurity challenges for drugs manufacturers and health bodies, says expert [Online]. https://www.pinsentmasons.com/out-law/news/new-digital-pills-pose-data-protection-and-cybersecurity-challenges-for-drugs-manu facturers-and-health-bodies-says-expert. Accessed 6 January 2023
- Minssen T, Pierce J (2018) Big data and intellectual property rights in the health and life sciences
- Mohamadou Y, Halidou A, Kapen PT (2020) A review of mathematical modeling, artificial intelligence and datasets used in the study, prediction and management of COVID-19. Appl Intell 50:3913–3925
- Mozafari N, Hammerschmidt M, Weiger WH (2022) AI and the vulnerable. In: Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems, 2022, 1
- Myers J, Frieden TR, Bherwani KM, Henning KJ (2008) Ethics in public health research: privacy and public health at risk: public health confidentiality in the digital age. Am J Public Health 98: 793–801
- Nagamarpalli RS (2021) Biotechnology and AI. Int J Law Manag Human 4:4035
- Perakslis ED (2014) Cybersecurity in health care. N Engl J Med 371:395-397
- Poghosyan NM (2020) The development of artificial intelligence and risks for the implementation of genocide and mass killings. Armenian Genocide Mus Inst J 133
- Poon AIF, Sung JJY (2021) Opening the black box of AI-medicine. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 36: 581–584
- Prainsack B (2017) Personalized medicine. New York University Press, New York
- Price WN, Cohen IG (2019) Privacy in the age of medical big data. Nat Med 25:37–43
- Price, I. & Nicholson, W. 2017. Artificial intelligence in health care: applications and legal issues.
- Price W, Nicholson I, Tech. (2019) Medical AI and contextual bias. Harv J Law Technol 33:65
- Richter H, Slowinski PR (2019) The data sharing economy: on the emergence of new intermediaries. Int Rev Intellect Prop Competition Law 50:4–29
- Rothstein MA (2010) Is deidentification sufficient to protect health privacy in research? Am J Bioethics 10:3–11
- Sallstrom L, Morris O, Mehta H (2019) Artificial intelligence in Africa's healthcare: ethical considerations. ORF Issue Brief
- Sandborn PA (2007) Software obsolescence complicating the part and technology obsolescence management problem. IEEE Trans Compon Packaging Technol 30:886–888
- Schwartz O (2019) In 2016, Microsoft's racist chatbot revealed the dangers of online conversation. IEEE Spectr 11:2019
- Semmens K (2019) The genocidal gaze: from German Southwest Africa to the Third Reich by Elizabeth R. Baer. German Stud Rev 42:381–383

- Sorell T, Rajpoot N, Verrill C (2022) Ethical issues in computational pathology. J Med Ethics 48: 278–284
- Sterling RL (2011) Genetic research among the Havasupai: a cautionary tale. AMA J Ethics 13: 113–117
- Strickland E (2019) IBM Watson, heal thyself: how IBM overpromised and underdelivered on AI health care. IEEE Spectr 56:24–31
- Vyas DA, Eisenstein LG, Jones DS (2020) Hidden in plain sight reconsidering the use of race correction in clinical algorithms. N Engl J Med 383:874–882
- Walker MJ, Rogers W (2017) Defining disease in the context of overdiagnosis. Med Health Care Philos 20:269–280
- WHO Guidance (2021) Ethics and governance of artificial intelligence for health. World Health Organization
- Win KT (2005) A review of security of electronic health records. Health Inf Manag 34:13-18
- Wong YN, Cheah SM, Miller S (2022) Digital product management under extreme uncertainty: the Singapore tracetogether story for COVID-19 contact tracing
- Xafis V (2015) The acceptability of conducting data linkage research without obtaining consent: lay people's views and justifications. BMC Med Ethics 16:79

Way Forward for Society 5.0 and Next-Generation Healthcare



Zodwa Dlamini, Rodney Hull, Ravi Mehrotra, Richard Khanyile, and Thulo Molefi

Abstract We envisage living in a society where scientific and technological innovations lead to reforms in human health by merging cyber and physical spaces. The concept of Society 5.0 was first proposed in Japan. Society 5.0 is a smart, knowledge-based society, which uses digital information-based technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), cloud computing, and the Internet of Things (IoT) to gather and analyse large amounts of data. Elements of Society 5.0 are human-centric and promote the integration of the physical world and cyberspace in its economic development and innovation framework. The promotion of a smart, knowledge-based, human-centric society is designed with the hopes of leading to a better life for all human nations, regardless of their ethnicity or wealth. Digital information technologies, together with the concept of Society 5.0, will assist in implementing the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), particularly Goal 3, which looks at the use and integration of new technologies in improving healthcare, resulting in individuals living a longer, healthier and more productive

Indian Cancer Genomic Atlas, Centre for Health, Innovation and Policy Foundation, Pune, India e-mail: ravi.mehrotra@gov.in

R. Khanyile · T. Molefi

Z. Dlamini (🖂) · R. Hull

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: zodwa.dlamini@up.ac.za; rodney.hull@up.ac.za

R. Mehrotra

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

SAMRC Precision Oncology Research Unit (PORU), DSI/NRF SARChI Chair in Precision Oncology and Cancer Prevention (POCP), Pan African Cancer Research Institute (PACRI), University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa

Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, University of Pretoria, Hatfield, Pretoria, South Africa e-mail: richard.khanyile@up.ac.za; thulo.molefi@up.ac.za

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Z. Dlamini (ed.), *Society 5.0 and Next Generation Healthcare*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36461-7_13

life. The healthcare sector is a fundamental component of the economy, and as such, it requires that the individuals in the sector be in peak mental and physical health to facilitate maximal societal growth. It is common knowledge that health is wealth, and this is reflected by the rate of growth and development in societies and when their population is healthy. In its implementation, Society 5.0 will not only require new technologies but will also drive technological developments. Developments that will improve data analytical methods and geospatial surveillance for the prevention of chronic diseases. The implementation of Society 5.0 into healthcare systems will strengthen precision medicine approaches and invariably improve all spheres of human health. Despite the challenges such as human rights violations, security, privacy, safety and the impact on the energy crisis, these technologies will pave the way forward for improve healthcare systems and living.

Keywords Society 5.0 · Predictive · Preventive · Personalized and participatory healthcare · UN SDG3 · Digital information technologies · Precision medicine · Safety · Security · Privacy · Human rights · Energy crisis

1 Conclusion

Society 5.0 is an ambitious endeavour conceptualized in Japan. Its aim is to propel humanity from the current information-intensive reality to a more knowledge-based paradigm. This is conceived to be achieved through creating a human-centred society based on integrating cyberspace with the real physical world. Society 5.0 can be simply defined as a future intelligent, sustainable society. The aim of healthcare systems in Society 5.0 is to improve the longevity and productivity of individuals as well as quality of life and ensure health equity and equality, while driving the upliftment and use of cutting-edge technologies. This will be accomplished by using digital information technologies to minimize the incidence and severity of disease and optimize the use of medical resources. The intricacies involved in the management of cancer provide the perfect scenario to apply the principles of Society 5.0. By using the strategies of healthcare in Society 5.0, the incidence of cancer could be lowered by increasing the ease and speed of screening and diagnosis. At the same time, these strategies can improve access to quality personalized oncology services globally, including in low-middle-income countries (LMICs). LMICs have fewer resources with which to combat a disease like cancer. The strategies of smart healthcare, if implemented in these areas, will drastically improve the screening and treatment of premalignant and invasive diseases, resulting in improved patient outcomes. Technologies of the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) allow for the generation, gathering, storage and analysis of large amounts of information. Their integration and application in Society 5.0 will allow for better personalized medicine.

Central amongst these 4IR technologies is Artificial Intelligence (AI). AI allows for the automated categorization, analysis, and interpretation of data to mimic human cognition and come to conclusions which can be acted upon. In healthcare, these decisions include predictions of the best diagnostic approaches, prognostic predictors and treatment strategies. Achieving these goals involves exploiting AI for the betterment of all human life at both individual and societal levels. The potential role that AI can play in healthcare in Society 5.0 is demonstrated by its use of intelligence in drug discovery. This will drastically reduce the cost and production times for newly conceptualized drugs. The use of AI can also help ensure the safety, ease of use, and efficacy of these new medications, as well as reduce the occurrence of adverse drug events. These improvements will ease clinician decision-making and enhance the quality of patients' lives.

The development of a disease, its progression and its management can be thought of as facets of a single process, one which warrants an active, integrated response from all stakeholders. This can be effectively achieved by appropriately leveraging all available resources. This includes the engineering of health-related information, which is another example of these cutting-edge technologies and health informatics. The Internet of Things (IoT) allows for the connection of physical objects with sensors, processors, and software, therefore, enabling efficient gathering and exchange of data. We already have a large body of knowledge concerning the layout of medical IoT systems, including knowledge of the components involved in their functioning and communication networks. Currently, this knowledge has only had minimal, real-world practical implementation. This is especially true in underresourced communities because of cost issues. Technologies such as the IoT need to be expanded to remote populations in lower socioeconomic areas to facilitate remote diagnosis and patient monitoring. Pilot projects with carefully planned financing strategies have been carried out to test their use in remote diagnosis and patient management. Key to the success of these projects will be establishing the robustness of these technologies in these environments. A digital twin is a virtual representation of a real-life object. Digital twins can be used to virtually model individuals or populations. For instance, in healthcare, they can be used to model patient responses to various treatments or to screen high-risk patients, resulting in early diagnosis and treatment. An intelligent digital twin, combining data, knowledge, and algorithms (AI), has the capacity to accurately simulate public health and medical situations. Simulations may be individual or population-specific and these can be used to model medical situations such as disease progression, drug interactions, treatment efficacy and the spread of disease. Virtual modelling can make accurate predictions and inform clinical practices.

Devices used to remotely monitor patients require the integration of embedded software that regulates these devices. This embedded software controls their computer fogging functions, automated physical systems and AI algorithms. These devices and the level of integration within them are about to change the way medicine is practised, helping to realize healthcare within Society 5.0. These medical cyber-physical systems (CPS) permit remote patient monitoring through sensor technology, digitalization of data storing, mining, and sharing and allow the transmission of alerts to care providers. The processing and storage of big data by these devices are facilitated through the integration of AI with cloud/fog computing. Digitally assisted patient management systems allow for rapid, less invasive and

effective patient care. The security of CPS requires the development of reliable autonomous security patches. These patches would detect security breaches or vulnerabilities and eradicate the threat before it can cause any harm. The unsolicited access and manipulation of electronic data is a major issue for many of these technologies. This is especially true for facilities that store patients' medical records in electronic computer systems. Blockchain technology is a solution to this problem as this technology prevents data corruption or record manipulation without a common consensus. Blockchain technology functions as a digital ledger monitor, which sends alerts every time the data is accessed. This gives the owner control over who accesses the data, as well as who's allowed to manipulate it. The owner controls this using a digital signature, making this technology secure and reliable. This technology will significantly enhance the implementation of the other information-based technologies required for healthcare in Society 5.0. Besides security, Blockchain can also perform various healthcare functions, such as medicines tracing (drug discovery, development and distribution process), smart contracts and healthcare insurance mediation. The challenges facing this technology, such as throughput, latency, security, usability, size and bandwidth, are not insurmountable and solutions to these problems are actively being sought.

The smart digital technologies required to make Society 5.0 and healthcare in this society possible are not without their various challenges and issues (Fig. 1). Despite its challenges, these technologies offer innumerable promises for truly personalized healthcare to be ignored. Another promise these technologies offer is the democratizing of healthcare. Currently, the cost of 4IR technological advances puts them beyond the reach of many emerging nations and individuals. This cost factor is currently prohibitive, unscalable and therefore unsustainable, particularly in LMICs where they are the most needed. The governments of these countries need to make a collective and conscientious effort to invest more in these technologies, as they can effectively improve preventative medicine. The long-term effect of this will be a return on these investments, as the current financial burden of disease treatment outweighs the initial investment in disease prevention.

Additionally, in many cases, these new technologies operate in ethical grey areas. This is because they can be misused, resulting in safety issues, poor clinical decisionmaking, and violation of human rights and values. As such, governments, regulatory bodies and international cooperatives, like the UN, must effectively regulate these technologies to prevent harm. There are also legal and human rights issues surrounding these technologies, ranging from the protection of privacy, informed consent to intellectual property laws. Most important is the question of who bears legal liability when the technologies cause harm to an individual. New laws and regulatory bodies need to be created to control and enforce laws concerning these issues. These ethical issues can be remedied, and harm minimized by cautiously implementing these technologies following extensive testing and auditing.

Another challenge is the impact these technologies will have on the current energy crisis. One of the biggest barriers of these technologies is the lack of resources required to implement them. They require storage capacity, cloud computing capacity, computational power, raw materials for manufacturing the required



Fig. 1 Summarizes the aims, expected outcomes, technologies and challenges facing healthcare in Society 5.0. The aims of healthcare in Society 5.0 are shown in the *orange* quadrant. They include a longer life with more extended periods of productivity due to a lower incidence of disease or decreased severity of the disease. The central *white* diamond shows the technologies used to implement healthcare in Society 5.0. The issues with and barriers to the implementation of these technologies are shown in the *pink* lower quadrant. These include cost, ethics and legal rights. Society 5.0, especially healthcare in Society 5.0, will help the world realize the UN's sustainable development goals. For healthcare, the most obvious will be SDG 3, Good health and well-being. However, the implementation of these technologies will result in progress being made in many of the other SDGs. Finally, the *blue* quadrant lists the actual applications of these technologies in healthcare that would allow us to achieve the aims of healthcare in Society 5.0

hardware, expertise for the design, and manufacturing of both hardware and software, and this will consume large amounts of energy. The implementation of Society 5.0 will require a reliable supply of energy. If this challenge can be overcome, the benefits that these technologies will provide outweigh the challenges. For example, AI, IoT and digital twinning have the potential to manage, monitor and adjust the consumption of energy resources (Sifat et al. 2022; Nandury and Begum 2015). Smart grids (SG) would improve the flow of data and electricity within the electricity system networks (ESN) and allow for the replacement of conventional fossil fuelrich grids with distributed energy resources (DER) (Kumar et al. 2020).

This book has attempted to introduce the concept of a novel, human-centred healthcare system, delivered through implementing an innovative, knowledge-based approach known as Society 5.0. It has raised the different digital technologies which will make this possible and described how these technologies would help fulfil the fundamental promise of healthcare in Society 5.0, which is a longer and healthier life. It has also discussed how these technologies will contribute to achieving the sustainable development goals set forward by the UN. Society 5.0 will lead to a healthcare system that is predictive, preventive, personalized and participatory rather than reactive. In this way, it can provide improved healthcare from the cradle to the grave by increasing productivity, quality of life and longevity.

References

- Kumar NM, Chand AA, Malvoni M, Prasad KA, Mamun KA, Islam F, Chopra SS (2020) Distributed energy resources and the application of AI, IoT, and blockchain in smart grids. *Energies* 13:5739
- Nandury SV, Begum BA (2015) Smart WSN-based ubiquitous architecture for smart cities. International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI), IEEE, pp 2366–2373
- Sifat, MMH, Choudhury SM, Das SK, Ahamed MH, Muyeen S, Hasan MM, Ali MF, Tasneem Z, Islam MM, Islam MR. & AI (2022) Towards electric digital twin grid: technology and framework review. *Energy*, 100213.